
AGENDA 
Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81814228423 
Meeting ID: 818 1422 8423 

By call-in: 1(301) 715-8592# 

7:00 – 7:00 

7:00 – 7:10 

7:10 – 7:20 
7:20 – 7:25 
7:25 – 7:35 
7:35 – 7:45 

7:45 – 7:45 

7:45 – 7:55 
7:55 – 8:00 
8:00 – 8:10 

8:10 – 8:20 

8:20 – 8:30 

8:30 – 8:55 

8:55 

1. Call to Order
a. Call to Order, Roll Call – Chair Gallaway, Ruth Emerick
b. Vote to Allow Electronic participation, if needed – Ruth Emerick

2. Matters from the Public
a. Comments by the public are limited to no more than 2 minutes per person.
b. Comments provided via email, online, web site, etc. (Read by Ruth Emerick)

3. Presentations
a. 2022 Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) Update – Lori Allshouse
b. Draft FY25 Rural Transportation Work Program and Budget Presentation –

Sandy Shackelford
c. Comprehensive Economic Development (CEDS) Update – Ruth Emerick
d. *Regional Transit Governance Study Presentation and Final Report – Lucinda

Shannon
4. * Consent Agenda

Action Items:
a. * Minutes of February 8, 2024, Meeting
b. * January Financial Reports

i. January Report
ii. January Consolidated Profit & Loss Statements
iii. January Comparative Balance Sheets
iv. January Accrued Revenue Report

5. New Business
a. * FY21 Re-Issued Audit Memo and Draft FY21 Re-Issued Audit
b. * TJPDC Corporation Appointments (Greene, Albemarle, Louisa) – Ruth Emerick
c. Executive Director Evaluation Process Begins – Ned Gallaway

6. Old Business
a. * FY24 Amended Operating Budget, Memo, and Resolution – Christine Jacobs

7. Executive Director’s Report
a. Monthly Report – Christine Jacobs

8. Other Business
a. Roundtable Discussion by Jurisdiction
b. Tentative Items for Next Meeting – April 4, 2024

Items for Next Meeting:
i. Appointment of Nominating Committee for Officers

ii. FY25 Operating Budget Draft/Budget Memo
iii. FY25 Rural Transportation Work Program and Budget
iv. FY25 CA-MPO Unified Planning Work Program Update
v. Blue Ridge Cigarette Tax Board Update

vi. Rideshare Commuter Assistance Program Strategic Plan Update
vii. Executive Director Evaluation (Closed Session)

9. *ADJOURN
*Designates Items to be Voted On*

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
Thursday, March 7, 2024 at 7 pm 

In-Person Meeting 
Water Street Center, 407 E. Water Street 

Charlottesville, VA 22902 

March 7, 2024 Page 1 of 266

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81814228423


Q:\Administration\Commission\Commission Packets\PDC Packets FY2020-2024\PDC Packets FY24\March 2024\0 Agenda 3.7.2024.docx 
 
 
 

TJPDC fully complies with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 in all programs and activities. TJPDC provides reasonable 
accommodations for persons who require special assistance to participate in public involvement opportunities. For more 
information, to request language translation or other accommodations, or to obtain a Discrimination Complaint Form, contact 
Lucinda Shannon at (434) 979-7310, lshannon@tjpdc.org or visit the website www.tjpdc.org. 
 
 
TJPD Commissioners 
Ned Gallaway, Chair Albemarle County 
Mike Pruitt Albemarle County 
Tony O’Brien, Vice Chair Fluvanna County 
Keith Smith, Treasurer Fluvanna County 
Tim Goolsby Greene County 
James Higgins Greene County 
Tommy Barlow Louisa County 
Manning Woodward Louisa County 
Jesse Rutherford Nelson County 
Ernie Reed Nelson County 
Michael Payne City of Charlottesville 
Philip d’Oronzio City of Charlottesville 
 
TJPDC Staff 
Christine Jacobs Executive Director 
David Blount Deputy Director 
Ruth Emerick Chief Operating Officer 
Laura Greene Finance Director 
Sandy Shackelford Planning and Transportation Director 
Lucinda Shannon Senior Regional Planner 
Sara Pennington TDM Program Manager 
Curtis Scarpignato Regional Transportation Planner 
Laurie Jean Talun Regional Housing Grants Manager 
Logan Ende Regional Housing Planner 
Lori Allshouse VATI Program Director 
Gorjan Gjorgjievski VATI Administrative Assistant 
Isabella O’Brien Regional Environmental Planner 
Otis Collier BRCTB Compliance Agent 
Gretchen Thomas Administrative Assistant 
Davy Sell AmeriCorps VISTA Member - Housing 
 
 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 2 of 266

mailto:lshannon@tjpdc.org
http://www.tjpdc.org/


3/1/2024

1

Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) 2022 
Broadband Project

Partners for Virginia

Partners for Broadband Solutions in Central 
Virginia

March 7, 2024

VATI 2022 Grant supports 
Firefly’s Regional Internet Service Expansion (RISE) Project

Source: FIREFLY

36 
Months

13 
Counties

Madison

Nelson

Albemarle

Fluvanna
Louisa

Goochland

Powhatan

Cumberland

BuckinghamAmherst

Appomattox

Campbell

Greene

1

2

March 7, 2024 Page 3 of 266



3/1/2024

2

Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) 2022 
Broadband Project

By the Numbers

Highlights

3

4

March 7, 2024 Page 4 of 266



3/1/2024

3

Held Quarterly Stakeholder’s Meeting
December 1, 2023

VATI 2022 Project Progress

February 2024 Report

 367 miles of field data collection
 2,181 miles of fiber design
 1,151 miles of make ready construction
 Three communications huts set
 735 miles of aerial fiber placement
 327 miles of underground fiber placement
 547 miles of splicing
 7,715 passings

 Total Project Expenditures to date - $96.9M 
 VATI Grant: $26.4M
 Local Match:  $12.0M
 Private Match:  $58.5M

5

6

March 7, 2024 Page 5 of 266



3/1/2024

4

Financial Management 

Reviewed, verified, and submitted 10th remittance 
requests to DHCD and several counties

Processing requests and reimbursements on-going

As of March 1, 2024, $23M processed through TJPDC:  
$16.7M DHCD match, $5.8M County match, and $433K 
for grant administration.

Site Visits 

7

8

March 7, 2024 Page 6 of 266



3/1/2024

5

Madison County
September 27, 2023

Make-Ready Work

Albemarle County
October 21, 2024 

Railroad Crossing

9

10

March 7, 2024 Page 7 of 266



3/1/2024

6

Louisa County
November 29, 2023

Communication Hut - Buckner

Albemarle County 
December 21, 2023

Completed Railroad Crossings

11

12

March 7, 2024 Page 8 of 266



3/1/2024

7

Madison County
January 27, 2024 

Completed Aerial Fiber Installation

Sept. 27, 2023 Jan. 27, 2024

Louisa County
February 28, 2024

Home Installation

Firefly

13

14

March 7, 2024 Page 9 of 266



3/1/2024

8

2024 VATI Grant Opportunity

In partnership with Firefly 
Fiber Broadband, TJPDC 
submitted a VATI 2024 
grant application in 
December 2023.

Grant would provide 
funds for eligible 
“unserved” areas 
included in current 2022 
VATI grant project area

DHCD expected to 
announce awards this 
summer

VATI 2024 request is for 
$15.7M of a $53.6M project 
expansion in the counties of 
Amherst, Appomattox, 
Buckingham, Campbell, 
Cumberland, Fluvanna, 
Goochland, Greene, Louisa, 
Madison, and Powhatan.

Fireflyva.com/rise/

Tjpdc.org/our-work/broadband

For Additional Information/Updates

15

16

March 7, 2024 Page 10 of 266



2/29/2024

1

RURAL WORK PROGRAM

• Intended to provide annual transportation planning assistance for non-urbanized areas within the 
Commonwealth

• Funded through allocation of VDOT State Planning and Research (SPR) funding: 

• Federal source (80%) 

• Local sources (20%) 

• State requires each PDC administering the program to identify activities to be undertaken an 
annual work program

• Annual budget is $72,500

• VDOT has an additional budget for their staff

• Funding has to be used within the Fiscal Year it is allocated

• Unused funds do not rollover

2024 RURAL WORK PROGRAM 
HIGHLIGHTS

• Regional Transit Planning

• Comprehensive Safety Action Plan

• RideShare Strategic Plan

• Participation on Pipeline Studies

• SMART SCALE Application Support

1

2

March 7, 2024 Page 11 of 266



2/29/2024

2

FY25 – Draft Rural Work Program
TotalLocalSPR

$16,000$3,200$12,800Task 1: Administration
$5,500$1,100$4,400Reporting and Compliance with Regulations
$5,500$1,100$4,400Staffing Committees
$5,000$1,000$4,000Information Sharing

$56,500$11,300$45,200Task 2: Program Activities
$30,000$6,000$24,000Comprehensive Safety Action Plan

$6,500$1,300$5,200Prepare grant applications
$10,000$2,000$8,000Local and State Technical Assistance
$10,000$2,000$8,000Regional Transit Partnership, TDM, and Bike/Ped Activities

$72,500$14,500$58,000TOTAL

3

March 7, 2024 Page 12 of 266



 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 

July 01, 2024 – June 30, 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
  

March 7, 2024 Page 13 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

 
 
 

Preface 
Prepared on behalf of the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission, through a cooperative process 
involving Region 10’s counties (Albemarle, Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa and Nelson), Jaunt, RideShare and the 
Virginia Department of Transportation. 
 
This scope of work is required to include specific activities as requested by VDOT and/or the Federal Highway 
Administration. The scope of work also includes activities or studies addressing other transportation planning 
related issues that are of specific interest to the region. The criteria for the determination of eligibility of studies 
for inclusion as part of this work program are based upon 23 U.S.C. 307 (c), State Planning and Research. 
 
The Rural Transportation Advisory Committee (RTAC) reviewed this work program at their March 19, 2024 
meeting. The Commission reviewed the draft of the Rural Transportation Advisory Committee Work Program at 
their March 7, 2024, meeting and approved the work program at their April 4, 2024 meeting.   
 
The preparation of this program was financially aided through administrative funds from the FY24 Rural 
Transportation Planning Work Program.   

March 7, 2024 Page 14 of 266



 

 
 
 

Table of Contents 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Purpose and Objective .............................................................................................................................................. 1 

Rural Transportation Program .................................................................................................................................. 2 

Highlights of FY23 ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

Fiscal Year 2023 Budget ................................................................................................................................ 3 

Fiscal Year 2023 Activities by Task .............................................................................................................. 4 

FY 2024 – 1.0 Program Administration - $16,000 ..................................................................................................... 4 

Task 1.1- Reporting and Compliance with Regulations - $5,500 .......................................................................... 4 

Task 1.2 - Staff committee meetings - $5,500 ...................................................................................................... 4 

Task 1.3 - Share information with agencies and public - $5,000 .......................................................................... 4 

FY 2024 - 2.0 Planning & Local Technical Assistance - $56,500 ................................................................................ 5 

Task 2.1 – Comprehensive Safety Action Plan - $30,000 ...................................................................................... 5 

Task 2.2 – Prepare transportation infrastructure grant applications - $6,500 ..................................................... 5 

Task 2.3 – Provide assistance to local and state partners as requested - $10,000 .............................................. 6 

Task 2.4 – Regional Transit Partnership, Travel Demand Management, and Bicycle and Pedestrian Activities - 
$10,000 ................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

FY25 Anticipated Work Tasks....................................................................................................................... 7 

Appendices ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Appendix A: FY-2023 Budget Summary .................................................................................................................... 8 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 15 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 1 of 8 
 

 
 

Introduction 

Purpose and Objective 
The Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) allocates part of the State Planning and Research 
(SPR) funding to provide annual transportation planning assistance for non-urbanized areas within the 
Commonwealth. The Rural Transportation Planning (RTP) Program was created to aid the State in 
fulfilling the requirements of the State Planning Process to address the transportation needs of non-
metropolitan areas. Funds appropriated under 23 U.S.C. 307(c) (SPR funds) are used in cooperation with 
the Department of Transportation, Commonwealth of Virginia for transportation planning as required by 
Section 135, Title 23, U.S. Code. These Federal funds provide 80 percent funding and require a 20 
percent local match. 
 
In FY-2025 each planning district commission / regional commission that has rural areas will receive 
$58,000 from VDOT’s Rural Transportation Planning Assistance Program. The corresponding planning 
district commission / regional commission will provide a local match of $14,500 to conduct rural 
transportation planning activities.  This resource may be supplemented with additional planning funds. 
The arrangement of all such funds involves the development of a scope of work, approval and other 
coordination in the Transportation & Mobility Planning Division’s (TMPD) administrative work programs.   
 
The scope of work shall include specific activities as requested by VDOT and/or the Federal Highway 
Administration. The scope of work may also include activities or studies addressing other transportation 
planning-related issues that may be of specific interest to the region. The criteria for the determination 
of eligibility of studies for inclusion as part of this work program are based upon 23 U.S.C. 307 (c), State 
Planning and Research. 
 
 
  

March 7, 2024 Page 16 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 2 of 8 
 

 

Rural Transportation Program 
The scope of work includes specific activities as requested by VDOT and/or the Federal Highway 
Administration. The scope of work also includes activities or studies addressing other transportation 
planning related issues that are of specific interest to the region. The criteria for the determination of 
eligibility of studies for inclusion as part of this work program are based upon 23 U.S.C. 307 (c), State 
Planning and Research. The map below shows the rural program areas in light green.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

March 7, 2024 Page 17 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 3 of 8 
 

Highlights of FY24 
In FY24, the Rural Transportation Program focused on a variety of 
outcomes. The program dedicated significant time to continued work 
on regional transit planning.  While TJPDC staff conducted its regular 
administration of the program and provided a variety of other 
services to the region and its members, the following highlights the 
more substantive efforts.  
 
REGIONAL TRANSIT PLANNING – TJPDC staff worked with consultants 
through a Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT) 
technical assistance grant to complete the Regional Transit 
Governance Study began in the fall of 2022.  While the technical 
assistance grant covered the costs of the consultants completing the 
work, the costs for the TJPDC staff administration and engagement with the program has been 
supplemented through the Rural Work Program and the Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan 
Planning Organization’s (CA-MPO) Unified Planning Work Program.   
 
COMPREHENSIVE SAFETY ACTION PLAN – In FY23, the TJPDC was notified that it was awarded a grant through 
the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Safe Streets and Roads for All Discretionary Grant Program to 
develop a Comprehensive Safey Action Plan for all six of its member jurisdictions.  To utilize the grant 
funding most effectively, the TJPDC allocated additional staff effort to support the plan development 
through the Rural Work Program and the Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan Planning 
Organization’s (CA-MPO) Unified Planning Work Program.  The Comprehensive Safety Action Plan will 
continue into FY25.   
 
COMMUTER ASSISTANCE PROGRAM STRATEGIC PLAN – The TJPDC undertook completion of the required five-
year strategic plan for its RideShare program in FY24.  Consultant expenses were paid for through a 
Department of Rail and Public Transportation technical assistance grant, and staff effort was supported 
through the Rural Work Program and the Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan Planning 
Organization’s (CA-MPO) Unified Planning Work Program.  The bulk of the plan was completed in FY24.   
 
 

Fiscal Year 2025 Budget 

Task Description SPR Funds 
(80%) 

PDC  
(20%) 

Total 

TASK 1.0 PROGRAM ADMINISTRATION $12,800 $3,200 $16,000 
TASK 2.0 PLANNING & TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE $45,200  $11,300  $56,500  
TOTAL RURAL PLANNING PROGRAM $58,000 $14,500 $72,500 

 
FY2025 Scope of Work: This section of the Scope of Work details the administrative and technical tasks, 
staff responsibilities, and expected end products. The purpose of this work element is to facilitate 
regional participation and consensus building on transportation-related issues through a continuing, 
comprehensive, and coordinated (3-C) planning process. 
  

March 7, 2024 Page 18 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 4 of 8 
 

Fiscal Year 2025 Activities by Task 

FY 2025 – 1.0 Program Administration - $16,000 
The purpose of this task is to facilitate regional participation and consensus building on transportation-
related issues through a continuing, comprehensive and coordinated planning process (the 3 C’s 
approach).  The PDC’s Rural Transportation Advisory Committee (RTAC) is the technical committee of 
the Rural Transportation Program, and is composed of professional staff from local governments, the 
Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT), JAUNT, and the PDC’s RideShare program. The Planning 
District Commission functions as the policy board of the Rural Transportation Program.  
 
Task 1.1- Reporting and Compliance with Regulations - $5,500 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES:  
Coordinate rural transportation planning activities (committees, community workshops, studies) and 
prepare quarterly progress reports and invoices.  TJPDC staff will coordinate activities, develop reports 
to VDOT, and prepare monthly progress reports and invoices.  VDOT staff will process invoices and 
handle reimbursements. 
 
DELIVERABLE TASKS TO BE UNDERTAKEN: 

- Submit 12 monthly reports and invoices 
- Maintain the FY25 Rural Work Program 
- Prepare the FY26 Rural Work Program 

 
Task 1.2 - Staff committee meetings - $5,500 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES: 
The TJPDC will staff committee meetings, by: preparing materials; writing minutes; handling public 
participation; updating committee websites; and, coordinating with the Charlottesville-Albemarle MPO.  
 
DELIVERABLE TASKS TO BE UNDERTAKEN: 

- Staff the Rural Technical Transportation Committee – meeting 6 times per year. 
- Conduct presentations to the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (Rural 

Transportation Program Policy Board). 
 
Task 1.3 - Share information with agencies and public - $5,000 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES: 
TJPDC staff will work to share transportation-related information with state agencies, local officials, 
other PDCs, stakeholders, and the general public.  Staff will also attend relevant training sessions that 
will better inform rural transportation planning efforts. 
 
DELIVERABLE TASKS TO BE UNDERTAKEN: 

- Continue to update the Rural Program website, to better share information with VDOT and 
stakeholders 

- Participate in outreach meetings and provide/review data as requested by VDOT 
- Participate with the MPOs and VDOT on setting performance measure goals 
- Assist VDOT with local and regional input to annual statewide transportation improvement 

programs 
- Conduct intergovernmental discussion and coordination of transportation projects and 

developments 

March 7, 2024 Page 19 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 5 of 8 
 

- Provide informational updates in TJPDC news distribution channels (newsletters, Quarterly 
Reports, etc.) 

- The RTAC and Commission will continue to include public comment periods in its meeting 
agendas 

- Provide social media informational articles through TJPDC social media pages  
- Attend transportation sessions at statewide conferences 
- Attend trainings from state agencies  
- Host VDOT work sessions at the TJPDC Water Street Center or virtually 

 
Administration Budget 
SPR Funds (80%)   $12,800 
PDC Funds (20%) $  3,200 
Total Budgeted Expenditure for Program Administration $16,000 

 

FY 2025 - 2.0 Planning & Local Technical Assistance - $56,500 
The following tasks highlight the planning and technical services that the TJPDC will provide to its 
member localities in Fiscal Year 2024.  The TJPDC will provide general technical assistance to its member 
localities, as well as undertake specific endeavors on projects throughout the region to move towards 
the goals established in the Rural Long Range Transportation Plan.  
 
Task 2.1 – Comprehensive Safety Action Plan - $30,000 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES: 

- The TJPDC was awarded a federal Safe Streets and Roads for All Discretionary Grant to develop 
Comprehensive Safety Action Plans for each of the six jurisdictions.  To effectively leverage the 
funding, the TJPDC is committing additional staff support for the development of the safety 
action plans through both the Rural Work Program and the CA-MPO’s Unified Planning Work 
Program.  Once funding is released, there is a two-year performance period for the 
development of the Comprehensive Safety Action Plan, which will identify strategies for each 
locality to reduce the number of fatalities and serious injuries occurring along their roadways.  
TJPDC will partner with VDOT to complete an analysis of crashes throughout the region to 
determine the priority corridors outside of the federal grant in order to maximize the use of the 
grant resources.   

 
TASKS TO BE UNDERTAKEN: 

- Conduct crash analysis and identify high-priority corridors in collaboration with VDOT staff. 
- Attend meetings related to the release of the Safe Streets and Roads for All grant funding, and 

prepare the agency to receive the funding. 
- Provide ongoing administration and coordination of the grant activities in addition to what is 

supported with the grant funding.   
 
Task 2.2 – Prepare transportation infrastructure grant applications - $6,500 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES: 
The TJPDC staff supports its regional members in the identification and submission of Smart Scale and 
other transportation grant applications at their request.   
 
CURRENT/PLANNED PROJECTS: 

March 7, 2024 Page 20 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 6 of 8 
 

- Assist the region’s counties, towns, and villages with grant applications related to transportation 
improvements 

- Pursue grants for implementation of RLRP or Comprehensive Safety Action Plan projects 
- Provide Assistance for Smart Scale grant applications upon request 

 
Task 2.3 – Provide assistance to local and state partners as requested - $10,000 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES: 
Unanticipated rural transportation planning needs and issues arise during the fiscal year and the Rural 
Transportation Planning Program of the Planning District should be a resource for addressing these 
issues. 
 
TASKS TO BE UNDERTAKEN: 

- Provide support and technical assistance with plan reviews, rural transportation and corridor 
studies, strategic planning efforts, bikeway plans and studies 

- Participate on VDOT studies as part of the project development pipeline process 
- Develop and provide GIS information, as requested 
- Support the development of local Comprehensive Plan chapters and recommendations, as 

requested 
 
Task 2.4 – Regional Transit Partnership, Travel Demand Management, and Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Activities - $10,000 
DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES: 
There are several regional efforts to promote and support alternative transportation modes that will 
need to coordinate with the Rural Transportation Work Program, including regional transit planning 
initiatives and commuter assistance program initiatives.   
 
One significant effort that will be underway in FY24 is the development of a Strategic Plan for TJPDC’s 
commuter assistance program, RideShare.  The TJPDC has applied for a technical assistance grant to 
retain a consultant, and the TJPDC will provide staffing support to develop elements of the Strategic 
Plan through the Rural Work Program and the CA-MPO’s Unified Planning Work Program.  Other efforts 
that will be programmed in this task include ongoing coordination with the Regional Transit Partnership 
and coordination of bike/ped projects with state funding applications.   
 
TASKS TO BE UNDERTAKEN: 

- Coordinate with the Regional Transit Partnership to ensure that rural interests are represented 
in regional transit planning efforts 

- Provide ongoing support for transit initiatives to expand the Mobility Management program and 
support rural locality engagement in establishing the Regional Transit Authority 

- Support the development of studies, plans, and initiatives that will promote access to safe 
infrastructure for rural users 

- Collaborate with Rideshare to support programming that will improve participation in the 
regional Travel Demand Management activities and initiatives 

 
Planning & Technical Assistance Activities Budget 
SPR Funds (80%)   $45,200 
PDC Funds (20%) $ 11,300 
Total Budgeted Expenditure for Program Activities $56,500 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 21 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 7 of 8 
 

FY26 Anticipated Work Tasks 
To provide a longer-view of the Rural Transportation Program, staff anticipates work tasks for the next 
fiscal year to create better continuity between fiscal years and manage commitments to member 
localities.  
 
In FY26, continued work on developing a coordinated regional strategy for Smart Scale funding 
application projects that prioritize projects by both need and by likelihood of funding. The TJPDC will 
once again assist local governments in application preparation. Staff will complete work that began in 
FY24 to complete the Comprehensive Safety Action Plan, and will determine the level of support for any 
implementation activities that are identified as part of that plan development.   
  

March 7, 2024 Page 22 of 266



FY-2025 Rural Transportation Planning Work Program 
 

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission                                                                                       Page 8 of 8 
 

Appendices 
 
 
 

Appendix A: FY-2025 Budget Summary 
 
 

Tasks VDOT (SPR) 80% PDC (Match) 
20% Total 100% 

Program Administration 
Task 1.1- Reporting and Compliance with Regulations $4,400.00  $1,100.00  $5,500.00  
Task 1.2 – Staffing Committees $4,400.00  $1,100.00  $5,500.00  
Task 1.3 - Information Sharing $4,000.00  $1,000.00  $5,000.00  
Total Budgeted Expenditure for Program Administration $12,800.00  $3,200.00  $16,000.00  

Program Activities 
Task 2.1 – Comprehensive Safety Action Plan $24,000.00  $6,000.00  $30,000.00  
Task 2.2 – Prepare transportation infrastructure grant applications $5,200.00 $1,300.00  $6,500.00  
Task 2.3 – Support Local and State requests for assistance as needed $8,000.00  $2,000.00  $10,000.00  
Task 2.4 – Regional Transit Partnership, Travel Demand Management, and 
Bicycle/Pedestrian Activities $8,000.00  $2,000.00  $10,000.00  

Total Budgeted Expenditure for Program Activities $45,200.00  $11,300.00  $56,500.00 
Total Budgeted Expenditure for Program Administration and Program Activities $58,000.00  $14,500.00  $72,500.00  

 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 23 of 266



3/1/2024

1

Regional Transit 
Governance Study

For Region 10

Study Goals
Review existing transit 
governance in the region and 
identify a structure for regional 
transit governance

• What governance models be can 
feasibly implemented to realize 
regional transit goals?

• What lessons can we learn from 
other Virginia 
transportation/transit authorities?

• What mechanisms can be adopted 
to safeguard the effectiveness of 
the regional entity? 

Identify potential revenue 
streams for dedicated transit 
funding to augment current 
jurisdictional costs for transit

• What potential funding streams 
can be identified for increased local 
investment?

• How are existing transportation 
authorities in the Commonwealth 
funded? Are those funds available 
for Region 10?

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 2

1 2

1

2

March 7, 2024 Page 24 of 266



3/1/2024

2

Extensive Stakeholders Engagement

• Hampton Roads Transit 
• Hampton Roads 

Transportation 
Accountability Commission 
(HRTAC)

• Northern Virginia 
Transportation Authority 
(NVTA)

• Williamsburg Area Transit 
Authority (WATA)

• VA Department of Rail & 
Public Transportation 
(DRPT)

• Virginia Department of 
Transportation (VDOT)

• City of Charlottesville
• Albemarle County
• Greene County
• Fluvanna County
• Louisa County
• Nelson County
• University of Virginia/UTS
• CAT
• Jaunt
• Regional Transit Partnership 

(RTP)
• Charlottesville-Albemarle 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (CAMPO)

• Ann Arbor, MI
• Blacksburg, VA 
• Bloomington, IN
• Iowa City, IA
• Ithaca, NY
• State College, PA

STATEWIDE 
ENGAGEMENT

LOCAL & REGIONAL 
ENGAGEMENT

NATIONAL PEER 
ENGAGEMENT

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 3

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 4

Existing 
Conditions

Peer Study 
Analysis

Potential 
Governance 

Options

Potential Revenue 
Generation 

Options

Approach

Study Approach

3

4

March 7, 2024 Page 25 of 266



3/1/2024

3

Role of the Regional Transit Authority 

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 5

Planning Funding Governance Oversight

Rural Transit Needs Assessment

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 6

Consider conducting a rural transit needs assessment that clearly identifies 
and articulates rural needs.

• To help understand
– Locations of transit dependent populations across the region
– Proportion of county residents that may be transit users or transit dependent 
– Transit user satisfaction with current service and areas for improvement
– Residents that are unable to receive transit service potential interjurisdictional travel within 

and outside Region 10 (e.g., connections to neighboring counties)

5

6

March 7, 2024 Page 26 of 266



3/1/2024

4

Perceived Value and Local Control in 
Regional Governance

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 7

Continue rural engagement in the developmental stages and design of 
regional governance including drafting of potential legislation.

• Use results of rural transit needs assessments to further evaluate proposed 
future services presented in the regional Transit Vision Networks

• Include accountability mechanisms in the use of transit revenue generated to 
ensure equitable investments across involved stakeholders

• Continue educational efforts and communication of benefits of improved transit 
service 

Collaboration with UVA 

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 8

• Examples from peer cases showed that university systems can be crucial partners 
in regional transit regardless of governance type (e.g., city department, 
independent authority, public transportation corporation, 501(c) nonprofit, etc.).

• Potential arrangements with university to that can position the region to leverage 
additional federal, state, and grant funding may be explored.

• Potential cost sharing mechanisms with UTS may also be explored (e.g., 
maintenance garages or staff, training programs, or other administrative 
responsibilities).

• Future collaborations on innovative transit projects may be explored to further 
strengthen university involvement with regional transit.

Engage UVA leadership at a level where there is decision-making authority in 
subsequent efforts toward establishing a transit authority.

7

8

March 7, 2024 Page 27 of 266



3/1/2024

5

Desire For Regional Transit Governance 

• Interim committee to 
discuss preliminary 
details

• Draft bylaws and discuss 
administrative functions

Set up work groupSet up work group

• Governing bodies pass 
resolution to adopt 
CARTA

Activate CARTAActivate CARTA
• Draft action items 
• Begin work on transit 

priorities and 
improvements

Initiate WorkInitiate Work

• Draft modifications for 
funding component in 
collaboration with 
participating localities

Develop modifications 
for CARTA

Develop modifications 
for CARTA

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 9

Motion to direct 
TJPDC staff to 

continue 
supporting the 

initiative to form a 
regional transit 

authority

9

10

March 7, 2024 Page 28 of 266



3/1/2024

6

Role of the Regional Transit Authority 

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 11

• Prepare a regional transit plan for all or a portion of the areas located 
within boundaries of each member locality

• Once a plan is adopted, power to construct or acquire, by purchase, 
lease, contract, or otherwise, the transit facilities specified in the plan

• Power to make, assume, and enter into contracts, agreements, 
arrangements, and leases with public or private entities as the 
Authority may determine

• Enter contracts or arrangements with its members, or other transit 
commissions of transportation districts adjoining any member, any 
authority, or state, local, or private entity

Role of the Regional Transit Authority 

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 12

• General oversight of area programs involving transit or congestion 
mitigation

• Long-range transit planning in area
• Recommend regional transit priorities (including projects and funding 

allocations) to federal, state, and regional agencies 
• Advocate for transit needs in the area before federal and state 

governments
• Apply for grants and any other funds from the federal or state 

government or any agency

11

12

March 7, 2024 Page 29 of 266



3/1/2024

7

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 13

Regional Transit Vision Plan
Develop, design, and provide transit in the region in a 

manner that reflects a collaborative, inclusive and equitable
process, representing needs in both urban and rural areas. 

Two vision networks were developed based on the goals 
discussed, transit provider guidance, and public feedback. 

1. Unconstrained vision network: 
o shows a future transit network that fully 

implements the Vision Statement and Goals, 
without considering any financial constraints.

2. Constrained vision network: 
o shows a future transit network that implements 

the Vision Statement and Goals within the 
constraints of a potential regional transit funding 
measure.

Indicators of Accountability

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 14

Representation 
• Board membership from jurisdictions that embrace authority
• Elected officials as members
• Ex-officio members from state level (DRPT/House/Senate/CTB)

Technical Advisory
• Committee comprising one staff member from each jurisdiction 

and one from each non-voting member (e.g., DRPT, VDOT, 
TJPDC, MPO, transit operators, etc.)

Decision-Making 
Criteria

• Identify criteria/guiding principles for regional investments (e.g., 
equity, economic impact, multimodality, etc.)

Financial Reporting

• Creation of separate fund for new revenue
• Development of plan to prioritize transit projects of regional 

significance – in collaboration and approved by board members
• Requirement of annual documentation if funds are disbursed to 

another entity

Funding Oversight • Finance committee to oversee financial activities (e.g., quarterly 
expenditure reviews) – elected officials and CTB 

13

14

March 7, 2024 Page 30 of 266



3/1/2024

8

Next Steps

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 15

Continue discussions 
on transit needs with 

all perspectives 
included

Set up small volunteer 
group to champion 
continued efforts

Establish CARTA as an 
interim entity

Potential Revenue Sources

Revenue Sources NVTA, HRTAC, & CVTA
• Sales and use tax
• Grantors tax
• Fuel tax
• Transient occupancy/lodging tax
• Recordation tax
• Toll revenues & truck registration 

fees
• Interstate Operations Enhancement 

Program

Exploratory Options for Region 10
• Sales and use tax
• Transient occupancy/lodging tax
• Property tax
• Real estate tax

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 16
Details of potential estimates from these sources are provided in the final report

15

16

March 7, 2024 Page 31 of 266



3/1/2024

9

Potential Revenue Sources

• The potential sources of local funds 
identified serve as a starting point for 
further discussion among regional 
stakeholders

• Once interim committee is 
established, initial administrative costs 
and potential cost allocations may be 
discussed

Regional Transit Governance Study for Region 10 17

Exploratory Options for Region 10

Sales and use tax

Transient occupancy/lodging tax

Property tax

Real estate tax

17

March 7, 2024 Page 32 of 266



401 East Water St.
Charlottesville, VA 22902

  

Region 10 Transit 
Governance Study

Final Report

 

February 2024

March 7, 2024 Page 33 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission ii

Prepared for:
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission
401 East Water St.
Charlottesville, VA 22902

Through Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT), Albemarle County, and the City of
Charlottesville.

Prepared by:
Stephanie Amoaning-Yankson

AECOM Technical Services, Inc.
4840 Cox Road
Glen Allen, VA 23060
aecom.com

in partnership with

Jarrett Walker + Associates

March 7, 2024 Page 34 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................ VI
1 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................... 1

1.1 BACKGROUND ............................................................................................................................... 1
1.2 PURPOSE AND APPROACH .............................................................................................................. 2

2 EXISTING CONDITIONS .................................................................................................................. 4
2.1 OVERVIEW OF REGIONAL TRANSIT OPERATORS ................................................................................ 4

2.1.1 Charlottesville Area Transit (CAT).......................................................................................... 4
2.1.2 Jaunt Inc. .............................................................................................................................. 7
2.1.3 University of Virginia University Transit Service (UTS) ......................................................... 12
2.1.4 Summary ............................................................................................................................ 13

3 PEER STUDY OF TRANSIT AUTHORITIES ................................................................................... 14
3.1 PEER SELECTION CRITERIA .......................................................................................................... 14
3.2 DESKTOP ANALYSIS AND OPERATOR INTERVIEWS ........................................................................... 15
3.3 PEER ANALYSIS FRAMEWORK ....................................................................................................... 16
3.4 REVIEW OF PEERS ...................................................................................................................... 16

3.4.1 Blacksburg, VA ................................................................................................................... 16
3.4.2 Bloomington, IN .................................................................................................................. 18
3.4.3 State College, PA ................................................................................................................ 20
3.4.4 Ithaca, NY........................................................................................................................... 22
3.4.5 Ann Arbor, MI ...................................................................................................................... 23
3.4.6 Iowa City, IA........................................................................................................................ 25

3.5 GOVERNANCE AND FUNDING THEMES OBSERVED ........................................................................... 27

4 REVENUE GENERATION ............................................................................................................... 28
4.1 ANALYSIS APPROACH .................................................................................................................. 28
4.2 POTENTIAL FUNDING SOURCES .................................................................................................... 29

4.2.1 Overview of Transit Funding Sources .................................................................................. 29
4.2.2 Transportation Funding in the Commonwealth ..................................................................... 30
4.2.3 Shortlist of Potential Funding Sources for Region 10 ........................................................... 32

4.3 ANALYSIS RESULTS ..................................................................................................................... 34

5 GOVERNANCE OPTIONS .............................................................................................................. 37
5.1 LEGISLATIVE REVIEW ................................................................................................................... 37

5.1.1 Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority ............................................................ 37
5.1.2 Northern Virginia Transportation Authority ........................................................................... 37
5.1.3 Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission ................................................ 37
5.1.4 Central Virginia Transportation Authority ............................................................................. 38
5.1.5 Williamsburg Area Transit Authority ..................................................................................... 38
5.1.6 Other Governance Frameworks .......................................................................................... 38

5.2 EXISTING TRANSIT COORDINATION IN CHARLOTTESVILLE REGION ..................................................... 38
5.3 RECOMMENDED CHARACTERISTICS FOR REGIONAL TRANSIT GOVERNANCE ...................................... 39

5.3.1 Establishment and Membership .......................................................................................... 40
5.3.2 Board Composition ............................................................................................................. 40
5.3.3 Voting ................................................................................................................................. 41
5.3.4 Role in Decision Making and Transit Planning ..................................................................... 42
5.3.5 Powers ............................................................................................................................... 43
5.3.6 Withdrawal .......................................................................................................................... 43

5.4 OTHER CHARACTERISTICS ........................................................................................................... 43
5.4.1 Indicators of Accountability .................................................................................................. 43
5.4.2 Administrative Costs, Cost Allocations, and Maintenance of Effort ....................................... 44

5.5 BENEFITS OF ADOPTING A REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY .............................................................. 45

March 7, 2024 Page 35 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission iv

5.6 LEGISLATIVE PROCESS AND OBJECTIVES ....................................................................................... 45

6 STUDY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................. 47
6.1 DESIRE FOR REGIONAL TRANSIT GOVERNANCE .............................................................................. 47
6.2 RURAL TRANSIT NEEDS ASSESSMENT ........................................................................................... 47
6.3 PERCEIVED VALUE AND LOSS OF CONTROL IN A REGIONAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENT .................. 48
6.4 COLLABORATION WITH UVA .......................................................................................................... 48

7 CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS ................................................................................................. 49
APPENDICES…………………………………………………………………………………………………...….50

Figures
Figure 1-1 Study Approach ...................................................................................................................................... 2
Figure 1-2 Stakeholder Engagement Map ................................................................................................................ 3
Figure 2-1 CAT Historical Timeline (1975-2010) ....................................................................................................... 4
Figure 2-2 Charlottesville Area Transit Organizational Structure................................................................................ 5
Figure 2-3 2021 CAT Operating Funding Sources (NTD) .......................................................................................... 6
Figure 2-4 CAT Operating Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021)............................................................... 7
Figure 2-5 CAT Capital Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021) ................................................................... 7
Figure 2-6 CAT Operating Funds Per Vehicle Revenue Hour (NTD 2016 to 2021) ..................................................... 7
Figure 2-7 Jaunt Organizational Structure ................................................................................................................ 8
Figure 2-8 2021 Jaunt Operating Funding Sources (NTD) ...................................................................................... 10
Figure 2-9 2021 Jaunt Capital Funding Sources (NTD) ...........................................................................................11
Figure 2-10 Jaunt Operating Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021) ..........................................................11
Figure 3-1 Peer Study Process .............................................................................................................................. 14
Figure 3-2 Map of Peer Operators ......................................................................................................................... 15
Figure 3-3 Peer Study Framework ......................................................................................................................... 16
Figure 3-4 Blacksburg Transit Key Characteristics ................................................................................................. 17
Figure 3-5 Bloomington Transit Key Characteristics ............................................................................................... 19
Figure 3-6 CATA Key Characteristics ..................................................................................................................... 20
Figure 3-7 TCAT Key Characteristics ..................................................................................................................... 22
Figure 3-8 TheRide Key Characteristics ................................................................................................................. 24
Figure 3-9 Iowa City Transit Key Characteristics .................................................................................................... 26
Figure 4-1 Phase III Approach ............................................................................................................................... 28
Figure 4-2 General Sources of Transit Revenue ..................................................................................................... 29
Figure 5-1 Courses of Action for Legislative Process .............................................................................................. 46

Tables
Table 2-1 CAT Service Characteristics ..................................................................................................................... 4
Table 2-2 Jaunt Service Characteristics ................................................................................................................... 8
Table 3-1 Staff Interviewed at Each Agency ........................................................................................................... 15
Table 3-2 Blacksburg Transit Funding Sources, 2021 ............................................................................................. 18
Table 3-3 Bloomington Transit Funding Sources, FY2022 ....................................................................................... 20
Table 3-4 CATA Funding Sources, FY2021 ............................................................................................................ 22
Table 3-5 TCAT Funding Sources, FY2022 ............................................................................................................ 23
Table 3-6 TheRide Funding Sources, FY2022 ........................................................................................................ 25
Table 3-7 Iowa City Transit Funding Sources, FY2021............................................................................................ 27
Table 3-8 Governance and Funding Summary Table .............................................................................................. 28
Table 4-1 US Regional and Local Transit Funding Options ..................................................................................... 30

March 7, 2024 Page 36 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission v

Table 4-2 Summary of Main Funding Sources for three Virginia Regional Transportation Authorities ........................ 31
Table 4-3 Summary of Funding Sources ................................................................................................................ 34
Table 4-4 Estimated revenues from additional 0.7% sales tax in millions of dollars .................................................. 35
Table 4-5 Estimated revenues from additional 0.5% lodging tax in millions of dollars ............................................... 35
Table 4-6 Estimated revenues from additional 0.5% personal property tax in millions of dollars ............................... 36
Table 4-7 Estimated revenues from additional 0.1% real estate tax in millions of dollars .......................................... 36
Table 5-1 Advantages and Disadvantages of Types of Board Composition .............................................................. 41
Table 5-2 Examples of Board Composition for Virginia Authorities ........................................................................... 42

March 7, 2024 Page 37 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission vi

Executive Summary
Overview 
Over the past several years, the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (TJPDC) has worked collaboratively 
with its member jurisdictions to improve transit service in the region. In the past year, the region undertook a 
collaborative effort to develop a Transit Vision Plan to establish a clear, long-term vision for efficient, equitable and 
effective transit service for the region. Led by the TJPDC and supported by the City of Charlottesville, Albemarle 
County, and the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation (DRPT), the Transit Vision Plan established a 
unified vision for transit service in Region 10, which is made up of the counties of Albemarle, Fluvanna, Greene, 
Louisa, Nelson, and the City of Charlottesville. 

This Transit Governance Study builds from the Transit Vision Plan. It seeks to identify governance options for regional 
transit and increased transportation investments in the region. The study focuses on identifying options for a 
governance body that can steward any additional transit revenues generated; the scope does not include strategies 
or approaches for consolidating current transit operations. 

Study Goals and Approach

This study has two main goals:

1. Review existing transit governance in the region and identify a structure for regional transit governance.  
2. Identify potential revenue streams for dedicated transit funding to augment current jurisdictional costs for 

transit.
The additional funds will support the implementation of the services in the Transit Vision Plan and increase transit 
service across the region. 

To achieve these goals, the study team adopted a five-phase approach shown in Figure E-1. 

Figure E- 1 Study Approach

A steering committee was formed to guide the study and provide feedback. It was comprised of representatives from 
Albemarle, Fluvanna, Louisa, Nelson, and Greene counties, the City of Charlottesville, TJPDC, DRPT, and the 
University of Virginia (UVA). Additionally, stakeholder engagement was also conducted with the transit providers, 
Regional Transit Partnership (RTP), the TJPDC Commission, boards of supervisors of member counties, 
Charlottesville City Council, the Metropolitan Planning Organization Policy Board, and the Virginia Department of 
Transportation (VDOT). 

Phase 1: Existing Conditions
• Review of existing Transit operators in

region
• Comparative legislative anlaysis of

Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional
Transit Authority

Phase II: Peer Study of
Regional Transit Governance
• Review case studies of transit

governance structures
• Identify governance lessons and

strategies for Charlottesville Region

Phase III: Potential Revenue
Generation
• Identify potential transit funding

mechanisms
• Estimate the associated funding yields

from the feasible sources identified
• Develop revenue models with five-year

projections based on estimated transit
service levels

Phase IV: Develop Governance
Scenarios & Funding
Allocations
• Identify options for transit governance and

funding
• Facilitate consensus on prefered

alternative

Phase V: Evaluate and
Recommend Governance
Structures
• Evaluate and document final governance

alternatives

March 7, 2024 Page 38 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission vii

Existing Legislation for a Regional Transit Authority
The legislature provided for the Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority (CARTA) as early as 2009 with
subsequent amendments. The authority was established as a service delivery organization, with the contracting,
financial (including bonding), and acquisition and operating powers necessary. Its authority is for transit.
Charlottesville and “all or portions of Albemarle County” are the essential boundaries, but additional portions of
Albemarle, Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, and Nelson counties as well as tourist-driven and public transit agencies, and
higher education agencies may join as members. There is no provision in the current CARTA legislation for dedicated
funding.

Frameworks for Regional Transit Governance
Other frameworks exist for regional transit governance. A peer review of six agencies with similar demographic,
geographic, and operating characteristics to the Charlottesville Region showed various governance structures
including transit service provided by:

 a town department with funding from a university (Blacksburg Transit); 

 a public transportation corporation funded through local property and income taxes (Bloomington
Transit); 

 a joint municipal authority funded by member municipalities (CATA, State College);

 a 501 (c)(3) nonprofit funded through general fund contributions from a city, county, and university
(TCAT, Ithaca); and 

 a transportation authority (TheRide, Ann Arbor) and city department (ICT, Iowa City) both funded
through local property taxes.

Recommended Governance Structure
With the exception of funding authority, the existing CARTA legislation possesses the fundamental structure and
make-up of a regional transit authority that could serve Region 10. It is recommended for regional stakeholders to
adopt the existing structure in the interim while an ideal transit authority that has potential to accomplish regional
goals is pursued.

The following describes the ideal transit authority for the region. These characteristics were derived from a
comparative review of other Virginia Regional Transportation Authorities (RTAs) that fund transit service1 and regional
peers, and consensus building discussions with regional stakeholders.

 Creation: The authority may be created by issuing new state legislation or modifying existing2 legislation to
form a transit authority that meets the characteristics described. Existing legislation for the Charlottesville-
Albemarle Regional Transit Authority (CARTA) may be amended to include funding and align with other
sections described in this section.

 Purpose: The authority would, at least initially, serve as a regional decision-making body for transit matters.
Its purpose would be to plan for regional transit service and to manage transit funding in the region.

 Authority participation: The authority may be created with the City of Charlottesville and Albemarle County
as initial members, and an option for the counties of Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, and Nelson to join as
participating members as well.

 Other Entities as Participants: Other entities such as higher education institutions, public transportation
agencies, or private nonprofit entities may also join the authority upon agreement, concurrent resolution, or
ordinance of the existing members of the authority.

 Board Composition: The board composition will be:

1 Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission (HRATC), Central Virginia Transportation Authority (CVTA), and
Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA).
2 Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title33.2/chapter28/

March 7, 2024 Page 39 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission viii

o Two directors representing the County of Albemarle, each of whom shall be a member of the
governing body of the county.

o Two directors representing the City of Charlottesville, each of whom shall be a member of the
governing body of the city.

o One director representing each county that joins the Authority, each of whom shall be a member of
the governing body of each respective county.

The Board may also include gubernatorial appointees and representatives from state or regional bodies
such as DRPT, the House of Delegates, the Senate, or any other body deemed appropriate by the state
legislature. Additional directors may also be added to represent the interests of any agencies or institutions
that join the authority.

Most authorities have the option for the board structure to change as needed to reflect changes in the region
that occur over time. Rules for change may include transit service-based methods or population-based
methods. Boards should ideally represent all taxpayers (including non-transit riding taxpayers), therefore, a
combination of the two approaches could be considered if modifications are required.

Potential Transit Funding Options
Two transit network alternatives were developed as part of the Transit Vision Study. Operating costs for the two
alternatives were estimated at roughly $35.5 million and $85 million per year3 for the “constrained” and
“unconstrained” networks, respectively. The constrained vision network was developed under the premise of a future
regional transit authority with the ability to generate sufficient revenue for the vision, while the unconstrained vision is
more aspirational. Both options provide a drastic improvement to current transit service across the region including
increased routes, frequencies, and days of service for the urban areas, plus microtransit options and all-day / seven
days a week regional express service between rural and urban areas. Detailed descriptions of the transit service
improvements can be found in the Vision Study report.4

Public transportation is funded through a combination of federal, state, local, and internally generated sources (e.g.,
fares, advertising, etc.). Average operating costs per year for current transit service in the region (not including
University Transit System) is approximately $18 million per year with the local component making up about a third
(~$5 million5 in 2021) of the total amount. A substantial increase in local funding is required to meet the funding gap
between current transit funding and the future funding needed for increased transit service across the region.

After extensive research of potential revenue sources and stakeholder engagement, the following options were
determined to be most feasible6 under the Virginia context:

 Sales tax: A tax on the sale of goods or services purchased (not including tax for non-prepared foods). This is
the most common source for funding local and regional transit services. Being relatively stable and having
moderate public acceptance, an additional 0.7% increase in sales tax across the region could generate an
approximate five-year average of $37 million per year.

 Transient occupancy tax/lodging tax: A tax on lodging establishments and does not directly impact residents.
This has a minimal revenue yield in some areas. An additional 0.5% could generate an approximate five-year
average of $1 million per year.

 Personal property tax: A tax on the value of all motor vehicles, trailers, mobile homes, boats, and aircrafts.
This is a relatively stable source but has potential for public resistance if the rate of increase is significant. An
additional 0.5% could generate an approximate five-year average of $13 million per year.

3 When anticipated state and federal funding are accounted for, the local component of these amounts are estimated to be between
54 percent and 65 percent of the total respective amounts. Total cost estimates do not include costs associated with capital
investments and ADA paratransit service requirements for fixed route expansions.
4 Transit Vision Study StoryMap at https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/eba42b02fcf44a46a18d0d824b3ef911.
5 National Transit Database (2021).
6 Analysis was conducted assuming a uniform levy across all Region 10 localities.

March 7, 2024 Page 40 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission ix

 Real estate tax: A tax on the assessed value of land and buildings. This is widely used to finance transit and
typically considered a default funding source. An additional 0.1% could generate an approximate five-year
average of $52 million per year.

Although funding estimates were developed for the four revenue sources above, representatives from member localities
expressed flexibility in pursuing funding sources. As efforts are made toward implementation, member localities are open to
adopting one sole source, a combination of sources, or alternative options not identified in this study. Detailed estimates may
be found in Section 4: Revenue Generation.

Recommended Next Steps

The following next steps are recommended as a result of feedback from this study.

 Enact the existing CARTA legislation to serve as an interim entity for regional transit governance and decision
making (while legislative action is being pursued) with authority to plan for transit service and with the ability to
expand its role over time.

 Conduct a transit needs assessment that clearly analyzes rural transit service needs and the associated costs.

 Ensure continued rural engagement in development of legislative packet for a regional transit authority. Include
protective mechanisms in the use of transit revenue generated to lead to equitable investments across the
region. Continue educational efforts on the potential benefits of a regional authority and its impact on different
types of residents.

 Engage UVA leadership at a level where there is decision-making authority in subsequent efforts toward
establishing a transit authority.

The scope of this study does not cover identification of transit service improvements, consolidation of existing transit
operations, and administration/governance of school bus operations.

Recommendations presented at the conclusion of this study do not require any immediate action beyond consensus and
good faith efforts to participate and support the groundwork needed for implementation.

March 7, 2024 Page 41 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            1

1 Introduction
1.1 Background
The Thomas Jefferson Planning District (Region 10) is reaching critical characteristics of maturity in the general pattern of
development of urban areas and their transportation systems. Major urban areas reach a point where the cross-boundary travel
needs of the residents exceed the capacity of municipal transit systems to provide efficient public transportation. Well over
twice as many workers commute into Charlottesville from the neighboring jurisdictions compared to residences within the city
boundaries. In addition, there are growing needs for reverse-commutes to employment locations outside the city boundaries.

The Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (TJPDC) was established by the General Assembly in 1972 to manage
planning in Region 10. Over the past several years, the TJPDC has worked collaboratively with its member jurisdictions to
improve transit service in the region. In the past year, the region undertook a collaborative effort to develop a Transit Vision
Plan7 to establish a clear, long-term vision for efficient, equitable and effective transit service for the region. Led by the TJPDC
and supported by the City of Charlottesville, Albemarle County, and the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation
(DRPT), the Transit Vision Plan established a unified vision for transit service in Region 10, which is made up of the counties
of Albemarle, Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, Nelson, and the City of Charlottesville.

One outcome of the Transit Vision Study was the development of two redefined transit networks aligned with the new vision
for both urban and rural needs. The two vision networks were developed based on unified shared regional goals, transit provider
guidance, and public feedback. They are:

1. Unconstrained vision network: shows a future transit network that fully implements the vision statement and goals,
without considering any financial constraints.

2. Constrained vision network: shows a future transit network that implements the vision statement and goals within the
constraints of an assumed potential regional transit funding measure.

The benefits of each of the two networks and of regional transit service are discussed in the vision plan report, however, a
few benefits of funding improved service are listed below8 for various groups:

 Transit users – benefits include those derived from convenience and comfort, financial savings from lower cost of
transit use compared to personal vehicles, increased safety, and improved fitness and health;

 Drivers/motorists- benefits include reduced traffic and parking congestion, improved traffic safety, and emissions
reductions;

 Taxpayers – benefits accrued from costs savings related to road and parking facility construction and maintenance,
improved safety, and increased public health (and consequent reductions on public healthcare costs);

 Businesses – benefits from reductions in congestion, parking cost savings, improved mobility for employees, and
support to regional economic development; and

 Residents – benefits from parking cost savings, improved mobility for non-divers (and chauffeuring burdens),
increased safety, reduced pollution, improved public fitness.

This study assumes the “constrained network” as the base network for seeking additional regional transit funding and
establishing a governing structure to oversee that funding.

Exploring a unified structure for governing regional transit has been contemplated by area stakeholders at various times. In the
late 2000s, an attempt to form a transit authority was unsuccessful at the Virginia General Assembly, which declined to pass
legislation allowing dedicated regional transit taxation. In subsequent years, the General Assembly passed new legislation to
allow the creation of the Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority (CARTA) under Title 33.2, Subtitle IV, Chapter 28,
but again without dedicated funding. In 2017, the Regional Transit Coordination Study recommended forming the Regional
Transit Partnership (RTP) as an interim step towards establishing a regional transit authority. Currently, the RTP serves as an
official advisory board, created by the City of Charlottesville, Albemarle County, UVA, and JAUNT, in partnership with the

7 Details of the Transit Vision Plan may be found at this link
8 Litman, T. (2014). “Evaluating Public Transportation Local Funding Options.” Victoria Transport Policy Institute.

March 7, 2024 Page 42 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            2

Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation to provide recommendations to decision-makers on transit-related 
matters.

1.2 Purpose and Approach
The objective of this Regional Transit Governance Study is to (1) identify governance options for regional transit and (2) identify 
potential funding mechanisms to increase transit investments in Region 10. The guiding principle is to determine how transit 
service should be structured and coordinated to result in the highest quality and efficiency of service. To achieve these goals, 
the study team adopted a five-phase approach shown in Figure 1-1. 

Figure 1-1 Study Approach

The study was designed to maximize stakeholder feedback through a series of in-person and virtual meetings with the localities, 
transit providers, regional and state entities, and peer transit authorities in Virginia and the rest of the country. A list of 
stakeholders interviewed may be found in the appendix. A steering committee was formed to guide the study and provide 
feedback. It was comprised of representatives from Albemarle, Fluvanna, Louisa, Nelson, and Greene counties, the City of 
Charlottesville, TJPDC, the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation, and the University of Virginia. Additionally, 
stakeholder engagement was conducted with the transit providers, the Regional Transit Partnership, the TJPDC Commission, 
boards of supervisors of member counties, Charlottesville City Council, the Metropolitan Planning Organization Policy Board, 
and the Virginia Department of Transportation. Figure 1-2 shows a map of the stakeholder engagement process. 

Phase 1: Existing Conditions
• Review of existing Transit operators in

region
• Comparative legislative anlaysis of

Charlottesville-Albemarle RTA

Phase II: Peer Study of
Regional Transit Governance
• Review case studies of transit

governance structures
• Identify governance lessons and

strategies for Charlottesville Region

Phase III: Potential Revenue
Generation
• Identify potential transit funding

mechanisms
• Estimate the associated funding yields

from the feasible sources identified
• Develop revenue models with five-year

projections based on estimated transit
service levels

Phase IV: Develop Governance
Scenarios & Funding
Allocations
• Identify options for transit governance and

funding
• Facilitate consensus on prefered

alternative

Phase V: Evaluate and
Recommend Governance
Structures
• Evaluate and document final governance

alternatives

March 7, 2024 Page 43 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            3

Figure 1-2 Stakeholder Engagement Map

This report is divided into seven sections: Section 1 is the introduction to the study and provides an overview of the background
and objectives of the study. Section 2 reviews the existing conditions for transit in the region focusing on service providers and
current governance. Section 3 summarizes the results of a peer study and lessons learned from transit authorities with
characteristics similar to Region 10. Section 4 explores potential sources of revenue for transit investments. Section 5
discusses potential governance options for regional transit; this section outlines a potential governing body structure and details
for formation. Section 6 synthesizes feedback and results of the study to provide a list of findings and recommendations. Finally,
Section 7 concludes the report with next steps for Region 10.

March 7, 2024 Page 44 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            4

2 Existing Conditions
2.1 Overview of Regional Transit Operators
Region 10 is served by three transit operators: Charlottesville Area Transit (CAT), Jaunt, and the University of Virginia’s 
University Transit Service (UTS). CAT provides fixed-route service in the City of Charlottesville and some urbanized parts of 
Albemarle County; Jaunt provides ADA paratransit for CAT service as well as commuter route and demand response service 
to the rural portions of the region; UTS serves the University of Virginia Grounds and neighboring commercial and residential 
areas. Other passenger transportation services connect to Charlottesville and Region 10, which are not the focus of this 
governance analysis. These services include but are not limited to long-distance transportation operators (such as Amtrak, 
Greyhound and Megabus), interregional services (such as Afton Express with connections to Staunton and Waynesboro, 
state-supported Viginia Breeze motorcoach connections), and airporter services (such as Airbus, a UVA service connecting 
the Grounds to Washington Dulles and Richmond International airports).

2.1.1 Charlottesville Area Transit (CAT)
2.1.1.1 Operator Overview
CAT was founded in 1975 as Charlottesville Transit Service (CTS) by the City of Charlottesville after acquiring a then 
privately-owned transit company. CTS served the city exclusively until 1978, when Albemarle County entered into its first 
agreement with the city to provide contracted fixed-route service in parts of the county. In 1985, the city began operation of 
the school bus transportation system in addition to running CTS. Two decades later, the service expanded by entering into a 
reciprocal ridership agreement with the University of Virginia’s UTS in 2008 (Figure 2-1).

Figure 2-1 CAT Historical Timeline (1975-2010)

CTS now operates as Charlottesville Area Transit following a rebranding effort in 2010. The agency currently serves an area 
of about 38 square miles and a service area population of approximately 85,7559, which includes the City of Charlottesville, 
parts of Albemarle County, and the UVA Grounds. CAT also contracts with Jaunt to provide the federally required paratransit 
services. CAT service is Monday through Saturday on varying routes from 6:00am to 10:30pm using 11 fixed routes and a 
free trolley service. 

Table 2-1 CAT Service Characteristics

Measure (2021)10 Description
Service Area ~38 square miles
Service Area Population ~85,755 

Annual Passenger Miles Estimate ~2.1 million11

Annual Unlinked Trips 617,010
Annual Vehicle Revenue Miles 730,629

9 National Transit Database 2021 Annual Agency Profile. City of Charlottesville dba Charlottesville Area Transit
10 Ridership levels in 2021 were approximately one-third of the ridership in 2019, largely due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
11 CAT is not a full reporter to FTA, so self-reported annual passenger miles in 2021 was not available. The estimate shown was calculated
using the average CAT trip length in 2018 of 3.44 miles (VTA data) multiplied by the number of unlinked passenger trips in 2021.

March 7, 2024 Page 45 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            5

Measure (2021)10 Description
Annual Vehicle Revenue Hours 74,987
Vehicles Operated in Max Service 19
Operating Funds Expended  $9,211,327 
Capital Funds Expended NA

2.1.1.2 Organizational Structure
As a division of the City of Charlottesville, all CAT employees are city employees. CAT is headed by a Transit Director who 
manages approximately 142 employees to provide service (Figure 2). Three Assistant Directors (operations, maintenance 
and facilities, and finance and grant management) and seven other administrative positions support CAT operations. CAT 
has 59 full-time and 11 part-time bus operators in addition to 26 relief bus operators with many vacancies yet to be filled. 
These operators serve both the CAT transit and Charlottesville school bus services. 

Figure 2-2 Charlottesville Area Transit Organizational Structure (2022)

2.1.1.3 Governance Structure
The city operates under a Council-Manager form of government with a City Council serving as the ultimate decision-making 
body. Residents elect a five-member City Council who serve four-year staggered terms. The City Council, in turn, selects the 
Mayor and Vice Mayor who serve two-year terms each. The City Council also appoints the City Manager who serves as the 
chief executive officer of the city and manages all departments including transit. Transit-related decisions are ultimately 
determined by the City Council; however, daily transit operations are run by the Transit Director who reports to the City 
Manager. 

The CAT Advisory Board was a citizen advisory board set up by the City Council to provide input to CAT service 
improvements. This includes service changes such as routing, schedules, budget changes, or personnel needs. The CAT 
Advisory board has been inactive since the 2020 pandemic, but discussions are ongoing about re-establishing the board. 

2.1.1.4 Funding Sources
Transit funding can generally be divided into operating sources of assistance and capital sources of assistance. These 
sources include federal, state, local, and internal agency-generated funds. 

March 7, 2024 Page 46 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            6

Federal Sources
Federal grant programs require a minimum local match of four percent for all eligible projects. The primary source of federal
operating assistance for urbanized areas such as Charlottesville comes from the Section 5307 Urbanized Area Formula
Grants program, a formula-based program that offers transit capital and operations assistance to service providers in
urbanized areas. For urbanized areas greater than 200,000 people, funds are apportioned directly to the service providers; 
for urbanized areas under 200,000 people, funds are apportioned to the state for distribution. According to the 2021 National
Transit Database statistics, the Charlottesville urbanized area has a population of approximately 92,35912. In addition to
capital costs, eligible uses of the proceeds from the grants include preventative maintenance activities and rebuilding of
vehicles, track, signals, and communications equipment.

Another primary source of federal funding made available beginning in 2020 was the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security (CARES) Act which provided $25 billion to transit agencies nationwide.

State Sources
State funding consists of operating and capital assistance provided by the Virginia Department of Rail and Public
Transportation (DRPT). Operating assistance follows a performance-based methodology to determine funds allocation for
each agency. Operating assistance funds a maximum of 30 percent of agency operating expenses. For capital assistance,
DRPT employs a prioritization process to allocate capital funds. Projects are scored under the following three categories:

o State of good repair: Up to 68 percent matching funds for projects focused on replacements or
rehabilitation of existing transit assets.

o Minor enhancements: Up to 68 percent matching funds for projects to add capacity, new technology, and
customer facilities with costs under $3 million. This may also include some vehicle expansion projects.

o Major expansion: Up to 50 percent matching funds for expansion or improvements that exceed $3 million
or for purchases of more than five vehicles or five percent of fleet size.

Other state funding for CAT in fiscal year 2023 includes the Transit Ridership Incentive Program (TRIP). This grant program
is available for urban areas that exceed a population of 100,000 to improve regional connectivity by supporting low-income
and zero-fare programming. Following receipt of these TRIP funds, CAT has stopped collecting fares and does not anticipate
using fares as a revenue source for the foreseeable future. In addition to these sources, other competitive grants are
available to agencies including Technical Assistance grants, Public Transportation Workforce Development Program, and
Demonstration Project Assistance grants.

Local Sources and Directly Generated Funds
Funding from local and directly-generated sources include City of Charlottesville general revenues, contract funds from
Albemarle County and UVA, advertising, and other sources13. Figure 2-3 shows sources of operating funds for CAT as
reported to the National Transit Database (NTD) for 2021.

Figure 2-3 2021 CAT Operating Funding Sources (NTD) 14

12 2021 Annual Agency Profile. City of Charlottesville dba Charlottesville Area Transit.
13 Generally, transit fare revenues are relatively small when compared with the total cost of operating the system.
14 Revenues related to the UVA Trolley Service and UVA Fixed Route Service

Contract Revenues
2.9%

Local Funds
34.4%

State Funds
22.8%

Federal Assistance
39.6%

Other Funds
0.2%

March 7, 2024 Page 47 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            7

Figures 2-4 and 2-5 show the historical trends for CAT’s operating and capital funds from 2016 to 2021. Figure 2-6 shows the
trend of CAT’s operating funds per vehicle revenue hour from 2016 to 2021.

Figure 2-4 CAT Operating Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021)

Figure 2-5 CAT Capital Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021)15

Figure 2-6 CAT Operating Funds Per Vehicle Revenue Hour (NTD 2016 to 2021)16

2.1.2 Jaunt Inc.
2.1.2.1 Agency Overview
Originally known as Jefferson Area United Transportation (JAUNT), Jaunt was formed in 1975 to provide transit for human
service agencies (senior agencies, family assistance agencies, etc.). In 1983, the agency became incorporated as Jaunt, Inc.
with ownership transferred to local governments.

15 2021 NTD reports $0 in capital funding for CAT.
16 2021 NTD reports $0 in capital funding for CAT.

$7.00 $7.42
$8.44 $8.26 $7.92

$9.21

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

$1.36

$0.79

$0.99

$0.01

$0.26

$0.00

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

$67.82
$75.99 $78.08 $83.40 $76.24

$122.84

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

March 7, 2024 Page 48 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            8

Today, Jaunt provides regional transit service to customers in the counties of Albemarle, Buckingham, Fluvanna, Greene, 
Louisa, and Nelson, and the City of Charlottesville. It was formed to provide for the maintenance, development, improvement 
and use of public transit in the rural and urbanized areas of the localities served. Jaunt provides the following services:

- Demand Response - Demand response service for Buckingham, Fluvanna, Louisa, Nelson, Greene and rural parts 
of Albemarle County. Residents can travel by making advanced reservations. 

- American with Disabilities Act (ADA) Paratransit - Complementary paratransit service for CAT to fulfil ADA 
requirements. Under this arrangement, eligible riders can travel within a three-quarter mile radius of CAT’s fixed 
route service (the service “complements” fixed routes; customers pay a fee to ride). 

- Commuter Service – This is a fixed route commuter service that operates from park-and-ride lots in parts of 
Albemarle, Buckingham, and Nelson counties to destinations at UVA and downtown Charlottesville.

Table 2-2 Jaunt Service Characteristics

Measure (2021) Description
Service area ~2,719 square miles
Service area population ~273, 354
Annual Pax miles 1,463,189
Annual Unlinked Trips             147,968 
Annual Vehicle Revenue Miles          1,101,240 
Annual Vehicle Revenue Hours 66,668
Vehicles Operated in Max Service 55
Operating Budget  $9,410,333 
Capital Budget $955,762 

2.1.2.2 Organizational Structure
Jaunt is headed by a Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and reports to a Board of Directors. The CEO is supported by a Chief 
Operations Officer (COO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and together manage about 125 employees to provide its 
service. Key staff roles include Road Supervisors, Director of Procurement, Chief Mechanic, Safety Manager, Call Center 
Supervisor, Marketing and Communications Coordinator, and about 86 drivers. The full organizational structure is shown in 
Figure 2-7.

Figure 2-7 Jaunt Organizational Structure

March 7, 2024 Page 49 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            9

2.1.2.3 Governance Structure
Jaunt was incorporated in 1983 as a public service corporation by the City of Charlottesville and the Counties of Albemarle
and Nelson. However, ownership of Jaunt also includes Fluvanna and Louisa Counties, making a total of five stock owners.
Stockholder shares are divided as follows:

- City of Charlottesville 5 shares

- Albemarle County 5 shares

- Nelson County 2 shares

- Fluvanna County 2 shares

- Louisa County 2 shares

Board Characteristics
Jaunt is governed by a Board of Directors elected by the five Stockholders. Directors elected by Stockholders can in turn
appoint Directors at large to serve on the Board in a non-voting capacity (ex-officio). Stockholders are entitled to nominate
two (2) Directors for every two shares held. In cases where an odd number of shares are held, the number of Directors
nominated will be rounded down. The breakdown of Director nominations is as follows:

- City of Charlottesville 4 Directors

- Albemarle County 4 Directors

- Nelson County 2 Directors

- Fluvanna County 2 Directors

- Louisa County 2 Directors

The Board is currently composed of 14 voting members who serve three-year terms. The City of Charlottesville and
Albemarle County have four members each, while Louisa, Fluvanna, and Nelson Counties have two members each. Non-
voting members are appointed by the Board are Buckingham County, TJPDC, and DRPT. According to the agency bylaws,
the Board may have no more than 20 and no less than 12 voting members at any time. Directors serve a three-year term
each that may be extended, decreased, or modified by the Stockholders.

Each Board member is entitled to one vote with no allowance for proxy votes.

Officers and Committees
The Board elects Officers to serve as President, Vice President, Treasurer, and Secretary at their annual meeting. Select
Board members also serve on three committees (Executive, Finance, and Jaunt Friends) and represent Jaunt at the
Regional Transit Partnership.

- Executive Committee: This committee includes the President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, Immediate Past
President, and Executive Director (CEO). According to the Bylaws, the committee may also include chairs of various
subcommittees, other Board directors, or Jaunt employees appointed by the President. The Immediate Past
President, Executive Director and employees appointed to the committee serve as non-voting members.

The committee may exercise all the routine and ordinary powers of the Board to discuss issues related to urgent
business matters, organizational and operating procedures of the Board, legal issues, compliance with
requirements, and supporting the Executive Director. Business transacted by the committee must be reported to the
Board for ratification.

- Finance Committee: This committee includes the Treasurer and at least two other Directors chosen by the Board for
the purpose of providing financial oversight and management of Jaunt.

- Jaunt Friends: This is a 501(c)3 organization with a mission to support Jaunt services. It awards scholarships to the
financially disadvantaged, so they remain active in society and as independent as possible.

March 7, 2024 Page 50 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            10

2.1.2.4 Funding Sources
Similar to CAT, Jaunt’s funding comes from a combination of federal, state, local, and directly-generated funds (farebox).

Federal Sources
As CAT’s provider of ADA paratransit services, Jaunt receives a portion of CAT’s annual Section 5307 operating funds
allocation. Jaunt has been eligible for other federal grants in the past, including the Rural Area Formula Program Grant
(Section 5311), Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities Formula Program (Section 5310), Bus and Bus
Facilities (Section 5339), and New Freedom Program17 (Section 5317). Since DRPT is the designated recipient of federal
transit funding in rural areas, Jaunt must apply to DRPT for their federal funds.

Oftentimes, federal sources of assistance also have minimum requirements for matching funds, which varies for capital
grants and operating grants. Generally, the Section 5311 program may provide up to 50% of the net deficit for rural operating
needs, with the remaining balance split evenly between state and local assistance (25% each). Capital costs on the other
hand, are typically funded at an 80%, federal; 16% state, and 4% local match. 

State Sources
Jaunt is eligible for the same state transit funding programs as previously described for CAT in Section 2.1.1.4.

Local Sources and Directly-Generated Funds
Local funding for Jaunt comes from the jurisdictions within its service area based on an agreed-upon formula. Directly-
generated funds include revenue from contracted service, advertising, and other sources.

Figures 2-8 and 2-9 show the sources of operating and capital funds for Jaunt in 2021 as reported to the NTD.

Figure 2-8 2021 Jaunt Operating Funding Sources (NTD)18

17 Grants for both capital and operating aimed reducing transportation barriers faced by individuals with disabilities to expand
mobility through transportation, beyond the requirements of the ADA Act of 1990.
18 The 2021 federal funding portion shown is much higher than in previous years because it includes CARES funding which was eligible at a
100 percent federal share.

Fare Revenues
2.7%

Local Funds
20.8%

State Funds
6.5%Federal Assistance

70.1%

March 7, 2024 Page 51 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            11

Figure 2-9 2021 Jaunt Capital Funding Sources (NTD)

Figures 2-10 and 2-11 show the historical trend of operating and capital funding for Jaunt from 2016 to 2021. Figure 2-12
shows the trend of Jaunt’s operating funds per vehicle revenue hour from 2016 to 2021.

Figure 2-10 Jaunt Operating Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021)

Figure 2-11 Jaunt Capital Funds in Millions of Dollars (NTD 2016 to 2021)

Fare Revenues
0.0%

Local Funds
13.3%

State Funds
14.3%

Federal Assistance
72.4%

$6.24 $6.62 $6.91

$8.08
$8.67

$9.41

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

$1.80
$2.90

$2.21 $2.26 $2.46

$0.96

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

March 7, 2024 Page 52 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            12

Figure 2-12 Jaunt Operating Funds Per Vehicle Revenue Hour (NTD 2016 to 2021)

2.1.3 University of Virginia University Transit Service (UTS)
2.1.3.1 Operator Overview
The University Transit Service provides transportation services to UVA students, faculty, and staff on and around UVA
Grounds and UVA’s hospital. The service started in the 1970s as a way to influence parking demand on UVA Grounds. As a
major employer and trip generator in the region, the service started by providing circulator and parking lot shuttle services. As
demand grew, UTS added more services and currently serves about 1.5 square miles.

UTS service levels vary throughout the year, depending on the university’s academic calendar, holidays, and events. Service
is divided between the parking lot shuttles and transit routes on the Grounds. The service area is bounded by Arlington
Boulevard, Alderman Road, Jefferson Park Avenue, 14th Street, Grady Avenue, and Rugby Road. It also goes off-Grounds
along the Jefferson Park Avenue (JPA) Corridor.

2.1.3.2 Organizational and Governance Structure
UTS is an operational unit at UVA housed under the Department of Parking and Transportation. Other units in the department
include parking and administration; however, UTS relies on other University resources for various services, including 
professional planners, architects, facilities management, human resource management, and procurement. UTS has an
alternative transportation team, a safety training team, and operations teams.

UTS is headed by the Director of Parking and Transportation who reports to the Associate Vice-President for Operations who
is ultimately accountable to the University Board of Visitors. The service is very staff-driven and approvals to the Board of
Visitors is only needed for the comprehensive student fee.

2.1.3.3 Funding Sources
The Department for Parking and Transportation has a budget of about $20 million per year, with between $8 million to $9
million allocated to transit. Service is funded through student fees and parking fees from the health system. The system also
generates some funds through event contracts such as football games and graduations. Beginning in 2008, UTS entered into
a reciprocal agreement with CAT by paying a modest fee for rides to be free to the public. However, this payment and a
similar arrangement with Jaunt were both paused during the pandemic as a result of declining transit ridership. The three
agencies are currently working to resume this collaborative arrangement.

Although the UTS service is open to the public, it differs from CAT and Jaunt by not being a publicly funded agency. It
therefore does not receive any federal, state or local funds. It also does not report to the Federal Transit Administration.

UTS, CAT and Jaunt continue to collaborate by sharing bus transfer stops and hosting coordination meetings with directors to
discuss challenges and possible solutions in addition to the ongoing coordination undertaken through the RTP.

$53.30 $59.01
$66.51

$74.34
$87.10

$141.15

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

March 7, 2024 Page 53 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            13

2.1.4 Summary
The three operators in the region differ widely in their core services, governance, and accountability characteristics. Together,
they each support a critical part of the transit landscape in the region; however, more transit investments and coordination 
are needed to support each jurisdiction’s needs. Connectivity between these services, and to longer-distance services
travelling beyond Region 10, are essential for seamless regional transportation.

March 7, 2024 Page 54 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            14

3 Peer Study of Transit Authorities
Following the review of existing conditions in Region 10, a peer analysis of transit authorities was conducted to review
successful cases of regionalized transit and identify lessons to apply to Region 10. Figure 3-1 summarizes the three-step
process adopted for this phase of the governance study.

Figure 3-1 Peer Study Process

3.1 Peer Selection Criteria
To create a list of potential peer operators and regions to the Charlottesville Region, data was queried from the Federal
Transit Administration’s (FTA) National Transit Database. This data was used to find similarities between the Charlottesville
Region and its operators (CAT, Jaunt, and UTS). Filters were applied to each NTD data category to ensure the chosen
candidates were similar to the Charlottesville region. The following data categories were queried from the NTD (with the data
filters applied shown next to each category):

 Area Population (50,000 – 200,000)

 Operator revenue miles (500,000 – 3,000,000)

 Operator number of annual unlinked passenger trips (500,000 – 2,000,000)

 Operator operating budget ($4,000,000 - $20,000,000)

The NTD data was also used to calculate the Operator’s operating budget per capita.

In addition to quantitative data obtained from the NTD, the peer regions were checked for:

 the presence of a major university;

 the presence of a separate university bus system; and 

 if the region had transit service to multiple jurisdictions, both urban and rural.

Applying these quantitative and qualitative filters and holding discussions with the Thomas Jefferson Planning District
Commission project team, the list of peer regions was narrowed down to six regions, shown in Figure 3-2.

Develop Peer Selection
Criteria and Assessment

Framework

Conduct Desktop
Research and Operator

Interviews
Apply Assessment

Framework

March 7, 2024 Page 55 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            15

Figure 3-2 Map of Peer Operators

3.2 Desktop Analysis and Operator Interviews
A desktop analysis was performed before interviewing executives at each of the peer operators. This desktop analysis
investigated each operator’s governance type and board, the operator’s funding methods, and the presence of/relationship
with other operators in the region.

Research on governance type was to determine if each operator was a city department, an independent authority, or
something else. The presence of a board, the board’s size, and qualifications for board members were noted where
appropriate. For operators that served multiple jurisdictions, the number of board members representing each jurisdiction
was investigated as well.

Funding methods for each operator were divided into Federal, State and Local sources. Typically, these were obtained from
each agency’s budget for 2021. Any unique sources of funding were called out for further investigation in the operator
interviews, as well as the presence of a separate funding organization.

Other operators in the region were investigated to look for overlap in service or funding, as well as to understand the
relationship and collaboration between the focus operator and additional operators in the region.

Once the desktop analysis for each peer was complete, interviews were scheduled with a knowledgeable staff member at
each peer operator, which are listed in Table 3-1 below. The interviews were held between January 27, 2023, and March 3,
2023.

Table 3-1 Staff Interviewed at Each Agency

Operator Region Name Role/Title
Blacksburg Transit Blacksburg, VA Brian Booth Director
Bloomington Transit Bloomington, IN John Connell General Manager

March 7, 2024 Page 56 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            16

Operator Region Name Role/Title
Centre Area
Transportation Authority
(CATA)

State College, PA Louwana Oliva Executive Director

Tompkins Consolidated
Area Transit (TCAT)

Ithaca, NY Scot Vanderpool General Manager

TheRide Ann Arbor, MI Matt Carpenter CEO
Iowa City Transit Iowa City, IA Darian Nagle-Gamm Transportation Director

3.3 Peer Analysis Framework
Following the desktop study and interviews with each peer agency, the information was assessed using the framework
described below in Figure 3-3. Understanding the service provided by the operator is important for comparison with
Charlottesville’s current and future service states. The governance structure and relations with funding entities (local or
otherwise) were also scrutinized.

Figure 3-3 Peer Study Framework

3.4 Review of Peers
Section 3 provides summaries of each Peer that was included in this study, formatted to include an operator history, a key
characteristics graphic, and the operator’s governance and funding.

3.4.1 Blacksburg, VA
Blacksburg Transit (BT) is a department of the Town of Blacksburg. The need for an area transit system was raised by
Virginia Tech in the early 1980s, and the process for creating the system was driven by the university and its students. In
1980, the Town of Blacksburg ran a ballot measure to local residents to start a town bus system. This measure failed, and in
response, Virginia Tech ran a survey to its students about levying a student transportation fee to start its own transit system.
This survey showed that 80% of students supported the transportation fee for a bus service around campus and Blacksburg.
The bus service started in 1983 following this measure. Since the university was involved as a funding partner from the start,
the service is particularly focused around campus and supporting the movement of students, faculty and staff.

Around 2010, service was expanded to the neighboring town of Christiansburg, whose contract payments make up the
remaining portion of local funding. Figure 3-4 below summarizes the key characteristics of Blacksburg Transit.

Service Description

Service type

Coverage

Jurisdictions
served

Brief Agency History

Year started

Organizational
changes (if

notable)

Political changes
(if notable)

Governance Structure

Board composition
and membership

Board powers

Board officers and
committees

Citizen input
committees

Sources of Funding

Federal

State

Local

Summary

Key takeaways

March 7, 2024 Page 57 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            17

Figure 3-4 Blacksburg Transit Key Characteristics19

3.4.1.1 Governance Structure 
BT operates as a department of the Blacksburg Town government headed by a Town 
Manager. The transit department reports directly to the Deputy Town Manager for Operations 
who is one of two deputies. The Town Manager in turn reports to a seven member elected 
Town Council. As the elected body directly accountable to the residents of Blacksburg, the 
Town Council is the ultimate approval body for decisions. The Town Council approves the 
agency’s final budget. However, based on trust built over time between the town and BT, the 
agency has been allowed much autonomy to coordinate service and financial decisions with 
its two main stakeholders, Virginia Tech and Christiansburg. 

Virginia Tech is a primary stakeholder in BT’s service and participates in decision-making 
through the university’s Transportation Services Department. BT’s staff works collaboratively 
with the university to incorporate identified priorities into the agency’s plans. The two collaborate closely during the annual 
budgeting process as well as the 5-year capital planning process. Operational recommendations such as those related to 
service, funding, and technology are provided by BT staff. With about 90% of the agency’s ridership being students, BT and 
the university have a close symbiotic relationship to serve their customers. The Town of Christiansburg is a secondary 
stakeholder as it receives contracted service from BT through a route deviation service. 

BT coordinates with Radford Transit and Pulaski Area Transit for the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). They also 
share bus stops at key locations in Blacksburg and Christianburg. BT also participates on some town committees that advise 
on issues such as traffic, pedestrian safety and cyclist safety.

3.4.1.2 Sources of Funding 
Funding for BT is divided in typical proportions between Federal, State, and Local funding. Virginia Tech provides the 
required local match funding to any funds received by State and Federal governments, in addition to capital funding to 
support university goals (fleet electrification, in particular). These contributions are funded in part by a student transportation 
fee. In 2010, the Town of Christiansburg entered into a contract agreement for two route-deviated services within 
Christiansburg, in addition to one route between Blacksburg and Christiansburg. Christiansburg contributes approximately 
$30,000 per year for capital items dedicated to Christiansburg including buses and shelters. Blacksburg Transit is currently 

19 Sources: FTA National Transit Database for Blacksburg Transit, Valley Metro, Radford Transit, US Census Bureau, Virginia Tech

Operator • Blacksburg Transit

University • Virginia Tech

Area Population • 68,000 (2021, includes Blacksburg and Christiansburg)

University Population • 37,000 (2022)

Annual Vehicle Revenue
Miles • 1.08 million (2021)

Annual Budget • $21.2 million (2021)

Governance Model • City Department, funded by Virginia Tech

Funding Sources

• Federal and State Grants
• Virginia Tech Contract
• Christiansburg Contract
• Fares and Passes
• Other

Other Area Operators • Valley Metro (GRTC)
• Radford Transit

March 7, 2024 Page 58 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            18

fare-free, following the receipt of a federal grant for fare-free transit. Blacksburg Transit’s 2021 sources of funding are shown
in Table 3-2 and Table 3-2 below.

Table 3-2 Blacksburg Transit Funding Sources, 202120

Source Amount
Federal/State Grants $14.4 million
Virginia Tech Contract $6.0 million
Christiansburg Reimbursement $0.4 million
Fares and passes $0.2 million
Other $0.2 million
Total $21.2 million

3.4.2 Bloomington, IN
In 1982, the Bloomington Public Transportation Corporation (BPTC) was created by the City of Bloomington by passing an
ordinance. The ordinance allowed the new municipal corporation to operate transit service in the city. Subsequently,
Bloomington Transit (BT) operations started two years later. BT operates fixed-route, paratransit and microtransit within the
City of Bloomington. BT and the Indiana University (IU) campus bus system have a close relationship and collaborate
extensively. With about 70% of BT’s riders being IU students, collaboration between the two systems led to them sharing a
combined maintenance and administration facility. The shared facility with IU is unique in that the university owns the land
beneath the shared facility, while BT owns the building that sits on the university land.

Through the years, BT has continued to increase services tailored to IU students and currently operates three routes
specifically for the university population. The university makes annual payments to BT to allow students, faculty and staff to
ride BT buses at no cost.

Approximately 10 years ago, IU campus bus operations were nearly absorbed into BT’s operation, but was derailed due to
lobbying of state legislature by other transit operators in the state. Indiana’s state funding formula at the time allocated funds
based on transit operator performance statistics. Following unification with IU, BT’s performance statistics would skyrocket,
entitling them to more funds and reducing funding availability to other transit operators in the state. Since then, the state
funding formula has changed, and the unification of BT and the IU campus bus system is again a possibility.

Figure 3-5 summarizes the key characteristics of Bloomington Transit.

20 Town of Blacksburg 2021 Budget

March 7, 2024 Page 59 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            19

Figure 3-5 Bloomington Transit Key Characteristics21

3.4.2.1 Governance Structure
Bloomington Public Transportation Corporation is set up as a municipal corporation. This 
occurred in 1982 after the City of Bloomington decided it was in the public interest to create 
such an entity. An ordinance was passed to dissolve the City’s Department of Public Transit 
and create the municipal corporation (under I.C.36-9-4). Two years later, Bloomington Transit 
was launched to provide fixed route service. 

Among the authority and powers granted as a municipal corporation are the ability to:

─ Purchase property from a system

─ Operate a system, contract and lease for the system

─ Expand services outside of operational boundaries

─ Acquire, hold, and dispose property

─ Eminent domain

─ Issue bonds, borrow money, accept grants or contributions, levy tax, recommend election to use revenue from 
local income tax 

The agency is governed by a five-member board. Two members are appointed by the mayor of Bloomington, with the 
remaining three appointed by city council. The Board elects one chair and one secretary from within their ranks to serve as 
officers of the board.

A majority of the board constitutes a quorum for a meeting. Voting decisions are made by a simple majority of those present 
at the meeting at which the action is taken. 

The board has a healthy level of involvement with both city council and BT staff. The current city council is supportive of 
transit evidenced by a recent ballot measure to raise the local income tax, in large part to support improvements to transit 
service.

21 Sources: FTA National Transit Database for Bloomington Transit, Rural Transit , US Census Bureau, Indiana University and Indiana
University Campus Bus

Operator • Bloomington Transit

University • University of Indiana (IU)

Area Population • 80,000 (2021)

University Population • 47,000 (2022)

Annual Vehicle Revenue
Miles • 0.99 million (2021)

Annual Budget • $14.5 million (2021)

Governance Model • Public Transportation Corporation

Funding Sources

• Federal and State Grants
• Local Property Tax
• Additional Local Taxes
• IU Contract
• Fares
• Other

Other Area Operators • IU Campus Bus
• Rural Transit/Monroe County Commissioners

March 7, 2024 Page 60 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            20

3.4.2.2 Sources of Funding
Funding for BT for FY22 came mostly from federal grants, with state funding providing about a 30% match to the federal 
funds. Local funding totaled less than $1 million in FY22, although this is expected to increase for FY23 and beyond following 
a citywide vote to increase local income tax in 2022. The increase will provide an additional $4 million per year to support BT 
capital and operating expenses. This additional funding will be used to increase frequencies, provide service on Sundays, 
and fund a feasibility study into bus signal prioritization and bus lanes along a main corridor (incorporating elements of bus 
rapid transit). IU’s annual payment to allow free rides for students, staff and faculty is also a significant source of funding at 
$1.2 million. BT’s funding sources are shown in Table 3-3 below.

Table 3-3 Bloomington Transit Funding Sources, FY202222

Source Amount (Millions)
Federal Grants $8.5 
State Grants $2.6 
Local Property Tax $1.5 
Local Income Tax23 $0.5 
IU Contract $1.2 
Fares $0.5 
Other $0.3 
Total $15.1

3.4.3 State College, PA
The Centre Area Transportation Authority (CATA) is nearly 50 years old. First incorporated in 1974, the agency was 
reorganized in 1982 into its current structure comprising five local municipalities (Borough of State College, and four 
townships: Patton, Ferguson, Harris, and College). CATA also provides contract service to three other jurisdictions (Borough 
of Bellefonte, Spring Township and Benner Township). CATA serves these areas with fixed-route service, ADA paratransit 
service, shared-ride services, a vanpool program, and microtransit. It also contracts with Penn State to provide three routes 
specifically to serve the campus. Figure 3-6 below summarizes the key characteristics of CATA.

Figure 3-6 CATA Key Characteristics24

22 Bloomington Transit 2023 Budget
23 The newly increased Local Income Tax was not in effect for FY2022 yet.
24 Sources: FTA National Transit Database for CATA, US Census Bureau, and Penn State University

Operator • Centre Area Transportation Authority (CATA)

University • Penn State University

Area Population • 89,000 (2021)

University Population • 48,000 (2021)

Annual Vehicle Revenue Miles • 1.64 million (2021)

Annual Budget • $18.7 million (2021)

Governance Model • Joint Municipal Authority

Funding Sources

• Federal and State Grants
• Local Contributions (municipal general funds)
• Fares
• Penn State Contract
• Apartment Contracts
• Other

Other Area Operators • Penn State Campus and Hershey Shuttle

March 7, 2024 Page 61 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            21

3.4.3.1 Governance Structure
CATA is organized as a joint municipal authority under the Municipal Authorities Act of 1945 and authorized to provide 
transportation service within the boundaries of the member municipalities. CATA may also extend services outside the 
municipalities on a contract basis and the contract must provide for full cost recovery of both capital and operating expenses 
less any applicable user revenue, state and federal assistance. 

CATA’s board is comprised of five members, with each member being appointed by one of CATA’s five member municipalities 
(Borough of State College, Patton Township, Ferguson Township, Harris Township, and College Township). PennDOT 
requires that all potential transportation authority board members receive some training before being appointed to a board. 
Although there are no term limits of board members, terms of office are staggered and overlapping. Until recently, the board 
was mostly comprised of transportation professionals or professors. A culture exists on the board to look out for CATA, rather 
than the jurisdictions they represent. Their relationship with their respective communities is focused on bringing feedback 
from their community to CATA.

The board elects officers at the first regular meeting in January every year to serve for one year. Officers of the board are the 
Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Secretary and Treasurer. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman are elected from existing members of 
the board while the Secretary and Treasurer may be appointed from the managerial staff of CATA. The latter serve as non-
voting members. 

At all board meetings, a simple majority in attendance constitutes a quorum. Voting is also determined by a simple majority. 
All meetings are governed by Robert’s Rules of Order.

3.4.3.2 Funding Structure
CATA is supported by a robust state funding mechanism, although one that 
is less predictable than more local sources might be. Local contributions to 
CATA are determined as a percentage of the state funds allocated. 
Currently, the local member municipalities are funding CATA below their 
required state match of 15% and are therefore in a “catch up” group to 
slowly increase their contributions up to the 15% required state match. 

In addition to contributions from member municipalities, CATA receives funding from contracts with Penn State and private 
student apartment complexes. The Penn State services are contracted below the cost of operation, as this service is open-
door, and in theory anyone from the community could be riding these services. Penn State subsidizes rides taken by faculty, 
staff and graduate students on a per-ride basis. Besides the contracted open-door campus routes, Penn State does not 
subsidize CATA rides taken by undergraduates, as the University is averse to charging students a transportation fee. 
Additionally, parking passes on Penn State’s campus are often cheaper than monthly transit passes, which discourages 
students from using CATA routes outside of the contracted campus routes.

The apartment contracts are fulfilled on a per-ride basis, meaning that CATA invoices each apartment complex for rides their 
residents take on the route that serves that apartment complex. This revenue has fluctuated rapidly (particularly during the 
pandemic when students were not required to be on campus), so CATA is exploring a switch from per-ride fees to a fee per 
bed in each apartment complex. 

Like other transit authorities in the state, CATA has no taxing authority as such levies must be approved at the state level. 
There’s an indication that some major transit systems in Pennsylvania such as the Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation 
Authority (SEPTA) and Pittsburgh Regional Transit (PRT) are currently working on approval from the state legislature for the 
ability to tax their service areas. CATA supports this movement and is interested in doing studies to identify taxing options 
they could present for a referendum.

CATA’s funding sources are shown in Table 3-4 below.

March 7, 2024 Page 62 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            22

Table 3-4 CATA Funding Sources, FY202125

Source Amount (Millions)
Federal Grants $6.7 
State Grants $5.0 
Local Contributions $0.6 
Fares and Contracts
 Apartments:
 Penn State
 Other (fares, advertising, tax credits)

$5.9 
$1.8
$2.7
$1.4

Other $0.4 
Total $18.6

3.4.4 Ithaca, NY
Tompkins Consolidated Area Transit (TCAT) was created in the early 1990s by consolidating three existing transit operators 
that served the City of Ithaca (Ithaca Transit, started in 1962), Cornell University’s campus (CU Transit, started in1966), and 
Tompkins County (TOMTRAN, started in 1981 as a rural system). The three entities sought to address financial and 
operational inefficiencies of having three entities serve the same county. An Operating Committee was therefore set up in 
1991 to work on the consolidation process with personnel, operations, bargaining units, and fares. 

Full consolidation still took some years to be realized. After moving into a single transit facility in 1992, the three agencies still 
operated separately but shared administrative staff, cost of utilities and maintenance. By 1996, the state legislature had 
adopted a law authorizing the creation of TCAT, the name and logo were then adopted. In 1998, the city, County and Cornell 
entered into a joint venture agreement. What followed were unified routes and fare structure. Finally in 2005, TCAT was 
incorporated as a private, not-for-profit corporation with three entities as underwriters.

TCAT provides fixed-route service within Tompkins County, and contracts ADA paratransit and microtransit through another 
provider. Figure 3-7 below summarizes the key characteristics of TCAT.

Figure 3-7 TCAT Key Characteristics26

25 CATA FY22-23 Budget
26 Sources: FTA National Transit Database for TCAT, CTRAN, Way2Go, US Census Bureau, Cornell University

Operator • Tompkins Consolidated Area Transit (TCAT)

University • Cornell University

Area Population • 105,000  (2021)

University Population • 26,000 (2022)

Annual Vehicle Revenue Miles • 1.71 million (2021)

Annual Budget • $15.8 million (2021)

Governance Model • 501(c)(3) Nonprofit

Funding Sources

• Federal and State Grants
• Ithaca/Tompkins/Cornell Contributions
• Cornell Fares
• Fares
• Other

Other Area Operators • Chemung County (CTRAN)
• Cortland County (Way2Go)

March 7, 2024 Page 63 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            23

3.4.4.1 Governance Structure
TCAT is governed by a nine-member Board, comprised of 
three members each from Cornell, the City of Ithaca, and 
Tompkins County. Board members serve TCAT solely and 
have a fiduciary duty to act in the best interest of the agency, 
independent of their respective recommending bodies. 

The board meets monthly to approve spending, service plans, 
and budgets. Board member terms are three years with no 
term limits, and no qualifications are required of board 
members. 

3.4.4.2 Funding Structure
State Operating Assistance (STOA) forms TCAT’s largest source of revenue. Local funding is required to match a percentage 
of the of state funding. Each of the three underwriters is required to provide equal amount of funds (out of general funds and 
not reliant on one specific taxing source) to TCAT each year, and so negotiation typically takes place between the three 
underwriters to agree on increases in their contributions. All three must agree on the same amount for increases to be 
implemented. 

In addition to the three underwriters, TCAT has access to a mortgage recording tax, as well as Cornell’s additional payments 
to cover the rides taken by their staff, faculty and students. The Cornell community makes up approximately 70% of rides on 
TCAT. The breakdown of funding sources for TCAT is shown in Table 3-5 below.

Table 3-5 TCAT Funding Sources, FY202227

Source Amount 
(Millions)

Federal Grants $5.0 
State Grants $5.9 
Mortgage Recording Tax $0.9 
City/Cornell/Tompkins 
Contributions

$2.8 

Cornell Fare Payments $3.3 
Passenger Revenues $0.9 
Other $0.2 
Total $19.1

3.4.5 Ann Arbor, MI
Established in 1963, the Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority (TheRide) operates service within Ann Arbor, the City of 
Ypsilanti, and Ypsilanti Township. The University of Michigan (UM) has three major campuses within the city which are split 
by a river and a rail line. Partially due to this dispersed geography, the university operates its own free, open-door bus system 
(Campus Transit), which reports to FTA and predates TheRide. A Campus Transit fixed route between the major UM 
campuses carries approximately 30,000 daily riders, which is far higher than any TheRide route and the busiest transit 
corridor in the state of Michigan. TheRide operates diverse service types, including fixed-route service, Ann Arbor commuter 
vanpools, a public-private, long-distance Detroit Metro Airport shuttle28, and a microtransit service in areas where fixed-route 
service is not offered. TheRide provides transfers to the suburban Detroit transit operator, the Suburban Mobility Authority for 
Regional Transportation (SMART) and interacts with the relatively-new Regional Transit Authority for Southeast Michigan 
(RTA). RTA coordinates regional transit planning and is a distributor of federal and state funding in the region.

Figure 3-8 summarizes the key characteristics of TheRide.

27 TCAT 2023 Budget
28 TheRide airport service is provided in conjunction with the private operator MichiganFlyer in a 90-mile corridor linking East Lansing
(Michigan State University), Ann Arbor and the Detroit Metropolitan Wayne County International Airport. The MichiganFlyer operates over a
similar distance to those between Charlottesville and either Washington Dulles International Airport or Richmond International Airport. The
service operates bi-directionally on intervals of about one hour. More information is available at https://www.michiganflyer.com/schedule-
route and https://www.theride.org/services/airport-service.

March 7, 2024 Page 64 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            24

Figure 3-8 TheRide Key Characteristics29

3.4.5.1 Governance Structure
TheRide is incorporated as an authority under Act 55 of the Public Acts of 
Michigan of 1963. The legislation provides for authorities to acquire, own, 
and operate or cause to be operated mass transit. Under this act, the 
authority may levy a property tax millage within its jurisdiction up to 5 mills 
($0.005) of the state-equalized valuation on each dollar of assessed 
property valuation. Such a tax requires a referendum. Additional powers 
granted by the statute include: to sue and be sued in the State of Michigan; to employ, by contract, a management firm to 
operate transit under supervision of the authority; to acquire property and condemn real property; to issue bonds, and to 
charge fares. 

TheRide is governed by a 10-member board:

 Eight appointed by the Mayor of the City of Ann Arbor (with concurrence of the Ann Arbor City Council)

 One appointed by the Mayor of the City of Ypsilanti (with concurrence of the Ypsilanti City Council)

 One appointed by the supervisor of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (with concurrence of the Township Board)

Most of the population within TheRide’s service area lives in Ann Arbor, and this is represented in its Board. Board members 
serve a term of five years with no limit to the number of consecutive terms to be served. Additionally, no specific qualifications 
are required to be appointed to the board. 

A simple majority of board members is required to form a quorum to conduct meetings. Actions of the board also require a 
majority vote of members present. Board actions to adopt or amend the annual budget, hire or terminate the CEO, or adopt a 
labor contract requires at least 60% affirmative votes to pass. 

The board selects officers from within its ranks to serve one-year terms as Chair, Secretary (also serves as Vice Chair), and 
Treasurer. Furthermore, the board may establish committees it deems necessary to carry out its duties in addition to the 

29 Sources: FTA National Transit Database for TheRide, UM Bus, and WAVE,  US Census Bureau, University of Michigan.

Operator • Ann Arbor Area Transportation Authority (TheRide)

University • University of Michigan

Area Population • 197,000 (2021)

University Population • 48,000 (2021)

TheRide Annual Vehicle
Revenue Miles • 4.69 million (2021)

UM Bus Annual Vehicle
Revenue Miles • 1.09 million (2021)

TheRide Annual Budget • $55 million (2021)

Governance Model • Transportation Authority

Funding Sources

• Federal and State Grants
• Local Property Tax
• University of Michigan Fares
• Fares
• Other

Other Area Operators • University of Michigan (UM) Bus
• Western Washtenaw Area Express (WAVE)

March 7, 2024 Page 65 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            25

Governance Committee outlined in the agency bylaws. The Governance Committee consists of the Board Chair, Treasurer,
Secretary, and any other chairs of other committees selected by the board Chair. This committee coordinates the work of the
board and any other established committee.

TheRide and UM Campus Transit run largely separate operations, with little overall coordination, though they do coordinate
on bus stop locations and share curb space at the city’s transit centers.

3.4.5.2 Funding Structure
TheRide has property taxing authority, and successfully increased the local property millage from 0.7 mills to 2.38 mills (1 mill
= $0.001) by referendum in 2022. This millage must be renewed by referendum every five years and applies to TheRide’s
entire service area. Additionally, the City of Ann Arbor dedicates a 2.5 mill property millage to TheRide, which runs in
perpetuity. This means that Ann Arbor pays more per capita for service than the rest of TheRide’s service area, and Ann
Arbor receives more service because of it. University students, staff and faculty have their rides paid for by the university; 
TheRide invoices the university each month for rides taken by the university population. In additional to local funding,
TheRide receives typical federal and state grants. The specific funding breakdown is shown below in Table 3-6.

Table 3-6 TheRide Funding Sources, FY202230

Source Amount
(millions)

Federal Grants $25.5
State Grants $16.9
Local Property Tax $19.2
Purchase-of-service
Agreements

$1.7

Passenger Revenues $4.1
Other $0.4
Total $67.9

3.4.6 Iowa City, IA
Iowa City Transit (ICT) provides service within Iowa City limits, with contracted service to University Heights (a separate city
enclave inside of Iowa City). ICT operates routes in areas that overlap with two other transit providers, University of Iowa’s
CAMBUS, and the neighboring city of Coralville’s bus system, Coralville Transit. ICT’s service is entirely fixed route, with
paratransit being contracted out via Johnson County.

ICT was established in 1971 as a department of Iowa City, with CAMBUS being established a few years later. ICT works
collaboratively with other area operators on certain items such as shared bus stops, fare policy, free transfers between
systems, and long-term planning. Discussions have been held regarding the consolidation of ICT, CAMBUS, and Coralville
Transit into one regional system, but that was not politically feasible. In 2022, a county-wide 2030 strategic plan was
completed that identified investment in a reliable, regional transit system as one of the five focus areas, which may make
consolidation of the various transit operations more politically viable.

Figure 3-9 summarizes the key characteristics of Iowa City Transit.

30 TheRide 2023 Budget

March 7, 2024 Page 66 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            26

Figure 3-9 Iowa City Transit Key Characteristics31

3.4.6.1 Governance Structure
ICT is organized as a city department and is accountable to Iowa City council. The council makes governance and funding 
decisions for transit operations. With a transit supportive city council, the council is responsive to ICT projects and service 
requirements. 

ICT has casual relationships with CAMBUS and Coralville Transit, coordinating fare policy and transfer points. Besides 
coordination with CAMBUS and a student annual pass program, ICT doesn’t have a formal relationship with the university.

There are no wage agreements between ICT and Coralville Transit, and they have separate unions. CAMBUS is operated by 
students at the university, and therefore is not in competition with ICT and Coralville for staffing.

3.4.6.2 Funding Structure
In addition to federal and state grants, ICT receives a local property tax that is earmarked for transit ($0.95 per $1000 of real 
estate value). ICT also owns a transportation center, which is a mixed-use parking structure that has a daycare, a restaurant, 
and intercity bus bays. The agency receives parking and rental revenue from this facility. ICT has a contract with a private 
student housing development to provide frequent service between the development and campus. The contracted service with 
University Heights is indexed to an inflation index, and ICT and University Heights re-sign a new contract annually.

The university offers students an annual pass to use ICT at a reduced rate. ICT has an MOU with the university for the 
university to cover the subsidy offered to students on these annual passes. Most of ICT’s ridership comes from these student 
annual passes. 

ICT’s specific funding breakdown is shown in Table 3-7.

31 Sources: FTA National Transit Database for Iowa City Transit, CAMBUS, and Coralville Transit,  US Census Bureau, University of Iowa.

Operator • Iowa City Transit

University • University of Iowa

Area Population • 88,000

Student Population • 30,000

ICT Annual Vehicle Revenue
Miles • 689,000 (2021)

CAMBUS Annual Vehicle
Revenue Miles • 685,000 (2021)

ICT Annual Budget • $7.0 million (2021)

Governance Model • City Department

Funding Sources

• Federal and State Grants
• Local Property Tax
• Transportation Center Income
• Fares
• Other (branding)

Other Area Operators
• University of Iowa CAMBUS
• Coralville Transit
• Johnson County SEATS (paratransit)

March 7, 2024 Page 67 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            27

Table 3-7 Iowa City Transit Funding Sources, FY202132

Source Amount
(Millions)

Federal Grants $2.6
State Grants $0.6
Local Funds $2.3
Fares/Directly Generated
Funds

$1.5

Total $7.0

3.5 Governance and Funding Themes Observed
Table 3-8 provides a summary of the main governance and funding characteristics observed from the peer agencies.
Agencies selected were diverse in governance types and funding sources. Among the six agencies selected, two were city
departments, two transit authorities, one public transportation corporation, and one 501(c)(3) nonprofit. In most cases, the
governance structure present influenced the types of local funding available. For example, both Bloomington and Ann Arbor
have taxing authority and therefore levy a local property tax for substantial support for transit. However, CATA, a municipal
joint authority, is not afforded taxing authority due to existing state laws. We therefore see the importance of not only
identifying a type of governance model but ensuring that the state and local laws can enable the outcomes sought.

Additionally, we see a unique arrangement in Blacksburg, where although a department of town government, a sizable
portion of the transit agency’s funding is received from Virginia Tech. This is largely due to its student ridership population
and historical context of the agency’s formation. All six peer agencies provided some form of contract service to their
respective universities.

A distinctive funding source identified in Iowa City Transit and CATA were contract arrangements with student
housing/apartment complexes to provide transit service from their properties to the main network. The public-private
partnership between Ann Arbor’s TheRide and a private motorcoach operator for long-distance airport service is also unique
among the peers.

With regard to interagency collaboration or consolidation considerations among peers, both TCAT (Ithaca) and Bloomington
Transit provided good examples. TCAT’s consolidation process was systematic and took over a decade to complete.
Beginning with the formation of an operations committee in 1991, the three agencies moved into one facility and began
sharing administrative staff, utilities costs, and other costs. It wasn’t until 1996 that state legislation was passed and 1998 for
the joint venture agreement to be finalized. The incorporation as a nonprofit entity was finally completed in 2005. In the case
of Bloomington Transit, although both the university system and city transit supported consolidation, external influences
within the state prevented the merger from occurring. However, recent changes in the state funding formula (no longer
ridership dependent) have restarted conversations once more about the two agencies merging. Discussions have been
positive and agency officials are considering initiating the consolidation process within the next three years. Outside these
two examples, coordination and collaboration among agencies in peer regions appeared minimal and casual, with more
interactions between agencies and the university than among one another.

Lastly, innovative transit projects have long been a means of increasing public interest in transit. In Bloomington, a 2022
ballot measure from the city government passed to introduce a new tax with a transit component passed and will provide an
additional $4 million per year towards capital and operating expenses. The success of the ballot was partly due to the city
communicating the potential for a new bus rapid transit route.

32 Iowa City Transit 2021 FTA NTD Profile

March 7, 2024 Page 68 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission            28

Table 3-8 Governance and Funding Summary Table

Agency Blacksburg Transit
(BT) Bloomington Transit (BT) CATA TCAT TheRide Iowa City Transit (ICT)

Year started 1983 1982 1974 1998 (incorporated),
became a nonprofit in 2005

1969 1971

Annual Budget (2021) $21.2 million $14.5 million $18.7 million $15.8 million $55.0 million $7.0 million
Division of service between
university and operator

BT provides
university transit

BT does not provide
university transit

CATA provides university
transit

TCAT provides university
transit

TheRide does not
provide university
transit

ICT does not provide
university transit

Coverage Within town limits,
contracted service to
nearby town

Within city limits Between 5 member
municipalities and 3
contracted municipalities

Within the county Within 3 member
municipalities

Within city limits,
contracted service to a
nearby town

Jurisdictions served Blacksburg,
Christiansburg
(contracted), and
Virginia Tech

Bloomington Borough of State College,
Patton Township, Ferguson
Township, Harris Township,
College Township. Contracts
for Borough of Bellefonte,
Pleasant Gap, and Boalsburg

Tompkins County, City of
Ithaca, Cornell University

Ann Arbor, City of
Ypsilanti, and
Ypsilanti Township

Iowa City and University
Heights

Governance Type Town Department,
funded by VT

Public Transportation
Corporation

Joint Municipal Authority 501(c)(3) nonprofit Transportation
Authority

City Department

Organizational Changes None Attempted consolidation
with university around 2010,
likely to attempt again by
2026

None Consolidated 3 agencies in
1998

When Ypsilanti
township was added,
Board restructured to
give Ann Arbor a
supermajority

None, likely going to
attempt consolidation with
university transit and
neighboring transit by
2030

Board
Composition/Membership

No board. Reports to
Deputy Town
Manager.
Coordinates with
Virginia Tech for
service decision
making. Accountable
to Town Council.

5 members, 3 appointed by
city council and 2 appointed
by mayor

5 members, 1 appointed by
each of the 5 member
municipalities33

8 members, 2 members
from Cornell, 3 from
county, and 3 from city

10 members, 8
members from Ann
Arbor, 1 from
Ypsilanti and 1 from
Ypsilanti Township

No board, governed by
Iowa City Council

Board Powers NA Taxing, eminent domain,
grants, and operate transit

No taxing authority but has
eminent domain. Can operate
transit.

No taxing, eminent
domain, or other
governmental powers, as it
is a nonprofit, but can
operate transit.

Taxing, eminent
domain, grants, to
sue, to operate transit

NA

Board Officers and
Committees

No board Chair, Vice Chair,
Treasurer, Secretary

Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary,
and Treasurer

Chair, with committees for
Audit, Budget, HR,
Planning, and Transit
Service

Chair, Secretary, and
Treasurer

No board

Local Funding Sources Virginia Tech
contract,
Christiansburg
contract

Local property tax, Local
income tax

Member municipality general
funds, apartment contracts,
contracted service

City, county, and university
general funds

Local property tax
(levied by both
TheRide and by the
City of Ann Arbor)

Local property tax,
student housing contract,
transport center revenue

33 CATA requires that board members receive training from PennDOT.

March 7, 2024 Page 69 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 28

4 Revenue Generation 
4.1 Analysis Approach
Two transit network alternatives were developed as part of TJPDC’s Transit Vision Study for the region. Operating 
costs for the two alternatives were estimated at roughly $35.5 million and $85 million per year for the constrained 
network and unconstrained network respectively34. The constrained vision network was developed under the premise 
of a future regional transit authority with the ability to generate additional revenue. Both options provide a drastic 
improvement to current transit service across the region including increased routes, frequencies, and days of service 
for the urban areas; and micro transit options and all-day regional service, seven days a week into the city from the 
lower density areas. Detailed descriptions of the transit service improvements can be found in the study report.  

This section presents a revenue analysis that first identifies a list of potential transit funding mechanisms, estimates 
the associated funding yields for a subsection of feasible sources, and develops revenue models with five year 
projections based on the estimated Transit Vision Study costs.

As shown in Figure 4-1, a broad range of funding sources were assembled to start the discussion for the region. A 
shortlist of feasible revenue sources was then developed and analyzed.

Figure 4-1 Revenue Analysis Approach

The shortlisted revenue sources were analyzed using the following evaluation criteria:
 Feasibility and Ease of implementation: This refers to the amount of effort required for initial 

implementation to ongoing collection of the revenues.
 Potential public acceptability: Public consultations through stakeholder engagement were carried out to 

determine potential public acceptability. Engaging local elected officials was used as a means to gauge 
public preferences.

 Potential revenue yield: This refers to the amount of money that an option could be expected to 
reasonably generate based on a set of assumptions. 

 Predictability and stability: The level of predictability and stability of the source would determine the extent 
of short- and long-term planning that can be carried out. 

 Equity considerations: This entails considering the impact of the funding source on different groups of 
people in various ways.

 Strategic development objectives: The impact of an option on the locality or region’s strategic planning 
and developmental objectives. For example, increased access to jobs, creating a healthy environment for 
residents, improving accessible public transportation options. 

34 Total cost estimates do not include costs associated with capital investments and ADA paratransit service requirements for fixed
route expansions.

Assemble a broad range of
funding mechanisms from

peers across the
Commonwealth and nation

Discuss funding sources
that are apparently

feasible and conduct
further research

Select assessment
criteria to to

evaluate funding
sources

Develop three revenue
models with estimated
revenue streams and
five-year projections

March 7, 2024 Page 70 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 29

4.2 Potential Funding Sources
4.2.1 Overview of Transit Funding Sources
Generally, public transportation is funded through a combination of federal, state, local and internally generated
sources (e.g., fares, advertising, etc.) (Figure 4-2). Federal funds consist of grant programs for urban and rural areas
that agencies can receive directly or through a pass-through recipient. These funds are typically formula based and
used for capital or operating assistance. State funds in the Commonwealth consists of operating and capital
assistance provided by the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation. The operating assistance follows a
performance-based methodology for agency allocations. State funding for capital investments is based on a
transparent prioritization process which scores applications under the categories: state of good repair, minor
enhancement, and major enhancements.

Local revenue refers to funding from sources such as municipalities or local jurisdictions. In the case of Region 10,
local revenue is made up of funds from the city and counties served by the public transit agencies. Internally
generated funds are directly generated by the transit agencies and include contract revenues, advertising, or any
fares collected. Average operating costs per year for current transit service in the region (not including UTS) is
approximately $18 million per year with the local component making up about a third (~$5 million35 in 2021) of the
total amount. A substantial increase in local funding is required to meet the funding gap between current transit
funding and the future funding needed to maintain or increase transit service across the region.

Table 4-1 shows a broad range of funding sources typically used to fund public transportation across the nation.
These sources produce varying levels of yields but served as a discussion point with stakeholders.

35 National Transit Database (2021).

Potential
Revenue
Sources

Federal
Assistance

State
Assistance Local

Revenue

Internally
Generated

Figure 4-2 General Sources of Transit Revenue

March 7, 2024 Page 71 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 30

Table 4-1 US Regional and Local Transit Funding Options

Traditional Tax- and Fee-
Based Transit Sources

Common Business, Activity,
and Related Funding
Sources

Revenue Streams from
Projects (Transportation and
Others)

New “User” or “Market-
Based” Funding Sources

- General revenues
- Sales taxes
- Property taxes
- Contract or purchase-of-

service revenues
(school/universities, private
organizations, etc.)

- Lease revenues
- Vehicle fees (title,

registration, tags,
inspection)

- Advertising revenues
- Concessions revenues

- Employer/payroll taxes
- Vehicle rental and lease

fees
- Parking fees
- Realty transfer tax
- Corporate franchise taxes
- Occupancy/lodging taxes
- Hotel/motel taxes
- Business license fees
- Utility fees/taxes
- Lottery and/or casino

revenues
- Corporate franchise taxes
- Income taxes
- Cigarette Tax
- Realty transfer

taxes/mortgage recording
fees

- Donations
- Other business taxes

- Transit-oriented
development (TOD)/joint
development

- Value capture/beneficiary
charges

- Public Private Partnerships
(PPP)

- Special assessment
districts

- Community improvement
districts/community facilities
districts

- Impact fees
- Tax-increment financing

districts
- Transportation

Development Districts
- Right-of-way leasing

- Tolling (fixed, variable,
dynamic; bridge/roadway)

- Congestion pricing
- Emissions fees
- Vehicle Miles Travelled

(VMT) fees

Source: Transit Cooperative Research Program TCRP 2009

Comparing the universe of funding sources (Table 4-1) to transit revenue sources from the peer study cases36 
evaluated, the common sources identified were sales tax, local property tax, local income tax, mortgage recording 
tax, value capture from transit facilities, and various service contracts to apartment complexes and universities. 
These sources were reviewed again under the Virginia state context to evaluate feasibility. 

4.2.2 Transportation Funding in the Commonwealth
In 2020, the transportation funding in the Commonwealth was revised by the General Assembly through the
enactment of the Omnibus Transportation Bill, Chapter 1230 (House Bill 1414). The new legislation channelled all
transportation revenues to the Commonwealth Transportation Fund (CTF) before distribution to various funds and
programs. Revenue sources for the CTF include:

 Motor vehicles fuel taxes and road fuels for diesel fuel
 Vehicle registration fees
 Highway use fee
 0.5% statewide sales and use tax
 0.3% statewide sale and use tax for transportation
 4.15% motor vehicles sales and use tax
 Motor vehicle rental tax
 0.03 of the $0.25 of the $100 of assessed value of the statewide recordation tax

36 The peer study cases include Blacksburg, VA; Bloomington, IN; State College, PA; Ithaca, NY; Ann Arbor, MI; and Iowa City, IA.

Universe of
transit

funding
options

Potential
revenue

sources to
be

evaluated

Revenue
sources

from Peer
regions

Reviewed
under the
Virginia
context

March 7, 2024 Page 72 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 31

 Tax on liquid alternative fuel
 International registration plan feeds
 33% of the revenue from insurance premium taxes

In addition to these sources, the CTF receives dedicated federal funding from the Federal Highway Administration
(FHWA) and the Federal Transit Administration. Revenues are also received from funds dedicated for regional
transportation improvements in Northern Virginia, Hampton Roads, and Central Virginia. These revenues become
pass through revenues for the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) Capital Fund, Central
Virginial Transportation Fund, Northern Virginia Transportation Authority Fund, Hampton Roads Transportation fund
and Hampton Roads Regional Transit Fund.

For the three Virginia regional transportation authorities, Central Virginia Transportation Authority (CVTA), Hampton
Roads Transportation Accountability Commission (HRTAC), and Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA),
the main sources of revenue include the following:

 Sales tax
 Grantors tax
 Fuel tax
 Transient Occupancy Tax/lodging tax
 Recordation tax
 Toll revenues
 Interstate Operations Enhancement Program
 Truck registration fees

Table 4-2 summarizes the funding sources.

Table 4-2 Summary of Main Funding Sources for three Virginia Regional Transportation Authorities
Funding Source Entity Description
Sales Tax CVTA 0.7% regional sales tax.

HRTAC 0.7% sales tax, funding the HRTF. Can only fund road projects. $146.2 million
(2020)

NVTA 0.7% special district sales tax. $197.04 million (FY2022). Can fund transit.

Grantor's Tax HRTAC Additional six cents per $100. Can be used for transit projects.
NVTA Part of the "Regional Congestion Mitigation Tax", which as a whole raised

~$17.85 M in FY2022.
$0.10 (formerly $0.15) congestion relief fee (renamed the regional transportation
improvement fee) within the nine jurisdictions.
Can be spent only on road construction, capital improvements that reduce
congestions, other projects approved in the regional transport plan or for transit.

Fuel Tax CVTA 7.6 cents/gallon on gasoline/gasohol
7.7 cents/gallon on diesel
Indexed to inflation.
35% - CVTA use on transportation-related purposes for Planning District 15
15% to GRTC or successor for transit and mobility services within Planning
District 15
50% returned, proportionally to each locality to improve local mobility through
construction, maintenance, or expansion of roads, sidewalks, trails, mobility
services, or transit located in the locality.

HRTAC 7.6 cents/gallon on gasoline/gasohol
7.7 cents/gallon on diesel, subject to annual adjustment.
Can only fund road projects.

NVTA 3.5% for gasoline
6% for diesel fuel

Transient Occupancy
Tax

HRTAC 1% local hotel tax. Can be used for transit projects.
Only collected in six localities with HRT service

NVTA 3% tax on transient occupancy (hotels).
Can be spent only on road construction, capital improvements that reduce
congestion, other projects approved in the regional transport plan or for transit.

Truck Registration
Fees

NVTA Portion of increased truck registration fee as part of I-81 Corridor Improvement
Fund distributed to NVTA

March 7, 2024 Page 73 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 32

Funding Source Entity Description
Interstate Operations
Enhancement
Program

NVTA To improve the safety, reliability, and travel flow along interstate highway
corridors in the commonwealth through the development and funding of
operational and capital improvements.
Preceded by I81 Corridor Improvement Plan (completed)
43.7% - I81 corridor Improvement
8.4% to NVTA
Remaining allocated by CTB

Toll Revenues HRTAC Authorized to use tolls for new construction or existing highways, bridges,
tunnels.
Has state guidance on tolling ($345M) anticipated toll revenue for HRBT
financing (FY20-FY26)

Recordation Tax HRTAC Taxes paid during the sale of property which can be used for transit projects.
Estimated at $20 million for 2020.

Northern Virginia
Transportation
District Fund Transfer

NVTA The district is a subset of NVTA members. The District Fund receives transfers
from the Transportation Trust Fund.
70% regional needs and 30% local disbursement for transportation needs.
Can be used for transit
FY22 proposed budget had $20M. ~$6M (30%) for local jurisdictions and $14M
(70%) for regional transit

4.2.3 Shortlist of Potential Funding Sources for Region 10
Among all the sources explored, sales tax, lodging tax, fuel tax, recordation tax, property tax, and real estate tax were
selected for further investigation. Below is more information about these funding sources and the pros and cons of
them for the region.

Sales Tax
A sales tax refers to a tax on the sale of goods or services purchased37. It is the most common source for local and
regional transit services as it is moderately predictable and stable, although it fluctuates more than property taxes.
Sales taxes are considered as a regressive tax because it taxes consumers at the same rate regardless of
socioeconomic levels. However, this can be made less regressive by exempting items that lower-income individuals
spend a sizable portion of their incomes on38.

Public acceptance of the sales tax in the Commonwealth and in the U.S. is moderate as this is among the most
common funding source for transportation and transit programs. It is more popular than income or business taxes.
Due to its simplicity, citizens often feel confident in the fairness and allocation of the taxes. The sales tax would
require an Act of the General Assembly to implement. Considering the success of this revenue source with other
regional authorities in the Commonwealth, it can be considered moderately feasible. Furthermore, whether
implemented regionally or only within the City of Charlottesville and all or parts of Albemarle County, a sales tax
would produce a substantial amount of revenue that could be used to invest in transit.

Transient Occupancy/Lodging Tax
This is a tax levied on lodging establishments that receive compensation. It includes hotels and short-term rentals
(e.g., Airbnb). The potential yield of this source is relatively lower compared to a sales tax or real estate tax; but can 
be moderately predictable in areas with an established level of tourism or out-of-town visitors. A lesson from the 2020
pandemic, although atypical, can be an indication of potential invariability with source. Additionally, in localities with
few hotels or lodging establishments, the potential yield could be low. However, residents do not have to directly bear
the cost of the additional tax but can receive the benefit of generating additional funds for transit.

Recordation Tax
This is a tax on the privilege of utilizing the registration laws of the state and is imposed on deeds, deeds of trust,
mortgages, leases, contracts and agreements. As of 2022, the state recordation tax was levied at a rate of $0.25 per
$100 of value recorded. Of the total revenue collected each year, $20 million is currently allotted to the Hampton
Roads Regional Transit Fund (HRRTF) as a result of the 2020 law change. Prior to the 2020 General Assembly Act,

37 Not including a tax for non-prepared foods for this context
38 The revenue analysis for sales tax in this memo excludes Virginia taxes for non-prepared foods.

March 7, 2024 Page 74 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 33

quarterly distributions were made to localities in $10 million installments based on each locality’s proportional share of
the total state recordation tax revenue. These distributions were made from $40 million of the total revenue.

In 2022, a bill was presented which proposed to restore the quarterly distributions to localities but with a total
distribution limit of $20 million instead of $40 million. Localities were required to use the funds for either transportation
(including construction, administration, operation, improvement, maintenance, and financing of transportation
facilities) or public education purposes. The bill also proposed to consequently end the annual $20 million distribution
to HRRTF beginning Fiscal Year 2023. Similar legislations are Senate Bills 363 and 512 (identical). This legislation
failed. Considering the uniqueness of this source for funding transit, pursuing this source may be challenging, making
feasibility lower than the other likely sources.

Regional or Supplemental Fuels Tax
Fuel taxes are a common source of revenue for transportation and transit funding. While costs of fuels could
potentially increase over time, the move towards more fuel efficient and electric vehicles presents a challenge for the
stability of this source.

In the Commonwealth, the 2020 Omnibus Bill changed the treatment of fuel taxes. Previously approved additional
regional fuel taxes were made state-wide with regional authorities such as NVTC, PRTC, HRTAC, and CVTA
receiving funds levied in the respective regions, while all other funds not specifically allocated to a jurisdiction was
channelled to the District Grant Program. The excerpt below from “Virginia Code § 58.1-2295. Levy; payment of tax”
shows an example of legislative language drafted for the CVTA in Planning District 15.

“5. (For contingent expiration, see Acts 2020, cc. 1235) In addition to all other taxes now imposed by law, there is
hereby imposed a tax upon every distributor who engages in the business of selling fuels at wholesale to retail

dealers for retail sale in any county or city located in Planning District 15, as established pursuant to Chapter 42 (§
15.2-4200) of Title 15.2, in which a tax is not otherwise imposed pursuant to this section.”

Since the additional/supplemental fuels tax is already being levied in the Charlottesville region for the District Grant
Program, an act of the General Assembly would be needed to redirect this funding to a new regional authority.
Considering the consequent impact on the statewide pool for the grant program, strong support would be needed to
pursue this revenue source.

Personal Property Tax
Personal property taxes are administered by the localities and vary based on jurisdiction. The tax typically includes all
motor vehicles, trailers, mobile homes, boats, and aircrafts. The potential yield from this source is moderately higher
than a lodging tax of the same percentage. During the pandemic, some jurisdictions lowered the personal property
tax rate as a result of the increased valuation of vehicles. Consequently, the timing of a potential increase to fund
transit would be crucial and would require good engagement of residents to support the initiative.

Real Estate Tax
Real estate taxes are relatively stable and have the potential to yield a large amount of revenue. This could also be
considered relatively progressive with income as property ownership tends to increase with income. Additionally,
public transit improvements have the potential to either increase nearby property values or provide other benefits to
residents and businesses in the form of reductions in congestion, emissions, and parking costs, among others.

An additional option under the real estate tax is land value capture or a transit benefit district tax. It is a special
property tax imposed in areas with high-quality public transit, intended to recover a portion of the increased land
values provided by transit and support the transit service improvements. Depending on the areas implemented, the
potential yield could be moderate to large. This could also support developmental objectives by encouraging more
concentrated development around transit hubs. This may however require special analysis and legislation to
determine the appropriate tax structure.

Table 4-3 shows a summary of funding sources considered along with the respective advantages and potential
challenges. The table also includes “general fund expenditures” as this is the current funding mechanism.

March 7, 2024 Page 75 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 34

Table 4-3 Summary of Funding Sources

Type Description Advantage Potential Challenge

General Fund
Expenditures

Contributions from the
general funds of localities
to fund service

 Localities can decide on amount of
service to purchase annually based
on local priorities

 Varies from budget cycle to
budget cycle depending on local
priorities making it less predictable
and reliable

 Amount and type of service can
change by budget cycle making it
less reliable for customers

 Limited general fund revenues
may put a strain on local
resources

 Variability in transit funding makes
long term transit planning difficult

Sales Tax* A tax on the sale of goods
or services purchased.
(Not including tax for non-
prepared foods)

 Most common source for local and
regional transit services

 Moderate public acceptance
 Potential to produce high yields

relative to other funding sources.
 Relatively stable and predictable
 Minimal cost for implementation as

sales taxes are already collected

 Potential to impact lower income
individuals than other
socioeconomic levels.

Transient Occupancy
/Lodging Tax

A tax on lodging
establishments

 Does not directly impact residents
 Moderate public acceptance as a

transit funding source in Virginia
due to implementation in other
regions

 Revenue yield may be minimal in
some areas

 Potential implementation
challenge with rural areas with no
established lodging tax

Personal Property Tax In Virginia, a tax on the
value of all motor vehicles,
trailers, mobile homes,
boats, and aircrafts

 Relatively stable source
 Ease of implementation as property

taxes are already collected in most
jurisdictions

 Potential public resistance to
increase if rate is significant

Regional/Supplemental
Fuels Tax

A tax on distributors who
sell fuels at wholesale to
retail dealers for retail sale

 Relatively accepted user fee to
related to the social cost of driving

 Potential to reduces instability of
source by including different types
of fuel

 If increasing fuel taxes increase
demand for transit, it
simultaneously reduces the source
of revenue

 More fuel-efficient cars could
decrease this revenue source

 Value could erode over time if not
indexed to inflation

Real Estate Tax A tax on the assessed on
the value of land and
buildings

 Widely used to finance transit and
typically considered a default
funding source

 Relatively stable source
 Ease of implementation as property

taxes are already collected in most
jurisdictions

 Minimal potential to shift
development between jurisdictions

4.3 Analysis Results
This section presents an analysis of four potential public transit funding options for discussion and further evaluation.
They are (i) sales tax, (ii) lodging tax, (iii) personal property tax, and (iv) real estate tax. Estimates were derived from

March 7, 2024 Page 76 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 35

local government financial reports39 with either projected or adopted budget estimates between fiscal years 2022 and
2024. Estimates are in constant dollars with annual growth standardized at 1% for sales tax estimates and 2% for all
other taxes following City of Charlottesville projections.

The analysis assumes that the habits of residents in the region remain unchanged with the estimated increases in
taxes (inelastic demand). It is worth noting that demand can be inelastic only to a point. If additional increases were
significantly higher, residents could be incentivized to live or do business elsewhere, therefore such increases should
be within reason and follow regional trends.

Table 4-4 shows the estimated added revenue from an additional 0.7% increase40 in sales tax. The current sales tax
rate across the region is 5.3%. This does not affect the 2.5% tax on non-prepared foods.

Table 4-4 Estimated revenues from additional 0.7% sales tax in millions of dollars
Added Revenue from
0.7% FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 Total
Albemarle $16.3 $16.4 $16.6 $16.8 $16.9 $83.0
Charlottesville $10.2 $10.3 $10.4 $10.5 $10.6 $51.9
Fluvanna $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $1.9 $9.5
Greene $2.2 $2.3 $2.3 $2.3 $2.3 $11.4
Louisa $5.0 $5.0 $5.1 $5.1 $5.2 $25.3
Nelson $1.1 $1.1 $1.2 $1.2 $1.2 $5.8
Total $36.6 $37.0 $37.4 $37.7 $38.1 $186.8

Table 4-5 shows the estimated added revenue from an additional 0.5% increase in the lodging tax. In the City of
Charlottesville and Albemarle County, the lodging tax rate is currently at 8%. Nelson and Greene Counties are both at
5%, Louisa County at 2%, and Fluvanna 0%. Since Fluvanna County currently has no transient occupancy tax, there
are no current revenues to determine future projections. Louisa County was therefore used as a proxy in the analysis.
It should also be noted that Albemarle County recently increased their lodging and personal property taxes so
consideration should be given to the timing for implementation.

Table 4-5 Estimated revenues from additional 0.5% lodging tax in millions of dollars
Added Revenue from
0.5% FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 Total
Albemarle $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $0.2 $1.0
Charlottesville $0.5 $0.5 $0.5 $0.5 $0.5 $2.5
Fluvanna $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.5
Greene $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.3
Louisa $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.5
Nelson $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.1 $0.6
Total $1.0 $1.1 $1.1 $1.1 $1.1 $5.4

Table 4-6 shows the estimated added revenue from an additional 0.5% increase in personal property tax. Louisa
County’s analysis follows a 2.43% residential personal property tax, but there is a 1.90% personal property tax
applicable to businesses. The City of Charlottesville has a 4.2% tax rate. Albemarle, Greene, Fluvanna, and Nelson
counties have a 3.4%, 5.0%, 3.7%, and 2.8% rate respectively. It should also be noted that Fluvanna County’s
personal property tax was lowered in 2022.

39 City of Charlottesville Long Term Revenue & Expenditure Planning & Forecasts, Fiscal Year 2024 Budget
Albemarle County Fiscal Year 2023 Adopted Budget
County of Louisa, Virginia Adopted Annual Fiscal Plan Fiscal Year 2023
County of Fluvanna, Virginia Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
County of Fluvanna, Virginia Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
County of Greene, Virginia Financial Report Year Ended June 30, 2022
Nelson County FY24 Proposed Budget (May 9, 2023)
40 0.7% is consistent with sales tax rates used to support HRTAC, CVTA, and NVTA.

March 7, 2024 Page 77 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 36

Table 4-6 Estimated revenues from additional 0.5% personal property tax in millions of dollars
Added Revenue from
0.5% FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 Total
Albemarle $5.5 $5.6 $5.7 $5.8 $5.9 $28.5
Charlottesville $1.5 $1.5 $1.6 $1.6 $1.6 $7.9
Fluvanna $1.2 $1.3 $1.3 $1.3 $1.3 $6.4
Greene $0.7 $0.7 $0.8 $0.8 $0.8 $3.8
Louisa $2.4 $2.4 $2.5 $2.5 $2.6 $12.5
Nelson $1.2 $1.2 $1.2 $1.2 $1.3 $6.0
Total $12.5 $12.7 $13.0 $13.3 $13.5 $65.0

Table 4-7 shows the estimated added revenue from an additional 0.1% increase in real estate taxes based on the
yield from current tax rates. Current real estate tax for the City of Charlottesville is 0.96%, 0.85% for Albemarle
County, 0.73% for Greene County, 0.72% for Louisa County, 0.87% for Fluvanna County and 0.65% for Nelson
County.

Table 4-7 Estimated revenues from additional 0.1% real estate tax in millions of dollars
Added Revenue from
0.1% FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 Total
Albemarle $24.1 $24.6 $25.1 $25.6 $26.1 $125.3
Charlottesville $10.6 $10.8 $11.0 $11.2 $11.4 $55.0
Fluvanna $3.1 $3.2 $3.2 $3.3 $3.3 $16.1
Greene $2.7 $2.7 $2.8 $2.8 $2.9 $13.9
Louisa $6.5 $6.6 $6.8 $6.9 $7.0 $33.8
Nelson $3.2 $3.3 $3.4 $3.4 $3.5 $16.8
Total $50.1 $51.1 $52.2 $53.2 $54.3 $260.9

These estimates serve as discussion starters on appropriate rates for each funding type.

March 7, 2024 Page 78 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 37

5 Governance Options
This section summarizes the steps taken to identify potential governance options for regional transit developed
through a consensus building process with regional stakeholders. The process objectively prioritized options based
on analysis, experience, and alignment with the Regional Transit Vision. The section includes examples of
governance structures that support transit and a list of preferred characteristics to guide the development of a
governance structure for regional transit.

The Vision Study question, “What is feasible in the Charlottesville region and what will policy makers advocate?”,
guided the final governance recommendations.

5.1 Legislative Review
5.1.1 Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority
The legislature provided for the Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority (CARTA) as early as 2009 with
subsequent amendments. The authority is initially established as a service delivery organization, with the contracting,
financial (including bonding), and acquisition and operating powers necessary. Its authority is for transit.
Charlottesville and “all or portions of Albemarle County” are the essential boundaries, but additional portions of
Albemarle, Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, and Nelson counties, tourist-driven and public transit agencies, and higher
education agencies may join as members.

The governing board is comprised of two Charlottesville Council members, two Albemarle County Commissioners,
and one commissioner from each other county; other members are represented by non-voting members. There is no
provision in the current CARTA legislation for funding; public funding would need to come from federal, 
commonwealth, and local funds.

5.1.2 Northern Virginia Transportation Authority
The Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA) is established as a multimodal planning and funding agency. It
is funded with a variety of taxes including sales tax, grantors tax on real property, and other transfers provided for in-
tax revenue laws. It is comprised of Arlington, Fairfax, Loudoun, and Prince William Counties, as well as nearby
independent cities. The governing board is comprised of elected officials from counties and cities, as well as state
legislators from relevant committees, a gubernatorial appointee, the DRPT director, the Commissioner of Highways,
and the chief elected official of one town. While the authority has some powers to contract for and deliver services, it
operates primarily through grants to service delivery agencies for roads and transit.

5.1.3 Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission
The Hampton Roads Accountability Commission (HRTAC) is established primarily as a planning and funding authority
like the NVTA. It funds both transit and road projects. The boundaries of the authority are those of Planning
District 23, which includes four counties and ten cities. The authority was originally established to fund transportation
(excluding transit) with specific taxes. In addition to the sales tax and fuel taxes provided for in the tax revenue
statutes, HRTAC has access to a portion of the tolls on the I-64 / I-264 / Jefferson Avenue interchange. Subsequent
amendments added additional funding sources dedicated exclusively to transit, and specifically to a regional transit
program. This service is distinguished from the existing service that continues to be funded from the historical federal,
state, and municipal funds and requires the municipalities to maintain their prior transit funding levels. The
composition of the governing board is similar to NVTA’s: the chief elected official of the counties and cities, together
with state legislators, a gubernatorial appointee, the Director of DRPT and the Commissioner of Highways. The
Executive Director of the Virginia Port Authority is included as well.

March 7, 2024 Page 79 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 38

5.1.4 Central Virginia Transportation Authority
The newest of these agencies is the Central Virginia Transportation Authority (CVTA) in the greater Richmond region,
whose boundaries are those of Planning District 15. Like NVTA, CVTA has some service delivery authority, but it has
established itself as a planning and funding authority. Furthermore, it is required to pass through substantial funding
to the Greater Richmond Transit Company (GRTC) or its successor. CVTA is funded primarily by a sales tax, but with
some fuel tax and provision for future toll revenue. It also has a maintenance-of-effort requirement requiring
continuation of 50% of the pre-existing local public transit funding, plus escalation. While most of CVTA’s revenue is
available for roads or other transportation, 15% is designated for use by GRTC or its successor.

5.1.5 Williamsburg Area Transit Authority
In addition to these transportation authorities, the Williamsburg Area Transit Authority (WATA) is the only example of a
regional transit authority in the Commonwealth. Granted enabling legislation in 2006 by the Virginia General
Assembly, the local governments of James City County, York County, and City of Williamsburg, as well as the College
of William and Mary and the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation formed the regional transit authority in 2007. WATA
became the successor to James City County and Williamsburg Area Transport, providing a regional focus to its
service. The governing board is comprised of staff members from the city and counties, as well as representatives
appointed by the Foundation, College, and DRPT. Unlike the authorities previously discussed, the WATA legislation
does not include funding.

5.1.6 Other Governance Frameworks
Other noteworthy frameworks in Virginia are the public service corporation and the transportation district commission.
The Public Service Corporation (examples include GRTC and Jaunt) provides public ownership and control of the
powers needed for transit service delivery and a governance mechanism. Like CARTA, there is no provision for new
funding.  The governance is based on a joint stock corporation concept which reflects the initial ownership and
agreed changes.

The Transportation District Commission framework is available to all groups of counties or cities in Virginia. The
Transportation District Commission of Hampton Roads (or doing business as Hampton Roads Transit) and the
Northern Virginia Transportation Commission (NVTC) are examples. Governing boards for these agencies are made
up of elected officials, and there is no new funding authority in the legislation. While Hampton Roads Transit41 is
primarily a service delivery organization, NVTC (which has some unique legislative provisions) is primarily a service
and funding coordinating agency, taking advantage of the multi-county, multi-city structure of the commissions.

5.2 Existing Transit Coordination in Charlottesville
Region

The Charlottesville area does not currently have a regional body for transit service delivery decision making.
However, the Regional Transit Partnership was created by the City of Charlottesville, Albemarle County, and Jaunt, in
partnership with the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation to provide recommendations to decision-
makers on transit-related matters. The RTP was birthed out of a TJPDC Regional Transit Coordination Study
conducted in response to the 2016 request by the Planning and Coordination Council (PACC) to review and
recommend opportunities for improved communication, coordination, and collaboration on transit matters.

In 2017, the Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), the City of Charlottesville,
Albemarle County, Jaunt Inc., and the TJPDC entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) defining the
vision, roles, and responsibilities for the RTP. In 2021, the MOU was amended to include the University of Virginia.

The RTP is staffed by the MPO and supported with Section 5303 funding from the Federal Transit Administration and
DRPT. The RTP’s program area is limited to the Metropolitan Planning Area, which includes the City of Charlottesville
and the urbanized portions of Albemarle County.

41 Hampton Roads Transit receives dedicated regional funding through HRTAC.

March 7, 2024 Page 80 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 39

The RTP voting membership is as follows:

 Charlottesville City Council: Two representatives from and appointed by the Council
 Albemarle Board of Supervisors: Two representatives from and appointed by the Board of Supervisors
 Jaunt Board: One urban and one rural representative
 Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation: One DRPT representative
 University of Virginia: One UVA representative

The RTP non-voting membership is as follows:
 CAT staff
 Jaunt staff
 Albemarle County Student Transportation
 City of Charlottesville Student Transportation
 Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan Planning Organization (CA-MPO)
 RideShare
 Charlottesville Transit Advisory Board
 UVA Hospital
 Charlottesville Area Alliance
 Piedmont Environmental Council
 Albemarle Executive Staff
 Charlotteville Executive Staff

The RTP elects a Chair and Vice-Chair as officers who serve one-year terms. Officers of the RTP are eligible for re-
election after their term expires.

The goals of the RTP are to (1) establish strong communication, (2) ensure coordination between transit providers,
(3) set a regional transit vision and goals, and (4) identify opportunities for improved transit services and
administration. The RTP serves as an advisory board only. It does not have any inherent decision-making powers and
does not supersede management over the public transit operators in the region.

5.3 Recommended Characteristics for Regional Transit
Governance

A series of group and individual stakeholder meetings were conducted with county boards of supervisors, the
Charlottesville City Council, staff members, and other state, regional, and local stakeholders. The purpose of the
meetings was to determine each locality’s core interests and transit priorities, and to identify areas of possible
compromise in developing final governance options. Discussions centered around political feasibility, equity impacts,
establishing accountability for transit funding, maximizing financial investments, service outcomes, long-range
outcomes, and administrative feasibility.

The discussions included a review of governance options under current legislation, legislative options for changes,
and the extent to which the region’s transit needs are already met. Governance discussions covered the following:

 Authority establishment and participating localities
 Board membership
 Role of the authority in decision making and transit planning
 Performance indicators and accountability
 Role of transit providers
 Participation opportunities for rural localities, and
 Administrative cost burden

The subsequent sections describe the characteristics for a regional transit authority in Region 10.

March 7, 2024 Page 81 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 40

5.3.1 Establishment and Membership
With the exception of funding authority, the existing CARTA legislation possesses the fundamental structure and
make-up of a regional transit authority that could serve Region 10. It is recommended for regional stakeholders to
adopt the existing structure in the interim while an ideal transit authority that has potential to accomplish regional
goals is pursued. The ideal transit authority would have the primary function of regional transit planning and funding.
Its responsibility would be to manage transit funding in the region to support the sustainable growth of reliable and
efficient transit service in compliance with all local, state, and federal requirements.

The following describes the ideal transit authority for the region. These characteristics were derived from a
comparative review of other Virginia RTAs42 and regional peers, and consensus building discussions with regional
stakeholders.

 Creation: The authority may be created by issuing new state legislation or modifying existing43

legislation to form a transit authority that meets the characteristics described. Existing legislation for the
Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority (CARTA) may be amended to include funding and
align with other sections described in this section.

 Authority participation: The authority may be created with the City of Charlottesville and Albemarle
County as initial members, and an option for the counties of Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, and Nelson to
join as participating members as well.

 Other Entities as Participants: Other entities such as higher education institutions, public
transportation agencies, or private nonprofit entities may also join the authority upon agreement,
concurrent resolution, or ordinance of the existing members of the authority.

Existing CARTA legislation allows adoption of the legislation by the localities after an approving ordinance or
resolution is passed by the respective governing bodies.

To accommodate potential changes in population, population density, or transit need/usage across the region over
time, flexibility may be provided to allow for changes in the participating localities/entities while ensuring consistency
in a shared transit vision for the types and feasibility of transit options.

5.3.2 Board Composition
The existing Virginia authorities have a mixture of state, regional, and local representation on their governance
boards. Details on board composition for NVTA, CVTA, WATA and HRTAC are provided in the Appendix for reference.

For the authorities with funding, representation is mostly elected officials (or their designees) from the governing
bodies of the respective localities. An advantage to having elected officials on the board is that it provides direct
accountability to taxpayers. WATA is the only example for which the board is comprised of staff members from the
localities. WATA does not currently have dedicated funding enabled by the legislature. Table 5-1 summarizes other
advantages and disadvantages of having elected officials or non-elected officials on governance boards.

42 Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission (HRATC), Central Virginia Transportation Authority (CVTA), and
Northern Virginia Transportation Authority (NVTA).
43 Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title33.2/chapter28/

March 7, 2024 Page 82 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 41

Table 5-1 Advantages and Disadvantages of Types of Board Composition

Advantages Disadvantages
Elected Officials • Credibility of being elected by the

people
• Possess power within jurisdiction to

effect changes
• Opinions are potentially more in line

with direction of the jurisdiction

• Potential for having competing
interests with non-transit-related
issues

• May be less motivated to be
engaged on the board/attend
meetings due to schedule
demands

• Additional structure needed to
authorize delegation of alternates

• Election cycles may create high
turnover

Staff/ Citizen
Appointees

• Insulated and free from the non-
transit related issues

• Can have fiduciary responsibility to
transit and benefit to the people

• Appointees with transit experience
or specialized expertise provide
added value

• Close communication with
appointing body can ensure transit
needs and direction of jurisdiction
are aligned

• Do not possess the same power to
effect changes within jurisdictions
as elected officials

5.3.2.1 Authority Board
A governing board with terms closely aligning with the CARTA legislation may be adopted for the new authority. The
board of directors will be comprised of elected officials from each locality embraced by the authority and
representatives from any other entities that join the authority (e.g., higher education institutions). The board
composition will be:

 Two directors representing the County of Albemarle, each of whom shall be a member of the governing
body of the county.

 Two directors representing the City of Charlottesville, each of whom shall be a member of the
governing body of the city.

 One director representing each county that joins the Authority, each of whom shall be a member of the
governing body of each respective county.

The Board may also include gubernatorial appointees and representatives from state or regional bodies such as
DRPT, the House of Delegates, the Senate, or any other body deemed appropriate by the state legislature. Additional
directors may also be added to represent the interests of any agencies or institutions that join the authority.

Most authorities have the option for the board structure to change as needed to reflect changes in the region that
occur over time. Rules for change may include transit service-based methods or population-based methods. Boards
should ideally represent all taxpayers (including non-transit riding taxpayers), therefore, a combination of the two
approaches could be considered if modifications are required.

5.3.3 Voting
Voting procedures will be established by the authority. Table 2 summarizes four examples of voting procedures from
some authorities. The table includes the primary funding methods to show the correlation with the board make-up and
voting procedures.

March 7, 2024 Page 83 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 42

Table 5-2 Examples of Board Composition for Virginia Authorities

CVTA NVTA HRTAC WATA

Primary Funding Tax revenues Tax revenues, interest,
bonds

Tax revenues, tolls,
interest, bonds

None (costs allocated
among members)

Total Members 18 (12 voting members
and 6 non-voting)

17 (14 voting and 3 non-
voting)

23 (19 voting and 4 non-
voting)

7 (5 voting and 2 non-
voting)

Voting • Elected officials from
jurisdictions
• 1 member each from
House of Delegates,
Senate, Commonwealth
Transportation Board
(CTB)

• Elected officials from
jurisdictions
• 2 House of Delegates
• 1 Senator
• 2 governor-appointed
(1 CTB)

• Elected officials from
jurisdictions
• 3 House of Delegates
• 2 Senators

• Staff from jurisdictions
• 1 Foundation

Non-Voting44 DRPT, GRTC, RMTA,
VDOT, Port, CRAC

DRPT, VDOT, annual
rotating town

DRPT, VDOT, CTB, Port College of William and
Mary, DRPT

Voting Process • Weighted votes based
on population in
jurisdiction:
• Most populous each
have 4 votes
(Chesterfield, Henrico,
Richmond)
• Least populous each
have 1 vote
(Ashland, Charles City)
• Delegate, Senator, and
CTB member each
have 1 vote

• Approval of an NVTA
Action requires three
tests:
• 2/3 of voting members
present
• 2/3 of local
government members
present; and
• Local government
members voting
in favor must represent
2/3 of population of
jurisdictions in NVTA

• 2/3 majority vote of
elected officials on
Commission, and
• Representing at least
2/3 of region’s
population.

• One vote per voting
member (2 from James
City and 1 each from
remaining members)
• Quorum formed by
majority of the board
• Vote of simple majority
for decisions

5.3.4 Role in Decision Making and Transit Planning
The transit authority may have the following responsibilities for transit planning in the region:

 Prepare a regional transit plan for all or a portion of the areas located within boundaries of each member
locality (long-range transit planning in area);

 Provide general oversight of area programs involving transit or congestion mitigation;
 Recommend regional transit priorities (including projects and funding allocations) to federal, state, and

regional agencies;
 Advocate for transit needs in the area before federal and state governments;
 Apply for grants and any other funds from the federal or state government or any agency; and
 Ensure compliance with state and federal transit planning requirements.

Existing transit providers in the region may be contracted with for the provision of specific regional services the
authority deems align with its objectives. Furthermore, as the transit operators in the region maintain core service
functions (e.g., operations, route planning, maintenance, etc.), they may participate in the authority in a technical
advisory capacity for a coordinated approach for regional transit planning.

44 GRTC – Greater Richmond Transit Company; RMTA- Richmond Metropolitan Transportation Authority; VDOT – Virginia
Department of Transportation; CRAC – Capital Region Airport Commission; Port – Virginia Port Authority

March 7, 2024 Page 84 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 43

5.3.5 Powers
The powers granted to CARTA are similar to those of other Virginia authorities. However, each authority also has
additional powers specific to its needs, e.g., ability to levy taxes or fees for transportation purposes. The exception to
this is WATA, which does not have the ability to sell bonds or condemn property. WATA members are able to create
an agreement to enable WATA to sell bonds backed by member jurisdictions.

An important power not currently granted to CARTA is the ability to levy taxes or fees for transit purposes and to
determine the use of the new revenues collected. A detailed list of the powers granted to CARTA may be found in the
appendix. Some powers granted to the authority include those listed below.

 Power to construct or acquire, by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise, the transit facilities specified in the
plan.

 Power to make, assume, and enter into contracts, agreements, arrangements, and leases with public or
private entities as the Authority may determine.

 Enter contracts or arrangements with its members, or other transit commissions of transportation districts
adjoining any member, any authority, or state, local, or private entity.

 Power to acquire land.
 Power to sue and be sued.
 Power to determine and set fees, rates, and charges for transit services for any services which it directly

operates45.
 Ability to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of paying the cost of operating transit, directly or indirectly.
 Adopt, amend, or repeal bylaws, rules, and regulations not inconsistent with general laws of the

Commonwealth.
 Adopt an official seal and alter it.
 Maintain an office at such a place or places as it designates.
 Ability to appoint, employ or engage officers and employees.
 Contract with any participating locality to provide legal services; engineering services; depository and 

accounting services; including an annual independent audit; and procurement of goods and services and act 
as a fiscal agent for the authority.

5.3.6 Withdrawal
Enabling legislations for the four authorities previously reviewed do not include provisions for withdrawal. However,
the CARTA legislation does include this provision. It allows a member to withdraw from authority by resolution or an
ordinance of its governing body, pursuant to the conditions and procedures adopted by the authority. A member may
not withdraw if there are any outstanding bonds or other debt, unless there is unanimous consent of all the holders of
the bonds. A member may also withdraw if such bonds have been paid, cashed, or United States government
obligations have been deposited for their payment.

5.4 Other Characteristics
5.4.1 Indicators of Accountability
The authority may establish any procedures it deems necessary to ensure accountability of any revenue generated
through a levy of taxes or fees. Examples of measures generally adopted by authorities include:

 Board representation
─ Board membership from localities and entities that embrace authority.
─ Elected officials serving on the board to represent citizens/taxpayers.
─ Representation from the state to ensure accountability (e.g., DRPT, House, Senate, CTB, and

others).

45 For Jaunt and CAT services, whether they are grant recipients of the authority or contractors, if they take the operating cost risk
(i.e., for any unexpected deficiency in fare revenues relative to operating expense, they bear the risk), they will normally control
fares.

March 7, 2024 Page 85 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 44

 Financial reporting
─ Creation of separate fund for new revenue.
─ Development of a plan to prioritize transit projects of regional significance – in collaboration and

approved by board members.
─ Requirement of annual documentation if funds are disbursed to another entity.

 Funding oversight
─ Creation of a finance committee to oversee financial activities made up of elected officials and/ or

state representatives (e.g., CTB member).
 Decision-making criteria

─ Identify a set of criteria or guiding principles for regional transit investments (e.g., equity,
economic impact, multimodality, etc.).

 Technical advisory
─ Creation of a committee comprising staff members from localities, transit operators, state level

representatives (e.g., DRPT), regional stakeholders (e.g., MPO, TJPDC), and citizens.
─ Committee may support the development of decision-making criteria; project planning to identify

projects of regional importance; project prioritization and selection; and review, comment on, and
recommend an annual plan for expenditure of regional funds.

5.4.2 Administrative Costs, Cost Allocations, and Maintenance of
Effort

Initial administrative efforts to set up the authority may be supported by the localities, DRPT, MPO, or TJPDC. The
administrative host may be reimbursed for its administration cost from revenues of the authority.

In many cases across the country where transit authorities have dedicated funding sources that cover all the local
costs of service provision, cost allocation between members may not be necessary. Among the Virginia authorities,
some continued responsibility for local transit funding exists. For example, in the Richmond region, the CVTA
legislation prevents members from reducing local transit funding by more than 50 percent of what was appropriated
for public transit as of July 1, 2019 (a year before the authority was created). The legislation also includes provisions
for adjusting the local amounts annually based on factors including the average consumer price index (CPI) starting
in 2023.

Similarly, the HRTAC enabling legislation prevents member localities from reducing local funding for public
transportation to an amount less than what was appropriated on July 1, 2019, for such purposes. This example
shows a 100-percent maintenance of effort by the localities. However, amounts paid from the regional transit fund are
considered to be local funds when used to make a required match for state or federal transportation grant funds.

In cases where cost allocations exist among members of a transit authority, different approaches are adopted in the
development of a cost-sharing formula. Examples of different measures used formula development include
population, ridership, service hours, service miles, or route-specific assignments to localities. In some cases, a
combination of measures is used as a means of reaching an equitable formula. It is also common for formulae to be
revised with changes in the authority or region.

For the new transit authority, a number of steps need to be taken before a cost allocation formula is developed if
found to be needed. Once the authority is activated, the actual service to be delivered across the region will need to
be determined—regional routes or jurisdiction specific routes to be funded. Once determined, ridership projections
and overall costs for the service will become some factors to be considered to identify the most effective and
equitable method for cost allocation.

March 7, 2024 Page 86 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 45

5.5 Benefits of Adopting a Regional Transit Authority
The Charlottesville region is made up of a range of urban and rural areas, each with unique transit challenges.
Furthermore, the region is served by multiple transit providers supplying the localities with much needed service.
More investments in transit across the region are warranted as localities seek continuous improvements and quality
of life for residents. Some benefits of adopting a regional authority are listed below:

 Improved efficiency – potential to reduce duplication and waste of resources, more efficient operations,
cost savings, better use of taxpayer funds. (Although efficiencies can be achieved in some administrative
functions such as procurement and IT, experience and data show that labor costs can increase when
operations are completely consolidated).

 Seamless connectivity – improved coordination of services across localities for more integrated network
 Expanded coverage – potential additional service to underserved areas, increase mobility, and reduce

disparities in transit access.
 Economic development – robust regional network can improve access to job centers, education,

healthcare, and cultural attractions. Also attract businesses and residents to region
 Attract investment – a region with a well-integrated system may be more attractive to federal funding

opportunities for transportation infrastructure improvements.
 Social equity – can help to ensure accessible and affordable transit to residents regardless of income or

location.
 Environmental benefits – congestion reduction as an alternative to driving. Improve air quality and promote

a more sustainable environment.
 Data and planning – better-informed planning and decision-making through pooled resources for data

collection and analysis
 Innovation and technology – regionalism can facilitate adoption of new technologies, e.g., smart transit

systems, mobile apps, real-time tracking and new operating structures – to enhance overall passenger
experience.

A regional authority would ultimately serve as the collaborative, multijurisdictional entity for identifying and solving
regional transit issues. The existing avenue for discussing regional transit issues, the RTP, needs to evolve into this
authority. At present, the RTP’s authority is not sufficient to enact change or make the required decisions regarding
regional transit service. Over time, the full benefits of governing transit using a regional authority can be realized.

5.6 Legislative Process and Objectives
When new legislation is enacted, the possible combinations and variations are infinite. However, the effort and time
required to enact legislation with the required number of approvals and votes makes each additional change in any
proposal progressively more difficult, with completely new institutions generally being the most difficult of all.
Region 10 can formulate its objectives for legislation and compare those to the legislative possibilities. These
objectives may include:

 Potential level of new funding
 Side-effects of any funding generated (such as economic impact, equity, competitiveness of region’s

economy, revenue administration efficiency)
 Boundaries of the district affecting taxes paid or tax revenue no longer available for other uses, and affecting

people served; the ability to change those boundaries in the future.
 Composition of the governing board
 Coordination and effectiveness of the institutions, including duplication of functions, operational planning

effectiveness, efficiencies and economies of scale, ability to finance projects with debt, eminent domain
power, intergovernmental coordination of regulatory, public works, and interfacing transportation functions.

The possible ways to achieve these objectives through a new entity or the modification of one of the frameworks
described previously are numerous, but can be grouped, sorted, and assessed. From the perspective of the
frameworks and the objectives, it seems that the possibilities can be grouped into two courses to obtain properly
governed transit resources: (1) establish a new authority similar to CVTA or HRTAC or (2) modify the CARTA
legislation to provide the additional authority needed (Figure 5-1).

March 7, 2024 Page 87 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 46

Figure 5-1 Courses of Action for Legislative Process

The first option will allow material changes to transit governance and funding in the region but will require substantial 
new legislation. The second option offers a framework already tailored for Region 10, with flexibility as to boundaries, 
but requires integrating this with the requirements for public funding in Virginia. 

March 7, 2024 Page 88 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 47

6 Study Findings and Recommendations
A successful component of the Region 10 Governance Study is the extensive stakeholder engagement carried out 
with staff and elected officials of localities, and representatives of regional and state bodies. Consequently, some 
transit needs and concerns across the region regarding a regional transit authority were made known. Below is a 
summary of the main findings from the study.  

6.1 Desire for Regional Transit Governance
Throughout the study, the desire to invest more funding into transit and take a regional approach to governance was 
supported by a majority of the representatives from the localities of Region 10. Currently, there is general consensus 
among the urban localities on taking the next steps on establishing an authority and pursuing legislative action for 
dedicated transit funding. There is also increased interest in pursuing an interim regional entity to serve as a 
precursor to a regional transit “funding” authority. While legislative action is being pursued, a volunteer agreement 
between interested localities can be enacted to keep the momentum of current efforts, demonstrate regional 
management of transit toward a shared vision, and show benefits of additional funding.

It is recommended for the City of Charlottesville and Albemarle County to initiate preliminary discussions and enter 
into an agreement that allows for joint regional transit planning. Preliminary discussions can begin with drafting a set 
of bylaws designed to allow enough authority for short-term decision making and flexibility to allow more powers in 
the long-term. The interim entity may begin planning by working on the following: 

 Set up a small committee consisting of stakeholder representatives to discuss steps towards implementing 
the interim agreement;

 Develop draft bylaws and engage rural localities; 
 Engage UVA in preliminary discussions on their potential role in regional transit governance;
 Confirm agreement between participating stakeholders;
 Develop/finalize bylaws and other articles of the organization; and 
 Initiate discussion on administrative functions for regional transit including cost allocations.

6.2 Rural Transit Needs Assessment 
Throughout the study, rural localities (staff and elected officials) reiterated the importance of better understanding 
rural transit needs. The desire to know where transit dependent populations are located, proportions of county 
residents that are transit dependent, and how satisfied transit users in their respective counties are with the service 
currently received are among the emphasized requests. 

In some interviews, anecdotal accounts of residents not receiving the needed service were shared. In one instance, it 
was mentioned that only about 40% of residents that need transit service receive it. Although these issues were 
raised, some of the interviewees expressed a general understanding that the service received likely corresponded to 
the amount of county funding provided. However, the transit service issues have led to these localities requiring more 
analysis and data on any service changes associated with establishing a regional authority. 

Furthermore, discussions revealed that interjurisdictional travel with localities outside Region 10 is an added priority 
for some counties. This includes connections to neighboring counties outside the region. Further study is needed to 
determine the exact travel needs and the associated service levels needed. At present, the rural transit provider, 

Recommendation: Activate CARTA to serve as an interim entity for regional transit governance and 
decision making with the ability to expand its role over time.

March 7, 2024 Page 89 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 48

Jaunt, is undertaking a needs assessment, however, localities would have to coordinate with Jaunt to determine if the 
assessment’s goals and objectives are aligned with those of their localities. 

6.3 Perceived Value and Loss of Control in a Regional 
Governance Arrangement

The perception that the urbanized areas of the region would receive more value from regional transit funding than the 
rural localities presented a challenge. There is a concern of being overshadowed by regional or urban needs that may 
be better understood and organized than rural needs. Another concern present throughout the study is that of rural 
residents being taxed for the benefit of the urban areas. This is exacerbated by the fear of not receiving enough 
control on a regional governance body and therefore not having their voices heard.

Some of these concerns may be alleviated once a rural transit needs assessment is completed and the needs clearly 
articulated. Additionally, various mechanisms (e.g., performance standards and transit investment criteria) to ensure 
an equitable distribution of transit investments across the region may be adopted as described in earlier sections. 
Continuous engagement by rural localities in the development of a transit authority and final legislative packet will 
enable these concerns to be addressed. One example discussed with the rural localities is the option to have a 
CVTA-style legislation that allows portion of transit revenue collected from the region to be allocated proportionally in 
support of county-specific transit/transit-related needs (e.g., interjurisdictional travel outside of Region 10).

6.4 Collaboration with UVA 
UVA involvement in regional transit extends beyond that of a transit service provider (through UTS). The university is 
also a major stakeholder in the region and could serve as a crucial partner in the pursuit of regionalized transit 
service. Although representatives from the UTS were engaged throughout the study, further engagement with the 
university is needed to discuss potential mutual benefits in collaborating in regional transit service. Additional 
discussion with UVA stakeholders would lead to a clearer role for the university in a future authority. 

Recommendation: Conduct a transit needs assessment that clearly analyzes rural transit needs

Recommendation: Ensure continued rural engagement in development of legislative packet for a regional 
transit authority. Include protective mechanisms in the use of transit revenue generated to lead to equitable 
investments across the region. Continue educational efforts on the potential benefits of a regional authority 

and its impact on different types of residents. 

Recommendation: Engage UVA leadership at a level where there is decision-making authority in 
subsequent efforts toward establishing a transit authority.

March 7, 2024 Page 90 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

Prepared for:  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 49

7 Conclusion and Next Steps
The Charlottesville region has long prioritized transit as an important trait of a healthy and thriving community. Since
2008, localities within the region have made persistent efforts to better coordinate and collaborate on transit issues
starting with the first push for creating a transit authority. Though unsuccessful in securing the needed legislative
approval for funding, the region’s consistent efforts led to the creation of the Regional Transit Partnership and
subsequent development of the Regional Transit Vision Plan. As a continuation of the effort, the Regional Transit
Governance Study was undertaken.

The objective of this study was to identify effective options for governing regional transit and identifying potential
funding mechanisms as a means of increasing transit investments. Through a phased approach of (1) reviewing
existing conditions, (2) analyzing peer transit governance structures, (3) conducting a revenue generation analysis,
and (4) reviewing potential governance options, an extensive list of stakeholders in Region 10 were engaged to build
consensus toward creating a regional transit authority.

The interviews and workshops conducted provided the needed context and nuance with respect to individual
localities. As efforts to pursue a regional authority continue, the following implementation actions can serve as a
guide:

 Form working committee (composed of staff and elected officials, and/or volunteers)
 Define authority organizational functions such as methods for determining services to be provided,

personnel policies, and methods for cost sharing
 Re-assess funding needs by reviewing alternative funding sources, and identify preferred funding
 Continue coordination with regional stakeholders
 Appoint Board Members
 Coordinate with Virginia state legislature
 Define powers and revenues to be requested
 Draft memoranda for inclusion in packages for the legislature
 Establish informal service planning
 Action by General Assembly
 Collect revenues
 Hire General Manager/Director
 Prepare and adopt regional transit plan
 Begin authority operations
 Hire and train staff as needed
 Undertake service design and planning, financial planning, cost sharing, and other administrative functions

The timeline to implement these actions will vary based on several factors including the political/legislative climate,
support and drive from localities, and available resources to implement recommendations.

March 7, 2024 Page 91 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 

               50 
       

 

 

 

 
 
Appendices 

   

March 7, 2024 Page 92 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 

               51 
       

 

Appendix A Stakeholder Engagement 
Study Phase Stakeholder 

Phase I Garland Williams, CAT 
Ted Rieck, Jaunt 
Diantha McKeel, Reginal Transit Partnership 
Rebecca White, UVA  
Matt Lawless, Scottsville 
Ray Amoruso, Hampton Roads Transit 
Brian Smith, Deputy CEO Hampton Roads Transit 

Phase II Brian Booth, Director, Blacksburg Transit 
John Connell, General Manager, Bloomington Transit 
Louwana Oliva, Executive Director, Centre Area Transportation Authority (CATA) 
Scot Vanderpool, General Manager, Tompkins Consolidated Area Transit (TCAT) 
Matt Carpenter, CEO, TheRide 
Darian Nagle-Gamm, Transportation Director, Iowa City Transit  
Danny Plougher, Virginia Transit Authority 
Lisa Guthrie, Virginia Transit Authority 

Phase III Albemarle County 
Diantha McKeel, Board member 
Jacob Sumner, Interim CFO 
Trevor Henry, Assistant County Executive  
Greene County 
Catherine Schafrik, County Administrator 
Dale Herring, Board Chair 
Jim Frydl, Planning Director 
 
Nelson County 
Ernie Reed, Central District Supervisor 
Dillan Bishop, Planning and Zoning Director 
 
Fluvanna County 
Patricia Eager, Board Vice Chair 
Kelly Belanger Harris, Assistant County Administrator 
 
Louisa County 
Christopher Coon, Deputy County Administrator 
 
Kevin Page, Executive Director HRTAC 
Laura Farmer, CFO VDOT 
Ted Rieck, CEO, Jaunt 
Garland Williams, Director, CAT 
Sean Nelson, District Engineer, VDOT 
Stacy Londrey, Assistant District Administrator, VDOT 
 
City of Charlottesville City Council 

Phase IV Albemarle County Board of Supervisors 
 
City of Charlottesville 
Llyod Snook, Mayor of Charlottesville 
Brian Pinkston, City Council 
Steven Hicks, Interim Deputy City Manager of Operations 
Ben Chambers, Transportation Planning Manager 

March 7, 2024 Page 93 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 

               52 
       

 

Study Phase Stakeholder 

Greene County 
Cathy Schafrik, County Administrator 
 
Fluvanna County 
Kelly Harris, Assistant County Administrator  
 
Nelson County 
Ernie Reed, Board of Supervisors 
Dylan Bishop, Director of Planning & Zoning 
 
Louisa County 
Chris Coon, Assistant County Administrator 
 
University of Virginia (UVA) 
Scott Silsdorf, Parking and Transportation  
Julia Montieth, UVA Office of the Architect 

  

 

March 7, 2024 Page 94 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       53 

 
       

 

Appendix B Peer Study Summary 
Agency Blacksburg 

Transit (BT) 
Bloomington Transit 
(BT) CATA TCAT TheRide Iowa City Transit (ICT) 

Year started 1983 1982 1974 1998 (incorporated), 
became a nonprofit in 
2005 

1969 1971 

Annual Budget (2021) $21.2 million $14.5 million $18.7 million $15.8 million $55.0 million $7.0 million 
Division of service 
between university and 
operator 

BT provides 
university transit 

BT does not provide 
university transit 

CATA provides university 
transit 

TCAT provides university 
transit 

TheRide does not 
provide university 
transit 

ICT does not provide 
university transit 

Coverage Within town limits, 
contracted service 
to nearby town 

Within city limits Between 5 member 
municipalities and 3 
contracted municipalities 

Within the county Within 3 member 
municipalities 

Within city limits, 
contracted service to a 
nearby town 

Jurisdictions served Blacksburg, 
Christiansburg 
(contracted), and 
Virginia Tech 

Bloomington Borough of State College, 
Patton Township, Ferguson 
Township, Harris Township, 
College Township. 
Contracts for Borough of 
Bellefonte, Pleasant Gap, 
and Boalsburg 

Tompkins County, City of 
Ithaca, Cornell University 

Ann Arbor, City of 
Ypsilanti, and 
Ypsilanti Township 

Iowa City and University 
Heights 

Governance Type Town Department, 
funded by VT 

Public Transportation 
Corporation 

Joint Municipal Authority 501(c)(3) nonprofit Transportation 
Authority 

City Department 

Organizational Changes None Attempted consolidation 
with university around 
2010, likely to attempt 
again by 2026 

None Consolidated 3 agencies 
in 1998 

When Ypsilanti 
township was 
added, Board 
restructured to give 
Ann Arbor a 
supermajority 

None, likely going to 
attempt consolidation 
with university transit 
and neighboring transit 
by 2030 

Board 
Composition/Membership 

No board. Reports 
to Deputy Town 
Manager. 
Coordinates with 
Virginia Tech for 
service decision 
making. 
Accountable to 
Town Council. 

5 members, 3 appointed 
by city council and 2 
appointed by mayor 

5 members, 1 appointed by 
each of the 5 member 
municipalities1 

8 members, 2 members 
from Cornell, 3 from 
county, and 3 from city  

10 members, 8 
members from Ann 
Arbor, 1 from 
Ypsilanti and 1 from 
Ypsilanti Township 

No board, governed by 
Iowa City Council 

Board Powers  NA Taxing, eminent domain, 
grants, and operate transit 

No taxing authority but has 
eminent domain. Can 
operate transit. 

No taxing, eminent 
domain, or other 
governmental powers, as 

Taxing, eminent 
domain, grants, to 
sue, to operate 
transit 

NA 

 
1 CATA requires that board members receive training from PennDOT. 

March 7, 2024 Page 95 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       54 

 
       

 

Agency Blacksburg 
Transit (BT) 

Bloomington Transit 
(BT) CATA TCAT TheRide Iowa City Transit (ICT) 

it is a nonprofit, but can 
operate transit. 

Board Officers and 
Committees 

No board Chair, Vice Chair, 
Treasurer, Secretary 

Chair, Vice Chair, 
Secretary, and Treasurer 

Chair, with committees 
for Audit, Budget, HR, 
Planning, and Transit 
Service 

Chair, Secretary, 
and Treasurer 
 

No board 

Local Funding Sources Virginia Tech 
contract, 
Christiansburg 
contract 

Local property tax, Local 
income tax 

Member municipality 
general funds, apartment 
contracts, contracted 
service 

City, county, and 
university general funds 

Local property tax 
(levied by both 
TheRide and by the 
City of Ann Arbor) 

Local property tax, 
student housing 
contract, transport 
center revenue  

 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 96 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       55 

 
       

 

Appendix C List of Common Transit Funding Sources 
Funding Type Description 
General sales taxes • Most common source of funding for local and regional transit services.  

• Generally, provides the greatest revenue yield and stability and are broadly accepted as a source of revenue for public 
transportation 

General fund expenditures  • Revenues from a number of sources including state sales taxes, property taxes and income taxes. 
• Varies from budget cycle to budget cycle, depending on local priorities and are thus less predictable and reliable than 

revenues from other, more specific sources. 
Vehicle registration fees • Annual vehicle registration fees or other related fees. 

• Vehicle registration fees are the second most common source of transportation program related revenues at the state level, 
as more than half of states raise more than a quarter of their dedicated transportation revenues with these mechanisms. 

• Sound Transit, Seattle, WA 
• BART, San Francisco, CA 

Employer/payroll taxes • Levied on the amount of gross payroll for an employer, may be levied within transit districts for the generation of revenue but 
are usually administered by a state revenue agency on behalf of the transit district. 

• City of Portland 
• Transit Authority of River City, Louisville, KY 

Concessions • Leasing of transportation facilities to private entities for a large, upfront payment  
Lottery and/or casino revenues • States (and municipalities within states) with a statewide lottery or legalized gambling may designate revenues generated 

through these activities for the provision of public transportation services. 
• The State of New Jersey taxes 8 percent of casino gross revenues, roughly $30M per month in 2007, and places these funds 

into the Casino Revenue Fund. A portion of this fund is dedicated to supporting a Senior Citizens and Disabled Residents 
Transportation Assistance Program. 

• The state of Pennsylvania dedicates a percentage of lottery revenues to a free transit program for persons over 65 years old 
traveling in off-peak hours. 

Vehicle leasing and rental fees • Municipal and regional authorities may opt to use revenues from locally imposed taxes on the rental of vehicles to fund transit 
services.  

• Allegheny County in Pennsylvania has enacted a $2 rental car fee to help support transit services provided by Port Authority 
Transit Services in the Pittsburgh metropolitan region.  

• Vehicle rental companies are typically responsible for reporting and remitting these taxes to the regional authority. Similar  
taxes may also be levied on the leasing of vehicles, which generally take the form of a sales tax on the monthly lease 
payment. 

Tollway revenues • Revenues from toll facilities are often dedicated to providing for enhanced transit services within the tolled corridor.  
Cigarette Tax • Taxes levied on the sale of cigarettes are a common state revenue generating mechanisms and may also be employed by 

municipalities. 
Parking fees and Fines • Local transit agencies may receive significant levels of funding for operations from the parking fees and parking fines levied 

by the city or other regional government or they may receive parking related revenues generated at facilities owned by the 
transit authority. 

Property taxes • Assessed on the value of land and buildings and are the principal source of revenue for local governments.  
• The Ride, Ann Arbor, MI 
• Portions of local property tax revenues may be authorized for use by special districts and authorities such as transit 

authorities. 

March 7, 2024 Page 97 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       56 

 
       

 

Funding Type Description 
Contracts or Purchase of service  • Transit systems often receive revenues by providing additional transit related services to various entities outside of normal 

regularly scheduled services.  
• Municipal governments, private businesses, health and social service agencies and educational intuitions often contract with 

transit agencies to provide specialized service 
Lease revenues • Transit service providers often generate revenue by leasing various portions of their operations, such as parking facilities and 

terminal stations, for use by private enterprises. 
Advertising • Advertisements placed on vehicles, facilities, and transit related materials such as schedules and maps.  

• These revenues; however, are generally modest, accounting for anywhere between 0.1 and 3 percent of total operating 
income. 

Realty transfer taxes/mortgage 
recording fees 

• Generally levied on the sale of residential, commercial, and industrial property. These fees may be levied at the state and 
local level and revenues are used for a variety of purposes, including transit services. 

Corporate franchise taxes • Franchise taxes are generally levied on the profits and other taxable assets of a corporation. Considered a tax on business 
operations and is often based on the par value of the corporation's outstanding shares and surplus.  

• Franchise taxes are often targeted at specific types of industries and economic activity. 
Hotel/motel taxes • Common revenue generating mechanism employed by municipal and county governments. They are often only applied on 

certain days of the week, month or year and revenues are often used in the development and operation of tourism related 
facilities. 

Utility fees • Common source of income for municipalities and county governments. They may be applied to a wide range of service such 
as water, electricity, waste collection and disposal, and sewage services.  

• Revenues are typically deposited into general revenue and from there may be used to fund transit activities. 
Public Private Partnerships (PPP) • The US DOT has prepared model legislation.  

• Metro Transit Hiawatha Line, Minneapolis, MN 
• The model provides states with examples of the basic elements to consider in authorizing PPP legislation. 
• AirTrain JFK, NY 
• Portland Metropolitan Area Express (MAX) Airport Extension, OR 
• BART Oakland Airport Connector, CA 
• California High Speed Rail Authority 

Tax-increment Financing District (TIF) • Focused on capturing the added increment of a future stream of increased taxes that result from an increase in property 
values due to public investments.  

• The excess tax increment is used to repay the public improvement bonds used to fund the improvements that led to the 
increase in value and tax returns.  

• The revenues derived from these districts may be used for a number of purposes, including transit development. 
Transportation Development Districts • A form of community improvement or community facilities district that is intended to provide a means of raising funds 

specifically for transportation improvements.  
• Generally aimed at financing the cost of a specific project and may be applied to developing or improving transit services.  
• Typically raise funds through the issuance of bonds, which are generally supported by tax increment procedures or dedicated 

sales taxes.  
• Tax increment procedures are established by various state and local entities as a process for determining the value of land 

prior to development so that the incremental increase in value due to development can be appropriately credited to the 
desired programs.  

• Bonds are issued based on the expected incremental increase and the revenues directed to the project.  
 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 98 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       57 

 
       

 

Transit Funding Sources for Peer Study Agencies 
Peer Funding Source Description Jurisdiction/Entity 

Blacksburg, VA Virginia Tech Contract 
Funding provided by Virginia Tech to Blacksburg Transit for 
bus routes that serve campus and the town. $7.0 million 
annually (2021).  

Virginia Tech 

Bloomington, IN Local Property Tax A portion of Bloomington’s property tax provides $1.5 
million annually to Bloomington Transit. (2022).  City of Bloomington 

Bloomington, IN Local Income Tax 
Newly introduced in 2022. 1.345% tax providing an 
estimated $4 million annually to Bloomington Transit 
(beginning 2023). Funds transit. 

City of Bloomington 

Bloomington, IN IU Contract 
Annual payments made by the university to cover student, 
faculty and staff rides on Bloomington Transit. $1.2 million 
(2022). Funds transit. 

Indiana University 

State College, PA Apartment Contracts 

Contracts with student apartment buildings to provide their 
residents with free rides on CATA. Payments currently 
made on a per-ride basis. $1.8 million annually (2021). 
Funds transit. 

Student apartment buildings within CATA’s 
jurisdiction 

State College, PA Penn State Contract Contracts to CATA for three routes run on Penn State’s 
campus. $2.7 million annually (2021). Funds transit. Penn State University 

Ithaca, NY Cornell Fare Payments Annual payments made by the university to cover student, 
faculty and staff rides on TCAT. $3.3 million (2022).  Cornell University 

Ithaca, NY Mortgage Recording Tax Mortgage recording tax that provides $0.9 annually for 
TCAT (2022).  Tompkins County 

Ann Arbor, MI Ann Arbor Property Tax Property tax of 2.5 mills within Ann Arbor dedicated to 
TheRide in perpetuity.  City of Ann Arbor 

Ann Arbor, MI Authority Area Property Tax 
Property tax of 2.38 mills within TheRide’s service area, 
which must be renewed in perpetuity. $19.2 million annually 
along with the Ann Arbor tax (2022).  

City of Ann Arbor, City of Ypsilanti, Ypsilanti 
Township 

Iowa City, IA Multi-modal transportation center income 
Revenues from building rents (café, daycare, and 
restaurant) and parking fees make up approximately 6.8% 
of Iowa City Transit annual revenue (2021).  

Iowa City Transit Center. 
    

 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 99 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       58 

 
       

 

Appendix D Governance Summary for Virginia Authorities 
 

Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional 
Transit Authority  

(Existing Legislation) 

Northern Virginia Transportation 
Authority 

Hampton Roads Accountability 
Commission 

Central Virginia Transportation 
Authority 

Boundaries and 
membership 

Charlottesville and all or portions of 
Albemarle County. All or portions of 
counties of Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, 
and Nelson; private nonprofit tourist-
driven agencies, higher education 
facilities of the Charlottesville-
Albemarle area, and public 
transportation agencies serving such 
counties. Each other city, town or 
portion of county that opts in and is 
approved by existing members. 
  

Counties of Arlington, Fairfax, 
Loudoun, and Prince William and the 
Cities of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls 
Church, Manassas, and Manassas 
Park 

Each county [four] and city [ten] 
located in Planning District 23. 
  

Each county, city, and town located in 
Planning District 15 

Board Composition 

Two commissioners from Albemarle 
County, two council members from 
Charlottesville, one member of each 
other member county, up to four non-
voting members representing the 
interests of other members 
  

Chief elected officer of the governing 
body of each county and city embraced 
by the Authority or their designated 
elected officer; two from the 
membership of the House Committee 
on Appropriations, the House 
Committee on Finance, or the House 
Committee on Transportation; one from 
the membership of the Senate 
Committee on Finance and 
Appropriations and the Senate 
Committee on Transportation; one 
gubernatorial appointment shall be a 
member of the Commonwealth 
Transportation Board and one shall be 
a person who has significant 
experience in transportation planning, 
finance, engineering, construction, or 

Chief elected officer of each of the 10 
cities; a current elected official of each 
of the four counties; three members of 
the House of Delegates and two 
members of the Senate; a member of 
Commonwealth Transportation Board 
appointed by the Governor; the 
Director of the Department of Rail and 
Public Transportation, or designee; the 
Commissioner of Highways, or 
designee; and Executive Director of the 
Virginia Port Authority, or designee 
  

Chief elected officer, or designee, of 
each of the counties; chief elected 
officer, or his designee, of the City of 
Richmond and the Town of Ashland; 
One member of the House of 
Delegates and one member of the 
Senate  

March 7, 2024 Page 100 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
           
          

       59 

 
       

 

 
Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional 

Transit Authority  
(Existing Legislation) 

Northern Virginia Transportation 
Authority 

Hampton Roads Accountability 
Commission 

Central Virginia Transportation 
Authority 

management; ex officio: the Director of 
the Department of Rail and Public 
Transportation, or his designee; the 
Commissioner of Highways, or his 
designee; and the chief elected officer 
of one town in a county embraced by 
the Authority to be chosen by the 
Authority. 

Candidate Revenue 
Sources 

No dedicated revenue authorized - but 
administrative expenses not otherwise 
funded will be allocated to the 
members by formula. 
  

Sales Tax, Grantors Tax, Northern 
Virginia Transportation District Fund 
Transfer, Interstate Operations & 
Enhancement Program Transfer - 
restructured as transfers from 
Commonwealth Transportation Fund 

Excluding Transit: an additional 0.7% 
retail sales and use tax and an 
additional wholesale motor vehicle 
fuels tax currently set at a rate of 7.7 
cents per gallon for gas and 7.8 cents 
per gallon for diesel; HOV tolls on I64 / 
I264 / Jefferson Ave. interchange. 
Dedicated to transit: regional 
grantor's tax at a rate of $0.06 per 
$100, a regional hotel tax at one 
percent, and $20 million annually from 
State recordation taxes. 
  

Regional 0.7 percent of sales and use 
tax, and wholesale gas tax of 7.6 cents 
per gallon for gasoline and 7.7 cents 
per gallon for diesel fuel; specific future 
tolls; No locality embraced by the 
Authority shall reduce its local funding 
for public transit by more than 50 
percent of what it appropriated for 
public transit as of July 1, 2019 with 
escalation 

Authorized Uses Transit planning and service delivery.  Transportation 

Transportation excluding transit for the 
initial taxes, and a regional transit 
program only for the added taxes. 
  

35 percent be used for transportation-
related purposes benefiting the 
localities; 15 percent to the Greater 
Richmond Transit Company (GRTC), 
or its successor, to provide transit and 
mobility services; Fifty percent, 
proportionally, to each locality to 
improve local mobility, 

Acquisition 
/Operating Authority 

May acquire assets and deliver 
services; may contract for service 
delivery. 
  

Distributes funds to delivery agencies 
Distributes funds to delivery agencies. 
  

Distributes funds to delivery agencies. 

 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 101 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
     
    
    
    
    
    

    

 
       

 

Appendix E Bylaws of Transportation 
Authorities in Virginia  

March 7, 2024 Page 102 of 266



1 

 

 

 

BYLAWS 

OF 

THE CENTRAL VIRGINIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

Approved: 

August 27, 2020 

Amended and Readopted: 

June 25, 2021 

Amended and Readopted: 

September 23, 2022 

 

 

ARTICLE I 

POWERS AND DUTIES 

The Central Virginia Transportation Authority (the “Authority”) shall have all of the 
authority, powers and duties, and shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions, set forth in 
Chapter 37 of Title 33.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), as 
such may be amended from time to time (the “Act”). 

 

ARTICLE II 

MEMBERSHIP 

A. Authority Members.  The Authority consists of seventeen (18) members (“Members” or 
“Member”) as follows: 

 

1. The chief elected officer, or his/her designee, of the governing body of each of the 

seven (7) counties embraced by the Authority. 

 

2. The chief elected officer, or his/her designee, of the City of Richmond and the 

Town of Ashland. 

 

3. One member of the House of Delegates who resides in a county or city embraced 

by the Authority and appointed by the Speaker of the House. 

 

4. One member of the Senate who resides in a county or city embraced by the 

Authority and appointed by the Senate Committee on Rules. 

 

5. One member of the Commonwealth Transportation Board who resides in a locality 

embraced by the Authority and is appointed by the Governor. 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 103 of 266



2 

 

 

 

6. The following shall serve as nonvoting ex officio members of the Authority: 

 

a. The Director of the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation, 

or his/her designee, 

b. The Commissioner of Highways, or his/her designee, 

c. The Executive Director of the Virginia Port Authority, or his/her designee, 

d. The Chief Executive Officer of the Greater Richmond Transit Company 

(GRTC), and 

e. The Chief Executive Officer of the Richmond Metropolitan Transportation 

Authority (RMTA). 

f. The Chief Executive Officer of the Capital Region Airport Commission. 

 

B. Designees.  If a Member of the Authority described in Article II, section A, subsection 

(1) or (2) is unable to attend a meeting of the Authority, the Member may designate another 

current elected official of such governing body to attend the meeting of the Authority.  Such 

designation shall be for the purposes of the one meeting that the Member is unable to attend and 

shall be submitted in writing or electronically to the Chair of the Authority at least forty-eight 

(48) hours prior to the affected meeting. 

 

C. Terms of Membership.  All Members of the Authority shall serve terms coincident with 

their terms of office. 

 

ARTICLE III 

OFFICERS AND DUTIES 

A. Officers.  The Authority shall annually elect from its voting Members a Chair and Vice 
Chair.  The Authority may further elect such other subordinate officers from among its Members 
as it may from time to time deem appropriate.  The election of officers shall be conducted in 
accordance with the voting procedures set forth in Article IV, section K. 

 

B. Terms of Office.  Officers of the Authority shall be elected at the annual organizational 

meeting of the Authority, to serve for a term of one (1) year or until a successor is elected, unless 

sooner removed by the Authority or the person ceases to be a Member of the Authority.  All 

officers shall be eligible for reelection; provided, however, no officer may serve more than two 

(2) consecutive one (1) year terms.  Any officer who serves a partial term shall not be considered 

as serving a full term for purposes of this limitation.  Any vacancy occurring in an office will be 

filled for the unexpired term by the Authority at the next regular meeting (or at an earlier special 

meeting called for that purpose) following the occurrence of such vacancy. 

 

C. Nominating Committee.  At a regular meeting held preceding the annual organizational 

meeting at which the election of officers will be held, the Chair shall appoint a nominating 

committee, subject to the approval of the Authority.  At the annual organizational meeting, the 

nominating committee shall submit the name or names of one or more persons for the offices of 

Chair and Vice Chair and for the two (2) Finance Committee members appointed by the 

Authority.  Additional nominations may be made by any Member at the annual meeting. 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 104 of 266



3 

 

 

 

D. Chair.  The Chair shall preside over all meetings of the Authority at which he or she is 

present and shall vote and make motions as any other Member.  The Chair shall be responsible 

for the implementation of the actions taken, and policies established by the Authority, shall have 

all of the powers and duties customarily pertaining to the office of Chair, and shall perform such 

other duties as may from time to time be established by the Authority. 

 

E. Vice Chair.  In the event of the absence of the Chair, or the inability of the Chair to 

perform any of the duties of the office or to exercise any of the powers thereof, the Vice Chair 

shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are conferred on the Chair, and shall 

perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Vice Chair by the Chair or 

be established by the Authority. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

MEETINGS 

A. Annual Organizational Meeting.  The regular meeting for the month of July shall 
serve as the annual organizational meeting for the purpose of electing officers and transacting 
such other business as may come before the meeting. 
 

B. Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Authority shall be held on a periodic basis as 

determined by resolution of the Authority, but not less frequently than once per quarter, at a place 

to be determined by the Chair, or at such time and place as the Authority may determine.     

 

C. Special Meetings.  Special meetings shall be held when requested by two (2) or more 

Authority Members.  Such request shall be in writing, addressed to the Chair, and shall specify the 

matter(s) to be considered at the meeting.  Upon receipt of such request, the Chair shall 

immediately ensure the necessary coordination for a meeting site and time and cause notice to be 

provided to each Member of the Authority to attend the special meeting at the time and place 

specified.  Such notice shall specify the matter(s) to be considered at the meeting, and shall be sent 

by electronic (e.g., email) or telephonic means.  No matter not specified in the notice shall be 

considered at such special meeting unless all Members of the Authority are present. 

 

D. Adjourned Meetings.  Any regular or special meeting may be adjourned to a date and 

time certain. 

 

E. Public Notice.  All meetings of the Authority shall be preceded by public notice given in 

accordance with the provisions of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act, Section 2.2-3707, 

et seq. of the Virginia Code.  Notice of  all meetings shall be published on the Authority’s 

website and available in the offices of the Authority. 
 

F. Public Hearing.  Public hearings may be held at the direction of the Authority and shall, 

unless otherwise specified by the Authority or these Bylaws, be upon notice published on the 

Authority’s website and in a newspaper or newspapers having general circulation in the geographic 

area encompassed by the Authority, if required by applicable law.  
 

March 7, 2024 Page 105 of 266



4 

 

 

 

G. Open Meetings.  All Authority meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with 

the Virginia Freedom of Information Act (Virginia Code §2.2-3700 et seq.), provided that the 

Authority may meet in closed session for those purposes authorized by, and held in accordance 

with the requirements of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act. 

 

H. Quorum.  A majority of voting Members of the Authority, or their designees pursuant to 

Article II, section B, shall constitute a quorum.  Vacancies shall not be considered in the 

establishment of a quorum. 

 

I. Temporary Absence.  No action shall be voted upon by the Authority unless a quorum is 

present or achieved by members participating by electronic communication means; provided, 

however, that the temporary absence from the meeting room of Members (or designees attending 

pursuant to Article II, section B) required to constitute a quorum shall not be deemed to prevent 

presentations or deliberations regarding any matter that may be submitted to a vote.  The Chair or 

any other Member may note the absence of a quorum during presentations or deliberations, but a 

failure to note the absence of a quorum during that period shall not affect the requirement that a 

quorum exist when any vote is taken. 
 

J. Decisions of the Authority.  The Authority shall act in one of the following ways: 

 

1. Resolution – The Authority may act upon adoption of a resolution.  Resolutions 

shall be in writing and a copy of any proposed resolution shall be provided to all 

Members of the Authority before the resolution is proposed for adoption.  

 

2. Motion – The Authority may act on oral motion made by any voting Member of 

the Authority (or a designee attending pursuant to Article II, section B). 

 

K. Voting.  Votes shall be taken only upon motions made and seconded.  All voting shall be taken 

by voice or by roll call if requested by any voting Member (or any designee attending pursuant 

to Article II, section B).  

 

1. Votes – Votes of the chief elected officers of localities or their designees, appointed 

to the Authority shall be weighed, based upon the population of the locality, as 

follows:   

a. A vote cast by each member representing the Counties of Chesterfield and 

Henrico and the City of Richmond shall each constitute four (4) votes. 

b. A vote cast by the member representing the County of Hanover shall 

constitute three (3) votes. 

c. A vote cast by each member representing the Counties of Goochland, New 

Kent and Powhatan shall each constitute two (2) votes. 

d. A vote cast by each member representing the Town of Ashland and the 

County of Charles City shall each constitute one (1) vote. 

 

2. The Delegate, the Senator, and the member of the Commonwealth Transportation 

Board appointed to the Authority shall each receive one (1) vote. 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 106 of 266



5 

 

 

 

3. For the purposes of this section, each voting Member of the Authority refers to the 

Member or if a Member has a designee attending pursuant to Article II, section B, 

then that Member’s designee.  Each voting Member of the Authority shall be 

entitled to one (1) vote in all matters requiring action by the Authority and those 

votes shall be weighted as described in K.1.  Decisions of the Authority shall 

require an affirmative vote of those present and voting whose votes represent at 

least four-fifths of the population embraced by the Authority; however, no motion 

to fund a specific facility or service shall fail because of this population criterion if 

such facility or service is not located or to be located or provided or to be provided 

within the county or city whose chief elected officer’s or elected official’s, or its 

respective designee’s, sole negative vote caused the facility or service to fail to meet 

the population criterion.  The population of the counties and cities embraced by the 

Authority shall be the population as determined by the most recently preceding 

decennial census, except that on July 1 of the fifth year following such census, the 

population of each county and city shall be adjusted, based on population estimates 

made by the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service of the University of 

Virginia, and such adjusted population shall be utilized for the following years until 

the next decennial census.  

 

L. Commencement of Meetings.  At the times specified for the commencement of regular 

meetings, and at the hour specified for adjourned or special meetings, the Chair shall call the 

meeting to order, and shall ensure that the presence of Members (or their designees) or absence is 

noted.  A quorum shall be required for the commencement of any meeting. 

 

M. Agenda.  The Chair shall prepare an agenda for each meeting.  Any Member having 

matters to be considered by the Authority shall submit them to the Chair for inclusion on an 

appropriate agenda.  The agenda for an upcoming meeting shall be sent to the Members prior to 

the meeting date (for regular meetings, the Chair should endeavor to provide the agenda at least 

ten (10) days in advance). 

 

N. Minutes.  Minutes of the meetings of the Authority, except closed sessions, shall be kept 

and be a public record.  Copies of the minutes shall be provided to each Member prior to the 

meeting at which the minutes are to be presented for approval by the Authority. 

 

O. Closed Sessions.  If a closed session is required at a meeting, consistent with purposes 

permitted by Virginia law, the agenda shall specify a time or position on the agenda, generally 

after all public business has concluded, for such a closed session properly called and conducted in 

accordance with Virginia law.  When so requested, the Chair may permit a closed session at any 

other time prior to consideration of any agenda item provided that the purpose of the closed session 

and the procedure used to go into closed session are in accordance with Virginia law. 

 

P. Member participation and meetings conducted by electronic communication means. 

 

1. The Authority may authorize members to participate in a meeting by electronic 

communication means pursuant to policies adopted by the Authority in compliance 

with the Virginia Freedom of Information Act and other applicable laws.   

March 7, 2024 Page 107 of 266



6 

 

 

 

 

2. The Authority may meet by electronic communication means without a quorum 

physically assembled at one location when the Governor has declared a state of 

emergency and in compliance with applicable law, or when otherwise authorized 

by applicable law.  Meetings conducted by electronic communication means shall 

comply with the Virginia Freedom of Information Act, other applicable laws, and 

Authority policies.   
 

Q. Order in Conduct of Business. 

 

1. Persons Addressing the Authority.  Prior to public comment and public hearings, 

the Authority will provide guidelines for length of presentation by individuals and 

group representatives.  Persons speaking at a meeting or public hearing shall 

confine their remarks to the subject of the meeting or public hearing. Persons 

addressing the Authority may furnish the Chair and Members with a written copy 

of their remarks, at or before the meeting.  

 

2. Reorder by Chair.  At the discretion of the Chair, the conduct of business by the 

Authority may be reordered to allow earlier consideration of matters about which a 

substantial number of persons desire to address the Authority or for any other 

legitimate reason.   

 

3. Recognition.  Recognition shall be given only by the Chair.  No person shall address 

the Authority without first having been recognized. 

 

4. Questions.  Questions by Members (or their designees) shall be reserved insofar as 

possible for the end of a presentation to avoid interrupting the speaker, disrupting 

the time-keeping process, and duplicating ground the speaker may cover. 

 

5. Authority Discussion. – Discussion and debate by the Authority shall be conducted 

following the presentation of the item of business pending.  No Member (or 

designee) shall speak to the item until recognized by the Chair. 

 

R. Decorum. 

 

1. Authority Members.  Decorum of Members (and designees) shall be maintained in 

order to expedite disposition of the business before the Authority.  Questions and 

remarks shall be limited to those relevant to the pending business.  Members (and 

designees) shall address all remarks to the Chair. 

 

2. Others.  Decorum of persons other than Members shall be maintained by the Chair. 

Persons addressing the Authority shall first be recognized by the Chair and shall 

audibly state their name and address, and, if applicable, who they represent.  

Speakers shall limit their remarks to those relevant to the pending items and to 

answering questions.  They shall address the Authority as a whole unless answering 

a question of an individual Member (or designee).  Persons whose allotted time to 

March 7, 2024 Page 108 of 266



7 

 

 

 

speak has expired shall be advised by the Chair to conclude after which such 

person shall leave, unless he or she is asked to remain to answer questions 

from the Authority.  The Chair shall call the speaker to order if out-of-order remarks 

are made or other indecorous conduct occurs.  If such persists, the Chair shall rule 

the speaker out-of-order and direct the speaker to leave.  Groups or a person in the 

audience creating an atmosphere detrimental or disturbing to the conduct of the 

meeting will be asked to leave by the Chair. 

 

ARTICLE V 

COMMITTEES 

A. Open Meeting Requirement.  Authority appointed committees and subcommittees shall 
comply with the open meeting requirements of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act. 
 

B. Finance Committee. 

 

1. Charge.  This committee shall be responsible for advising the Authority on all 

financial matters and overseeing financial activities undertaken by the Authority, 

including: 

 

a. Reviewing, commenting on, and recommending the annual budget and 

adjustments to the budget, 

 

b. Reviewing annual revenue estimates, 

 

c. Recommending the Authority’s financial policies (e.g., bond, investment, 

procurement, risk management and small purchases) and making 

recommendations, 

 

d. Monitoring the Authority’s compliance with fiscal policies and procedures, 

 

e. Reviewing GRTC’s, or its successor’s, expenditure of funds received 

through the Authority on a quarterly basis, 

 

f. Reviewing each locality’s expenditure of funds received through the 

Authority on a quarterly basis, 

 

g. Reviewing financial statements, and 

 

h. Working with the Auditor of Public Accounts or its legally authorized 

representatives in performing the annual audit of financial accounts of the 

Authority. 

 

2. Membership.  The Committee shall consist of five (5) Members of the Authority; 

three (3) shall be from the jurisdictions with the highest populations and two (2) 

March 7, 2024 Page 109 of 266



8 

 

 

 

shall be appointed by the Authority. 

 

3. Chair.  The Chair and the Vice Chair of the Committee shall be elected by the 

Committee. 

 

4. Staff Support.  Staff support may be requested by the Committee Chair from CVTA 

personnel, jurisdictional or other agency staff. 

 

5. Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (3) of the Committee 

members.  Approval of recommendations shall require an affirmative vote of a 

majority of the Members present. 

 

C. Technical Advisory Committee. 

 

1. Charge.  This committee shall be responsible for advising the Authority on all 

planning, project and program prioritization, selection, and programming matters, 

including: 

 

a. Developing and recommending adjustments to the project and program 

eligibility, prioritization, and selection process for the regional allocations 

of funds received through the Authority, 

 

b. Reviewing recommended projects and programs for funding identified 

through the prioritization process, 

 

c. Reviewing, commenting on, and recommending GRTC’s, or its successor’s, 

annual plan for expenditure of regional public transportation funds received 

through the Authority, and 

 

d. Reviewing to confirm project and program eligibility and recommending 

each locality’s plan for expenditure of funds received through the Authority. 

 

2. Membership.  The Committee shall consist of fifteen (15) members.  Each of the 

nine (9) localities embraced by the Authority shall appoint one (1) technical 

representative employed by the locality to the Committee.  The Virginia 

Department of Rail and Public Transportation (VDRPT); the Virginia Department 

of Transportation (VDOT); the Greater Richmond Transit Company (GRTC); the 

Richmond Metropolitan Transportation Authority (RMTA), the Virginia Port 

Authority (VPA); and, the Richmond Regional Transportation Planning 

Organization (RRTPO) shall each appoint one (1) representative to serve as a 

nonvoting member of the Committee.  Each member locality, agency, and 

organization may appoint an alternate to the Committee. 

 

3. Chair.  The Chair and the Vice Chair of the Committee shall be elected by the 

Committee. 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 110 of 266



9 

 

 

 

4. Staff Support.  Staff support may be requested by the Committee Chair from CVTA 

personnel. 

 

5. Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of five (5) of the voting Committee 

members.  Approval of recommendations or actions shall require an affirmative 

vote of a majority of the Members present.  Either Committee members or 

alternates will be considered in determining meeting quorums and voting on actions 

of the Committee. 

 

6. The Committee shall meet as required in the performance of its duties. 

 

D. Additional Committees.  The Authority may, in its discretion, form such additional 

advisory committees as it may deem appropriate. 

 

E. Ad Hoc Committees.  As needed, the Chair of the Authority may appoint ad hoc 

committees to pursue specific tasks (e.g., nominating committee; personnel committee, transit 

committee).  In the absence of an appointed personnel committee, the Finance Committee shall be 

responsible for conducting the Executive Director’s annual review, reviewing employee 

compensation and recommending adjustments thereto. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

ADMINISTRATION 

A. Executive Director.  The Authority shall employ or contract with an Executive 
Director who shall have direct authority for the employment, retention and supervision of all 

other employees of the Authority.  The Executive Director shall have direct control, subject to 

the oversight and authority of the Authority, of the management of the day-to-day administrative 

affairs of the Authority.  The Executive Director shall propose activities to the Authority and shall 

carry out policies, programs and projects approved by the Authority, and shall be responsible for 

preparing and presenting the annual budget.  The Executive Director may not contemporaneously 

serve as a Member of the Authority. 

 

B. Staff.  The Authority may employ or contract for such staff of qualified professional and 

other persons as the Authority determines to be necessary to carry out its duties and 

responsibilities.  Staff of the Authority may not contemporaneously serve as a Member of 

Authority. 

 

C. Execution of Instruments.  The Executive Director, on specific authorization by the 

Authority, shall have the power to sign or countersign in its behalf any agreement or other 

instrument to be executed by the Authority including checks and vouchers in payment of 

obligations of the Authority. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

FINANCES 

March 7, 2024 Page 111 of 266



10 

 

 

 

A. Allocation of Funds.  The funds received through the Authority shall be allocated as 

follows: 35% shall be retained by the Authority to be used for transportation-related purposes 

benefitting the localities comprising Planning District 15; 15% shall be distributed to GRTC or its 

successor, to provide transit and mobility services in Planning District 15; and 50% shall be 

distributed, proportionally, to each locality located in Planning District 15 to be used to improve 

local mobility, which may include construction, maintenance, or expansion of roads, sidewalks, 

trails, mobility services, or transit located in the locality. 
 
B. Finances and Payments.  The monies of the Authority shall be deposited in a separate 
bank account or accounts in such banks or trust companies as the Authority designates, and all 
payments (with the exception of those from petty cash) shall be made in the most practicable 
manner as determined by the Authority.  Checks and drafts shall be signed and countersigned by 
the Chair (or, in the Chair's absence, the Vice Chair), and the Executive Director (or, in the 
Executive Director’s absence, those authorized from time-to-time by vote of the Authority or, 
where the Vice Chair is acting solely as a countersigning party, the Vice Chair). 

 

C. Audits.  The Commonwealth’s Auditor of Public Accounts, or his legally authorized 

representatives, shall annually audit the financial accounts of the Authority, and the cost of such 

audit shall be borne by the Authority.   
 

D. Budget and Fiscal Year.  After a duly convened public hearing held in accordance with 

the requirements of Virginia Code § 33.2-3706(A), the Authority shall adopt an annual budget for 

each fiscal year, which budget shall provide for all of the revenues and the operating, capital, and 

administrative expenses of the Authority for the fiscal year.  The fiscal year of the Authority will 

commence on July 1st each year and will terminate on the following June 30th.  The annual budget 

for a fiscal year shall, except in the case of the Authority’s first fiscal year, be adopted before such 

fiscal year begins.  The Executive Director is authorized to administer the administrative budget 

approved by the Authority and may, in the exercise of that authority, but subject to the advice and 

consent of the chair of the Finance Committee, implement adjustments to the amounts allocated to 

line items within the administrative budget, provided that, after giving effect to those adjustments, 

the aggregate amount of the administrative budget is equal to or less than the then applicable 

Authority-approved administrative budget. 

 

E. Per Diem Payments.  The Authority may pay its Members for their services to the 

Authority a per diem in either: (1) the amount provided in the general appropriations act for 

members of the General Assembly engaged in legislative business between sessions, or (2) a lesser 

amount determined by the Authority. 

 

F. Bond of Officers and Others.  The officers of the Authority and such employees as the 

Authority so designates, may, prior to taking office or starting contract or employment, 

respectively, be required by the Authority to give bond payable to the Authority conditioned upon 

the faithful discharge of that officer’s, contract employee’s, or employee's duties, in such amount 

as the Authority may require.  The premium for each such bond shall be paid by the Authority and 

the bond(s) shall be filed with the Authority. 

 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 112 of 266



11 

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VIII  

ADOPTION AND AMENDMENTS 

These Bylaws may be adopted upon presentation at the inaugural organizational meeting 

or any subsequent meeting of the Authority.  After initial adoption, any proposed amendment, 

repeal or alteration, in whole or in part, of these Bylaws shall be presented in writing and read for 

a first time at a regular meeting of the Authority.  Such proposal may be considered and amended 

at such meeting, but shall not be acted on by the Authority until a subsequent regular meeting or a 

special meeting called for the purpose.  At such subsequent meeting, such proposal shall be read a 

second time, shall be subject to further consideration and amendment germane to the section or 

sections affected by such proposal, and shall thereafter be acted on in accordance with the voting 

requirements of these Bylaws. 

 

ARTICLE IX  

PROCEDURES 

Parliamentary Procedure.  In all matters of parliamentary procedure not specifically 

governed by these Bylaws or otherwise required by law, the current edition of Robert's Rules of 

Order, newly revised, shall apply. 

 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 113 of 266



 

I-1692822.4 

THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS 

OF 

HAMPTON ROADS 

TRANSPORTATION ACCOUNTABILITY COMMISSION 

Approved:  July 16, 2020 

 

ARTICLE I 
 

POWERS AND DUTIES 

The Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission (the “Commission”) shall 
have all of the rights, powers and duties, and shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions, set 
forth in Chapter 26 of Title 33.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia 
Code”), as such may be amended from time to time (the “Act”). 

ARTICLE II 
 

MEMBERSHIP 

A. Commission Members.  The Commission consists of twenty-three (23) members 
(“Members” or “Member”) as follows: 

1. The chief elected officer of the governing body of each of the ten (10) cities 
embraced by the Commission. 

2. A current elected official of each of the four (4) counties embraced by the 
Commission, provided that such official (a) serves on the governing body of the 
county and (b) has been appointed by resolution of such governing body to serve 
as the county’s member on the Commission. 

3. Three members of the House of Delegates who reside in different counties or cities 
embraced by the Commission.  The House members shall be appointed to the 
Commission by the Speaker of the House. 

4. Two members of the Senate who reside in different counties or cities embraced by 
the Commission.  The Senate members shall be appointed to the Commission by 
the Senate Committee on Rules. 

5. A member of the Commonwealth Transportation Board who resides in a locality 
embraced by the Commission and appointed by the Governor, who shall serve as a 
nonvoting ex officio member of the Commission. 

March 7, 2024 Page 114 of 266



 

 2 
I-1692822.4 

6. The Director of the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation, or his 
or her designee, who shall serve as a nonvoting ex officio member of the 
Commission. 

7. The Commonwealth Transportation Commissioner of Highways, or his or her 
designee, who shall be a nonvoting ex officio member of the Commission. 

8. The Executive Director of the Virginia Port Authority, or his or her designee, who 
shall serve as a nonvoting ex officio member of the Commission. 

B. Designees.  If a Member of the Commission described in Article II, section A, subsection 
(1) or (2) is unable to attend a meeting of the Commission, the Member may designate another 
current elected official of such governing body to attend the meeting of the Commission.  Such 
designation shall be for the purposes of the one meeting that the Member will be unable to attend 
and shall be submitted in writing or electronically to the Chair of the Commission at least forty-
eight (48) hours prior to the affected meeting. 

ARTICLE III 
 

OFFICERS AND DUTIES  

A. Officers.  The Commission shall annually elect from its voting Members a Chair and a 
Vice-Chair.  The Commission may further elect such other subordinate officers from among its 
Members as it may from time to time deem appropriate.  The election of officers shall be conducted 
in accordance with the voting procedures set forth in Article IV, section K. 

B. Terms of Office.  Officers of the Commission shall be elected at the annual organizational 
meeting of the Commission, to serve for a term of one (1) year or until a successor is elected, 
unless sooner removed by the Commission or the person ceases to be a Member of the 
Commission.  All officers shall be eligible for reelection; provided, however, no officer may serve 
more than two (2) consecutive one (1) year terms in succession.  Any officer who serves a partial 
term shall not be considered as serving a full term for purposes of this limitation.  Any vacancy 
occurring in an office will be filled for the unexpired term by the Commission at the next regular 
meeting (or at an earlier special meeting called for that purpose) following the occurrence of such 
vacancy. 

C. Appointment. At a regular meeting held preceding the annual organizational meeting at 
which the election of officers will be held, the Chair shall appoint a nominating committee.  At the 
annual organizational meeting, the nominating committee shall submit the name or names of one 
or more persons for each office to be filled.  Further nominations may be made by any Member at 
the annual meeting. 

D. Chair.  The Chair shall preside over all meetings of the Commission at which he or she is 
present, and shall vote as any other Member.  The Chair shall be responsible for the implementation 
of the actions taken and policies established by the Commission, shall have all of the powers and 
duties customarily pertaining to the office of Chair, and shall perform such other duties as may 
from time to time be established by the Commission. 

March 7, 2024 Page 115 of 266



 

 3 
I-1692822.4 

E. Vice Chair.  In the event of the absence of the Chair, or the inability of the Chair to perform 
any of the duties of the office or to exercise any of the powers thereof, the Vice Chair shall perform 
such duties and possess such powers as are conferred on the Chair, and shall perform such other 
duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Vice Chair by the Chair or be established by 
the Commission. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

MEETINGS 

A. Annual Organizational Meeting.  The annual organizational meeting of the Commission 
shall be held by the Commission in the month of June for the purpose of electing officers and 
transacting such other business as may come before the meeting. 

B. Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Commission shall be held on a periodic 
basis as determined by resolution of the Commission, but not less frequently than once per 
quarter, on the third Thursday of the scheduled month at a place to be determined by the Chair, 
or at such time and place as the Commission may determine.  If no meeting is held in January, 
February or March of a year, then, for purposes of the quarterly meeting requirement in the 
preceding sentence, a meeting held in April of that year shall be deemed held during the first 
quarter.  The regular meeting for the month of June shall serve as the annual organizational 
meeting. 

C. Special Meetings.  Special meetings may be called by the Chair, in his or her discretion, 
or by request in writing of at least seven voting Members.  Any request in writing by seven or 
more voting Members shall be addressed to the Chair and shall specify the time and place of 
meeting and the matters to be considered at the meeting, which time shall not be earlier than the 
third business day after the day that the Chair receives the request.  If the Chair elects to call a 
special meeting or receives a request in writing from the requisite number of Members, the Chair 
shall take appropriate action to coordinate the meeting site and time and shall cause notice to be 
provided to each Member of the Commission to attend the special meeting at the applicable time 
and place.  Such notice shall specify the matters to be considered at the meeting, and shall be sent 
by electronic (e.g. email) or telephonic means at least forty-eight [48] hours (twenty-four [24] 
hours if the meeting is called by the Chair in exigent circumstances) in advance of the date of the 
meeting.  Formal notice to any person is not required provided all Members are present or those 
not present have waived notice in writing, filed with the records of the meeting, either before or 
after the meeting. 

D. Adjourned Meetings.  Any regular or special meeting may be adjourned to a date and 
time certain. 

E. Public Notice.  All meetings of the Commission shall be preceded by public notice given 
in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.2-3707 of the Virginia Code.  Notice of all meetings 
shall be published on the Commission’s website and available in the offices of the Commission.  

F. Public Hearing.  Public hearings may be held at the direction of the Commission and shall, 
unless otherwise specified by the Commission or these Bylaws, be upon notice published on the 

March 7, 2024 Page 116 of 266



 

 4 
I-1692822.4 

Commission’s website and in a newspaper or newspapers having general circulation in the 
geographic area encompassed by the Commission. 

G. Open Meetings.  All Commission meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with 
the Virginia Freedom of Information Act (Virginia Code §2.2-3700 et seq.), provided that the 
Commission may meet in closed session for those purposes authorized by, and held in accordance 
with the requirements of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act, to include requirements for 
public notice. 

H. Quorum.  A majority of the Commission (both voting and nonvoting), which shall include 
at least a majority of the total of chief elected officers and elected officials who represent the 
counties and cities embraced by the Commission, or their designees pursuant to Article II, section 
B, shall constitute a quorum. 

I. Temporary Absence.  No action shall be voted upon by the Commission unless a quorum 
is present; provided, however, that the temporary absence from the meeting room of Members (or 
designees attending pursuant to Article II, section B) required to constitute a quorum shall not be 
deemed to prevent presentations or deliberations regarding any matter that may be submitted to a 
vote.  The Chair or any other Member may note the absence of a quorum during presentations or 
deliberations, but a failure to note the absence of a quorum during that period shall not affect the 
requirement that a quorum exist when any vote is taken. 

J. Decisions of the Commission.  The Commission shall act in one of the following ways: 

1. Resolution – The Commission may act upon adoption of a resolution.  Resolutions 
shall be in writing and a copy of any proposed resolution shall be provided to all 
Members of the Commission before the resolution is proposed for adoption.  To the 
extent possible, such copy shall be provided twenty-four (24) hours in advance. 

2. Motion – The Commission may act on oral motion made by a voting Member of 
the Commission (or a designee attending pursuant to Article II, section B). 

K. Voting. 

1. Votes – Votes shall be taken only upon motions made and seconded. Each voting 
Member of the Commission (or if a Member has a designee attending pursuant to 
Article II, section B, then that Member’s designee) shall be entitled to one (1) vote 
in all matters requiring action by the Commission, except the disbursement of funds 
pursuant to Section 33.2-2600.1 of the Virginia Code. Decisions of the 
Commission, except those regarding the disbursement of funds pursuant to Section 
33.2-2600.1 of the Virginia Code, shall require the affirmative vote of two-thirds of 
the voting Members, or their designees attending pursuant to Article II, section B, 
present and voting, and two-thirds of the total of chief elected officers and elected 
officials who represent the counties and cities embraced by Planning District 23, or 
their designees pursuant to Article II, section B, who are present and voting and 
whose counties and cities include at least two-thirds of the population embraced by 
the Commission. However, no vote to fund a specific facility or service shall fail 
because of the aforesaid population criterion if such facility or service is not located 

March 7, 2024 Page 117 of 266



 

 5 
I-1692822.4 

or to be located, or provided or to be provided, within the county or city whose 
representative (or its respective designee attending pursuant to Article II, section B) 
cast the sole negative vote that caused the facility or service to fail to meet the 
population criterion. For purposes of the foregoing, the population of the counties 
and cities embraced by the Commission shall be determined in accordance with the 
Act.  Decisions of the Commission regarding the disbursement of funds pursuant 
to Section 33.2-2600.1 of the Virginia Code shall require the affirmative vote of 
two-thirds of the Members of the Commission subject to the taxes imposed 
pursuant to Section 58.1-802.4 of the Virginia Code and Section 58.1-1743 of the 
Virginia Code, and the Commission shall not establish provisions that require the 
affirmative vote of any Members of the Commission not subject to such taxes for 
the disbursement of funds pursuant to Section 33.2-2600.1 of the Virginia Code. 

2. Methods of Voting – All voting shall be taken by voice or by roll call if requested 
by any voting Member (or any designee attending pursuant to Article II, section B). 

3. Restating the Question – The Chair shall restate the question prior to the taking of 
a vote, provided, however, that at the request of the Chair, a Member (or a designee 
attending pursuant to Article II, section B) may restate the question if it is the 
opinion of the Chair that such procedure will expedite the decision of the question. 

4. Reconsideration – Action on a resolution or motion that has been approved may be 
reconsidered only upon motion of a Member (or a designee attending pursuant to 
Article II, section B) voting with the prevailing side on the original vote, which 
motion must be made at the same regular meeting.  A motion to reconsider may be 
seconded by any Member (or a designee attending pursuant to Article II, section 
B).  Any resolution or motion that failed as a result of a tie vote may be reconsidered 
upon motion by any Member (or a designee attending pursuant to Article II, section 
B) who voted against it, which motion must be made at the same meeting or the 
next regularly scheduled meeting. 

L. Commencement of Meetings.  At the times specified for the commencement of regular 
meetings, and at the hour specified for adjourned or special meetings, the Chair shall call the 
meeting to order, and shall ensure that the presence of Members (or their designees) or absence is 
noted.  A quorum shall be required for the commencement of any meeting. 

M. Agenda.  The Chair shall prepare an agenda for each meeting. Any Member having matters 
to be considered by the Commission shall submit them to the Chair for inclusion on an appropriate 
agenda.  The agenda for an upcoming meeting shall be sent to the Members prior to the meeting 
date (for regular meetings, the Chair should endeavor to provide the agenda at least seven (7) days 
in advance). 

N. Minutes. Minutes of the meetings of the Commission, except closed sessions, shall be kept 
and be a public record.  Copies of the minutes shall be provided to each Member prior to the 
meeting at which the minutes are to be presented for approval by the Commission. 

March 7, 2024 Page 118 of 266



 

 6 
I-1692822.4 

O. Closed Sessions.  If a closed session is required at a meeting, consistent with purposes 
permitted by Virginia law, the agenda shall specify a time or position on the agenda, generally 
after all public business has concluded, for such a closed session properly called and conducted in 
accordance with Virginia law.  When so requested, the Chair may permit a closed session at any 
other time prior to consideration of any agenda item provided that the purpose of the closed session 
and the procedure used to go into closed session are in accordance with Virginia law. 

P. Order in Conduct of Business. 

1. Persons Addressing the Commission – Prior to public comment and public 
hearings, the Commission will provide guidelines for length of presentation by 
individuals and group representatives.  Persons speaking at a meeting or public 
hearing shall confine their remarks to the subject of the meeting or public hearing.  
At the discretion of the Chair, the conduct of business by the Commission may be 
reordered to allow earlier consideration of matters about which a substantial 
number of persons desire to address the Commission.  Persons addressing the 
Commission may furnish the Chair and Members with a written copy of their 
remarks, at or before the meeting. 

2. Recognition – Recognition shall be given only by the Chair.  No person shall 
address the Commission without first having been recognized. 

3. Questions – Questions by Members (or their designees) shall be reserved insofar as 
possible for the end of a presentation to avoid interrupting the speaker, disrupting 
the time-keeping process, and duplicating ground the speaker may cover. 

4. Commission Discussion – Discussion and debate by the Commission shall be 
conducted following the presentation of the item of business pending.  No Member 
(or designee) shall speak to the item until recognized by the Chair. 

Q. Decorum. 

1. Commission Members – Decorum of Members (and designees) shall be maintained 
in order to expedite disposition of the business before the Commission.  Questions 
and remarks shall be limited to those relevant to the pending business.  Members 
(and designees) shall address all remarks to the Chair. 

2. Others – Decorum of persons other than Members shall be maintained by the Chair, 
who may request such assistance as may appear necessary.  Persons addressing the 
Commission shall first be recognized by the Chair and shall audibly state their name 
and address, and, if applicable, who they represent.  Speakers shall limit their 
remarks to those relevant to the pending items and to answering questions.  They 
shall address the Commission as a whole unless answering a question of an 
individual Member (or designee). Persons whose allotted time to speak has expired 
shall be warned by the Chair to conclude after which such person shall leave, unless 
he or she is asked to remain to answer questions from the Commission.  The Chair 
shall call the speaker to order if out-of-order remarks are made or other indecorous 
conduct occurs.  If such persists, the Chair shall rule the speaker out-of-order and 

March 7, 2024 Page 119 of 266



 

 7 
I-1692822.4 

direct the speaker to leave.  Groups or a person in the audience creating an 
atmosphere detrimental or disturbing to the conduct of the meeting will be asked to 
leave by the Chair. 

ARTICLE V 
 

COMMITTEES 

A. Open Meeting Requirement.  Commission appointed committees and subcommittees 
shall comply with the open meeting requirements of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act.  

B. Finance Committee. 

1. Charge.  This committee shall be responsible for advising the Commission on all 
financial matters and overseeing financial activities undertaken by the Commission, 
including: 

a. Reviewing, commenting on, and recommending the annual budget and 
adjustments to the budget, 

b. Recommending the Commission’s financial policies (e.g., bond, 
investment, procurement, risk management, debit and credit card, direct 
debit, and small purchases) and making recommendations,  

c. Monitoring the Commission’s compliance with policies and procedures, 

d. Reviewing financial statements, and 

e. Working with the Auditor of Public Accounts in performing the annual 
audit. 

2. Membership.  The Committee shall consist of five (5) Members of the Commission 
appointed by the Chair for staggered two year terms. 

3. Chair.  The chair and the vice chair of the Committee shall be appointed by the 
Chair of the Commission. 

4. Staff Support.  Staff support may be requested by the committee chair from HRTAC 
personnel or VDOT, HRTPO, jurisdictional or other agency staff. 

5. Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (3) of the committee 
members.  Approval of recommendations shall require an affirmative vote of a 
majority of the members present. 

March 7, 2024 Page 120 of 266



 

 8 
I-1692822.4 

C. Funding Strategies Advisory Committee. 

1. Charge.  This committee of individuals shall be responsible for recommending 
funding strategies to build a program of projects identified by the HRTPO and the 
Commission. 

2. Membership.  The Committee shall consist of nine (9) individuals.  The Chair shall 
appoint six (6) members who reside or are employed in counties and cities 
embraced by the Commission and who have experience in transportation planning, 
finance, engineering, construction, or management.  Initially, half the members 
appointed by the Chair will serve a one year term.  The other half will serve two 
year terms.  Subsequently, members will serve three year terms.  The Chair of the 
Commonwealth Transportation Board will appoint three (3) members of the 
funding strategies advisory committee and each of them will serve a three year 
term.  Committee members appointed by the Chair may be removed by the Chair if 
the member fails to attend three consecutive meetings or no longer resides or is 
employed in a jurisdiction embraced by the Commission, or if the Chair receives a 
request for removal from the chief elected officer of the jurisdiction embraced by 
the Commission in which the member resides or is employed.  Except for an 
employee who is also a Member of the Commission, no employee of any county or 
city embraced by the Commission shall be eligible to serve on this Committee. 

3. Chair.  The chair and the vice chair of the Committee shall be appointed by the 
Chair of the Commission. 

4. Staff Support.  Staff support may be requested by the committee chair from HRTAC 
personnel or VDOT, HRTPO, jurisdictional or other agency staff. 

5. Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (5) of the committee 
members.  Approval of recommendations or actions shall require an affirmative 
vote of a majority of the members present, which shall include at least three of the 
members appointed by the Chair. 

D. Regional Transit Committee. 

1. Charge – This committee of individuals shall be responsible for advising the 
Commission on all matters regarding the management and disbursement of funds 
from the Regional Transit Fund. 

2. Membership – The Committee shall consist of the Members of the Commission, 
subject to the taxes imposed pursuant to Section 58.1-802.4 of the Virginia Code 
and Section 58.1-1743 of the Virginia Code. 

3. Chair – The chair and vice chair of the Committee shall by appointed by the Chair 
of the Commission. 

March 7, 2024 Page 121 of 266



 

 9 
I-1692822.4 

4. Staff Support – Staff support may be requested by the committee chair from 
HRTAC personnel or Hampton Roads Transit, VDOT, DRPT, HRTPO, 
jurisdictional or other agency staff. 

5. Quorum and Voting – A quorum shall consist of a majority of the committee 
members.  Approval of recommendations shall require an affirmative vote of a 
majority of the members present. 

F. Additional Committees.  The Commission may, in its discretion, form such additional 
advisory committees as it may deem appropriate. 

G. Ad Hoc Committees.  As needed, the Chair of the Commission may appoint ad hoc 
committees to pursue specific tasks (e.g., nominating committee; personnel committee).  In the 
absence of an appointed personnel committee, the Finance Committee shall be responsible for 
conducting the Executive Director’s annual review, reviewing employee compensation and 
recommending adjustments thereto. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

ADMINISTRATION 

A. Executive Director.  The Commission shall employ or contract with an Executive Director 
who shall have direct authority for the employment, retention, and supervision of all of the other 
employees of the Commission.  The Executive Director shall have direct control, subject to the 
oversight and authority of the Commission, of the management of the day-to-day administrative 
affairs of the Commission.  The Executive Director shall propose activities to the Commission and 
shall carry out policies, programs and projects approved by the Commission, and shall be 
responsible for preparing and presenting the annual budget.  The Executive Director may not 
contemporaneously serve as a member of the Commission. 

B. Staff.  The Commission may employ or contract for such staff of qualified professional 
and other persons as the Commission determines to be necessary to carry out its duties and 
responsibilities.  Staff of the Commission may not contemporaneously serve as a member of the 
Commission. 

C. Execution of Instruments.  The Executive Director, on specific authorization by the 
Commission, shall have the power to sign or countersign in its behalf any agreement or other 
instrument to be executed by the Commission including checks and vouchers in payment of 
obligations of the Commission. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

FINANCES 

A. Finances and Payments.  The monies of the Commission shall be deposited in a separate 
bank account or accounts in such banks or trust companies as the Commission designates, and all 
payments (with the exception of those from petty cash) shall be made in the most practicable 
manner as determined by the Commission.  Checks and drafts shall be signed and countersigned 

March 7, 2024 Page 122 of 266



 

 10 
I-1692822.4 

by the Chair (or, in the Chair's absence, the Vice Chair), and the Executive Director (or, in the 
Executive Director’s absence, those authorized from time to time by vote of the Commission or, 
where the Vice Chair is acting solely as a countersigning party, the Vice Chair). 

B. Audits.  At least once each year, the Commission shall work with the Auditor of Public 
Accounts (APA) to have an audit to be made by an independent certified public accountant or by 
APA of all funds of the Commission. 

C. Budget and Fiscal Year.  After a duly convened public hearing held in accordance with 
the requirements of Virginia Code § 33.2-2605, the Commission shall adopt an annual budget for 
each fiscal year which budget shall provide for all of the revenues and the operating, capital, and 
administrative expenses of the Commission for the fiscal year.  The fiscal year of the Commission 
will commence on July 1st each year and will terminate on the following June 30th.  The annual 
budget for a fiscal year shall, except in the case of the Commission’s first fiscal year, be adopted 
before such fiscal year begins.  The Executive Director is authorized to administer the 
administrative budget approved by the Commission and may in the exercise of that authority, but 
subject to the advice and consent of the chair of the Finance Committee, implement adjustments 
to the amounts allocated to line items within the administrative budget, provided that, after giving 
effect to those adjustments, the aggregate amount of the administrative budget is equal to or less 
than the then applicable Commission-approved administrative budget. 

D. Per Diem Payments.  The Commission may pay its Members for their services to the 
Commission a per diem in either:  (1) the amount provided in the general appropriations act for 
members of the General Assembly engaged in legislative business between sessions, or (2) a lesser 
amount determined by the Commission. 

E. Bond of Officers and Others.  The officers of the Commission and such employees as the 
Commission so designates, may, prior to taking office or starting contract or employment, 
respectively, be required by the Commission to give bond payable to the Commission conditioned 
upon the faithful discharge of that officer, contract employee or employee's duties, in such amount 
as the Commission may require.  The premium for each such bond shall be paid by the Commission 
and the bond(s) shall be filed with the Commission. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

AMENDMENTS 

Any proposed amendment, repeal or alteration, in whole or in part, of these Bylaws shall 
be presented in writing and read for a first time at a regular meeting of the Commission.  Such 
proposal may be considered and amended at such meeting, but shall not be acted on by the 
Commission until a subsequent regular meeting or a special meeting called for the purpose.  At 
such subsequent meeting, such proposal shall be read a second time, shall be subject to further 
consideration and amendment germane to the section or sections affected by such proposal, and 
shall thereafter be acted on in accordance with the voting requirements of these Bylaws. 

March 7, 2024 Page 123 of 266



 

 11 
I-1692822.4 

ARTICLE IX 
 

PROCEDURES 

Parliamentary Procedure.  In all matters of parliamentary procedure not specifically 
governed by these Bylaws or otherwise required by law, the current edition of Robert's Rules of 
Order, newly revised, shall apply. 

March 7, 2024 Page 124 of 266



1 
 

BYLAWS 

 

OF 

 

NORTHERN VIRGINIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

POWERS AND DUTIES 

 

The Northern Virginia Transportation Authority, (the “Authority or NVTA”) shall 

have all of the rights, powers and duties, and shall be subject to the limitations and 

restrictions, set forth in Chapter 25 of Title 33.2 of the Code of Virginia, the Northern 

Virginia Transportation Authority Act, §§ 3.2-2500 et seq. Va. Code Ann., as such may 

be amended from time to time. 

 

 

ARTICLE II 

 

MEMBERSHIP 

 

A. Jurisdictions Embraced by Authority.  The Authority shall embrace the counties of 

Arlington, Fairfax, Loudoun, and Prince William, and the cities of Alexandria, 

Fairfax, Falls Church, Manassas, and Manassas Park. 

 

B. Authority Members. The Authority shall consist of seventeen (17) members as 

follows: 

  

(1) The chief elected officer of the governing body of each of the counties and cities 

embraced by the Authority.  The chief elected officer may, in his or her 

discretion, appoint a designee upon written notice signed by the chief elected 

officer provided to the Chairman, which designee shall be a current elected officer 

of the same governing body as the chief elected officer, to serve as a member of 

the Authority in the place and stead of the chief elected officer and who shall 

serve until the designee resigns as the designee or ceases to be an elected officer 

of the governing body, the chief elected officer making the appointment leaves 

office, the chief elected officer replaces the designee, or the duration of the 

designation expires.   

The chief elected officer may, in his or her discretion, appoint one secondary 

designee in accordance with procedures established by the Authority.   

Two members of the House of Delegates who reside in different counties or cities 

embraced by the Authority.  The House members shall be appointed to the 

Authority by the Speaker of the House and shall be, to the extent practicable, from 

March 7, 2024 Page 125 of 266



2 

 

the membership of the House Committee on Appropriations, the House 

Committee on Finance, or the House Committee on Transportation. 

 

(2) One member of the Senate who resides in a county or city embraced by the 

Authority.  The Senate member shall be appointed by the Senate Committee on 

Rules and shall be, to the extent practicable, from the membership of the Senate 

Committee on Finance and the Senate Committee on Transportation. 

 

(3) Two citizens appointed by the Governor.  One of the citizens shall be a member 

of the Commonwealth Transportation Board who resides in a county or city 

embraced by the Authority.  The other citizen appointed by the Governor shall be 

a person who has significant experience in transportation planning, finance, 

engineering, construction, or management who resides in a county or city 

embraced by the Authority but who is not a resident of the same county or city as 

the other citizen appointed by the Governor to the Authority.  The gubernatorial 

appointee who is not a member of the Commonwealth Transportation Board shall 

serve for a term of four years. 

 

(4) The Director of the Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation, or his 

or her designee, shall be a non-voting member of the Authority. 

 

(5) The Commonwealth Commissioner of Highways, or his or her designee, shall be 

a non-voting member of the Authority. 

 

(6) The chief elected officer of one town in a county which the Authority embraces to 

be chosen by the Authority shall be a non-voting member of the Authority.  The 

Town member shall be selected at the annual meeting and shall be rotated on an 

annual basis. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE III 

 

OFFICERS AND DUTIES 

 

A. Officers. The Authority shall annually elect from its voting members a Chairman and 

a Vice Chairman.  The Authority may further elect such other subordinate officers 

from among its voting members as it may from time to time deem appropriate.  The 

election of officers shall be conducted in accordance with the voting procedures set 

forth in Article IV, section L. 

 

B. Terms of Office. Officers of the Authority shall be elected at the annual 

organizational meeting of the Authority to serve for a term of one (1) year, unless 

sooner removed by the Authority, the officer ceases to be a member of the Authority, 

or until a successor is elected. All officers shall be eligible for re-election. Any 

March 7, 2024 Page 126 of 266



3 

 

vacancy occurring in an office will be filled for the unexpired term by the Authority 

at the next regular meeting following the occurrence of such vacancy. 

 

C. Nominating Committee. At a regular meeting held preceding the annual 

organizational meeting at which the election of officers will be held, the Chairman 

shall appoint a nominating committee. At the annual organizational meeting, the 

nominating committee shall submit the name or names of one or more persons for 

each office to be filled. Further nominations may be made by any voting member at 

the annual meeting. 

 

D. Chairman. The Chairman shall preside over all meetings of the Authority at which 

he or she is present, and shall vote as any other member. The Chairman shall be 

responsible for the implementation of the actions taken and policies established by the 

Authority, shall have all of the powers and duties customarily pertaining to the office 

of Chairman, including the appointment of committee chairs, and shall perform such 

other duties as may from time to time be established by the Authority. 

 

E. Vice Chairman. In the event of the absence of the Chairman, or the inability of the 

Chairman to perform any of the duties of the office or to exercise any of the powers 

thereof, the Vice Chairman shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are 

conferred on the Chairman, and shall perform such other duties as may from time to 

time be assigned to the Vice Chairman by the Chairman or be established by the 

Authority. 

 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 

MEETINGS 

 

A. Annual Organizational Meeting. The Authority hereby establishes as it annual 

organizational meeting the first meeting held by the Authority in the month of 

January. 

 

B. Public Notice.  All meetings of the NVTA, other than special meetings, shall be 

preceded by public notice of at least three (3) business days.  Public notice shall 

include, as a minimum, providing the date, time and place, as well as the agenda, for 

all meetings on the NVTA website and available in the office of the Chief Executive 

Officer.   

 

C. Regular Meetings. At its annual organizational meeting, the Authority shall adopt a 

schedule of times, dates, and places of its regular meetings for the relevant calendar 

year, and shall assess the need for adoption of, or revisions to, meeting procedure 

rules for the Authority.     

 

D. Changing Meetings. The Authority may change the date, time, or place of any 

regular meeting to another, when such change is deemed necessary by the Authority, 

March 7, 2024 Page 127 of 266



4 

 

or it may establish additional regular meetings in any month. The Authority may 

eliminate any regular meetings shown on its annual schedule of meeting dates in the 

event that it determines that it can successfully complete its work in fewer meetings.   

 

E. Special Meetings. Special meetings shall be held when requested by two or more 

Authority members. Such request shall be in writing, addressed to the Chairman, and 

shall specify the matter(s) to be considered at the meeting. Upon receipt of such 

request, the Chairman shall immediately ensure the necessary coordination for a 

meeting site and time and cause notice to be provided to each member of the 

Authority to attend the special meeting at the time and place specified.  Such notice 

shall specify the matter(s) to be considered at the meeting, and shall be sent by 

electronic (e.g., email) or telephonic means.  No matter not specified in the notice 

shall be considered at such meeting unless all of the members of the Authority are 

present.  

 

F. Adjourned Meetings. Any regular or special meeting may be adjourned to a date and 

time certain. 

 

G. Public Hearing. Public hearings may be held at the direction of the Authority and 

shall, unless otherwise required by law or specified by the Authority or these Bylaws, 

be upon notice provided on the NVTA website and in a newspaper or newspapers 

having general circulation in the geographic area encompassed by the Authority. 

 

H. Open Meetings. All Authority meetings shall be open to the public in accordance 

with The Virginia Freedom of Information Act (§§ 2.2-3700 et seq. Va. Code Ann.), 

provided that the Authority may meet in closed session for those purposes authorized 

by, and held in accordance with, the requirements of The Virginia Freedom of 

Information Act, to include requirements for public notice.  

 

I. Quorum. A majority of the Authority, which majority shall include at least a 

majority of the representatives of the counties and cities embraced by the Authority 

and a majority of the members of the Authority, shall constitute a quorum.  The three 

nonvoting members of the Authority shall be included for purposes of constituting a 

quorum.  In the event the Authority adopts a written policy permitting a member to 

participate in meetings through electronic means in accordance with § 2.2-3708.1 Va. 

Code Ann., members may be allowed to participate in meetings through electronic 

means from remote locations in accordance with the Authority’s policy and all 

applicable laws. 

 

J. Temporary Absence. No decision shall be made by the Authority unless a quorum is 

present; provided, however, that the temporary absence from the meeting room of 

members sufficient to constitute a quorum shall not be deemed to prevent the hearing 

of presentations or the discussion of matters submitted to the Authority. The 

Chairman or any other Authority member may suggest the absence of a quorum prior 

to the taking of any action by the Authority, but a failure to suggest the absence of a 

March 7, 2024 Page 128 of 266



5 

 

quorum shall not be deemed to alter the effect of this rule requiring a quorum as a 

prerequisite to any decision.   

 

K. Decisions of the Authority. The Authority shall act in one of the following ways: 

 

(1) Resolution - The Authority may act upon adoption of a resolution.  

 

(2) Motion - The Authority may act on an oral motion made by a voting member of 

the Authority. 

 

L. Voting. 

 

(1) Votes - Votes shall be taken only upon motions made and seconded. Each 

member of the Authority, with the exception of the Director of the Virginia 

Department of Rail and Public Transportation, or his designee, the 

Commonwealth Commissioner of Highways, or his designee, and the town 

representative, shall be entitled to one (1) vote in all matters requiring action by 

the Authority. Decisions of the Authority shall require the affirmative vote of 

two-thirds of the Authority members present and voting, and two-thirds of the 

representatives of the counties and cities embraced by the Authority who are 

present and voting and whose counties and cities include at least two-thirds of the 

population embraced by the Authority. However, no vote to fund a specific 

facility or service shall fail because of the aforesaid population criterion if such 

facility or service is not located or to be located, or provided or to be provided 

within the county or city whose representative's sole negative vote caused the 

facility or service to fail to meet the population criterion.  For purposes of the 

foregoing, the population of the counties and cities embraced by the Authority 

shall be determined in accordance with Article VIII, section D of these Bylaws.  

 

(2) Methods of Voting - All voting shall be taken by voice or by roll call if requested 

by any voting member of the Authority.  

 

(3) Restating the Question - The Chairman, as needed, may restate the question prior 

to the taking of a vote, provided, however, that at the request of the Chairman, an 

Authority member may restate the question if it is the opinion of the Chairman 

that such procedure will expedite the decision of the question. 

 

(4) Reconsideration - Action on a resolution or motion may be reconsidered only 

upon motion of a member voting with the prevailing side on the original vote, 

which motion must be made at the same or immediately subsequent regular 

meeting. A motion to reconsider may be seconded by any voting member. Any 

such matter defeated by a tie vote may be reconsidered upon motion by any 

Authority member having voted to defeat the matter at the same or the next 

regularly scheduled meeting. 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 129 of 266



6 

 

M. Commencement of Meetings.  At the times specified for the commencement of 

regular meetings, and at the hour specified for adjourned or special meetings, the 

Chairman shall call the meeting to order, and shall ensure that the presence or 

absence of Authority members is noted. A quorum shall be required for the 

commencement of any meeting.  In the absence of a quorum, the Authority members 

present may receive informational presentations and discuss Authority business; 

however, no action may be taken. 

 

N. Agenda.  The Chairman shall cause to have prepared an agenda for each meeting. 

Any member having matters to be considered by the Authority shall submit them to 

the Chairman for inclusion on an appropriate agenda. The agenda for an upcoming 

meeting and related materials prepared by the Chief Executive Officer and staff with 

any recommendations, to the extent available, shall be sent to the Authority members 

at least one (1) week prior to the meeting date.  Members that wish to propose an 

alternative to a staff recommendation should whenever possible, give three (3) 

business days written notice to the Chairman of such prior to the meeting and provide 

the details of such alternative.  This requirement shall not limit the Authority’s ability 

to act in the manner it deems appropriate after consideration of a matter at the 

Authority’s meeting. 

 

O. Minutes.  Minutes of the meetings of the Authority shall be kept, which minutes shall 

be a public record, except closed sessions. Copies of the minutes shall be provided to 

each member of the Authority prior to the meeting at which the minutes are to be 

presented for approval by the Authority.  

 

P. Closed Sessions.  If a closed session is required at a meeting, consistent with the 

purposes permitted by § 2.2-3711 Va. Code Ann., the agenda shall specify a time or 

position on the agenda, generally after all public business has concluded, for such a 

closed session properly called and conducted in accordance with the Virginia 

Freedom of Information Act § 2.2-3712 Va. Code Ann. When so requested, the 

Chairman may permit a closed session at any other time prior to consideration of any 

agenda item. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE V 

 

COMMITTEES 

 

A. Open Meeting Requirement.  Consistent with § 2.2-3701 and § 2.2-3707 Va. Code 

Ann., all Authority-appointed committees and subcommittees of the Authority shall 

comply with the open meeting requirements of the Virginia Freedom of Information 

Act. 

 

(1) The Authority is required to have two Advisory Committees by statute: 

(a) Technical Advisory Committee 

March 7, 2024 Page 130 of 266



7 

 

(b) Planning Coordination Advisory Committee 

 

(2) The Authority shall have three standing committees: 

(a) Finance Committee 

(b) Planning and Programming Committee  

(c) Governance and Personnel Committee  

 

(3) The Authority may appoint additional committees and subcommittees as 

necessary.   

 

(4) Unless otherwise specified in these Bylaws, all committees shall adhere to 

meeting procedures that are the same or similar to those used by the Authority as 

set forth in these Bylaws and comply with the Virginia Freedom of Information 

Act.  

 

(5) In no event shall review and recommendation by a committee or subcommittee be 

required before the Authority may act on a matter except as may be provided by 

law. 

 

(6) The Authority will strive in the appointment of members to committees that 

represent various perspectives. 

 

B. Finance Committee.   

 

(1) Charge.  This committee shall be responsible for advising the Authority on all 

financial matters and overseeing financial activities undertaken by the NVTA 

professional staff, including: 

 

(a) Reviewing, commenting on, and recommending the annual budget presented 

by the Chief Executive Officer 

 

(b) Reviewing, commenting on, and recommending any budget amendments 

presented by the Chief Executive Officer 

 

(c) Overseeing the NVTA’s financial policies (e.g., bond, investment, 

procurement, risk management) and making appropriate recommendations 

 

(d) Monitoring contracts for incidental services, including incidental financial 

services, and recommending task orders 

 

(e) Monitoring NVTA’s expenditures for compliance with policies and guidance 

of the NVTA 

 

(f) Reviewing annual revenue estimates 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 131 of 266



8 

 

(g) Approving the selection of an audit firm and audit work plan supporting the 

annual preparation of financial statements 

 

(h) Assisting with other financial activities as may be directed by the NVTA. 

 

(2) Membership.  The Committee shall consist of five (5) members of the NVTA 

appointed by the Chairman for staggered two year terms. 

 

(3) Chairman.  The chairman and the vice chairman of the Committee shall be 

appointed by the Chairman of the NVTA. 

 

(4) Staff Support.  Staff support will be provided by the NVTA staff.   As requested 

by the committee chairman, additional support may be provided by jurisdictional 

or agency staffs. 

 

(5) Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (3) of the committee 

members.  The committee shall strive for consensus when developing 

recommendations.  Approval of recommendations or actions shall require an 

affirmative vote of a majority of the members present, which shall include at least 

three jurisdictional representatives in the affirmative. 

 

C. Governance and Personnel Committee (GPC). 

 

(1) Charge.  This committee shall be responsible for the following: 

 

(a) Periodic review and procedural amendments to the Bylaws.  

 

(b) Personnel issues including the review and recommendation of staff that report 

to the Authority.  

 

(c) Review of the Authority’s Legislative Program. 

 

(d) Development of policies and procedures related to governance and personnel 

of the Authority such as a policy for participation by members of the 

Authority in meetings by electronic communication means “in accordance 

with the statute.” 

 

(e) Other special assignments as directed by the Chairman of the Authority.   

 

(2) Membership.  The Committee shall consist of five (5) members of the NVTA 

appointed by the Chairman for staggered two year terms.  

 

(3) Chairman.  The chairman and the vice chairman of the Committee shall be 

appointed by the Chairman of the NVTA. 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 132 of 266



9 

 

(4) Staff Support.  Staff support will be provided by the NVTA staff.   As requested 

by the committee chairman, additional support may be provided by jurisdictional 

or agency staffs. 

 

(5) Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (3) of the committee 

members.  The committee shall strive for consensus when developing 

recommendations.  Approval of recommendations or actions shall require an 

affirmative vote of a majority of the members present, which shall include at least 

three jurisdictional representatives in the affirmative. 

 

D. Planning and Programming Committee (PPC). 

 

(1) Charge.  This committee shall be responsible for advising the Authority of 

planning and programming recommendations including TransAction, the Six 

Year Program, the Project Selection Process on projects within the Authority’s 

adopted revenues. 

  

(2) Membership.  The Committee shall consist of five (5) members of the NVTA 

appointed by the Chairman for staggered two year terms.   

 

(3) Chairman.  The chairman and the vice chairman of the Committee shall be 

appointed by the Chairman of the NVTA. 

 

(4) Staff Support.  Staff support will be provided by the NVTA staff.   As requested 

by the committee chairman, additional support and participation may be provided 

by jurisdictional or agency staffs. 

 

(5) Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (3) of the committee 

members.  The committee shall strive for consensus when developing 

recommendations.  Approval of recommendations or actions shall require an 

affirmative vote of a majority of the members present, which shall include at least 

three jurisdictional representatives in the affirmative. 

 

 

E. Technical Advisory Committee (TAC). 

 

(1) Charge.  This committee of individuals with multi-modal expertise and regional 

focus shall be responsible for reviewing the development of major projects and 

potential funding strategies and providing recommendations to the NVTA.  

“Development of projects” means the identification of projects for the NVTA 

Long Range Transportation Plan and the NVTA Six Year Program, and the 

application of performance-based criteria to the projects identified. 

 

(2) Membership.  The committee shall consist of nine (9) individuals who reside or 

are employed in counties and cities embraced by the Authority and have 

experience in transportation planning, finance, engineering, construction, or 

March 7, 2024 Page 133 of 266



10 

 

management.  An effort shall be made to have multi-modal representation, to 

include highway, transit, pedestrian, and bicycle expertise as well as being 

balanced regionally.  The NVTA will recommend a list of members each year and 

request that the chief elected officer from relevant jurisdictions appoint selected 

persons to the committee.  Initially, half the locally appointed members will serve 

a one (1) year term.  The other half will serve two (2) year terms.  Subsequently, 

members will serve three (3) year terms.  The chairman of the Commonwealth 

Transportation Board (CTB) will appoint three members to three (3) year terms.  

Locally appointed members may be removed by the Chairman of the NVTA for 

failure to attend three consecutive meetings or if the member no longer resides or 

is employed in an NVTA jurisdiction. 

 

(3) Chairman.  The chairman and vice chairman shall be appointed by the Chairman 

of the NVTA. 

 

(4) Staff Support.  Staff support shall be provided by NVTA professional staff.  

 

(5) Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of a majority (5) of members. The 

committee shall strive for consensus when developing recommendations.  If 

consensus cannot be achieved, majority and minority reports that identify issues 

that need to be addressed shall be presented to the NVTA. 

 

F. Planning Coordination Advisory Committee (PCAC). 

 

(1) Charge.  This committee shall provide recommendations to the NVTA on broad 

policy issues related to the periodic update of the NVTA’s Long Range 

Transportation Plan (e.g., TransAction) and the rolling extension of the NVTA’s 

Six Year Program.  It may, from time to time, offer the NVTA advice on regional 

transportation issues and advise on the NVTA’s annual legislative program.   

 

(2) Membership. Membership of the committee consists of 14 members representing 

the nine member localities and towns with populations of at least 3,500.  All 

members shall be elected officials from jurisdictions embraced by the NVTA.  

Such membership shall include, as a minimum, one elected official from each 

town that is located in any county embraced by the NVTA and receives street 

maintenance payments.   

 

(3) Chairman.  The chairman and vice chairman shall be appointed by the Chairman 

of the NVTA. 

 

(4) Staff Support.  Staff support shall be provided by the NVTA staff.  The chairman 

may request additional support from jurisdictional and agency staffs as needed. 

 

Quorum and Voting.  A quorum shall consist of five (5) committee members.  

The committee shall strive for consensus when developing recommendations.  In 

the event that consensus cannot be attained, approval of an advisory 

March 7, 2024 Page 134 of 266



11 

 

recommendation or other actions shall require the presence of a quorum and an 

affirmative vote by roll call of a majority of the members present.  

Recommendations made by the committee must be on the agenda and discussed at 

not less than two meetings.    

 

G. Ad Hoc Committees.  As needed, the Chairman of the NVTA may appoint ad hoc 

committees to pursue specific tasks.  

 

 

ARTICLE VI 

 

NVTA TRANSPORTATION PLAN 

 

A. NVTA Regional Transportation Plan.  The Authority shall adopt and periodically 

update the NVTA Regional Transportation Plan for Northern Virginia.  The Plan 

shall consist of the NVTA Long Range Transportation Plan and the NVTA Six Year 

Program. 

 

(1) NVTA Long Range Transportation Plan.  The Authority shall adopt an 

unconstrained NVTA Long Range Transportation Plan (TransAction 2030 or its 

successor) for Northern Virginia.  In carrying out this responsibility, the Authority 

shall, on the basis of regional consensus, set regional transportation policies and 

priorities for regional transportation projects.  In support of regional consensus, it 

is desirable that NVTA secure the formal approval of each of its member 

jurisdictions before adoption of the plan.  The policies and priorities shall be 

guided by performance-based criteria such as the ability to improve travel times, 

reduce delays, connect regional activity centers, improve safety, improve air 

quality, and move the most people in the most cost-effective manner. 

 

(2) NVTA Six Year Program.  The Authority shall adopt a NVTA Six Year Program 

for Northern Virginia that includes, but not necessarily be limited to, 

transportation improvements of regional significance and those improvements 

necessary or incidental thereto.  The NVTA Six Year Program shall include all 

transportation improvements to be funded from NVTA-generated funding over a 

six (6) year period.  The Authority shall from time to time, not less than annually, 

review and, as necessary, revise and amend the Six Year Program.  The 

provisions of § 33.2-1928 Va. Code Ann. shall apply to preparation and adoption 

of the Six Year Program. 

 

B. Procedure for Adoption and Amendment of Long Range Transportation Plan 

and Six Year Program.  The Long Range Transportation Plan and the Six Year 

Program, separately or at the same time, shall be adopted, altered, revised or amended 

only after a public hearing held upon thirty (30) days' notice consistent with the Act 

and the Authority’s public notice procedures. 

 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 135 of 266



12 

 

ARTICLE VII 

 

ADMINISTRATION 

 

A. Chief Executive Officer. The Authority shall employ an Chief Executive Officer 

who shall have direct authority for the employment, retention, and supervision of all 

of the other employees of the Authority. The Chief Executive Officer shall have 

direct control, subject to the Authority, of the management of the day-to-day 

administrative affairs of the Authority. The Chief Executive Officer shall propose 

activities to the Authority and shall carry out policies, programs and projects 

approved by the Authority, and shall be responsible for preparing and presenting the 

annual budget. The Chief Executive Officer may not contemporaneously serve as a 

member of the Authority. 

 

B. Staff.  The Authority may employ such staff of qualified professional and other 

persons as the Authority determines to be necessary to carry out its duties and 

responsibilities. Staff of the Authority may not contemporaneously serve as a member 

of the Authority.     

 

C. Execution of Instruments. The Chief Executive Officer, on specific authorization by 

the Authority, shall have the power to sign or countersign in its behalf any agreement 

or other instrument to be executed by the Authority including checks and vouchers in 

payment of obligations of the Authority.  

 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

 

FINANCES 

 

A. Finances and Payments. The monies of the Authority shall be deposited in a 

separate bank account or accounts in such banks or trust companies as the Authority 

designates, and all payments (with the exception of those from petty cash) shall be 

made in the most practicable manner as determined by the Authority. Checks and 

drafts shall be signed in the name of the Authority by the Chief Executive Officer or, 

in the Chief Executive Officer's absence, those authorized from time to time by vote 

of the Authority.  An Authority financial policy shall be developed that prescribes 

threshold requiring any countersignatures. 

 

B. Audits. At least once each year, the Authority shall cause an audit to be made by an 

independent certified public accountant of all funds of the Authority.  Such audits 

will, at a minimum, obtain an opinion as to the accuracy of the annual financial 

statements from a certified public accounting firm.  Additional audit activity may be 

obtained by the Finance Committee as it deems prudent. 

 

C. Budget and Fiscal Year.  The Authority shall adopt an annual budget prior to the 

start of its fiscal year which budget shall provide for all of the revenues and the 

March 7, 2024 Page 136 of 266



13 

 

operating, capital, and administrative expenses of the Authority for the fiscal year.  

The fiscal year of the Authority will commence on July 1st each year and will 

terminate on the following June 30th.  

 

D. Administrative Expenses.  The administrative expenses of the Authority, as 

provided for in the Authority's annual budget, and which shall not include funds for 

construction or acquisition of transportation facilities and/or the performance of any 

transportation service, shall be allocated, to the extent funds for such expenses are not 

provided for from other sources, among the component counties and cities on the 

basis of relative population as determined by the most recently preceding decennial 

census, except that on July 1 of the fifth (5th) year following such census, the 

population of each county and city shall be adjusted based on population projections 

made by the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service of the University of Virginia. 

 

E. Per Diem Payments.  The Authority may pay its members for their services to the 

Authority a per diem in either: (1) the amount provided in the general appropriations 

act for members of the General Assembly engaged in legislative business between 

sessions, or (2) a lesser amount determined by the Authority.  

 

F. Bond of Officers and Others.  The officers of the Authority and such employees as 

the Authority so designates, may, prior to taking office or starting employment, 

respectively, be required by the Authority to give bond payable to the Authority 

conditioned upon the faithful discharge of that officer or employee's duties, in such 

amount as the Authority may require.  The premium for each such bond shall be paid 

by the Authority and the bond(s) shall be filed with the Authority.  The Authority 

may fulfill this bonding requirement through plans or agreements offered by the 

Commonwealth of Virginia. 

 

 

ARTICLE IX 

 

AMENDMENTS 

 

Any amendment, repeal, or alteration of the Bylaws must be considered at two (2) 

Authority meetings prior to action. 

 

Any proposed amendment, repeal or alteration, in whole or in part, of these 

Bylaws shall be on a meeting agenda and presented in writing for a first time at a regular 

meeting of the Authority. The section or sections proposed for amendment may be 

considered and further amended at such meeting, and shall then be scheduled for 

consideration and action at a subsequent regular meeting. At such subsequent meeting, 

the section or sections proposed for amendment, as further amended, shall be subject to 

further consideration and amendment, and shall thereafter be acted on in accordance with 

the voting requirements of these Bylaws.  Additional amendments to a section or sections 

of the Bylaws, other than those previously proposed and considered at the first regular 

meeting, and those further amendments that arose out of the Authority’s discussion at the 

March 7, 2024 Page 137 of 266



14 

 

first regular meeting, must be considered for the first time at a separately noticed meeting 

and thereafter acted upon in accordance with this section.   

 

 

ARTICLE X 

 

PROCEDURES 

 

Parliamentary Procedure. In all matters of parliamentary procedure not 

specifically governed by these Bylaws or otherwise required by law, the current edition 

of Robert's Rules of Order, newly revised, shall apply.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted by Northern Virginia Transportation Authority:  June 12, 2008 

Revised:  January 8, 2010; January 14, 2016; September 9, 2021 

March 7, 2024 Page 138 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 139 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 140 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 141 of 266



Section 1. 

Section 2. 

Section 3. 

Section 4. 

Section 5. 

Section 6. 

such meetings shall be in accordance with FOIA. 

Meeting Schedule. Other than the initial meeting of the Board, the July 
meeting of each year shall be the annual meeting at which the nomination 
and election of officers shall be held and at which a calendar of meeting 
dates will be adopted. The Board shall meet as often as necessary to 
conduct its business pursuant to its adopted calendar, as it may be 
amended from time to time, and/or by any duly called special or 
emergency meeting. 

Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by the Chair at its 
discretion, or by any two (2) member organizations, as long as proper 
notice of any such special meeting has been given in accordance with 
FOIA. 

Quorum. A majority of the Board will constitute a quorum, provided that 
at least one representative from each voting member organization is 
present, except when a Director is participating in a meeting under the 
provisions of the Authority's "Policy on Participation in Board Meetings 
by Electronic Means" (Resolution #R20-42, adopted April 2, 2020) and 
any subsequent revisions or applicable policies duly adopted under open 
meetings laws. 

Voting. Each Director, excluding the Director representing the College 
and the Director representing DRPT, shall be entitled to one vote on 
matters before the Board. The presence of a quorum and vote of the 
majority of the Directors present shall be necessary to take any action. 
Voting on all questions coming before the Board shall be by voice vote 
and shall be recorded in the minutes. There shall be no proxy voting. 
Each Director, or the Director's alternate, must be physically present to 
cast a vote, except when a Director is participating in a meeting under the 
provisions of the Authority's "Policy on Participation in Board Meetings 
by Electronic Means" (Resolution #R20-42, adopted April 2, 2020) and 
any subsequent revisions or applicable policies duly adopted under open 
meetings laws. 

Minutes. The Secretary of the Authority shall prepare minutes of each 
Board meeting and record them in a book of minutes kept in the office of 
the Authority. Minutes shall not be kept of proceedings in a closed 
session. 

Meeting Cancellation. Should it be necessary to cancel an advertised 
Board meeting due to weather or other conditions, the meeting shall be 
continued at a date, time, and place certain and duly advertised in 
accordance with FOIA. 

4 March 7, 2024 Page 142 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 143 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 144 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 145 of 266



March 7, 2024 Page 146 of 266



Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
     
    
    
    
    
    

    

 
       

 

Appendix F Virginia 
Transportation/Transit Authority 
Legislations 

March 7, 2024 Page 147 of 266



Code of Virginia 
Title 33.2. Highways and Other Surface Transportation Systems 
Subtitle IV. Local and Regional Transportation
   
Chapter 28. Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority
§ 33.2-2800. Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority created
There is hereby created a political subdivision of the Commonwealth known as the
Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority, for purposes of this chapter referred to as
"the Authority."
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7023; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2801. Powers of the Charlottesville-Albemarle Regional Transit Authority
The Authority is hereby granted all powers necessary or appropriate to carry out the purposes of
this chapter, including the power and authority to:
  
1. Prepare a regional transit plan for all or a portion of the areas located within the boundaries of
each member locality. The regional transit plan may include all or portions of those areas within
the City of Charlottesville and the County of Albemarle, shall include transit improvements of
regional significance and those improvements necessary or incidental thereto, and shall be
revised and amended;
  
2. When a transit plan is adopted according to subdivision 1, construct or acquire, by purchase,
lease, contract, or otherwise, the transit facilities specified in such transit plan;
  
3. Make, assume, and enter into all contracts, agreements, arrangements, and leases with public
or private entities as the Authority may determine are necessary or incidental to the operation of
its facilities or to the execution of the powers granted by this chapter or may operate such
facilities itself;
  
4. Enter into contracts or agreements with the counties and cities embraced by the Authority,
with other transit commissions of transportation districts adjoining any county or city embraced
by the Authority, with any transportation authority, or with any federal, state, local, or private
entity to provide, or cause to be provided, transit facilities and services to the area embraced by
the Authority. Such contracts or agreements, together with any agreements or leases for the
operation of such facilities, may be used by the Authority to finance the construction and
operation of transit facilities, and such contracts, agreements, or leases shall inure to the benefit
of any creditor of the Authority;
  
5. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary:
  
a. Acquire land or any interest therein by purchase, lease, or gift and provide transit facilities
thereon for use in connection with any transit service; and
  
b. Prepare a plan for mass transit services with persons, counties, cities, agencies, authorities, or
transportation commissions and contract with any such person or other entity to provide
necessary facilities, equipment, operations and maintenance, access, and insurance pursuant to
such plan;
  
6. Adopt, amend, or repeal bylaws, rules, and regulations not inconsistent with this chapter or
the general laws of the Commonwealth for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct of its

1 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 148 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805


business and carry into effect its powers and purposes;
  
7. Adopt an official seal and alter it;
  
8. Maintain an office at such place or places as it designates;
  
9. Sue and be sued;
  
10. Determine and set fees, rates, and charges for transit services;
  
11. Establish retirement, group life insurance, and group accident and sickness insurance plans
or systems for its employees in the same manner as localities are permitted under §§ 51.1-801
and 51.1-802;
  
12. Provide by resolution for the issuance of revenue bonds of the Authority for the purpose of
paying the whole or any part of the cost of operating any transit system. Revenue bonds issued
under the provisions of this chapter shall not constitute a pledge of the faith and credit of the
Commonwealth or of any political subdivision. All bonds shall contain a statement on their face
substantially to the effect that neither the faith and credit of the Commonwealth nor the faith
and credit of any political subdivision are pledged to the payment of the principal of or the
interest on the bonds. The issuance of revenue bonds under the provisions of this chapter shall
neither directly nor indirectly nor contingently obligate the Commonwealth or any political
subdivision to levy any taxes or to make any appropriation for their payment except from the
funds pledged under the provisions of this chapter;
  
13. Appoint, employ, or engage such officers, employees, architects, engineers, attorneys,
accountants, financial advisors, investment bankers, and other advisors, consultants, and agents
as may be necessary or appropriate and pay compensation and fix their duties; and
  
14. Contract with any participating political subdivision for such subdivision to provide legal
services; engineering services; depository and accounting services, including an annual
independent audit; and procurement of goods and services and act as fiscal agent for the
Authority.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7024; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2802. Counties and cities initially embraced by the Authority
The Authority shall initially embrace the City of Charlottesville and all or such portions of the
County of Albemarle as its governing body desires to have included. The City of Charlottesville
and the County of Albemarle shall be the initial members of the Authority upon adoption of an
approving ordinance or resolution by each of their respective governing bodies.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7025; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2803. Joinder of other counties, agencies, institutions, and facilities
The Counties of Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa, and Nelson may join the Authority, and the Authority
shall embrace all or such portions as the governing body of each county desires to have covered.
Additionally, private nonprofit tourist-driven agencies, higher education facilities of the
Charlottesville-Albemarle area, and public transportation agencies serving such counties may
join the Authority. The governing body of any county, agency, institution, or facility wishing to
join the Authority and the governing bodies of the localities, agencies, institutions, and facilities
then members of the Authority shall by concurrent resolution or ordinance or by agreement

2 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 149 of 266

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/51.1-801/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/51.1-802/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805


provide for the joinder of such county, agency, institution, or facility.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7026; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2804. Governance of Authority; composition; terms
The Authority shall be governed by a board of directors, for purposes of this chapter referred to
as the "Authority Board," which shall consist of the following:
  
1. Two directors representing the County of Albemarle, each of whom shall be a member of the
governing body of the county;
  
2. Two directors representing the City of Charlottesville, each of whom shall be a member of the
governing body of the city;
  
3. One director representing each county that joins the Authority pursuant to § 33.2-2803, each
of whom shall be a member of the governing body of each respective county; and
  
4. Up to four additional directors, who shall be nonvoting, representing the interests of such
agencies, institutions, and facilities described in § 33.2-2803 that join the Authority.
  
All members of the Authority Board shall serve terms coincident with their terms of office.
Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointments.
  
The Authority Board shall appoint a chair and vice-chair from among its members.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7027; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2805. Staff
The Authority shall employ an executive director and such staff as it shall determine to be
necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities under this chapter. No such person shall
contemporaneously serve as a director of the Authority Board. The Department of Transportation
and the Department of Rail and Public Transportation shall make their employees available to
assist the Authority, upon request.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7028; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2806. Decisions of Authority
A majority of the Authority Board shall constitute a quorum. Decisions of the Authority Board
shall require a quorum and shall be in accordance with voting procedures established by the
Authority.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7029; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2807. Allocation of certain Authority expenses
The administrative expenses of the Authority, as provided in an annual budget adopted by the
Authority, to the extent funds for such expenses are not provided from other sources, shall be
allocated among the participating counties, city, agencies, institutions, and facilities pursuant to
a funding formula as duly adopted by the Authority.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7030; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2808. Payment to directors of the Authority Board
The directors of the Authority Board may be paid for their services in either (i) the amount

3 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 150 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-2803/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-2803/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805


provided in the general appropriation act for members of the General Assembly engaged in
legislative business between sessions or (ii) a lesser amount as determined by the Authority.
Directors of the Authority Board may be reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary expenses as
provided in §§ 2.2-2813 and 2.2-2825, if approved by the Authority. Funding for the costs of
compensation and expenses of the directors of the Authority Board shall be provided by the
Authority.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7031; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2809. Formation of advisory committees
The Authority may form advisory committees to assist the Authority.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7032; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2810. Other duties and responsibilities of Authority
In addition to other powers granted in this chapter, the Authority shall have the following duties
and responsibilities:
  
1. Providing general oversight of Charlottesville-Albemarle area programs involving mass transit
or congestion mitigation;
  
2. Providing long-range transit planning in the Charlottesville-Albemarle area, both financially
constrained and unconstrained;
  
3. Recommending to federal, state, and regional agencies regional transit priorities, including
public-private transit projects and funding allocations;
  
4. Allocating to priority regional transit projects any funds made available to the Authority and,
at the discretion of the Authority, directly overseeing such projects;
  
5. Recommending to the Commonwealth Transportation Board priority regional transit projects
for receipt of federal and state funds;
  
6. Serving as an advocate for the transit needs of the Charlottesville-Albemarle area before the
federal and state governments; and
  
7. Applying to and negotiating with the government of the United States, the Commonwealth, or
any agency or instrumentality thereof for grants and any other funds available to carry out the
purposes of this chapter and receiving, holding, accepting, and administering from any source
gifts, bequests, grants, aid, or contributions of money, property, labor, or other things of value to
be held, used, and applied to carry out the purposes of this chapter subject, however, to any
condition upon which gifts, bequests, grants, aid, or contributions are made. Unless otherwise
restricted by the terms of the gift, bequest, or grant, the Authority may sell, exchange, or
otherwise dispose of such money, securities, or other property given or bequeathed to it in
furtherance of its purposes.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7033; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2811. Withdrawal from the Authority
A member of the Authority may withdraw from the participation in and the obligations of the
Authority by a resolution or an ordinance of its governing body, and pursuant to such conditions
and procedures adopted by the Authority. However, if the Authority has any outstanding bonds

4 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 151 of 266

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/2.2-2813/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/2.2-2825/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805


or other debt, no member may withdraw from the Authority without the unanimous consent of
all the holders of such bonds unless such bonds have been paid or cashed or United States
government obligations have been deposited for their payment.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7034; 2014, c. 805.
  
§ 33.2-2812. Dissolution of the Authority
Whenever the Authority Board by resolution determines that the purposes for which the
Authority was formed have been substantially complied with and all bonds issued and all
obligations incurred by the Authority have been fully paid or adequate provisions have been
made for the payment, the Authority Board shall execute and file for record with the
participating localities, agencies, institutions, and facilities a resolution declaring such facts and
providing for the disposition of the Authority assets, consistent with applicable state and federal
law. If the participating localities, agencies, institutions, and facilities are of the opinion that the
facts stated in the Authority's resolution are true and the Authority should be dissolved, they
shall so resolve and the Authority shall stand dissolved as of the date on which the last
participating locality, agency, institution, or facility adopts such resolution.
  
2009, c. 645, § 15.2-7035; 2014, c. 805.
  

5 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 152 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?091+ful+CHAP0645
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805


Code of Virginia 
Title 33.2. Highways and Other Surface Transportation Systems 
Subtitle IV. Local and Regional Transportation
   
Chapter 37. Central Virginia Transportation Authority
§ 33.2-3700. Definitions
As used in this chapter, unless the context requires a different meaning:
  
"Authority" means the Central Virginia Transportation Authority.
  
"Fund" means the Central Virginia Transportation Fund.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3701. Central Virginia Transportation Fund
A. There is hereby created in the state treasury a special nonreverting fund for Planning District
15 to be known as the Central Virginia Transportation Fund. The Fund shall be established on the
books of the Comptroller. All revenues dedicated to the Fund pursuant to § 58.1-638 and Chapter
22.1 (§ 58.1-2291 et seq.) of Title 58.1 shall be paid into the state treasury and credited to the
Fund. Interest earned on moneys in the Fund shall remain in the Fund and be credited to it. Any
moneys remaining in the Fund, including interest thereon, at the end of each fiscal year shall not
revert to the general fund but shall remain in the Fund. The moneys deposited in the Fund shall
be used solely for (i) transportation purposes benefiting the localities comprising Planning
District 15 and (ii) administrative and operating expenses as specified in subsection B of § 33.2-
3706.
  
B. The amounts dedicated to the Fund shall be deposited monthly by the Comptroller into the
Fund and thereafter distributed to the Authority as soon as practicable for use in accordance with
this chapter. If the Authority determines that such moneys distributed to it exceed the amount
required to meet the current needs and demands to fund transportation purposes pursuant to
this chapter, the Authority may invest such excess moneys to the same extent and in the same
manner as provided in subsection A of § 33.2-1525 for excess funds in the Transportation Trust
Fund.
  
C. The amounts deposited into the Fund and the distribution and expenditure of such amounts
shall not be used to calculate or reduce the share of federal, state, or local revenues otherwise
available to participating localities. Further, such revenues and moneys shall not be included in
any computation of, or formula for, a locality's ability to pay for public education, upon which
appropriations of state revenues to local governments for public education are determined.
  
D. After provision for the payment of administrative and operating expenses as specified in
subsection B of § 33.2-3706, the revenues in the Fund shall be allocated as follows:
  
1. Thirty-five percent shall be retained by the Authority to be used for transportation-related
purposes benefiting the localities comprising Planning District 15;
  
2. Fifteen percent shall be distributed to the Greater Richmond Transit Company (GRTC), or its
successor, to provide transit and mobility services in Planning District 15; and
  
3. Fifty percent shall be returned, proportionally, to each locality located in Planning District 15
to be used to improve local mobility, which may include construction, maintenance, or expansion

1 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 153 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
/vacode/58.1-638/
/vacode/58.1-2291/
/vacode/33.2-3706/
/vacode/33.2-3706/
/vacode/33.2-1525/
/vacode/33.2-3706/


of roads, sidewalks, trails, mobility services, or transit located in the locality.
  
E. Each locality's share of the revenues returned pursuant to subdivision D 3 shall be the total of
the taxes dedicated to the Fund that are generated or attributable to the locality divided by the
total of such taxes dedicated to the Fund. Each locality shall create a separate, special fund in
which all revenues received pursuant to subdivision D 3 shall be deposited. Each locality shall
annually provide to the Authority sufficient documentation, as required by the Authority,
showing that the revenues distributed under subdivision D 3 were used for the purposes set forth
therein.
  
F. The projects and other transportation purposes supported by the revenues allocated under
subdivisions D 1 and 2 shall be approved by the Authority.
  
G. The GRTC shall create a separate, special fund in which all revenues received pursuant to
subdivision D 2 shall be deposited. The GRTC shall develop a plan for regional public
transportation within Planning District 15 in collaboration with the Richmond Regional
Transportation Planning Organization in conformance with the guidelines required by § 33.2-286
. The GRTC shall annually provide to the Authority sufficient documentation, as required by the
Authority, showing that the revenues distributed under subdivision D 2 were applied in
accordance with Authority approval and the guidelines required by § 33.2-286.
  
H. The Authority shall develop a prioritization process based on an objective and quantifiable
analysis that considers the benefits of projects relative to their cost. Only projects evaluated
using such process may be funded pursuant to subdivision D 1.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3702. Central Virginia Transportation Authority created
The Central Virginia Transportation Authority is hereby created as a body politic and as a
political subdivision of the Commonwealth. The Authority shall embrace each county, city, and
town located in Planning District 15, which is established pursuant to Chapter 42 (§ 15.2-4200 et
seq.) of Title 15.2.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3703. Composition of Authority
The Authority shall consist of 18 members as follows:
  
1. The chief elected officer, or his designee, of the governing body of each of the counties
embraced by the Authority;
  
2. The chief elected officer, or his designee, of the City of Richmond and the Town of Ashland;
  
3. One member of the House of Delegates who resides in a county or city embraced by the
Authority, appointed by the Speaker of the House, and one member of the Senate who resides in
a county or city embraced by the Authority, appointed by the Senate Committee on Rules;
  
4. A member of the Commonwealth Transportation Board who resides in a locality embraced by
the Authority and is appointed by the Governor; and
  
5. The following six persons serving ex officio as nonvoting members of the Authority: the
Director of the Department of Rail and Public Transportation, or his designee; the Commissioner

2 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 154 of 266

/vacode/33.2-286/
/vacode/33.2-286/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
/vacode/15.2-4200/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235


of Highways, or his designee; the Executive Director of the Virginia Port Authority, or his
designee; the Chief Executive Officer of the Greater Richmond Transit Company (GRTC); the
Chief Executive Officer of the Richmond Metropolitan Transportation Authority; and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Capital Region Airport Commission.
  
All members of the Authority shall serve terms coincident with their terms of office. Vacancies
shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment. If a member of the Authority who
represents a locality as provided in subdivision 1 or 2 is unable to attend a meeting of the
Authority, he may designate another current elected official of such governing body to attend
such meeting of the Authority. Such designation shall be for the purposes of one meeting and
shall be submitted in writing or electronically to the Chairman of the Authority at least 48 hours
prior to the affected meeting.
  
The Authority shall elect a chairman and vice-chairman from among its voting membership.
  
The Auditor of Public Accounts, or his legally authorized representatives, shall annually audit the
financial accounts of the Authority, and the cost of such audit shall be borne by the Authority.
  
2020, c. 1235;2021, Sp. Sess. I, c. 142;2022, cc. 189, 190.
  
§ 33.2-3704. Staff
The Authority may employ a chief executive officer and such staff as it shall determine to be
necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities under this chapter. No such person shall
contemporaneously serve as a member of the Authority. The Department of Transportation and
the Department of Rail and Public Transportation shall make their employees available to assist
the Authority, upon request.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3705. Decisions of the Authority
A majority of voting members of the Authority shall constitute a quorum. Vacancies shall not be
considered in the establishment of a quorum. Votes of the chief elected officers of localities, or
their designees, appointed to the Authority shall be weighted, based upon population of the
locality, as follows: (i) the chief elected officers, or their designees, from the Counties of
Chesterfield and Henrico and the City of Richmond shall each receive four votes; (ii) the chief
elected officer, or his designee, from the County of Hanover shall receive three votes; (iii) the
chief elected officers, or their designees, from the Counties of Goochland, New Kent, and
Powhatan shall each receive two votes; and (iv) the chief elected officers, or their designees, from
the Town of Ashland and the County of Charles City shall each receive one vote. The Delegate
and Senator appointed to the Authority and the member of the Commonwealth Transportation
Board appointed by the Governor shall each receive one vote. Decisions of the Authority shall
require an affirmative vote of those present and voting whose votes represent at least four-fifths
of the population embraced by the Authority; however, no motion to fund a specific facility or
service shall fail because of this population criterion if such facility or service is not located or to
be located or provided or to be provided within the county or city whose chief elected officer's or
elected official's, or its respective designee's, sole negative vote caused the facility or service to
fail to meet the population criterion. The population of counties and cities embraced by the
Authority shall be the population as determined by the most recently preceding decennial
census, except that on July 1 of the fifth year following such census, the population of each
county and city shall be adjusted, based on population estimates made by the Weldon Cooper

3 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 155 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?211+ful+CHAP0142
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?211+ful+CHAP0142
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?221+ful+CHAP0189
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?221+ful+CHAP0190
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235


Center for Public Service of the University of Virginia.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3706. Annual budget and allocation of expenses
A. The Authority shall adopt an annual budget and develop a funding plan to be supported by the
revenues allocated under subdivision D 1 of § 33.2-3701 and shall provide for such development
and adoption in its bylaws. The funding plan shall provide for the expenditure of funds for
transportation purposes over a four-to-six-year period and shall align with the Statewide
Transportation Plan established pursuant to § 33.2-353, the long-range transportation plan of
Planning District 15, or the long-range transportation plans of participating localities as much as
possible. The Authority shall solicit public comment on its budget and funding plan by posting a
summary of such budget and funding plan on its website and holding a public hearing. Such
public hearing shall be advertised on the Authority's website and in a newspaper of general
circulation in Planning District 15.
  
B. The administrative and operating expenses of the Authority shall be provided in an annual
budget adopted by the Authority and to the extent funds for such expenses are not provided from
other sources shall be paid from the Fund. Such budget shall be limited solely to the
administrative and operating expenses of the Authority and shall not include any funds for
construction or acquisition of transportation facilities or the maintenance or performance of any
transportation service.
  
C. Members may be reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary expenses provided in §§ 2.2-
2813 and 2.2-2825, if approved by the Authority. Funding for the costs of compensation and
expenses of the members shall be provided by the Authority.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3707. Authority to issue bonds
The Authority may issue bonds and other evidences of debt as may be authorized by this section
or other law. The provisions of Article 5 (§ 33.2-1920 et seq.) of Chapter 19 shall apply, mutatis
mutandis, to the issuance of such bonds or other debt. The Authority may issue bonds or other
debt in such amounts as it deems appropriate. The bonds may be supported by any funds
available.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3708. Powers of the Authority
A. The Authority shall have the following powers together with all powers incidental thereto or
necessary for the performance of those hereinafter stated:
  
1. To sue and be sued and to prosecute and defend, at law or in equity, in any court having
jurisdiction of the subject matter and of the parties;
  
2. To adopt and use a corporate seal and to alter the same at its pleasure;
  
3. To procure insurance, participate in insurance plans, and provide self-insurance; however, the
purchase of insurance, participation in an insurance plan, or the creation of a self-insurance plan
by the Authority shall not be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of any sovereign immunity to
which the Authority or its officers, directors, employees, or agents are otherwise entitled;
  

4 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 156 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
/vacode/33.2-3701/
/vacode/33.2-353/
/vacode/2.2-2813/
/vacode/2.2-2813/
/vacode/2.2-2825/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
/vacode/33.2-1920/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235


4. To establish bylaws and make all rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the provisions of
this chapter, deemed expedient for the management of the Authority's affairs;
  
5. To apply for and accept money, materials, contributions, grants, or other financial assistance
from the United States and agencies or instrumentalities thereof, the Commonwealth and any
political subdivision, agency, or instrumentality of the Commonwealth, and any legitimate
private source;
  
6. To acquire real and personal property or any interest therein by purchase, lease, gift, or
otherwise for purposes consistent with this chapter and to hold, encumber, sell, or otherwise
dispose of such land or interest for purposes consistent with this chapter;
  
7. To acquire by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise, highways, bridges, or tunnels and to
construct the same by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise;
  
8. In consultation with the Commonwealth Transportation Board for projects that encompass a
state highway, and with each city or county in which the facility or any part thereof is or is to be
located, to repair, expand, enlarge, construct, reconstruct, or renovate any or all highways,
bridges, and tunnels within Planning District 15 and to acquire any real or personal property
needed for any such purpose;
  
9. To enter into agreements or leases with public or private entities for the operation and
maintenance of bridges, transit and rail facilities, and highways;
  
10. To make and execute contracts, deeds, mortgages, leases, and all other instruments and
agreements necessary or convenient for the performance of its duties and the exercise of its
powers and functions under this chapter;
  
11. To the extent funds are made or become available to the Authority to do so, to employ
employees, agents, advisors, and consultants, including without limitation attorneys, financial
advisers, engineers, and other technical advisers and, the provisions of any other law to the
contrary notwithstanding, to determine their duties and compensation;
  
12. To exercise the powers of a locality pursuant to § 33.2-269;and
  
13. To the extent not inconsistent with the other provisions of this chapter, and without limiting
or restricting the powers otherwise given the Authority, to exercise all of the powers given to
transportation district commissions by § 33.2-1919.
  
B. The Authority shall comply with the provisions governing localities contained in § 15.2-
2108.23.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3709. Additional Powers of the Authority
Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this title and in accordance with all applicable federal
statutes and requirements, the Authority shall control and operate and may impose and collect
tolls in amounts established by the Authority for the use of any new or improved highway,
bridge, or tunnel, to increase capacity on such facility or to address congestion within Planning
District 15, constructed by the Commission (i) with federal, state, or local funds, (ii) solely with
revenues of the Authority, or (iii) with revenues under the control of the Authority. The amount
of any such toll may be varied from facility to facility, by lane, by congestion levels, by day of the

5 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 157 of 266

/vacode/33.2-269/
/vacode/33.2-269/
/vacode/33.2-1919/
/vacode/15.2-2108.23/
/vacode/15.2-2108.23/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235


week, by time of day, by type or size of vehicle, by number of axles, or by any similar combination
thereof or any other factor the Authority may deem proper, and a reduced rate may be
established for commuters as defined by the Authority. All such tolls shall be used for programs
and projects that are reasonably related to or benefit the users of the new or improved highway,
bridge, or tunnel, including, but not limited to, for the debt service and other costs of bonds
whose proceeds are used for construction or improvement of such highway, bridge, or tunnel.
  
Any tolls imposed by the Authority shall be collected by an electronic toll system that, to the
extent possible, shall not impede the traffic flow of the facility or prohibit a toll facility from
retaining means of nonautomated toll collection in some lanes of the facility. For all facilities
tolled by the Authority, there shall be signs erected prior to the point of toll collection that
clearly state how the majority of the toll revenue is being spent by the Authority to benefit the
users of the facility.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3710. Authority a responsible public entity under Public-Private Transportation Act of
1995
The Authority is a responsible public entity as defined in § 33.2-1800 and shall be regulated in
accordance with the terms of the Public-Private Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.)
and regulations and guidelines adopted pursuant thereto.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3711. Continuing responsibilities of the Commonwealth Transportation Board and the
Department of Transportation
Except as otherwise explicitly provided in this chapter, until such time as the Authority and the
Department of Transportation, or the Authority and the Commonwealth Transportation Board,
agree otherwise in writing, the Commonwealth Transportation Board shall allocate funding to
and the Department of Transportation shall perform or cause to be performed all maintenance
and operation of the bridges and roadways and shall perform such other required services and
activities with respect to such bridges and roadways as were being performed on July 1, 2020.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3712. Continued responsibilities for local transit funding
No locality embraced by the Authority shall reduce its local funding for public transit by more
than 50 percent of what it appropriated for public transit as of July 1, 2019. Starting in fiscal year
2023, the amount required to be provided by a locality pursuant to this section shall be adjusted
annually based on the greater of (i) the change in the United States Average Consumer Price
Index for all items, all urban consumers (CPI-U), as published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics
for the U.S. Department of Labor for the previous year, or (ii) zero.
  
2020, c. 1235.
  
§ 33.2-3713. Use of revenues by the Authority
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, all moneys received by the Authority shall
be used by the Authority solely for the benefit of those counties, cities, and towns that are
embraced by the Authority, and such moneys shall be used by the Authority in a manner that is
consistent with the purposes stated in this chapter.
  

6 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 158 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
/vacode/33.2-1800/
/vacode/33.2-1800/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235


2020, c. 1235.
  

7 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 159 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1235


Code of Virginia 
Title 33.2. Highways and Other Surface Transportation Systems 
Subtitle IV. Local and Regional Transportation
   
Chapter 26. Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission
§ 33.2-2600. Hampton Roads Transportation Fund
There is hereby created in the state treasury a special nonreverting fund for Planning District 23
to be known as the Hampton Roads Transportation Fund, referred to in this chapter as "the
Fund." The Fund shall be established on the books of the Comptroller. All revenues dedicated to
the Fund pursuant to § 58.1-638 and Chapter 22.1 (§ 58.1-2291 et seq.) of Title 58.1 shall be paid
into the state treasury and credited to the Fund. Interest earned on moneys in the Fund shall
remain in the Fund and be credited to it. Any moneys remaining in the Fund, including interest
thereon, at the end of each fiscal year shall not revert to the general fund but shall remain in the
Fund. The moneys deposited in the Fund shall be used solely for (i) new construction projects on
new or existing highways, bridges, and tunnels in the localities comprising Planning District 23
as approved by the Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission and (ii)
administrative and operating expenses as specified in subsection B of § 33.2-2605. The
Commission shall give priority to those projects that are expected to provide the greatest impact
on reducing congestion for the greatest number of citizens residing within Planning District 23
and shall ensure that the moneys shall be used for such construction projects.
  
The amounts dedicated to the Fund shall be deposited monthly by the Comptroller into the Fund
and thereafter distributed to the Commission as soon as practicable for use in accordance with
this chapter. If the Commission determines that such moneys distributed to it exceed the amount
required to meet the current needs and demands to fund transportation projects pursuant to this
chapter, the Commission may invest such excess moneys to the same extent and in the same
manner as provided in subsection A of § 33.2-1525 for excess funds in the Transportation Trust
Fund.
  
The amounts deposited into the Fund and the distribution and expenditure of such amounts shall
not be used to calculate or reduce the share of federal, state, or local revenues otherwise
available to participating localities. Further, such revenues and moneys shall not be included in
any computation of, or formula for, a locality's ability to pay for public education, upon which
appropriations of state revenues to local governments for public education are determined.
  
2013, c. 766, § 33.1-23.5:4; 2014, cc. 545, 678, 805;2016, cc. 603, 608.
  
§ 33.2-2600.1. Hampton Roads Regional Transit Program and Fund
A. The General Assembly declares it to be in the public interest that developing and continuing
operations of reliable regional public transportation is important for a balanced and effective
multimodal transportation system in the Hampton Roads region and is essential to the region's
economic growth, vitality, and competitiveness. The General Assembly further declares that a
special transportation program, to be known as the Hampton Roads Regional Transit Program
(the Program), should provide for the costs of developing, maintaining, and improving a core
regional network of transit routes and related infrastructure, rolling stock, and support facilities
that have the greatest positive impacts on economic development potential, employment
opportunities, mobility, environmental sustainability, and quality of life. The goal of the Program
is to provide a modern, safe, and efficient core network of transit services across the Hampton

1 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 160 of 266

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/58.1-638/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/58.1-2291/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-2605/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-1525/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?131+ful+CHAP0766
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0805
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0603
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0608


Roads region. The Program shall be incorporated into strategic plans developed pursuant to §
33.2-286 and adopted by the governing board of each transit entity and shall form the basis for
the regional transit planning process coordinated by the federally designated Metropolitan
Planning Organization.
  
B. There is hereby created in the state treasury a special nonreverting fund for Planning District
23 to be known as the Hampton Roads Regional Transit Fund, referred to in this chapter as "the
Regional Transit Fund." The Regional Transit Fund shall be established on the books of the
Comptroller. All revenues dedicated to the Regional Transit Fund pursuant to §§ 58.1-802.5,
58.1-816, and 58.1-1743 shall be paid into the state treasury and credited to the Regional Transit
Fund. Interest earned on moneys in the Regional Transit Fund shall remain in the Regional
Transit Fund and be credited to it. Any moneys remaining in the Regional Transit Fund,
including interest thereon, at the end of each fiscal year shall not revert to the general fund but
shall remain in the Regional Transit Fund.
  
C. The Regional Transit Fund shall be managed by the Commission, and disbursements from the
Regional Transit Fund shall be approved by the Commission consistent with the regional transit
planning process developed pursuant to subsection D of § 33.2-286. The moneys deposited in the
Regional Transit Fund shall be used solely for (i) the development, maintenance, improvement,
and operation of a core and connected regional network of transit routes and related
infrastructure, rolling stock, and support facilities, to include the operation of a regional system
of interjurisdictional, high-frequency bus service, in a transportation district in Hampton Roads
created pursuant to § 33.2-1903 as included in the strategic plans and regional transit planning
process developed pursuant to § 33.2-286 and (ii) administrative and operating expenses of the
Commission as specified in subsection B of § 33.2-2605. In the allocation of funds, priority shall
be given, when possible, to investments in the most sustainable and cost-effective operations,
rolling stock, and facilities to reduce or eliminate reliance upon diesel fuels. Funds from the
Regional Transit Fund shall not be used to support the expansion of light rail beyond the
boundaries of a locality where light rail is operated on January 1, 2020. The amounts dedicated to
the Regional Transit Fund shall be deposited monthly by the Comptroller into the Regional
Transit Fund and thereafter distributed to the Commission as soon as practicable for use in
accordance with this chapter. If the Commission determines that such moneys distributed to it
exceed the amount required to meet the current needs and demands to fund transit projects
pursuant to this chapter, the Commission may invest such excess moneys to the same extent and
in the same manner as provided in subsection A of § 33.2-1525 for excess funds in the
Transportation Trust Fund.
  
D. The amounts deposited into the Regional Transit Fund and the distribution and expenditure of
such amounts shall not (i) be used to calculate or reduce the share of federal, state, or local
revenues otherwise available to participating localities; (ii) allow a local government that is a
member of the transportation district to reduce its local funding for public transportation
purposes to an amount less than what was appropriated on July 1, 2019, for such purposes; or (iii)
diminish or supplant allocations and appropriations from other sources or diminish allocations
to which a transportation district, transit system, or locality would be entitled under any other
provisions of law but shall supplement such funds to accelerate and augment transportation
improvements in the Hampton Roads region. Further, such revenues and moneys shall not be
included in any computation of, or formula for, a locality's ability to pay for public education,
upon which appropriations of state revenues to local governments for public education are
determined. Any amounts paid from the Regional Transit Fund shall be considered local funds

2 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 161 of 266

/vacode/33.2-286/
/vacode/58.1-802.5/
/vacode/58.1-816/
/vacode/58.1-1743/
/vacode/33.2-286/
/vacode/33.2-1903/
/vacode/33.2-286/
/vacode/33.2-2605/
/vacode/33.2-1525/


when used to make a required match for state or federal transportation grant funds.
  
2020, cc. 1241, 1281.
  
§ 33.2-2601. Commission created
The Hampton Roads Transportation Accountability Commission, referred to in this chapter as
"the Commission," is hereby created as a body politic and as a political subdivision of the
Commonwealth. The Commission shall embrace each county and city located in Planning District
23, which is established pursuant to Chapter 42 (§ 15.2-4200 et seq.) of Title 15.2.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2602. Composition of Commission
The Commission shall consist of 23 members as follows:
  
1. The chief elected officer of the governing body of each of the 10 cities embraced by the
Commission;
  
2. A current elected official of each of the four counties embraced by the Commission, provided
that such official (i) serves on the governing body of the county and (ii) has been appointed by
resolution of such governing body to serve as the county's member on the Commission;
  
3. Three members of the House of Delegates who reside in different counties or cities embraced
by the Commission, appointed by the Speaker of the House, and two members of the Senate who
reside in different counties or cities embraced by the Commission, appointed by the Senate
Committee on Rules; and
  
4. The following four persons serving as nonvoting ex officio members of the Commission: a
member of the Commonwealth Transportation Board who resides in a locality embraced by the
Commission and is appointed by the Governor; the Director of the Department of Rail and Public
Transportation, or his designee; the Commissioner of Highways, or his designee; and the
Executive Director of the Virginia Port Authority, or his designee.
  
All members of the Commission shall serve terms coincident with their terms of office. Vacancies
shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment. If a member of the Commission
who represents a locality as provided in subdivision 1 or 2 is unable to attend a meeting of the
Commission, he may designate another current elected official of such governing body to attend
a meeting of the Commission. Such designation shall be for the purposes of one meeting and
shall be submitted in writing or electronically to the Chairman of the Commission at least 48
hours prior to the affected meeting.
  
The Commission shall elect a chairman and vice-chairman from among its voting membership.
  
The Auditor of Public Accounts, or his legally authorized representatives, shall annually audit the
financial accounts of the Commission, and the cost of such audit shall be borne by the
Commission.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678;2016, cc. 603, 608.
  
§ 33.2-2603. Staff
The Commission may employ a chief executive officer and such staff as it shall determine to be
necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities under this chapter. No such person shall

3 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 162 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1241
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1281
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-4200/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0603
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0608


contemporaneously serve as a member of the Commission. The Department of Transportation
and the Department of Rail and Public Transportation shall make their employees available to
assist the Commission, upon request.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2604. Decisions of Commission
A majority of the Commission, which majority shall include at least a majority of the total of
chief elected officers and elected officials who represent the counties and cities embraced by the
Commission, or their designees pursuant to § 33.2-2602, shall constitute a quorum. Decisions of
the Commission shall require a quorum and shall be in accordance with voting procedures
established by the Commission. In all cases, decisions of the Commission shall require the
affirmative vote of two-thirds of the members of the Commission, or their designees, present and
voting, and two-thirds of the total of chief elected officers and elected officials who represent the
counties and cities embraced by Planning District 23, or their designees, who are present and
voting and whose counties and cities include at least two-thirds of the population embraced by
the Commission; however, no motion to fund a specific facility or service shall fail because of
this population criterion if such facility or service is not located or to be located or provided or to
be provided within the county or city whose chief elected officer's or elected official's, or its
respective designee's, sole negative vote caused the facility or service to fail to meet the
population criterion. The population of counties and cities embraced by the Commission shall be
the population as determined by the most recently preceding decennial census, except that on
July 1 of the fifth year following such census, the population of each county and city shall be
adjusted, based on population estimates made by the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service of
the University of Virginia.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678;2015, c. 232;2016, cc. 603, 608.
  
§ 33.2-2605. Annual budget and allocation of expenses
A. The Commission shall adopt an annual budget and develop a funding plan and shall provide
for such adoption in its bylaws. The funding plan shall provide for the expenditure of funds over
a four- to six-year period and shall align with the Statewide Transportation Plan established
pursuant to § 33.2-353 as much as possible. The Commission shall solicit public comment on its
budget and funding plan by posting a summary of such budget and funding plan on its website
and holding a public hearing. Such public hearing shall be advertised on the Commission's
website and in a newspaper of general circulation in Planning District 23.
  
B. The administrative and operating expenses of the Commission shall be provided in an annual
budget adopted by the Commission. To the extent that funds for such expenses are not provided
from other sources, the expenses shall be paid from the Fund and the Regional Transit Fund on
an approximately pro rata basis of the programs supported by the Fund and the Regional Transit
Fund. Such budget shall be limited solely to the administrative and operating expenses of the
Commission and shall not include any funds for construction or acquisition of transportation
facilities or the performance of any transportation service.
  
C. Members may be reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary expenses provided in §§ 2.2-
2813 and 2.2-2825, if approved by the Commission. Funding for the costs of compensation and
expenses of the members shall be provided by the Commission.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678;2016, cc. 603, 608;2020, cc. 1241, 1281.

4 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 163 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-2602/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0232
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0232
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0603
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0608
/vacode/33.2-353/
/vacode/2.2-2813/
/vacode/2.2-2813/
/vacode/2.2-2825/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0603
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0608
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?161+ful+CHAP0608
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1241
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP1281


  
§ 33.2-2606. Authority to issue bonds
The Commission may issue bonds and other evidences of debt as may be authorized by this
section or other law. The provisions of Article 5 (§ 33.2-1920 et seq.) of Chapter 19 shall apply,
mutatis mutandis, to the issuance of such bonds or other debt. The Commission may issue bonds
or other debt in such amounts as it deems appropriate. The bonds may be supported by any funds
available, except that funds from tolls collected pursuant to § 33.2-2607 shall be used only as
provided in that section.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2607. Powers of the Commission
Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this title and in accordance with all applicable federal
statutes and requirements, the Commission shall control and operate and may impose and
collect tolls in amounts established by the Commission for the use of any new or improved
highway, bridge, or tunnel, to increase capacity on such facility or to address congestion within
Planning District 23, constructed by the Commission (i) with federal, state, or local funds, (ii)
solely with revenues of the Commission, or (iii) with revenues under the control of the
Commission. The amount of any such toll may be varied from facility to facility, by lane, by
congestion levels, by day of the week, by time of day, by type or size of vehicle, by number of
axles, or by any similar combination thereof or any other factor the Commission may deem
proper, and a reduced rate may be established for commuters as defined by the Commission. All
such tolls shall be used for programs and projects that are reasonably related to or benefit the
users of the new or improved highway, bridge, or tunnel, including, but not limited to, for the
debt service and other costs of bonds whose proceeds are used for construction or improvement
of such highway, bridge, or tunnel.
  
Any tolls imposed by the Commission shall be collected by an electronic toll system that, to the
extent possible, shall not impede the traffic flow of the facility or prohibit a toll facility from
retaining means of nonautomated toll collection in some lanes of the facility. For all facilities
tolled by the Commission, there shall be signs erected prior to the point of toll collection that
clearly state how the majority of the toll revenue is being spent by the Commission to benefit the
users of the facility.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2608. Additional powers of the Commission
A. The Commission shall have the following powers together with all powers incidental thereto
or necessary for the performance of those hereinafter stated:
  
1. To sue and be sued and to prosecute and defend, at law or in equity, in any court having
jurisdiction of the subject matter and of the parties;
  
2. To adopt and use a corporate seal and to alter the same at its pleasure;
  
3. To procure insurance, participate in insurance plans, and provide self-insurance; however, the
purchase of insurance, participation in an insurance plan, or the creation of a self-insurance plan
by the Commission shall not be deemed a waiver or relinquishment of any sovereign immunity to
which the Commission or its officers, directors, employees, or agents are otherwise entitled;
  
4. To establish bylaws and make all rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the provisions of

5 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 164 of 266

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-1920/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-2607/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678


this chapter, deemed expedient for the management of the Commission's affairs;
  
5. To apply for and accept money, materials, contributions, grants, or other financial assistance
from the United States and agencies or instrumentalities thereof; the Commonwealth; and any
political subdivision, agency, or instrumentality of the Commonwealth; and from any legitimate
private source;
  
6. To acquire real and personal property or any interest therein by purchase, lease, gift, or
otherwise for purposes consistent with this chapter and to hold, encumber, sell, or otherwise
dispose of such land or interest for purposes consistent with this chapter;
  
7. To acquire by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise, highways, bridges, or tunnels and to
construct the same by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise;
  
8. In consultation with the Commonwealth Transportation Board and with each city or county in
which the facility or any part thereof is or is to be located, to repair, expand, enlarge, construct,
reconstruct, or renovate any or all highways, bridges, and tunnels within Planning District 23 and
to acquire any real or personal property needed for any such purpose;
  
9. To enter into agreements or leases with public or private entities for the operation and
maintenance of bridges, tunnels, transit and rail facilities, and highways;
  
10. To make and execute contracts, deeds, mortgages, leases, and all other instruments and
agreements necessary or convenient for the performance of its duties and the exercise of its
powers and functions under this chapter;
  
11. To the extent funds are made or become available to the Commission to do so, to employ
employees, agents, advisors, and consultants, including without limitation attorneys, financial
advisers, engineers, and other technical advisers and, the provisions of any other law to the
contrary notwithstanding, to determine their duties and compensation; and
  
12. To the extent not inconsistent with the other provisions of this chapter, and without limiting
or restricting the powers otherwise given the Commission, to exercise all of the powers given to
transportation district commissions by § 33.2-1919.
  
B. The Commission shall comply with the provisions governing localities contained in § 15.2-
2108.23.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2609. Commission a responsible public entity under Public-Private Transportation Act of
1995
The Commission is a responsible public entity as defined in § 33.2-1800 and shall be regulated in
accordance with the terms of the Public-Private Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.)
and regulations and guidelines adopted pursuant thereto.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2610. Continuing responsibilities of the Commonwealth Transportation Board and the
Department of Transportation
Except as otherwise explicitly provided in this chapter, until such time as the Commission and
the Department of Transportation, or the Commission and the Commonwealth Transportation

6 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 165 of 266

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-1919/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-2108.23/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/15.2-2108.23/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-1800/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/33.2-1800/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678


Board, agree otherwise in writing, the Commonwealth Transportation Board shall allocate
funding to and the Department of Transportation shall perform or cause to be performed all
maintenance and operation of the bridges, tunnels, and roadways and shall perform such other
required services and activities with respect to such bridges, tunnels, and roadways as were being
performed on July 1, 2014.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2611. Use of revenues by the Commission
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, all moneys received by the Commission
shall be used by the Commission solely for the benefit of those counties and cities that are
embraced by the Commission, and such moneys shall be used by the Commission in a manner
that is consistent with the purposes stated in this chapter.
  
2014, cc. 545, 678.
  
§ 33.2-2612. Additional tolling authority of the Commission
A. For the purposes of this section, "the facility" means the vicinity of the interchange of
Interstate 64 and Jefferson Avenue to the interchange of Interstate 64, Interstate 264, and
Interstate 664.
  
B. The Commission shall, subject to the conditions provided in this section, have the authority to
impose and collect tolls on high-occupancy toll lanes on Interstate 64 in the facility. The tolls
shall be collected by an electronic toll system that, to the extent possible, shall not impede the
traffic flow of the facility. The tolls authorized by this section may only be imposed on a portion
of the facility that has been designated as high-occupancy toll lanes by the Board pursuant to §
33.2-502, and the amount of the tolls shall be varied by congestion level. All such tolls may be
used for programs and projects that are reasonably related to or that benefit users of the facility
and, without limiting the foregoing, may be used to pay the debt service on and related reserves
and financing costs for, and pledged to support, bonds and other evidences of indebtedness the
proceeds of which are or were used for construction or improvement of the facility.
  
C. Prior to the imposition of tolls pursuant to this section, the Commission shall enter into an
agreement with the Board and the Department that (i) sets the standards for the operations of
the facility, including the collection of tolls; (ii) addresses the use and application of toll
revenues and toll-backed debt proceeds and the reimbursement of any funds expended by the
Board or the Department to convert any portion of the facility from high-occupancy vehicle lanes
to high-occupancy toll lanes, as these terms are defined in § 33.2-500;and (iii) contains such
other provisions deemed appropriate and necessary to ensure the safe and efficient operations of
the general purpose and high-occupancy toll lanes on any portion of the facility where the
Commission intends to exercise the authority provided in subsection B.
  
2020, c. 703.
  

7 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 166 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0545
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?141+ful+CHAP0678
/vacode/33.2-502/
/vacode/33.2-500/
/vacode/33.2-500/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?201+ful+CHAP0703


Code of Virginia 
Title 33.2. Highways and Other Surface Transportation Systems 
Subtitle IV. Local and Regional Transportation
   
Chapter 33. Williamsburg Area Transit Authority
§ 33.2-3300. Authority created
There is hereby created a political subdivision of the Commonwealth known as the Williamsburg
Area Transit Authority, hereinafter known as "the Authority."
  
In addition to such other powers vested in the Authority by this chapter, the Authority shall have
the following powers and functions:
  
1. The Authority shall prepare a regional transit plan for all or a portion of the areas located
within the jurisdictional boundaries of each member locality. The regional transit plan may
include all or portions of those areas within the City of Williamsburg, the County of James City
and such portions of York County as its governing body desires to have covered, and the areas
owned or operated by the College of William and Mary in Virginia and the Colonial Williamsburg
Foundation, including transit improvements of regional significance, and those improvements
necessary or incidental thereto, and the Authority shall from time to time revise and amend the
plan.
  
2. The Authority may, when a transit plan is adopted according to subdivision 1, construct or
acquire, by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise, the transit facilities specified in such transit
plan.
  
3. The Authority may enter into agreements or leases with public or private entities for the
operation of its facilities, or may operate such facilities itself.
  
4. The Authority may enter into contracts or agreements with the counties and cities embraced
by the Authority, with other transit commissions of transportation districts adjoining any county
or city embraced by the Authority, with any transportation authority, or with any state, local,
private, or federal entity to provide, or cause to be provided, transit facilities and services to the
area embraced by the Authority. Such contracts or agreements, together with any agreements or
leases for the operation of such facilities, may be used by the Authority to finance the
construction and operation of transit facilities, and such contracts, agreements, or leases shall
inure to the benefit of any creditor of the Authority.
  
5. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the Authority may:
  
a. Acquire land or any interest therein by purchase, lease, or gift and provide transit facilities
thereon for use in connection with any transit service;
  
b. Acquire land or any interest therein by purchase, lease, or gift in advance of the need for sale
or contribution to an agency, for use by that agency in connection with an adopted transit plan;
or
  
c. Prepare a plan for mass transit services with persons, cities, counties, agencies, authorities, or
transportation commissions and may further contract with any such person or other entity to
provide necessary facilities, equipment, operations and maintenance, access, and insurance
pursuant to such plan.
  

1 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 167 of 266



2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6801; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3301. Counties and cities embraced by the Authority
Upon adoption of an approving ordinance by each of the respective governing bodies wishing to
join the Authority, the Authority shall embrace the County of James City, such portions of York
County as its governing body desires to have covered, and the City of Williamsburg.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6802; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3302. Composition of Authority; membership; terms
Upon adoption of an approving ordinance by each of the respective governing bodies wishing to
join the Authority, the Authority may consist of up to seven members as follows:
  
Two members representing James City County;
  
One member representing York County; and
  
One member representing the City of Williamsburg.
  
In addition, the county and municipal corporation members may elect up to three additional
members to represent the interests of higher-education facilities and private, nonprofit tourist-
driven agencies in the Williamsburg area, provided that such member facilities and organizations
contribute significant financial resources to the Authority.
  
The Authority shall appoint the chairman and vice-chairman.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6803; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3303. Staff
The Authority shall employ an executive director and such staff as it deems necessary to carry
out its duties and responsibilities under this chapter. No such person shall contemporaneously
serve as a member of the Authority. The Department of Transportation and the Department of
Rail and Public Transportation shall make their employees available to assist the Authority, upon
request.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6804; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3304. Decisions of Authority
A majority of the members of the Authority shall constitute a quorum. Decisions of the Authority
shall require a quorum and shall be in accordance with voting procedures established by the
Authority.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6805; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3305. Allocation of certain Authority expenses among component members
The administrative expenses of the Authority, as provided in an annual budget adopted by the
Authority, to the extent funds for such expenses are not provided from other sources, shall be
allocated among the component counties, city, and educational and nonprofit agencies pursuant
to a funding formula as duly adopted by the Authority.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6806; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3306. Payment to members of Authority

2 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 168 of 266

http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256


The members of the Authority may be paid for their services compensation in either (i) the
amount provided in the general appropriation act for members of the General Assembly engaged
in legislative business between sessions or (ii) a lesser amount as determined by the Authority.
Members may be reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary expenses provided in §§ 2.2-2813
and 2.2-2825, if approved by the Authority. Funding for the costs of compensation and expenses
of the members shall be provided by the Authority.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6807; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3307. Formation of advisory committees
The Authority may, in its discretion, form advisory committees to assist the Authority.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6808; 2015, c. 256.
  
§ 33.2-3308. Other duties and responsibilities of Authority
In addition to other powers herein granted, the Authority shall have the following duties and
responsibilities:
  
1. General oversight of Williamsburg area programs involving mass transit or congestion
mitigation;
  
2. Long-range transit planning in the Williamsburg area, both financially constrained and
financially unconstrained;
  
3. Recommending to state, regional, and federal agencies regional transit priorities, including
public-private transit projects and funding allocations;
  
4. Allocating to priority regional transit projects any funds made available to the Authority and,
at the discretion of the Authority, directly overseeing such projects;
  
5. Recommending to the Commonwealth Transportation Board priority regional transit projects
for receipt of federal and state funds;
  
6. Serving as an advocate for the transit needs of the Williamsburg area before the state and
federal governments;
  
7. Applying to and negotiating with the government of the United States, the Commonwealth, or
any agency or instrumentality thereof, for grants and any other funds available to carry out the
purposes of this chapter and receiving, holding, accepting, and administering from any source
gifts, bequests, grants, aid, or contributions of money, property, labor, or other things of value to
be held, used, and applied to carry out the purposes of this chapter subject, however, to any
conditions upon which gifts, bequests, grants, aid, or contributions are made. Unless otherwise
restricted by the terms of the gift, bequest, or grant, the Authority may sell, exchange, or
otherwise dispose of such money, securities, or other property given or bequeathed to it in
furtherance of its purposes.
  
2006, c. 179, § 15.2-6809; 2015, c. 256.
  

3 11/9/2023 12:00:00 AM

March 7, 2024 Page 169 of 266

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/2.2-2813/
http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/2.2-2825/
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?061+ful+CHAP0179
http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?151+ful+CHAP0256


Region 10 Transit Governance Study                   
 

 Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission   
   

 

 
     
    
    
    
    
    

    

 
       

 

 
 
 

  
 
   
  

March 7, 2024 Page 170 of 266



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION (TJPDC) 
Minutes, February 8, 2024 

 

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT 
IN

 P
ER

SO
N

 

RE
M

O
TE

 

STAFF PRESENT 

IN
 P

ER
SO

N
 

RE
M

O
TE

 

Albemarle County  Christine Jacobs, Executive Director x  
Ned Gallaway, Chair x  David Blount, Deputy Director  x 
Mike Pruitt x  Ruth Emerick, Chief Operating Officer x  

Fluvanna County  Laura Greene, Director of Finance x  

Tony O’Brien, Vice Chair x  Sandy Shackelford, Director of Planning and 
Transportation x  

Keith Smith, Treasurer x  Lucinda Shannon, Senior Regional Planner x  
Greene County  Sara Pennington, TDM Program Manager x  

Tim Goolsby x  Logan Ende, Regional Housing Planner x  
James Higgins x     

Louisa County     
Tommy Barlow       
Manning Woodward x     

Nelson County      
Ernie Reed x  GUESTS/PUBLIC PRESENT   
Jesse Rutherford x  Natalie Oschrin  x 

City of Charlottesville  Andrea Wilkinson  x 
Phil d’Oronzio  x  Dale Herring  x 
Michael Payne x  Neil Williamson  x 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  

 
a. Call to Order, Roll Call: 
 
The Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (TJPDC) Commission Chair, Ned Gallaway, 
presided and called the meeting to order at 7:01 pm. Ruth Emerick took attendance by roll call and 
certified that a quorum was present.  
 

b. Vote to Allow Electronic Participation: Not needed. 
 
 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 171 of 266



Q:\Administration\Commission\Commission Packets\PDC Packets FY24\February 2024\TJPDC Draft Minutes 2.8.24 2 
 

2. MATTERS FROM THE PUBLIC:  
 

a. Comments by the Public: None. 
 
b. Comments provided via email, online, web site, etc.: None. 

 
 
3. PRESENTATIONS: 

 
a. Introductions and Welcome to New Commissioners 
 

Ned Gallaway welcomed four new TJPD Commissioners. All Commissioners introduced themselves 
briefly. The new Commissioners are Supervisor Mike Pruitt (Albemarle County), Supervisor Manning 
Woodward (Louisa County), Supervisor Tim Goolsby (Greene County), and Mr. James Higgins (Green 
County, Citizen Appointee). 

 

b. Introduction and Welcome to New Staff 
 

Ruth Emerick, Chief Operating Officer, introduced the new Regional Housing Planner, Logan Ende, who 
joined TJPDC’s staff in January. 

 

c. Resolutions of Appreciation 
 

Ned Gallaway shared words of thanks for the longtime service of Dale Herring and Andrea Wilkinson 
on the TJPD Commission.  

 

i. Dale Herring, Greene County 
 

Motion/Action: On a motion by Jesse Rutherford, seconded by Phil d’Oronzio, the Commission 
unanimously adopted the resolution of appreciation for Dale Herring. 

 

ii. Andrea Wilkinson, Greene County (Citizen Appointee) 
 

Motion/Action: On a motion by Jesse Rutherford, seconded by Phil d’Oronzio, the Commission 
unanimously adopted the resolution of appreciation for Andrea Wilkinson. 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA: Action Items 
 

a. Minutes of December 7, 2023 Meeting 

March 7, 2024 Page 172 of 266



Q:\Administration\Commission\Commission Packets\PDC Packets FY24\February 2024\TJPDC Draft Minutes 2.8.24 3 
 

 
Motion/Action: On a motion by Phil d’Oronzio, seconded by Mike Pruitt, the Commission unanimously 
approved the December 7, 2023 Commission meeting minutes as presented, with abstention by 
Manning Woodward. 

 
5. NEW BUSINESS: 
 

a. November and December Financial Reports 
 
Finance Director Laura Greene gave an overview of the financial reports for November and December. 
 
Motion/Action: On a motion by Keith Smith, seconded by Tony O’Brien, the Commission unanimously 
accepted the financial reports as presented. 

 
b. FY25 Rideshare Work Program and Resolution  
 
Sara Pennington, TDM Program Manager, shared information about the proposed FY25 work program 
for RideShare and Transportation Demand Management. The grant application was submitted by the 
due date of February 1st. 
 
Motion/Action: On a motion by Mike Pruitt, seconded by Phil d’Oronzio, the Commission unanimously 
approved the Resolution of Support for the FY25 RideShare work program and grant application. 

 
c.  FY25 Mobility Management Grant Application, Presentation, and Resolution 
 
Lucinda Shannon, Senior Regional Planner, shared an update on the Mobility Management program 
and what is planned if FY25 grant funds are secured. The grant application was submitted by the due 
date of February 1st. 
 
Motion/Action: On a motion by Phil d’Oronzio, seconded by Keith Smith, the Commission 
unanimously approved the Resolution of Support for a FY25 Mobility Management grant application.  

 

d. US Department of Transportation RAISE Grant Presentation and Resolution 
 
Sandy Shackelford, Director of Planning and Transportation, reviewed the RAISE grant application 
previously submitted for Preliminary Engineering Phase for the proposed Rivanna Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Bridge. Sandy shared that staff were encouraged by USDOT to resubmit the application in 
the 2024 round due to the project’s merit status and high score in the first round. 
 
Motion/Action: On a motion by Phil d’Oronzio, seconded by Mike Pruitt, the Commission unanimously 
approved the Resolution of Support for a RAISE Grant Application to fund Preliminary Engineering (PE 
phase) for the Rivanna River Bicycle and Pedestrian Bridge. 

March 7, 2024 Page 173 of 266



Q:\Administration\Commission\Commission Packets\PDC Packets FY24\February 2024\TJPDC Draft Minutes 2.8.24 4 
 

 

e. FY24 Draft Amended Budget 
 
Executive Director Christine Jacobs presented the FY24 Draft Amended Budget. The final draft will be 
brought to the Commission at the March meeting for approval. 

 

6. OLD BUSINESS:  
 

a. None 
 
7. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT: 

 
Monthly Report:  
 

Project milestones for VATI were shared, including the completion of 1,079 miles of make ready 
construction, two communication huts set, 682 miles of aerial fiber placement, 312 miles of 
underground fiber placement, 509 miles of splicing, and 6,714 passings. In December, TJPDC staff 
conducted a site visit to inspect newly installed fiber railroad crossings in Albemarle County. 
 
The final draft report for the Transit Governance Study has been presented to all the member 
jurisdictions and will be brought to the Commission for consideration in March. 
 
A Safety Summit was held in January as a core part of the Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) project. 
The information gathered will supplement data with local information for the Comprehensive Safety 
Action Plan. 
 
The Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) consulting team will be in person in 
February to work with the strategy committees of TJPDC and RRRC. The workshops will help confirm 
the draft strategies and begin to discuss implementation and the most appropriate responsible leads 
for each strategy.  
 
The TJPDC was awarded a $275,000 grant from Virginia Department of Housing and Community 
Development (DHCD) to continue the VERP pilot program through calendar year 2024. 

 

8. OTHER BUSINESS: 
 

a. Roundtable Discussion by Jurisdiction: Each Commissioner was invited to share updates from their 
jurisdiction.  

 
b. Items for Next Meeting – March 7, 2024 

i. FY24 TJPDC Amended Budget (Consideration for Approval) 
ii. FY25 Rural Transportation Work Program and Budget 
iii. Transit Governance Study Final Report 

March 7, 2024 Page 174 of 266



Q:\Administration\Commission\Commission Packets\PDC Packets FY24\February 2024\TJPDC Draft Minutes 2.8.24 5 
 

iv. Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) Update 
v. Executive Director Evaluation Process Begins 

 

9. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

Motion/Action: On a motion by Jesse Rutherford, seconded by Tony O’Brien, the Commission 
unanimously voted to adjourn the February 8, 2024, Commission meeting at 9:09 pm. 

  
 

Commission materials and meeting recording may be found at www.tjpdc.org 

March 7, 2024 Page 175 of 266

http://www.tjpdc.org/


 FY 24 FINANCIAL DASHBOARD   
Through January 2024 

 
MONTHLY NET QUICK ASSETS 

Jan’23 = $1,025,890 
Feb’23 = $1,028,551 
Mar’23 = $1,067,654 
Apr’23 = $1,092,951 
May’23 = $1,097,425 
Jun’23 = $1,073,885 
July’23 = $1,092,237 
Aug’23 = $1,146,254 
Sept’23 = $1,177,731 
Oct’23 = $1,232,483 
Nov’23 = 1,259,409 
Dec’23 = 1,273,774 
Jan’24 = $1,309,673 

 
 

 

NET QUICK ASSETS are the highly liquid assets held by the agency, including cash, marketable securities, and ac-
counts receivable. Net quick assets (NQA) are calculated as current assets (cash + marketable securities + prepaid 
assets + accounts receivable) minus current liabilities of payables and deferred revenue. The target is 5 months 
of operating expenses (TJPDC costs minus pass-through and project contractual expenses), based on a rolling 
twelve-month average. The Commission has earmarked excess NQA above the target as Capital Reserves. As of 
the end of January 2024, the TJPDC had 9.45 months of operating expenses. The rolling twelve-month average 
operating expenses increased to $138,563. The 3-month average operating expenses are $134,110. Actual op-
erating expenses for January were $141,775. Capital reserves = $1,309,673 -$692,814 = $616,859 (NQA minus 5 
months operating expenses) 

UNRESTRICTED CASH ON HAND  
consists of funds held in check-
ing and money market accounts 
immediately available to TJPDC 
for expenses. Cash does not in-
clude pass-through deposits in 
transit. Total cash minus notes 
payable minus deferred reve-
nue = Unrestricted Cash on 
Hand.  
 
MONTHS OF UNRESTRICTED CASH 
divides unrestricted cash on 
hand by the agency’s average 
monthly operating expenses to 

$0
$100,000
$200,000
$300,000
$400,000
$500,000
$600,000
$700,000
$800,000
$900,000

UNRESTRICTED CASH ON HAND
Target = $554,251 (4 months operating expenses)

Alarm = <$277,126 (average oper exp 2 mos)

$0

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

$3,000,000

$4,000,000

$5,000,000

$6,000,000

$7,000,000

$8,000,000

NET QUICK ASSETS
Target = $692,814 (5 months operating expenses)

12 Month Average Monthly Operating Expenses = $138,563 

Current Assets Current Liabilities Current Net

March 7, 2024 Page 176 of 266



 FY 24 FINANCIAL DASHBOARD   
Through January 2024 

 $-
 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00
 $1,500,000.00
 $2,000,000.00
 $2,500,000.00
 $3,000,000.00
 $3,500,000.00

REVENUE/EXPENSES/PASS THROUGH
Virginia Telecommunications Initiative (VATI) Only

 Revenue  Admin Expenses  Pass Through

give the number of months of operation without any additional cash received. January’s financials indicate that 
there were 2.71 months of unrestricted cash on hand available.  

NET REVENUE: 

MONTHLY NET REVENUE 
Jan’23 = $28,072 
Feb’23 = $5,679 

Mar’23 = $35,561 
Apr’23 = $24,332 
May’23 = $17,601 
Jun’23 = ($24,309) 
Jul’23 = $30,661 

Aug’23 = $51,168 
Sept’23 = $32,138 
Oct’23 = $54,532 
Nov’23 = $24,355 
Dec’23 = $14,096 
Jan’24 = $34,814 

 
 
 
 
 

MONTHLY ADMIN 
Jan’23 = $16,157 
Feb’23 = $19,917 
Mar’23 = $23,106 
Apr’23 = $18,772 
May’23 = $21,592 
Jun’23 = $16,734 
Jul’23 = $15,531 

Aug’23 = $23,924 
Sept’23 = $21,064 
Oct’23 = $22,897 
Nov’23 = $18,290 
Dec’23 = $19,456 
Jan’24 = $22,308 

 

 

NET REVENUE is the surplus or shortfall resulting from monthly revenues minus expenses. To prevent skewing of 
the data, pass through revenue and expenses from the Virginia Telecommunications Program (VATI) have been 

-$50,000
$50,000

$150,000
$250,000
$350,000
$450,000
$550,000
$650,000
$750,000
$850,000
$950,000

$1,050,000
$1,150,000

REVENUE LESS EXPENSES
(Excludes Virginia Telecommunications Initiative - VATI)

Goal = $4,166 ($50,000 annually)
Concern Area = 3 consecutive negative months

Rev Exp Pass Thru Exp Total Exp Net Change

March 7, 2024 Page 177 of 266



 FY 24 FINANCIAL DASHBOARD   
Through January 2024 

removed from the Revenue Less Expenses graph/data and are reported separately in the VATI revenues, ex-
penses, and pass through graph both shown above.   

The agency’s net gain in January was $34,814. The December Accrued Revenue Report shows the total average 
available funds of $241,591 for the remaining 5 months in FY24, which is ample revenue to cover projected 
expenses.  

NOTES 
1. Target is a reasonable expectation that the TJPDC may reach this level to achieve our long-range financial 

goals. A plan will be developed showing how these target goals are expected to be achieved through 
daily financial management practices.  

2. Concern is a level where staff will immediately identify causes of the change in financial position, 
whether this is a special one-time circumstance caused by a financial action or whether a trend is emerg-
ing caused by one of more operational or financial circumstances and prepare a plan of action to correct 
or reverse the trend. 

3. Back up documentation and details of this Financial Dashboard can be found in the monthly financial 
statements of Balance Sheet, Consolidated Profit and Loss Report, and the Accrued Revenue Report 
supplied to the TJPDC Commissioners.  

4. The average monthly operating expense is a rolling twelve-month average of operating expenses (TJPDC 
costs minus pass-through and project contractual expenses).  

5. The TJPDC earmarked some of TJPDC’s reserves for a building or capital fund in FY18, tied to Net Quick 
Assets.  

March 7, 2024 Page 178 of 266



Jan 24 Budget Jul '23 - Jan 24 YTD Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

41100 · Federal Funding Source 738,617 4,213,626 8,623,233 29,495,384 50,563,516

4120 · State Funding Source 56,762 94,403 425,551 660,822 1,132,838
4130 · Local Source 1,308,187 252,627 3,878,974 1,770,489 3,033,624

42000 · Local Match Per Capita 14,255 14,255 99,782 99,782 171,055

4280 · Interest Income 6,014 2,083 31,748 14,583 25,000

Total Income 2,123,835 4,576,994 13,059,288 32,041,061 54,926,033

Gross Profit 2,123,835 4,576,994 13,059,288 32,041,061 54,926,033

Expense
61000 · Personnel 104,559 112,414 724,902 786,791 1,348,963

6900 · Reimb. Overhead Allocation 0 0 0 (57) 0
6240 · Advertising 1,697 2,532 2,748 17,726 30,388
62394 · Audit -Legal Expenses 1,583 4,333 16,508 30,333 52,000

6258 · Bank Charges (4) 0 156 0 0
6260 · COGS 2,288 4,575 0 0
6281 · Dues 2,062 1,104 7,183 7,727 13,246
6242 · Employee Search 0 50
63210 · Equipment/Data Use 168 2,393 6,310 16,753 28,720

62850 · Insurance 578 583 4,515 4,083 7,000

6345 · Janitorial Service 40 500 1,685 3,500 6,000
6450 · Meeting Expenses 519 837 2,821 5,856 10,039
6310 · Postage 145 195 85 1,367 2,344
62890 · Printing/Copier 100 550 1,166 3,850 6,600

62401 · Professional Dev-Conference 822 2,651 12,745 18,556 31,810

6320 · Rent 17,282 8,516 69,057 61,714 104,296
6280 · Subscription-Publications 0 154 83 1,079 1,850
6290 · Supplies 625 723 4,415 5,062 8,678
6600 · Telephone 1,159 749 8,072 5,245 8,992
62410 · TJPDC Contractual 5,703 11,986 55,876 83,905 143,837

63300 · Travel 2,450 3,543 16,261 24,804 42,521

Total Expense 141,775 153,765 939,212 1,078,297 1,847,284

Net Ordinary Income 1,982,059 4,423,229 12,120,076 30,962,764 53,078,748

Other Income/Expense
Other Expense

83000 · HOME Pass-Through 36,683 77,478 580,916 542,343 929,730

8399 · Grants Contractual Services 1,910,563 4,337,647 11,300,052 30,363,531 52,051,768

Total Other Expense 1,947,246 4,415,125 11,880,968 30,905,874 52,981,498

Net Other Income (1,947,246) (4,415,125) (11,880,968) (30,905,874) (52,981,498)

Net Income 34,814 8,104 239,108 56,890 97,250

Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 10:39 AM

Consolidated Profit and Loss 02/27/24

January 2024 Accrual Basis

Page 1
March 7, 2024 Page 179 of 266



Jan 31, 24 Jan 31, 23 $ Change

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
1100 · Cash 841,502.31 935,702.85 -94,200.54

1189 · Capital Reserve 616,859.00 411,094.00 205,765.00

Total Checking/Savings 1,458,361.31 1,346,796.85 111,564.46

Accounts Receivable
1190 · Receivable Grants 3,277,460.37 733,780.48 2,543,679.89

Total Accounts Receivable 3,277,460.37 733,780.48 2,543,679.89

Other Current Assets
1310 · Prepaid Rent 2,025.00 2,025.00 0.00
1330 · Prepaid Insurance 3,392.02 10,724.76 -7,332.74
1360 · Prepaid Other 5,814.56 15,656.16 -9,841.60

Total Other Current Assets 11,231.58 28,405.92 -17,174.34

Total Current Assets 4,747,053.26 2,108,983.25 2,638,070.01

Fixed Assets
1411 · Power Edge T340 Server 9,175.61 9,175.61 0.00
1413 · Server Software 5,197.50 5,197.50 0.00
1400 · Office furniture and Equipment 122,334.57 122,334.57 0.00

1499 · Accumulated Depreciation -115,327.95 -105,466.20 -9,861.75

Total Fixed Assets 21,379.73 31,241.48 -9,861.75

TOTAL ASSETS 4,768,432.99 2,140,224.73 2,628,208.26

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

2100 · Accounts Payable-General 2,943,406.95 616,533.15 2,326,873.80

Total Accounts Payable 2,943,406.95 616,533.15 2,326,873.80

Credit Cards
2155 · Accounts Payable Credit Card 7,699.53 5,051.33 2,648.20

Total Credit Cards 7,699.53 5,051.33 2,648.20

Other Current Liabilities
2150 · Accounts Payable Grants 0.00 0.00 0.00

2159 · Accrued Expenses 11,083.33 0.00 11,083.33
2160 · Accrued Payroll Payable 8,657.75 4,695.66 3,962.09
2460 · Fitness Requirement Payable 0.00 76.50 -76.50

2467 · 457 Supplemental Contributions 0.00 1,485.40 -1,485.40
2468 · 401A VRS Contribution -0.03 2,961.02 -2,961.05
2469 · Hybrid VRS Contribution 0.00 92.10 -92.10
2470 · Hybrid-457 0.00 1,046.58 -1,046.58
2800 · Deferred Revenue 466,532.50 477,249.70 -10,717.20

Total Other Current Liabilities 486,273.55 487,606.96 -1,333.41

Total Current Liabilities 3,437,380.03 1,109,191.44 2,328,188.59

Long Term Liabilities
2200 · Leave Payable 50,303.68 35,954.09 14,349.59

Total Long Term Liabilities 50,303.68 35,954.09 14,349.59

Total Liabilities 3,487,683.71 1,145,145.53 2,342,538.18

Equity

10:38 AM Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

02/27/24 Balance Sheet Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis As of January 31, 2024

Page 1
March 7, 2024 Page 180 of 266



Jan 31, 24 Jan 31, 23 $ Change

3000 · General Operating Fund 403,402.19 493,328.46 -89,926.27

3100 · Restricted Capital Reserve 616,859.00 411,094.00 205,765.00
3600 · Net Investment in Fixed Assets 21,379.73 27,416.45 -6,036.72
Net Income 239,108.36 63,240.29 175,868.07

Total Equity 1,280,749.28 995,079.20 285,670.08

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 4,768,432.99 2,140,224.73 2,628,208.26

10:38 AM Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission

02/27/24 Balance Sheet Prev Year Comparison
Accrual Basis As of January 31, 2024

Page 2
March 7, 2024 Page 181 of 266



Accrued Revenue by Grant or Contract
For Year Ending June 30, 2024

Program 
Code

PROGRAM CONTRACTS/GRANTS
Without Pass-Thrus

  TOTAL PROGRAM 
CONTRACT/

GRANT AMOUNT 
 JULY 
2023 

 AUGUST
2023 

 SEPTEMBER
2023 

 OCTOBER
2023 

 NOVEMBER
2023 

 DECEMBER 
2023  JANUARY 2024 

 YEAR TO DATE 
FY24  PREVIOUS YEARS 

 ESTIMATED BUDGET 
AMOUNT FOR FY25+  GRANT TO DATE 

 GRANT-CONTRACT 
REMAINING FY24 NOTES

110 State Support to PDC (DHCD) 89,971.00$                               7,497.58$                           7,497.58$                      7,497.59$        7,497.58$            7,497.58$           7,497.58$           7,497.58$             52,483$                 52,483$                              37,488$                                  State funding to TJPDC General
110 TJPDC Corporation -$                                           -$                       -$                                     -$                                        501(c)3 Non-profit Arm
110 Bank Interest 31,140.00$                               3,889.77$                           3,705.63$                      3,701.04$        4,133.19$            4,485.99$           5,400.31$           5,823.85$             31,140$                 31,140$                              0$                                            Investment Pool Savings Income
120 SCRC 23,000.00$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  5,137.38$            3,807.22$           -$                     510.10$                9,455$                   5,750$                                     9,455$                                7,795$                                    SCRC Cooperative Agreement (Oct 1-Sept 30)

170/171 Rural Transportation 58,000.00$                               6,393.54$                           4,253.93$                      4,246.43$        7,685.21$            4,696.11$           3,866.93$           4,874.54$             36,017$                 36,017$                              21,983$                                  VDOT Rural Transp Planning
273 Water Street Center & Office Leases 15,000.00$                               2,057.50$                           1,810.00$                      1,917.50$        1,950.00$            1,460.00$           2,467.50$           2,312.50$             13,975$                 13,975$                              1,025$                                    Rental Fees
277 Legislative Liaison 106,909.00$                             6,157.74$                           9,480.21$                      8,010.49$        13,310.82$          9,251.56$           7,531.44$           15,438.84$          69,181$                 69,181$                              37,728$                                  *Legislative Operations  - $12,700 in deferred revenue budgeted
278 VAPDC-ED 55,323.62$                               4,906.95$                           4,700.28$                      4,644.83$        4,583.33$            4,583.33$           4,583.33$           4,583.33$             32,585$                 32,585$                              22,738$                                  Contract for Admin Services
296 Member Per Capita 171,055.00$                             14,254.55$                        14,254.43$                   14,254.43$     14,254.50$          14,254.49$         14,254.52$         14,254.50$          99,781$                 99,781$                              71,274$                                  Local Govt Annual Contributions
303 Solid Waste 10,500.00$                               194.97$                              974.85$                         586.59$           1,040.68$            1,357.29$           1,413.53$           974.28$                6,542$                   3,958$                                     6,542$                                (0)$                                           Contract for annual reporting
325 Mineral Comp Plan 16,548.68$                               3,455.66$             3,456$                   3,456$                                13,093$                                  Contract for Support Developing Town of Mineral Comprehensive Plan
334 Nelson TAP 10,000.00$                               -$                                     321.46$                         1,950.20$        844.37$                -$                     -$                     -$                       3,116$                   1,444$                                4,560$                                5,440$                                    Lovingston/Gladstone Transporation Alternative Grant Assistance
907 WIP Phase III - Contract #6 58,000.00$                               4,149.67$                           5,261.06$                      4,863.93$        6,449.34$            4,396.57$           2,656.40$           -$                       27,777$                 30,223$                              58,000$                              0$                                            Watershed Improvement Plan
907 WIP Phase III - Contract #7 58,000.00$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     8,187.38$             8,187$                   29,000$                                   8,187$                                20,813$                                  *Watershed Improvement Plan
908 RRBC 10,500.00$                               2,431.43$                           3,341.67$                      4,171.25$        83.70$                  123.30$               82.20$                 -$                       10,234$                 10,234$                              266$                                       Rivanna River Basin Commission

Program 
Code

PROGRAM CONTRACTS/GRANTS
With Pass-Thrus -$                                           

172 Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) 82,000.00$                               682.44$                              335.75$                         1,587.12$        3,450.24$            1,021.56$           1,473.76$           483.55$                9,034$                   49,200$                                   9,034$                                23,766$                                  *Estimated Completion - June 2025
            SS4A Pass-Thru 990,000.00$                             -$                                     -$                                8,980.60$        15,676.50$          -$                     45,996.40$         -$                       70,654$                 594,000$                                70,654$                              325,347$                               *Pass through to Kimley Horn, AvidCore, and VDOT

180A Mobility Management 50,921.00$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  910.08$                5,592.00$           4,989.48$           3,064.57$             14,556$                 12,730$                                   14,556$                              23,635$                                  *Mobility Management - Oct 1 - September 30, 2024
           Mobility Management Pass-Thru 68,449.00$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       17,112$                                   -$                                     51,337$                                  *Grant Match from local funds

180B Mobility Management - Branding 18,203.00$                               715.08$               427.20$                1,142$                   1,142$                                17,061$                                  BAMA grant, CACF grant, UVA contribution to support Mobility Management Launch
           Mobility Management Pass-Thru 29,297.00$                               -$                     2,120.26$             2,120$                   2,120$                                27,177$                                  Branding/Marketing Consultant for Mobility Management

181 RTP-TDM - Admin 72,060.00$                               8,799.89$                           9,131.39$                      4,684.41$        4,539.47$            4,116.89$           2,377.25$           4,775.40$             38,425$                 38,425$                              33,635$                                  *Regional Transit Partnership - *budget includes $20k deferred revenue
           RTP Pass-Thru -$                                           -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                                                                       -$                                     -$                                        *Grant Match if needed

184 Transit Governance Admin 37,723.00$                               1,999.86$                           2,271.76$                      4,760.68$        5,073.07$            5,529.20$           3,003.63$           -$                       22,638$                 14,010$                              36,648$                              1,075$                                    Regional Transit Governance Study - Admin
          Regional Transit Gov Pass-Thru 149,600.00$                             -$                                     4,716.64$                      -$                  -$                      16,726.90$         -$                     -$                       21,444$                 128,061$                           149,505$                            95$                                          Regional Transit Governance Study - Consultant

190/195/198 MPO-PL 278,199.50$                             19,745.69$                        21,306.29$                   23,265.24$     15,758.93$          15,193.19$         11,579.03$         14,870.16$          121,719$               121,719$                            156,481$                               MPO PL Transportation Planning
          MPO - PL - Consultant Pass-Thru 70,833.15$                               8,469.58$                           2,273.57$                      9,787.50$        8,392.50$            5,611.50$           4,680.00$           -$                       39,215$                 39,215$                              31,619$                                  LRTP Support Consultant

191/196/199 MPO-FTA 116,136.00$                             14,835.47$                        18,279.98$                   10,448.00$     7,609.00$            6,966.00$           11,925.00$         11,079.75$          81,143$                 81,143$                              34,993$                                  MPO FTA Transit Planning
           MPO - FTA Pass Thru -$                                           -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       -$                                     -$                                        Consultant Pass-thru if needed

193 Rideshare - Admin 174,198.00$                             16,535.85$                        18,764.63$                   8,127.52$        15,231.85$          12,246.98$         13,203.13$         16,114.47$          100,224$               100,224$                            73,974$                                  Rideshare TDM Program Marketing & Management
           Rideshare Pass-Thru -$                                           -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       -$                                     -$                                        N/A for FY24

194 Rideshare CAP Strategic Plan -$                                           -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       -$                                     -$                                        Rideshare Strategic Plan - One-time grant - TJPDC admin not covered
           Strategic Plan Pass-Thru 67,200.00$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     27,483.89$         15,237.37$          42,721$                 42,721$                              24,479$                                  Full grant is direct pass through to consultant

330 Hazard Mitigation - Admin 67,200.00$                               82.36$                                -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       82$                         66,679$                              66,761$                              439$                                       24 month planning project resiliency
           Haz Mit Pass-Thru -$                                           -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       -$                                     -$                                        Technical Support/Mapping (if needed)

333 EDA-CEDS - Admin 20,000.00$                               1,879.69$                           1,314.06$                      810.93$           1,456.77$            547.19$               723.46$               635.91$                7,368$                   7,723$                                15,091$                              4,909$                                    EDA administration
           EDA-CEDS - Pass-Thru 80,000.00$                               -$                                     5,600.00$                      10,400.00$     4,800.00$            5,600.00$           5,600.00$           5,600.00$             37,600$                 32,000$                              69,600$                              10,400$                                  EDA Consultant Pass-through

726 HOME ARP - Admin 367,841.00$                             4,470.13$                           4,755.44$                      2,455.77$        1,452.00$            1,945.81$           1,794.60$           4,627.12$             21,501$                 73,113$                              262,058$                                94,614$                              11,169$                                  *HUD-ARPA Planning funds (not to exceed 5% of grant) - $32,670 budgeted
           HOME ARP Pass-Thru 2,084,430.00$                         -$                                     26,008.88$                   -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       26,009$                 34,600$                              1,772,133$                             60,609$                              251,688$                               *Admin includes Consultant for Gap Analysis - $277697 budgeted

727-20 HOME-20 TJPDC Admin -$                                           -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       -$                                     -$                                        *HUD HOME-20 Housing Grants Admin
     HOME-20 Pass-Thru 118,323.76$                             -$                                     118,323.76$                 -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       118,324$               118,324$                            -$                                        *HUD HOME-20 Housing Grants Construction

727-21 HOME-21 TJPDC Admin 67,661.50$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       67,662$                              67,662$                              -$                                        *HUD HOME-21 Housing Grants Admin
     HOME-21 Pass-Thru 608,953.50$                             -$                                     7,650.00$                      3,000.00$        -$                      1,882.66$           17,135.00$         -$                       29,668$                 516,948$                           546,616$                            62,338$                                  *HUD HOME-21 Housing Grants Construction

727-22 HOME-22 TJPDC Admin 74,782.50$                               -$                                     -$                                -$                  -$                      -$                     -$                     -$                       -$                       -$                                     74,783$                                  *HUD HOME-22 Housing Grants Admin
     HOME-22 Pass-Thru 673,042.50$                             109,877.25$                      90,070.07$                   -$                  33,500.00$          7,266.55$           -$                     36,682.55$          277,396$               3,137$                                280,534$                            392,509$                               *HUD HOME-22 Housing Grants Construction

727-23 HOME-23 TJPDC Admin 78,528.60$                               6,429.95$                           4,271.11$                      912.29$           1,031.49$            3,792.72$           5,220.73$           3,390.09$             25,048$                 25,048$                              53,480$                                  *HUD HOME-23 Housing Grants Admin
     HOME-23 Pass-Thru 706,757.40$                             98,160.75$                   -$                  -$                      31,358.39$         -$                     -$                       129,519$               98,161$                              227,680$                            479,078$                               *HUD HOME-23 Housing Grants Construction

728-22 Housing Preservation Grant-22 - Admin 32,250.00$                               1,726.50$                           2,561.21$                      3,040.79$        2,096.03$            2,081.20$           2,639.76$           3,374.30$             17,520$                 7,631$                                     17,520$                              7,099$                                    *USDA Housing Repair Admin
     HPG-22 Pass-Thru 182,750.00$                             -$                                     30,702.51$                   9,386.50$        17,238.02$          35,026.62$         -$                     5,000.00$             97,354$                 42,783$                                   97,354$                              42,613$                                  *USDA Housing Repair Construction

728-23 Housing Preservation Grant-23 - Admin 31,865.25$                               -$                     1,460.69$             1,461$                   1,461$                                30,405$                                  *USDA Housing Repair Admin
     HPG-23 Pass-Thru 180,569.75$                             -$                                     5,957.50$           -$                       5,958$                   5,958$                                174,612$                               *USDA Housing Repair Construction

729 Regional Housing Partnership 55,000.00$                               7,918.74$                           18,253.26$                   4,344.00$        5,437.98$            10,445.95$         5,161.56$           3,033.22$             54,595$                 54,595$                              405$                                       Regional Housing Partnership
          RHP - Consultant Pass-Thru 14,096.00$                               1,490.59$                           -$                                2,816.35$        -$                      578.81$               -$                     9,193.72$             14,079$                 14,079$                              17$                                          Amy Nissenson - RHP Strategic Planning Consultant - One-time

732 CY23 VERP - Admin 11,876.00$                               1,334.14$                           1,905.83$                      1,118.69$        2,028.25$            477.70$               (1,873.77)$          4,991$                   6,885$                                11,876$                              0$                                            *VA Eviction Planning Grant - Admin
         VERP Pass-Thru 237,525.00$                             17,911.94$                        22,763.92$                   22,094.65$     25,112.49$          12,010.60$         36,635.86$         136,529$               100,996$                           237,525$                            (0)$                                           *VA Eviction Planning Grant - Consultants

732 CY24 VERP - Admin 13,750.00$                               1,549.15$             1,549$                   6,875$                                     1,549$                                5,326$                                    *VA Eviction Planning Grant - Admin
         VERP Pass-Thru 261,250.00$                             10,915.35$          10,915$                 130,625$                                10,915$                              119,710$                               *VA Eviction Planning Grant - Consultants

733 VA Housing Development - Admin 200,000.00$                             1,767.20$                           2,553.56$                      1,247.48$        3,928.77$            1,180.74$           813.56$               3,384.29$             14,876$                 59,551$                              74,427$                              125,573$                               *VA Housing PDC - Admin
         VA Housing Pass-Through 1,800,000.00$                         -$                                     20,000.00$                   20,000.00$     -$                      -$                     21,751.05$         -$                       61,751$                 630,476$                           692,227$                            1,107,773$                            *VA Housing PDC - Construction/Partnership

760 Blue Ridge Cigarette Tax Board 140,980.00$                             14,458.08$                        15,918.04$                   11,879.21$     17,919.10$          10,724.20$         9,197.51$           14,733.23$          94,829$                 94,829$                              46,151$                                  Includes Administrative Fees 
        Cig Tax Pass-Through 2,400,000.00$                         250,359.58$                      260,630.79$                 229,678.64$   223,708.07$        226,827.01$       213,037.28$       212,886.73$        1,617,128$           1,617,128$                        782,872$                               Pass through - direct costs

761 VATI - Admin 875,000.00$                             15,530.61$                        23,923.69$                   21,063.59$     22,897.06$          18,289.61$         19,455.71$         22,308.32$          143,469$               255,333$                           379,129$                                398,802$                            97,069$                                  *VATI Admin - 36-42 months
        VATI Pass-Through 112,500,000.00$                     17,514.11$                        914,905.82$                 -$                  1,521,491.48$    4,145,414.82$   892,502.98$       1,648,974.80$     9,140,804$           13,376,956$                      51,123,044$                           22,517,760$                      38,859,196$                          *Program/Construction Pass-Through

TOTAL - All Programs 126,803,199.71$                    575,753.35$                      1,802,953.81$              471,734.24$   2,027,709.25$    4,644,368.24$   1,412,933.18$   2,123,834.76$     13,059,287$         15,503,958$                      54,436,029$                           28,563,245$                      43,803,926$                          TOTAL - All Programs
Pass Thru Sub-totals 122,751,960.31$                    405,623.05$                      1,601,806.71$              316,144.24$   1,849,919.06$    4,488,303.86$   1,270,779.96$   1,946,610.78$     11,879,188$         14,921,335$                      53,549,072$                           26,781,530$                      42,595,970$                          Pass-Thru Subtotal

*indicates unspent funds can 'roll-over' in FY25
138,563.00$                             12 month average - Operating Expenses Total Grant Funds Remaining 43,803,926$                          
134,110.00$                             3 month average - Operating Expenses Pass-through funds 42,595,970$                          
141,775.00$                             last month - Operating Expenses TJPDC Available Funds 1,207,956$                            

Average Funds Available per Month 241,591$                               

March 7, 2024 Page 182 of 266



 

 

To: Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
From: Christine Jacobs, Executive Director 
Date: March 7, 2024 
 
Re: Draft FY21 Audit Re-Issue 
 
Purpose: To present a draft of the re-issued FY21 audit due to notification of a change is source of 
funding for the Emergency Rent and Mortgage Relief program administered by the TJPDC in FY21. 

Memo: In FY21 the TJPDC administered the region’s Emergency Rent and Mortgage Relief program 
(RMRP) totaling $1,810,226. At the time, TJPDC was under the understanding that the entire program 
utilized federal CARES Act funding and therefore, reported the total program revenue as federal in both 
the audit and the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (SEFA).  Upon a compliance review from 
the granting agency, the Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development, staff were 
informed that the program changed funding sources when the federal CARES Act funding was fully 
expended.  The state continued the program through the Virginia Housing Trust Fund.  As such, the final 
tranche of funding in the amount of $170,000 needs to be re-classified as state funding, rather than 
federal funding.  The TJPDC requested that this change be made through a re-issued FY21 Audit and SEFA 
by Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates, PLLC.  
 
Changes in the re-issued audit occur in the following locations: 

• Page 11: Federal Grant Revenues and Non-Federal Grant Revenues total 
• Page 13: Table 4, Actual Federal pass-through and State Grant totals 
• Page 17: Passed Through to Other Agencies and Department of Housing and Community 

Development totals 
• Page 22: Exhibit 5 (2 of 2), Cares Act Federal Grants Pass-Through and State Grants total 
• Page 52: Exhibit 7, Actual Federal Grants Pass-Through and State Grants totals 
• Page 71: Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards – Reissued, VA Department of Housing and 

Community Development: COVID-19 Emergency Rental Assistance Program total, Total 
Department of Treasury, and Total Expenditure of Federal Awards 

• Page 72: COVID-19 – Emergency Rental Assistance Program total and CARES ACT total, Addition of 
Note 5 – Subsequent Reclassification of Federal Expenditure 

 
Recommended Action:  Staff recommends a motion to approve the re-issued FY21 Audit reclassifying 
$170,000 from a federal to a state source. 

March 7, 2024 Page 183 of 266



DRAFT
Financial Report 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

March 7, 2024 Page 184 of 266



DRAFT
THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

March 7, 2024 Page 185 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

DIRECTORY OF PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS 
FOR THE YEAR JUNE 30, 2021 

OFFICERS 

Jesse Rutherford, Chairperson 
Dale Herring, Vice Chairperson 

Keith Smith, Treasurer 

COMMISSIONERS 

City of Charlottesville Albemarle County 

Michael Payne* 
Rory Stolzenberg 

Ned Gallaway* 
Donna Price * 

Fluvanna County Greene County 

Tony O’Brien*  
Keith Smith - Treasurer 

Dale Herring*, Vice Chairperson 
Andrea Wilkinson 

Louisa County Nelson County 

Robert Babyok*  
Tommy Barlow* 

Jesse Rutherford*, Chairperson  
Dylan Bishop 

* Denotes local elected official

March 7, 2024 Page 186 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Independent Auditors’ Report 1-3

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 4-8

Basic Financial Statements 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

Exhibit 1 Statement of Net Position 9

Exhibit 2 Statement of Activities 10

Fund Financial Statements 

Exhibit 3 Balance Sheet−Governmental Funds 11

Exhibit 4 Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the 
Statement of Net Position 12

Exhibit 5 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
 Balances−Governmental Funds 13-14

Exhibit 6 Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes  
in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 15

Notes to Financial Statements 16-42

Required Supplementary Information 

Exhibit 7  Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund  
 Balance−Budget and Actual−Governmental Funds 43

 Exhibit 8  Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and 
 Related Ratios 44-45

 Exhibit 9  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Pension Plan 46

 Exhibit 10 Notes to Required Supplementary Information – Pension Plan 47

 Exhibit 11 Schedule of Commission’s Share of Net OPEB Liability−Group Life  
 Insurance Plan 48

 Exhibit 12 Schedule of Employer Contributions−Group Life Insurance Plan 49

 Exhibit 13 Notes to Required Supplementary Information−Group Life Insurance Plan 50

March 7, 2024 Page 187 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Other Supplementary Information 

 Supporting Schedules

Schedule 1  Schedule of Expenditures−General Fund 51

Schedule 2  Schedule of Indirect Costs 52

Schedule 3  Schedule of Individual Programs’ Personnel Costs 53

Schedule 4  Schedule of Grant Contracts 54

Compliance 

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed
 in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 55-56

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal 
  Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 57-58

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 59

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 60

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 61

March 7, 2024 Page 188 of 266



DRAFT

Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Commissioners 
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
Charlottesville, Virginia 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission, as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Commission’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the Specifications for Audits of Authorities, Boards, and 
Commissions, issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES, PLLC
Certified Public Accountants

1

March 7, 2024 Page 189 of 266



DRAFT

 

 

Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission, as of June 30, 2021, and the 
respective changes in financial position, thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
As discussed in Note 14 to the financial statements, Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission had 
$170,000 of State grants in the CARES ACT fund that were previously reported as federal grants. This 
discovery was made subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements. The financial statements have 
been restated to reflect this correction. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and schedules related to pension and OPEB 
funding, on pages 4-8, 43, and 44-50 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance.  The budgetary comparison information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.   
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s basic financial statements.  The supporting 
schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 
The supporting schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used 
to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 
our opinion, the supporting schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated 
in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.   
 
 
  

2

March 7, 2024 Page 190 of 266



DRAFT

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 4, 2021 
on our consideration of the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Thomas Jefferson Planning District 
Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Charlottesville, Virginia 
December 4, 2021, except for Note 14, as to which the date is February 29, 2024 

3

March 7, 2024 Page 191 of 266



DRAFT

 

 

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 
CHRISTINE JACOBS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 
Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) is a required element of the reporting model adopted by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) in their Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – 
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments. Its purpose is to provide an 
overview of the financial activities of the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (TJPDC) based on 
currently known facts, decisions, and/or conditions. 
 
USING THIS REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The annual report consists of the management’s discussion and analysis, financial statements on 
government-wide and fund basis, supporting schedules, compliance reports, and the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards. The government-wide financial statements present financial information for 
all activities of the TJPDC. The fund-basis financial statements concentrate on separate sets of self-
balancing accounts. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
For FY21, TJPDC had total revenues of $4,183,206  and total expenditures of $4,057,294 resulting in a 
general fund balance increase of $125,912. Included in revenues and expenditures are $582,891 in HOME 
pass-through funds and $2,060,946 in CARES Act pass-through. The FY21 audit calculates the indirect cost 
rate based on actual indirect costs divided by the total staff salary and fringe costs applied to projects for 
the year. That calculated rate is 55%, compared to 66% in FY20. 
 
The General Fund 
 
The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Commission. It is used to account for and report 
financial resources outside of the grant-funded programs that make up most of the budget. These consist of 
locality contributions, locally-funded projects, state allocation, interest earned and rental revenue from the 
Water Street Center and office space. 
 
The following table (Table 1) is a summary of the General Fund’s revenues and expenditures for the years 
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Change From
FY 2021 FY 2020 FY 2020

Revenue…………………………………………………… $ 365,978    $ 440,676    $ (74,698)          
Expenditures …………………………………………… 240,066    426,231    (186,165)        

Excess revenue over expenditures…………… $ 125,912    $ 14,445      $ 111,467          

Net change in fund balance……………………… $ 125,912    $ 14,445      $ 111,467          

Fund balance, beginning…………………………… 743,495    729,050    

Fund balance, ending………………………………… $ 869,407    $ 743,495    

TABLE 1 - GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

 
 

  

4

March 7, 2024 Page 192 of 266



DRAFT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS: (CONTINUED) 

The General Fund: (Continued) 

During FY21, General Fund revenues decreased by $74,698, from $440,676 in FY20 to $365,978 in FY21. 
Expenditures decreased from $426,231 in FY20 to $240,066 in FY21. Excess revenue over expenditures for 
FY21 was $125,912, significantly more than the FY20 change of $14,445, an increase of $111,467.  

Primary changes between FY20 and FY21 were: 

• Local contracts initiated in FY21 included the Albemarle Transit Vision Expansion Study, and the
Regional Transit Vision Plan.

• Revenue from the use of money and property decreased from $29,098 in FY20 to $14,832 in FY21,
due to a decrease in our interest earned and a significant reduction in rentals of the Water Street
Center by outside groups due to COVID-19.

• The TJPDC received $38,783 of a $100,000 grant for a Regional Affordable Housing Plan from
Virginia Housing.

• State funding from the Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD) remained level
from FY20 to FY21 at $75,971.

• Administrative expenses in FY21 were $240,066 compared to $426,231 in FY20, a decrease of
$186,165. The decrease in administrative expenses can be attributed to several factors, which
include but are not limited to: the resignation of the previous Executive Director, a vacant
administrative position during the interim director’s tenure, limited travel and in-person
professional development expenses due to COVID-19, and limited meeting expenses due to COVID-
19.

Special Revenue Funds 

Special Revenue Funds are the grant funds and other revenues dedicated to specific programs and projects. 
Special Revenue Funds income accounts for the vast majority of funds coming to the TJPDC. For FY21, both 
the transportation and HOME programs were less than $750,000 in federal funding and were not classified as 
major programs. HOME pass-through funds were $582,891 compared to $612,060 in FY20. Special Revenue 
Funds increased by $2,260,001 between FY21 and FY20, which represents a 145% increase.  

5

March 7, 2024 Page 193 of 266



DRAFT

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:  (CONTINUED) 

Special Revenue Funds:  (Continued) 

A summary of the Commission’s Statement of Activities is presented below on a full accrual basis. 

Change
From

FY 2021 FY 2020  FY 2020
$ 3,141,545   $ 1,164,089 $ 1,977,456  

675,678    393,133    282,545 
Special Fund Revenues ………………………………………$ 3,817,223   $ 1,557,222 $ 2,260,001  
General Fund Revenues ………………………………………$ 365,983    $ 440,681    $ (74,698)  

$ 4,183,206   $ 1,997,903 $ 2,185,303  
$ 1,927,568   $ 1,399,877 $ 527,691 

2,138,837   612,060    1,526,777  
$ 4,066,405   $ 2,011,937 $ 2,054,468  

$ 116,801 $ (14,034)  $ 130,835 
(589) 10,890 (11,479)  

$ 116,212 $ (3,144)  $ 119,356 

Pass-Through Funds …………………………………………

Expenses 
……………………………………………

Capital Outlays and Depreciation, net ……………
Change in Net Position ……………………

Total Expenses …………………………………

TABLE 2 - STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Federal Grant Revenues ……………………………………
Non-Federal Grant Revenues ……………………………

Total Revenues ……………………………………
Current Operation Expenses ……………………………

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, Special Revenue Funds income totaled $3,817,223, an increase 
of $2,260,001 from FY20’s total of $1,557,222. Special Fund Revenues consisted of: 

• CARES Act revenue totaling $2,170,284 for the Emergency Rent and Mortgage Relief Program, the
Nelson CARES Small Business Grant Program and the development of an affordable housing search
platform, PorchlightVA.org. All CARES Act programs were completed by December 31, 2020.

• $551,092 for transportation. This included the MPO, Rural Transportation, RideShare, the
Albemarle Transit Expansion Study and the Regional Transit Vision Plan. Of the total, $287,901
consisted of federal funds.

• $644,300 for the HOME program funded through the US Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD). Of which, $61,404 was used for administrative expenses.

• $451,552 for other governmental funds, including USDA’s Housing Preservation Grant, the Regional
Housing Planning for Affordability Plan, Hazard Mitigation Planning, the Legislative Liaison
program, and the Watershed Implementation Plan.

6

March 7, 2024 Page 194 of 266



DRAFT

 

 

YEAR-END ANALYSIS OF THE COMMISSION 
 
During FY21, the Commission’s net position increased by $116,212. A summary of the Commission’s 
Statement of Net Position is presented below: 
 

FY 2021 FY 2020

Change 
From FY 

2020

$ 1,546,750   $ 1,778,226   $ (231,476)   
17,249        17,838        (589)         

$ 1,563,999   $ 1,796,064   $ (232,065)   

$ 79,189        $ 49,005        $ 30,184      
$ 1,643,188   $ 1,845,069   $ (201,881)   

$ 52,665        $ 61,066        $ (8,401)      
420,363      $ 736,278      $ (315,915)   

$ 473,028      $ 797,344      $ (324,316)   

$ 29,214        $ 22,991        $ 6,223        

$ 17,249        $ 17,838        $ (589)         
290,746      332,471      (41,725)     
832,951      674,425      158,526    

$ 1,140,946   $ 1,024,734   $ 116,212    

$ 1,643,188   $ 1,845,069   $ (201,881)   

Total Net Position ………………………………………
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Net 
Position …………………………………………

Investment in Capital Assets …………………………………

Total Assets ……………………………………………

Current Liabilities …………………………………………………
Total Liabilities …………………………………………

Long-term Liabilities……………………………………………

Current and Other Assets ……………………………………
Capital Assets, net ………………………………………………

TABLE 3 - STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Deferred Outflows of Resources……………………………

Deferred Inflows of Resources…………………………………

Unrestricted Net Position ………………………………………

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows …………

Restricted Net Position ………………………………………

 
Total Liabilities and Net Position shows a snapshot of receivables and payables on June 30, 2021; the change 
from FY20 reflects the normal variation from year to year. 
 
ORIGINAL BUDGET VS FINAL BUDGET 
 
Budget requests to local governments were submitted between October 2019 and January 2020. In 
accordance with the Bylaws, the Commission adopted the original FY21 operating budget at their May 7, 
2020 meeting; this was used for the submission to the Virginia Department of Housing and Community 
Development (DHCD) along with the FY21 Work Program. The Commission adopted the final amended budget 
at their March 4, 2021 meeting, reflecting updated projections of revenues and expenditures. This budget 
was used for the financial reporting to the Commission for FY21. 
 
  

7

March 7, 2024 Page 195 of 266



DRAFT

ORIGINAL BUDGET VS FINAL BUDGET: (CONTINUED) 

Federal revenues increased significantly between the original budget and the final budget primarily due to 
the Emergency Rent and Mortgage Relief (RMRP) funding awarded from the Virginia Department of Housing 
and Community Development (DHCD) and the administration of Nelson County’s Small Business Grant 
Program using Federal CARES Act funding. State grants decreased slightly due to restrictions on RideShare 
programming and advertising due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Revenues from the use of money decreased 
significantly between the two budgets due to the anticipated decrease in rentals of the Water Street Center 
due to COVID. Expenditures varied significantly between the original and final budget for several reasons. 
Administrative expenses were reduced significantly with the resignation of the former Executive Director. 
Further, an administrative position was held open and vacant during the tenure of the Interim Executive 
Director during the leadership transition. Finally, expenditures for the DHCD RMRP program accounted for a 
significant $2,170,345 increase.  

Local Contributions:  The Commission approved equalized member assessments for FY21 based on the 2019 
Provisional Weldon Cooper Population Estimates and a $0.62 per capita rate and adopted the Projected FY21 
budget at their October 3, 2019 meeting to serve as the basis for budget requests to the member localities. 
The FY21 budget requests were slightly higher than FY20, due to population increases. The total request for 
Legislative Liaison was based on a per capita rate of $0.40, a change instituted with the FY18 budget. The 
Solid Waste total of $10,500 was unchanged from FY20, with small changes among the localities due to 
relative changes in population. RideShare requests were ever so slightly higher for the five participating 
localities due to a required match for the state funding. An assessment for RideShare was included in the 
budget submission to Greene County, however, Greene County chose not to participate in the program. The 
budget requests also included $10,500 for the Rivanna River Basin Commission (RRBC) for localities within 
the watershed (Charlottesville, Albemarle, Fluvanna and Greene) with all four localities providing the 
requested funding for the RRBC for FY21, as well as a request for $50,000 for the Regional Transit 
Partnership for the urban localities (Charlottesville and Albemarle). 

FINAL BUDGET VS ACTUAL RESULTS 

A summary of the Commission’s Final Budget (see Exhibit 7 for detail) is presented below: 

Budget Actual % of Budget
REVENUES (INFLOWS)
 Federal grants……………………… $ 417,422     $ 1,002,708   240.21%
 Federal pass-through…………… 2,950,877 2,138,837   72.48%
 State grants………………………… 344,648     426,898      123.86%
 Localities……………………………… 661,832     599,926      90.65%
 Miscellaneous sources…………… 14,529       14,837        102.12%

$ 4,389,308 $ 4,183,206   95.30%

EXPENDITURES (OUTFLOWS)
 Operating expenses…………… $ 1,335,337 $ 1,918,457   143.67%
 Pass-through expenses……… 2,950,877 2,138,837   72.48%

$ 4,286,214 $ 4,057,294   94.66%

TABLE 4 - BUDGET TO ACTUAL

FY21 total revenues were about 95.3% of budgeted revenues. In general, unrealized revenues carry forward 
to FY22 (except for MPO funds which roll-over into FY23 and RideShare funds which are unrecoverable). 
Expenditures for TJPDC operations, taking out pass-through, represent 131% of the budget.  

8

March 7, 2024 Page 196 of 266



DRAFTBasic Financial Statements

March 7, 2024 Page 197 of 266



DRAFT

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
 

March 7, 2024 Page 198 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 1

Statement of Net Position
As of June 30, 2021

Governmental
Activities

Assets:
  Current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 990,618
  Receivables, net 41,904
  Due from other governments:
     Federal 172,348
     State 31,404            
  Prepaid expenses 19,730

   Total current assets $ 1,256,004       

  Noncurrent assets:
  Net pension asset $ 290,746          
  Capital assets (net of depreciation):
     Leasehold improvements, vehicles, furniture and equipment 17,249            

   Total noncurrent assets $ 307,995          

   Total assets $ 1,563,999       

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
  Pension deferrals $ 65,237
  Group life insurance OPEB deferrals 13,952

   Total deferred outflows of resources $ 79,189

   Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 1,643,188

Liabilities:
  Current liabilities:
  Accounts payable $ 45,924
  Compensated absences, current portion 33,766            
  Unearned revenue 340,673          

   Total current liabilities $ 420,363          

  Noncurrent liabilities:
  Net group life insurance OPEB liability $ 44,224            
  Compensated absences, net of current portion 8,441 

   Total noncurrent liabilities $ 52,665            

   Total liabilities $ 473,028          

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
  Pension deferrals $ 19,408
  Group life insurance OPEB deferrals 9,806

   Total deferred inflows of resources $ 29,214

Net Position:
  Investment in capital assets $ 17,249            
  Restricted - Net pension asset 290,746          
  Unrestricted 832,951          

       Total net position $ 1,140,946       

       Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position $ 1,643,188       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

9

March 7, 2024 Page 199 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 2

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in

Indirect Charges Operating Net Position
Expense for Grants and Governmental

Functions/Programs Expenses Allocation Services Contributions Activities

Primary Government
Governmental activities
Passed-through to other agencies $ 2,138,837 $ - $ - $ 2,138,837       $ -
Programs administration:
  Office 630,801 (381,035) -            - (249,766)         
  Department of Transportation 261,679 154,248 - 415,927 -
  Department of Housing and Urban Development 59,115 22,655     - 81,765 (5)
  Department of Homeland Security 10,446 6,475 - 16,921 -
  Environmental Protection Agency 42,171 25,088 - 67,259 -
  Department of Housing and Community Development 572,387 41,951     - 614,338 -
  Virginia Housing Development Authority 94,511 42,492 - 137,003 -
  Virginia Department of Agriculture 114,020 5,229 - 119,249 -
  Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation 84,881 50,284 - 135,165 -
  Legislative Liaison 58,146 32,613 - 90,759 -

   Total governmental activities $ 4,066,994 $ - $ - $ 3,817,223       $ (249,771)         

General Revenues
Intergovernmental revenue not restricted  to 
  specific programs $ 351,146          
Revenue from use of money 14,837

   Total general revenues $ 365,983          

      Change in net position $ 116,212          

Net position, beginning of year 1,024,734       

Net position, end of year $ 1,140,946       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Program Revenues

10

March 7, 2024 Page 200 of 266



DRAFTFund Financial Statements

March 7, 2024 Page 201 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 3

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
As of June 30, 2021

HOME
Department

Department of Housing Other Total
General of and Urban CARES Governmental Governmental

Fund Transportation Development ACT Funds Funds

Assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 990,618       $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 990,618
  Receivables (net of allowance

for uncollectibles):
      Accounts 41,904        - - - - 41,904
  Due from other governments:
      Federal - 41,645 11,895          - 118,808 172,348
      State - 28,913 - - 2,491 31,404
  Due from other funds - 217,842 - - - 217,842
  Prepaid items 19,730        - - - - 19,730

      Total assets $ 1,052,252    $ 288,400           $ 11,895          $ - $ 121,299          $ 1,473,846       

Liabilities:
  Accounts payable and accrued

 expenses $ 21,387        $ 472 $ 582 $ - $ 23,483 $ 45,924
  Due to other funds 114,863       - 5,163 - 97,816 217,842          
  Unearned revenue 46,595        287,928           6,150 - - 340,673          

    Total liabilities $ 182,845       $ 288,400           $ 11,895          $ - $ 121,299          $ 604,439          

Fund Balance:
  Nonspendable:
   Prepaid items $ 19,730        $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 19,730 
  Committed:
   Capital reserve 324,032       - - - - 324,032          
  Unassigned 525,645       - - - - 525,645          

       Total fund balance $ 869,407       $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 869,407          

         Total liabilities and fund 
balance $ 1,052,252    $ 288,400           $ 11,895          $ - $ 121,299          $ 1,473,846       

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

11

March 7, 2024 Page 202 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 4

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position
As of June 30, 2021

Total fund balance for governmental funds (Exhibit 3) $ 869,407        

Depreciable capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation $ 17,249        

   Total capital assets 17,249          

290,746        

65,237          
13,952          

(19,408)         
(9,806)           

Net group life insurance OPEB liability $ (44,224)       
Compensated absences (42,207)       

    Total long-term liabilities (86,431)         

Total net position of governmental activities (Exhibits 1 and 2) $ 1,140,946     

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Pension deferrals - Deferred outflows

Pension deferrals - Deferred inflows

Group life insurance OPEB deferrals - Deferred outflows

Group life insurance OPEB deferrals - Deferred inflows

Long-term liabilities applicable to the Commission's governmental activities are
not due and payable in the current period and accordingly are not reported as
fund liabilities. Balances of long-term liabilities affecting net position are as
follows:

Total net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of net
position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore are not reported in the funds.  Those assets consist of:

The net pension asset is not an available resource and, therefore, is not reported
in the funds.

Items related to measurement of the net pension and GLI OPEB liability are
considered deferred outflows or deferred inflows and will be amortized and
recognized in pension and GLI expense over future years.

12

March 7, 2024 Page 203 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 5
Page 1 of 2

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

HOME
Department of

Department Housing
General of and Urban 

Fund Transportation Development

Revenues:
  Federal Grants:
   Commission $ - $ 287,901           $ 61,404
   Pass-Through - - 582,891            
  State Grants 75,971 142,755           - 
  Other:
   Localities 275,175            120,436           - 
   Revenue from the use of money and property 14,832 - 5

    Total revenues $ 365,978            $ 551,092           $ 644,300            

Expenditures:
  Current:
    Administrative $ 240,066            $ - $ - 
    Department of Transportation - 415,927 - 
    Department of Housing and Urban Development - - 644,300            
    Department of Homeland Security - - - 
    Environmental Protection Agency - - - 
    Department of Housing and Community Development - - - 
    Virginia Housing Development Authority - - - 
    Virginia Department of Agriculture - - - 
    Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation - 135,165 - 
    Legislative Liason - - - 

      Total expenditures $ 240,066            $ 551,092           $ 644,300            

        Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
          (under) expenditures $ 125,912            $ - $ - 

Net changes in fund balance $ 125,912            $ - $ - 

Fund balance at beginning of year 743,495            - - 

Fund balance at end of year $ 869,407            $ - $ - 

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

13

March 7, 2024 Page 204 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 5
Page 2 of 2

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Other Total
CARES Governmental Governmental
ACT Funds Funds

Revenues:
  Federal Grants:
   Commission $ 434,280            $ 219,123            $ 1,002,708         
   Pass-Through 1,555,946         - 2,138,837 
  State Grants 170,000            38,172 426,898 
  Other:
   Localities 10,058 194,257            599,926            
   Revenue from the use of money and property - - 14,837

    Total revenues $ 2,170,284         $ 451,552            $ 4,183,206         

Expenditures:
  Current:
    Administrative $ - $ - $ 240,066            
    Department of Transportation - - 415,927            
    Department of Housing and Urban Development - 20,361 664,661            
    Department of Homeland Security - 16,921 16,921
    Environmental Protection Agency - 67,259 67,259
    Department of Housing and Community Development 2,170,284         - 2,170,284 
    Virginia Housing Development Authority - 137,003 137,003 
    Virginia Department of Agriculture - 119,249 119,249            
    Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation - - 135,165            
    Legislative Liason - 90,759 90,759

      Total expenditures $ 2,170,284         $ 451,552            $ 4,057,294         

        Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
          (under) expenditures $ - $ - $ 125,912            

Net changes in fund balance $ - $ - $ 125,912            

Fund balance at beginning of year - - 743,495            

Fund balance at end of year $ - $ - $ 869,407            

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

14

March 7, 2024 Page 205 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 6

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds (Exhibit 5) $ 125,912      

Capital outlays 6,408          
Depreciation expense (6,997)         

Change in deferred inflows of resources related to measurement of net pension asset (1,098)         
 Change in deferred inflows of resources related to measurement of net group life insurance OPEB 
liability (5,125)         

(41,725)       
8,337          

30,763        

(579)            
316 

Change in net position of governmental activities (Exhibit 2) $ 116,212      

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenues in the funds. Details of this adjustment consist of the change in deferred
inflows of resources related to the measurement of the net pension asset and net group life
insurance OPEB liability.

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation
expense.  This is the amount by which depreciation exceeded capital outlays in the current period.

  Change in net pension asset

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. The following is
a summary of items supporting this adjustment:

  Change in net group life insurance OPEB liability

Change in deferred outflows of resources related to measurement of net group life insurance
OPEB liability

  Change in compensated absences

  Change in deferred outflows of resources related to measurement of net pension asset

15

March 7, 2024 Page 206 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial statements of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (Commission) conform to 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) applicable to governmental units promulgated by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  The following is a summary of the more significant 
polices: 

A. Financial Reporting Entity

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the
Commission and its component units.  There are no such component units that are required to be
included in the Commission’s financial statements.

The Commission has been organized by the governing authorities of the Counties of Albemarle, Fluvanna,
Greene, Louisa, and Nelson and the City of Charlottesville pursuant to the Regional Cooperation Act for
the purpose of promoting the orderly and efficient development of the physical, social, and economic
elements of Planning District Number Ten by planning, encouraging, and assisting governmental
subdivisions to plan for the future.

B. Basic Financial Statements − Government-wide Statements

The Commission’s basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the Commission
as a whole) and fund financial statements (reporting the Commission’s major funds).  Both the
government-wide and fund financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or
business-type.  The Commission’s general administrative services are classified as governmental
activities.  The Commission has no business-type activities at this time.

In the government-wide statement of net position, both the governmental and business-type activities
columns (if any) are presented on a consolidated basis by column and are reported on a full accrual
economic resource basis which recognizes all long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt
and obligations.  The Commission’s net position is reported in three parts – net investment in capital
assets, restricted net position, and unrestricted net position.

The government-wide statement of activities reports both the gross and net cost of each of the
Commission’s functions.  The functions are also supported by general government revenues.  The
statement of activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by related program revenues and
operating and capital grants.  Program revenues must be directly associated with the function.
Operating grants include operating-specific and discretionary (either operating or capital) grants, while
the capital grants column reflects capital-specific grants.

The net costs (by function) are normally covered by general revenue (intergovernmental revenues,
interest income, etc.).

The Commission allocates indirect costs using a specific percentage of use method.

This government-wide focus is on the sustainability of the Commission as an entity and the change in the
Commission’s net position resulting from the current year’s activities.

16

March 7, 2024 Page 207 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:  (CONTINUED) 

C. Basic Financial Statements − Fund Financial Statements

The financial transactions of the Commission are reported in individual funds in the fund statements.
Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its
assets, liabilities, reserves, fund balance, revenues, and expenses.  The various funds are reported by
generic classification within the financial statements.

The following fund types are used by the Commission:

Governmental Funds:

The focus of the governmental funds measurement (in the fund statements) is upon determination of
financial position and changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources)
rather than upon net income. The following is a description of the governmental funds of the
Commission:

1. General Fund is the general operating fund of the Commission.  It is used to account for and report
all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

2. Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources
that are legally restricted to expenses for specified purposes.

Major and Nonmajor Funds: 

All funds are classified as either major or nonmajor.  The following criteria are used when determining 
the fund types: 

1. The General Fund is always classified as major.

2. All other major funds have assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures that are at least 10% of the
corresponding element total (i.e., assets, liabilities, etc.) for all funds of that category or type (i.e.,
total governmental or enterprise funds).  In addition, the same element that met the 10% criterion is
at least 5% of the corresponding element total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.

The Commission’s funds are classified as follows: 

Fund Brief Description 

Major: 
  General  See above for description. 

  Special Revenue Funds: 

Department of Transportation  Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for
the purposes of various projects funded by the Department of
Transportation. 

HOME Department of Housing 
    and Urban Development 

 Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for
the purpose of HOME program. 

17

March 7, 2024 Page 208 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:  (CONTINUED) 

C. Basic Financial Statements − Fund Financial Statements:  (Continued)

Major and Nonmajor Funds: (Continued)

Fund Brief Description 

Major:
 

CARES ACT   Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for 
the CARES ACT Funding. 

Nonmajor-Other Governmental Funds: 

  Special Revenue Funds: 

Virginia Department of Rail 
 and Public Transportation 

 Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for
the purpose of various projects funded by the Virginia
Department of Rail and Public Transportation. 

Department of Homeland  
 Security 

 Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for
the purpose of various projects funded by the Department of 
Homeland Security. 

Environmental Protection 
 Agency 

 Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for
the purpose of various projects funded by the Environmental
Protection Agency. 

Virginia Housing Development 
 Authority 

 Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for
the purpose of various projects funded by the Virginia Housing
Development Authority. 

Virginia Department of Agriculture  Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses restricted for 
the purpose of various projects funded by the Virginia
Department of Agriculture. 

Legislative Liaison  Accounts for and reports revenues and expenses for the
Legislative Liaison Program.  

D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or expenses are recognized in the accounts and
reported in the financial statements.  It relates to the timing of the measurements made regardless of
the measurement focus applied.

1. Accrual – Governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements are presented on the
accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized
when incurred.

2. Modified Accrual – The governmental funds financial statements are presented on the modified
accrual basis of accounting.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded
when susceptible to accrual; i.e. both measurable and available.  “Available” means collectible
within the current period or within 60 days after the year end.  Expenses are generally recognized
under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related liability is incurred.  The exception
to this general rule is that debt service expenditures as well as expenditures related to compensated
absences, and claims and judgments are recognized when due.

18

March 7, 2024 Page 209 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:  (CONTINUED) 

E. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The following procedures are used by the Commission in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the
required supplementary information:

1. Prior to due dates for budget submissions to localities, the Executive Director submits to the
Commission a proposed budget for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1.  The budget
includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

2. After the budget is approved by the Commission, it is presented to the local governing bodies within
its jurisdiction for approval of appropriations to the Commission.

3. The budget amounts depend on the staff securing grants and contracts throughout the year;
therefore, appropriate budget revisions are proposed and approved by the Commission during the
year.  The Commission adopts a working budget for the fiscal year beginning July 1 at their May
meeting, per the Bylaws.  The Commission adopts the final budget for use in financial reporting at
the March, FY21 meeting.

4. The approved budget is utilized as a management control device.

5. All budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

6. All budgetary data presented in the accompanying financial statements represents both the original
and revised budgets as of June 30.

F. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

G. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Commission’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and
all highly-liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

State statutes authorize the Commission to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, commercial paper,
corporate bonds, repurchase agreements, and the Local Government Investment Pool.

Money market investments, participating interest-earning investment contracts (repurchase agreements)
that have a remaining maturity at time of purchase of one year or less, nonparticipating interest-earning
investment contracts (nonnegotiable certificates of deposit (CDs)) and external investment pools are
measured at amortized cost.  All other investments are reported at fair value.

19

March 7, 2024 Page 210 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

 
 

 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:  (CONTINUED) 
 

H. Receivables and Payables 
 
Outstanding balances between funds at the end of the fiscal year are reported as due to/from other 
funds.  No allowance for uncollectibles is included in the receivables, due to the limited exposure 
related to the contractual nature of governmental receivables. 

 
I. Prepaid Items  
 

Certain payments to vendors represent costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of prepaid items is 
recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased. 
 

J. Net Position   
 

Net Position is the difference between a) assets and deferred outflows of resources and b) liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets represents capital assets, less 
accumulated depreciation, less any outstanding debt related to the acquisition, construction or 
improvement of those assets.  Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt are also 
included in this component of net position. 

 
K. Net Position Flow Assumption   
 

Sometimes the Commission funds outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted 
bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as 
restricted – net position and unrestricted – net position in the financial statements, a flow assumption 
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the 
Commission’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been depleted before unrestricted – net 
position is applied. 
 

L. Capital Assets 
 
Property and equipment are recorded at the original cost.  Depreciation is computed by the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Office furniture and equipment 3 - 10 years
Vehicle 5 years
Website 3 years
Leasehold improvements Remaining life of lease  

  

20

March 7, 2024 Page 211 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:  (CONTINUED) 

M. Unearned Revenue

The Commission reports unearned revenue on its statement of net position.  Unearned revenues arise
when a potential revenue does not meet both the “measurable” and “available” criteria for recognition
in the current period.  Unearned revenues also arise when resources are received by the Commission
before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence of
qualifying expenditures.  In subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or
when the Commission has a legal claim to the resources, the liability for unearned revenue is removed
from the balance sheet and revenue is recognized.

N. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The Commission has one item
that qualifies for reporting in this category.  It is comprised of certain items related to the measurement
of the net pension asset and net OPEB liability and contributions to the pension and OPEB plans made
during the current year and subsequent to the net pension asset and net OPEB liability measurement
date. For more detailed information on these items, reference the related notes.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources,
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Commission has one type of item that qualifies
for reporting in this category.  Certain items related to the measurement of the net pension asset and
net OPEB liability are reported as deferred inflows of resources. For more detailed information on these
items, reference the related notes.

O. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension asset, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
Commission’s Retirement Plan and the additions to/deductions from the Commission’s Retirement Plan’s
net fiduciary position have been determined on the same basis as they were reported by the Virginia
Retirement System (VRS). For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments
are reported at fair value.

21

March 7, 2024 Page 212 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 1−SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:  (CONTINUED) 

P. OPEB

Group Life Insurance

For purposes of measuring the net GLI Plan OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB, and GLI OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the VRS GLI Plan OPEB and the additions to/deductions from the VRS GLI OPEB’s net fiduciary
position have been determined on the same basis as they were reported by VRS. In addition, benefit
payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are
reported at fair value.

Q. Fund Balance

The Commission reports fund balance in the required classifications. The following classifications
describe the relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources
can be used:

• Nonspendable fund balance – amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory and
prepaids) or are required to be maintained intact (corpus of a permanent fund);

• Restricted fund balance – amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as
grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions, or by
enabling legislation;

• Committed fund balance – amounts constrained to specific purposes by a government itself, using its
highest level of decision-making authority; to be reported as committed, amounts cannot be used for
any other purpose unless the government takes the same highest level action to remove or change
the constraint;

• Assigned fund balance – amounts a government intends to use for a specific purpose; intent can be
expressed by the governing body or by an official or body to which the governing body delegates the
authority;

• Unassigned fund balance – amounts that are available for any purpose; positive amounts are only
reported in the general fund.

R. Legislative Liaison

The Liaison reports regularly to the local governments during the General Assembly session and when
studies are undertaken by the General Assembly and are pertinent to local government interests.  The
Liaison prepares a Legislative Program in consultation with the localities who subsequently adopt the
Program.

22

March 7, 2024 Page 213 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 2−DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS: 

Deposits 

Deposits with banks are covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and collateralized in 
accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the “Act”) Section 2.2-4400 et. seq. of the 
Code of Virginia. Under the Act, banks and savings institutions holding public deposits in excess of the 
amount insured by the FDIC must pledge collateral to the Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. 
Financial Institutions may choose between two collateralization methodologies and depending upon that 
choice, will pledge collateral that ranges in the amounts from 50% to 130% of excess deposits. Accordingly, 
all deposits are considered fully collateralized.  No deposits exceed FDIC insurance limits. 

Investments 

Statutes authorize local governments and other public bodies to invest in obligations of the United States or 
agencies thereof, obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof, obligations of 
the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank), the Asian Development Bank, the 
African Development Bank, “prime quality” commercial paper that has received at least two of the following 
ratings: P-1 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.; A-1 by Standard and Poor’s; or F1 by Fitch Ratings, Inc. 
(Section 2.2-4502), banker’s acceptances, repurchase agreements, and the State Treasurer’s Local 
Government Investment Pool (LGIP). 

The Commission does not have a policy related to credit risk of debt securities. 

The Commission’s rated debt investments as of June 30, 2021 were rated by Standard & Poor’s and the 
ratings are presented below using Standard & Poor’s rating scale. 

Rated Debt Investments AAAm AAf

Virginia Investment Pool $ 958,212    $ -     

Total $ 958,212    $ -     

Investment maturities in years:
Fair Less Than

Investment Type Value 1 Year

Virginia Investment Pool $ 958,212    $ 958,212   

Total $ 958,212    $ 958,212   

Rated Debt Investments' Values
Fair Quality Ratings

Redemption Restrictions:  Commission is limited to two withdrawals per month. 

Fair Value Measurements:  Fair value of the Virginia Investment Pool is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.  The Commission has measured fair value of the above investments at the net asset 
value (NAV). 

23

March 7, 2024 Page 214 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 3−ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS: 

Accounts and due from other governments are as follows: 

Federal Government:
 Department of Transportation $ 41,646        
 Department of Housing and Urban Development 83,030        
 Department of Homeland Security 8,732          
 Environmental Protection Agency 38,940        
 Total Federal Government $ 172,348      

State:
 Department of Transportation $ 6,935          
 Department of Homeland Security 1,968          
 Virginia Housing Development Authority 523    
 Department of Rail and Public Transportation 21,978        
 Total State $ 31,404        

Accounts Receivable:
 Nelson $ 8,973          
 Stanardsville TAP 2,267          
 VAPDC-ED 8,333
 RR Planning 16,714        
 Other 5,617          

 Total Accounts Receivable $ 41,904        

NOTE 4−INTERFUND OBLIGATIONS: 

Interfund obligations arise due to timing differences between the receipt of restricted funds and their use. 

Interfund Interfund
Receivable Payable

General Fund $ - $ 114,863    
Department of Transportation 217,842    -         
HOME Department of Housing and Urban Development - 5,163 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds - 97,816

  Total $ 217,842 $ 217,842    

24

March 7, 2024 Page 215 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 5−CAPITAL ASSETS: 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2021 was as follows: 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2020 Additions Deletions June 30, 2021

Governmental Activities:

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Office furniture and equipment $ 74,555 $ - $ - $ 74,555
Vehicle 31,734 - -  31,734
Website 13,570 6,408  - 19,978
Leasehold improvements 11,993 -     -  11,993

Total capital assets being depreciated $ 131,852 $ 6,408  $ - $ 138,260

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Office furniture and equipment $ 62,457 $ 5,141 $ - $ 67,598
Vehicle 31,734 -     -  31,734
Website 7,830 1,856  - 9,686
Leasehold improvements 11,993 -     -  11,993

Total accumulated depreciation $ 114,014 $ 6,997 $ - $ 121,011

Total capital assets being depreciated, net $ 17,838 $ (589) $ - $ 17,249

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 17,838 $ (589) $ - $ 17,249

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows: 

Governmental activities:
Office administration $ 6,997 

Total governmental activities $ 6,997 

NOTE 6−COMPENSATED ABSENCES: 

The Commission employees earn sick leave at the rate of ten hours per month and may accumulate a 
maximum of 480 hours (60 days).  No benefits or pay are received for unused sick leave upon termination. 
The amount of annual leave earned by an employee each month, with the exception of the Executive 
Director, depends upon the number of years the permanent full-time and part-time staff were employed by 
the Commission, as noted below.  The Executive Director’s leave is set by the Commission as part of the 
employment contract. 

Days of Annual
Years of Services Days Per Month Leave Per Year

0-5 1 12
6-10 1 1/4

15
Over 10 1 1/2

18

25

March 7, 2024 Page 216 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 6−COMPENSATED ABSENCES:  (CONTINUED) 

An employee may accumulate a maximum of 30 days of annual leave.  At the time of separation of 
employment, the employee will be compensated for the accumulated leave balance.  Accrued annual leave 
was $42,207 as of June 30, 2021.  The following is a summary of changes in accrued annual leave for the 
year ended June 30, 2021: 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2020 Additions Deletions June 30, 2021

$ 42,523   $ $ 316  $ 42,207

NOTE 7−COMMITMENTS/CONTINGENT LIABILITIES: 

Federal programs in which the Commission participates were audited in accordance with the provisions of 
the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.  Pursuant to the provisions of this circular, all 
major programs and certain other programs were tested for compliance with applicable grant requirements. 

Additionally, the federal government may subject grant programs to additional compliance tests, which 
could result in disallowed expenditures.  In the opinion of management, any future disallowances of grant 
program expenditures would be immaterial. 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN: 

Plan Description 

All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission are 
covered by a VRS Retirement Plan after six months of employment. This is an agent multiple-employer plan 
administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System) along with plans for other employer groups in 
the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Members earn one month of service credit for each month they are 
employed and for which they and their employer pay contributions to VRS. Members are eligible to purchase 
prior service, based on specific criteria as defined in the Code of Virginia, as amended. Eligible prior service 
that may be purchased includes prior public service, active military service, certain periods of leave, and 
previously refunded service.  

26

March 7, 2024 Page 217 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Benefit Structures 

The System administers three different benefit structures for covered employees – Plan 1, Plan 2 and 
Hybrid. Each of these benefit structures has different eligibility criteria, as detailed below. 

Employees with a membership date before July 1, 2010, vested as of January 1, 2013, and have not 
taken a refund, are covered under Plan 1, a defined benefit plan. Non-hazardous duty employees are 
eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit beginning at age 65 with at least 5 years of service credit or 
age 50 with at least 30 years of service credit. Non-hazardous duty employees may retire with a reduced 
benefit as early as age 55 with at least 5 years of service credit or age 50 with at least 10 years of 
service credit.  

a. Employees with a membership date from July 1, 2010 to December 31, 2013, that have not taken a 
refund or employees with a membership date prior to July 1, 2010 and not vested before January 1,
2013, are covered under Plan 2, a defined benefit plan. Non-hazardous duty employees are eligible for 
an unreduced benefit beginning at their normal social security retirement age with at least 5 years of
service credit or when the sum of their age plus service credit equals 90. Non-hazardous duty employees 
may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 60 with at least 5 years of  service credit. 

b. Non-hazardous duty employees with a membership date on or after January 1, 2014 are covered by the 
Hybrid Plan combining the features of a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. Plan 1 and 
Plan 2 members also had the option of opting into this plan during the election window held January 1 – 
April 30, 2014 with an effective date of July 1, 2014. Employees covered by this plan are eligible for an
unreduced benefit beginning at their normal social security retirement age with at least 5 years of 
service credit, or when the sum of their age plus service credit equals 90. Employees may retire with a 
reduced benefit as early as age 60 with at least 5 years of service credit. For the defined contribution 
component, members are eligible to receive distributions upon leaving employment, subject to
restrictions.

Average Final Compensation and Service Retirement Multiplier 

The VRS defined benefit is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement multiplier as a percentage of 
the employee’s average final compensation multiplied by the employee’s total service credit. Under Plan 1, 
average final compensation is the average of the employee’s 36 consecutive months of highest 
compensation and the multiplier is 1.70% for non-hazardous duty employees, 1.85% for sheriffs and regional 
jail superintendents. Under Plan 2, average final compensation is the average of the employee’s 60 
consecutive months of highest compensation and the retirement multiplier is 1.65% for non-hazardous duty 
employees, 1.85% for sheriffs and regional jail superintendents. Under the Hybrid Plan, average final 
compensation is the average of the employee’s 60 consecutive months of highest compensation and the 
multiplier is 1.00%. For members who opted into the Hybrid Retirement Plan from Plan 1 or Plan 2, the 
applicable multipliers for those plans will be used to calculate the retirement benefit for service credited in 
those plans. 

27

March 7, 2024 Page 218 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) in Retirement and Death and Disability Benefits 

Retirees with an unreduced benefit or with a reduced benefit with at least 20 years of service credit are 
eligible for an annual COLA beginning July 1 after one full calendar year from the retirement date. Retirees 
with a reduced benefit and who have less than 20 years of service credit are eligible for an annual COLA 
beginning on July 1 after one calendar year following the unreduced retirement eligibility date. Under Plan 
1, the COLA cannot exceed 5.00%. Under Plan 2 and the Hybrid Plan, the COLA cannot exceed 3.00%. The 
VRS also provides death and disability benefits. Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, assigns the 
authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General Assembly of Virginia. 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms 

As of the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms of 
the pension plan: 

Number

Inactive members or their beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 8

Inactive members:
Vested inactive members 8

Non-vested inactive members 9

Inactive members active elsewhere in VRS 11

Total inactive members 28

Active members 8

Total covered employees 44

Contributions  

The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by §51.1-145 of the Code of Virginia, as 
amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding options provided to political subdivisions by the 
Virginia General Assembly. Employees are required to contribute 5.00% of their compensation toward their 
retirement.  

The Commission’s contractually required employer contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2021 was 
1.50% of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019. 

28

March 7, 2024 Page 219 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Contributions (Continued) 

This rate, when combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits 
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
Contributions to the pension plan from the Commission were $3,474 and $4,812 for the years ended June 30, 
2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. 

Net Pension Asset 

The net pension asset is calculated separately for each employer and represents that particular employer’s 
total pension asset, less that employer’s fiduciary net position.  For Thomas Jefferson Planning District 
Commission, the net pension asset was measured as of June 30, 2020. The total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2019 
rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2020. 

Actuarial Assumptions – General Employees 

The total pension liability for General Employees in the Commission’s Retirement Plan was based on an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the following 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the measurement 
date of June 30, 2020. 

Inflation 2.5%

Salary increases, including inflation 3.5% – 5.35%

Investment rate of return 6.75%, net of pension plan investment
expenses, including inflation*

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the fair value of assets for the last experience study were found to
be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed
investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 6.75%. However, since the
difference was minimal, and a more conservative 6.75% investment return assumption provided a projected
plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of return on
investments was assumed to be 6.75% to simplify preparation of pension liabilities.

29

March 7, 2024 Page 220 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Actuarial Assumptions – General Employees:  (Continued) 

Mortality rates: 

All Others (Non-10 Largest) – Non-Hazardous Duty: 15% of deaths are assumed to be service-related  

Pre-Retirement:  
RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 80, Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 81 and older projected with 
scale BB to 2021; males 95% of rates; females 105% of rates.  

Post-Retirement:  
RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 49, Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 50 and older projected with 
scale BB to 2021; males set forward 3 years; females 1.0% increase compounded from ages 70 to 90. 

Post-Disablement:  
RP-2014 Disability Mortality Rates projected with scale BB to 2021; males set forward 2 years, 110%
of rates; females 125% of rates. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016, except the change in the discount 
rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective as of July 1, 2019. Changes to the actuarial 
assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board action are as follows: 

All Others (Non-10 Largest) – Non-Hazardous Duty: 

Mortality Rates (pre-retirement, post-
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Updated to a more current mortality table - RP-2014 
projected to 2020

Retirement Rates Lowered rates at older ages and changed final 
retirement from 70 to 75

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year age 
and service through 9 years of service

Disability Rates Lowered rates  
Salary Scale No change
Line of Duty Disability Increased rate from 14% to 15%
Discount Rate Decreased rate from 7% to 6.75%

30

March 7, 2024 Page 221 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of pension System investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected 
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The 
target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following table: 

Weighted
Long-Term Arithmetic Average

Target Long-Term Long-Term
Asset Expected Expected

Asset Class (Strategy) Allocation Rate of Return Rate of Return

Public Equity 34.00% 4.65% 1.58%
Fixed Income 15.00% 0.46% 0.07%
Credit Strategies 14.00% 5.38% 0.75%
Real Assets 14.00% 5.01% 0.70%
Private Equity 14.00% 8.34% 1.17%
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies 6.00% 3.04% 0.18%
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 3.00% 6.49% 0.19%

Total 100.00% 4.64%

Inflation 2.50%
*Expected arithmetic nominal return 7.14%

* The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.14%. However, one-year returns do not take into
account the volatility present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the
system, stochastic projections are employed to model future returns under various economic conditions. The
results provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately provide a median return of
7.11%, including expected inflation of 2.50%. On October 10, 2019, the VRS Board elected a long-term rate
of 6.75% which is roughly at the 40th percentile of expected long-term results of the VRS fund asset
allocation.  More recent capital market assumptions compiled for the FY2020 actuarial valuations provide a
median return of 6.81%.

31

March 7, 2024 Page 222 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that System member contributions will be made per the VRS 
Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates 
equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of 
Trustees and the member rate.  Consistent with the phased-in funding provided by the General Assembly for 
state and teacher employer contributions; the Commission was also provided with an opportunity to use an 
alternative employer contribution rate. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the alternate rate was the 
employer contribution rate used in FY 2012 or 100% of the actuarially determined employer contribution 
rate from the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuations, whichever was greater.   From July 1, 2020 on, 
participating employers are assumed to continue to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined 
contribution rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to 
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments 
to determine the total pension liability.  

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) 

Net
Total Plan Pension

Pension Fiduciary Liability
Liability Net Position (Asset)

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at June 30, 2019 $ 1,747,223   $ 2,079,694    $ (332,471)   

Changes for the year:
Service cost $ 49,884    $ - $ 49,884   
Interest 115,583  - 115,583 
Differences between expected and actual experience (58,224)   - (58,224) 
Contributions - employer - 2,390 (2,390) 
Contributions - employee - 24,828 (24,828) 
Net investment income - 39,709 (39,709) 
Benefit payments, including refunds

of employee contributions (69,767)   (69,767) -   
Administrative expenses - (1,362) 1,362     
Other changes - (47) 47          

Net changes $ 37,476    $ (4,249)         $ 41,725   

Balances at June 30, 2020 $ 1,784,699   $ 2,075,445    $ (290,746)   

Increase (Decrease)

32

March 7, 2024 Page 223 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the net pension asset of the Commission using the discount rate of 6.75%, as well as 
what the Commission’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one 
percentage point lower (5.75%) or one percentage point higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)

Commission's
Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ (56,460)           $ (290,746)          $ (482,252)          

Rate

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Commission recognized pension expense of $13,112. At June 30, 
2021, the Commission reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 19,408  

Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments 61,763    -  

Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 3,474     - 

Total $ 65,237    $ 19,408  

33

March 7, 2024 Page 224 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

 
 

 

NOTE 8−PENSION PLAN:  (CONTINUED) 
 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions (Continued) 
 
$3,474 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the Commission’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net Pension 
Liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense in future 
reporting periods as follows: 

 
Year ended June 30

2022 $ (17,679)    
2023 19,286     
2024 20,910     
2025 19,838     

Thereafter -               
 
Pension Plan Data 
 
Information about the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan is also available in the separately issued VRS 
2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (Annual Report).  A copy of the 2020 VRS Annual Report may 
be downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/Pdf/Publications/2020-annual-report.pdf, 
or by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA 23218-2500. 
 
 
NOTE 9−DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN: 
 
During the year ended June 30, 1998, the employees of the Commission adopted a Section 457 Deferred 
Compensation Plan.  The Commission delegates administrative and investment responsibilities for its 457 
Plan assets to a third-party administrator.  The Commission does not have to report these assets on their 
financial statements. 
 
Employee contributions to this plan for the year ended June 30, 2021 were $23,750.  There were no 
matching contributions. 
 
 
  

34

March 7, 2024 Page 225 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 10−UNEARNED REVENUE: 

The details of unearned revenue at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 

Fund Name Amount

General Fund $ 46,595        
Department of Transportation 287,928      
HOME Department of Housing and Urban Development 6,150          

$ 340,673      

NOTE 11−LITIGATION: 

As represented by management, there were no lawsuits pending which would materially affect the 
Commission’s financial position as of the date of these financial statements. 

NOTE 12−COST ALLOCATION BASIS – INDIRECT COSTS AND FRINGE BENEFITS: 

Indirect costs are those costs which are not readily identifiable within a particular program but, 
nevertheless, are necessary to the general operation and the conduct of the activities it performs. 
Allocations from the General Fund and to the Special Revenue Funds are made based on a ratio of indirect 
costs to the individual program’s direct costs associated with salaries and fringe benefits (personnel costs). 
The rate is determined by a relation of total administrative costs to program salary costs.  Program salary 
costs are calculated as follows: 

Total personnel costs (salaries and fringes)
Less:  Administrative personnel costs
Less:  Contractual personnel costs

This ratio is calculated on an annual basis.  The rate used during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was 
62%, for billing purposes. 

The actual indirect cost rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was 55% and was calculated as follows: 

Indirect costs $ 417,046   = 55%
Individual programs' personnel costs 754,681   

35

March 7, 2024 Page 226 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN): 

Plan Description 

The Group Life Insurance (GLI) Plan was established pursuant to §51.1-500 et seq. of the Code of Virginia, as 
amended, and which provides the authority under which benefit terms are established or may be amended. 
All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the state agencies, teachers, and employees of participating 
political subdivisions are automatically covered by the VRS GLI Plan upon employment. This is a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer plan administered by the Virginia Retirement System (the System), along with pensions 
and other OPEB plans, for public employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  

In addition to the Basic GLI benefit, members are also eligible to elect additional coverage for themselves as 
well as a spouse or dependent children through the Optional GLI Plan. For members who elect the optional 
group life insurance coverage, the insurer bills employers directly for the premiums. Employers deduct these 
premiums from members’ paychecks and pay the premiums to the insurer. Since this is a separate and fully 
insured plan, it is not included as part of the GLI Plan OPEB. 

The specific information for GLI OPEB, including eligibility, coverage and benefits is described below: 

Eligible Employees 

The GLI Plan was established July 1, 1960, for state employees, teachers, and employees of political 
subdivisions that elect the plan. Basic GLI coverage is automatic upon employment. Coverage ends for 
employees who leave their position before retirement eligibility or who take a refund of their accumulated 
retirement member contributions and accrued interest. 

Benefit Amounts 

The GLI Plan is a defined benefit plan with several components. The natural death benefit is equal to the 
employee’s covered compensation rounded to the next highest thousand and then doubled. The accidental 
death benefit is double the natural death benefit. In addition to basic natural and accidental death benefits, 
the plan provides additional benefits provided under specific circumstances that include the following: 
accidental dismemberment benefit, safety belt benefit, repatriation benefit, felonious assault benefit, and 
accelerated death benefit option. The benefit amounts are subject to a reduction factor. The benefit 
amount reduces by 25% on January 1 following one calendar year of separation. The benefit amount reduces 
by an additional 25% on each subsequent January 1 until it reaches 25% of its original value. For covered 
members with at least 30 years of service credit, the minimum benefit payable was set at $8,000 by statute 
in 2015. This will be increased annually based on the VRS Plan 2 cost-of-living adjustment calculation.  The 
minimum benefit adjusted for the COLA was $8,616 as of June 30, 2021. 

36

March 7, 2024 Page 227 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN):  (CONTINUED) 

Contributions  

The contribution requirements for the GLI Plan are governed by §51.1-506 and §51.1-508 of the Code of
Virginia, as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to state agencies and school
divisions by the Virginia General Assembly. The total rate for the GLI Plan was 1.34% of covered employee
compensation. This was allocated into an employee and an employer component using a 60/40 split. The
employee component was 0.80% (1.34% x 60%) and the employer component was 0.54% (1.34% x 40%). 
Employers may elect to pay all or part of the employee contribution; however, the employer must pay all of
the employer contribution. Each employer’s contractually required employer contribution rate for the year 
ended June 30, 2021 was 0.54% of covered employee compensation. This rate was based on an actuarially 
determined rate from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019. The actuarially determined rate, when
combined with employee contributions, was expected to finance the costs of benefits payable during the
year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  Contributions to the Group Life 
Insurance Plan from the entity were $3,805 and $2,832 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 
2020, respectively. 

GLI OPEB Liabilities, GLI OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to the GLI Plan OPEB 

At June 30, 2021, the entity reported a liability of $44,224 for its proportionate share of the Net GLI OPEB 
Liability. The Net GLI OPEB Liability was measured as of June 30, 2020 and the total GLI OPEB liability used 
to calculate the Net GLI OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30,
2019, and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2020. The covered employer’s proportion of 
the Net GLI OPEB Liability was based on the covered employer’s actuarially determined employer 
contributions to the GLI Plan for the year ended June 30, 2020 relative to the total of the actuarially 
determined employer contributions for all participating employers. At June 30, 2020, the participating
employer’s proportion was 0.00270% as compared to 0.00323% at June 30, 2019. 

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the participating employer recognized GLI OPEB expense of $1,183. Since 
there was a change in proportionate share between measurement dates, a portion of the GLI OPEB expense 
was related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion. 

37

March 7, 2024 Page 228 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN):  (CONTINUED) 

GLI OPEB Liabilities, GLI OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to the GLI Plan OPEB:  (Continued) 

At June 30, 2021, the employer reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to the GLI OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 2,837   $ 398      

Net difference between projected and actual 
earnings on GLI OPEB program investments 1,328   -         

Change in assumptions 2,212   923      

Changes in proportion 3,770   8,485   

Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 3,805    -         

Total $ 13,952  $ 9,806   

$3,805 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB resulting from the employer’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the Net GLI OPEB 
Liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to the GLI OPEB will be recognized in the GLI OPEB expense in 
future reporting periods as follows: 

Year Ended June 30

2022 $ 162  
2023 537  
2024 880  
2025 205  
2026 (1,144)   

Thereafter (299)   

38

March 7, 2024 Page 229 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN):  (CONTINUED) 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total GLI OPEB liability was based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019, using the Entry Age 
Normal actuarial cost method and the following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement and rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2020. The assumptions include 
several employer groups. Salary increases and mortality rates included herein are for relevant employer 
groups. Information for other groups can be referenced in the VRS Annual Report. 

Inflation 2.5%

Salary increases, including inflation:
Locality - General employees 3.5%-5.35%

Investment rate of return 6.75%, net of investment expenses,
including inflation*

*Administrative expenses as a percent of the fair value of assets for the last experience study were found to
be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would provide an assumed
investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 6.75%. However, since the
difference was minimal, and a more conservative 6.75% investment return assumption provided a projected
plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the long-term expected rate of return on
investments was assumed to be 6.75% to simplify preparation of OPEB liabilities.

Mortality Rates – Non-Largest Ten Locality Employers – General Employees 

Pre-Retirement: 
RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 80, Healthy Annuitant Rates to 81 and older projected with scale BB
to 2021; males 95% of rates; females 105% of rates. 

 Post-Retirement: 
RP-2014 Employee Rates to age 49, Healthy Annuitant Rates at ages 50 and older projected with 
scale BB to 2021; males set forward 3 years; females 1.0% increase compounded from ages 70 to 90.  

 Post-Disablement: 
RP-2014 Disability Mortality Rates projected with scale BB to 2021; males set forward 2 years, 110% 
of rates; females 125% of rates. 

39

March 7, 2024 Page 230 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

 
 

 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN):  (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions:  (Continued) 
 
Mortality Rates – Non-Largest Ten Locality Employers – General Employees  (Continued) 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016, except the change in the discount 
rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective as of July 1, 2019. Changes to the actuarial 
assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board action are as follows: 
 

Mortality Rates (pre-retirement, post-
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Updated to a more current mortality table - RP-2014 
projected to 2020

Retirement Rates Lowered retirement rates at older ages and extended 
final retirement age from 70 to 75

Withdrawal Rates
Adjusted termination rates to better fit experience at 
each age and service year

Disability Rates Lowered disability rates

Salary Scale No change
Line of Duty Disability Increased rate from 14% to 15%
Discount Rate Decreased rate from 7% to 6.75%

 
NET GLI OPEB Liability 
 
The net OPEB liability (NOL) for the GLI Plan represents the plan’s total OPEB liability determined in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 74, less the associated fiduciary net position. As of the measurement 
date of June 30, 2020, NOL amounts for the GLI Plan are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands): 

 
Group Life

 Insurance OPEB
Plan

Total GLI OPEB Liability $ 3,523,937               
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 1,855,102               
GLI Net OPEB Liability (Asset) $ 1,668,835               

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
of the Total GLI OPEB Liability 52.64%

 
The total GLI OPEB liability is calculated by the System’s actuary, and each plan’s fiduciary net position is 
reported in the System’s financial statements. The net GLI OPEB liability is disclosed in accordance with the 
requirements of GASB Statement No. 74 in the System’s notes to the financial statements and required 
supplementary information. 
  

40

March 7, 2024 Page 231 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN):  (CONTINUED) 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

The long-term expected rate of return on the System’s investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of System’s investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target 
asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following table: 

Weighted
Long-Term Arithmetic Average

Target Long-term Long-term
Asset Expected Expected

Asset Class (Strategy) Allocation Rate of Return Rate of Return

Public Equity 34.00% 4.65% 1.58%
Fixed Income 15.00% 0.46% 0.07%
Credit Strategies 14.00% 5.38% 0.75%
Real Assets 14.00% 5.01% 0.70%
Private Equity 14.00% 8.34% 1.17%
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies 6.00% 3.04% 0.18%
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 3.00% 6.49% 0.19%

Total 100.00% 4.64%

Inflation 2.50%
*Expected arithmetic nominal return 7.14%

*The above allocation provides a one-year return of 7.14%. However, one-year returns do not take into
account the volatility present in each of the asset classes. In setting the long-term expected return for the
system, stochastic projections are employed to model future returns under various economic conditions. The
results provide a range of returns over various time periods that ultimately provide a median return of
7.11%, including expected inflation of 2.50%. On October 10, 2019, the VRS Board elected a long-term rate
of 6.75% which is roughly at the 40th percentile of expected long-term results of the VRS fund asset
allocation. More recent capital market assumptions compiled for the FY2020 actuarial valuations provide a
median return of 6.81%.

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total GLI OPEB liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the VRS guidance and 
the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates equal to the 
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by the VRS Board of Trustees and the 
member rate. Through the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the rate contributed by the entity for the GLI 
OPEB will be subject to the portion of the VRS Board-certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General 
Assembly which was 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rate. From July 1, 2020 on, employers 
are assumed to continue to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution rates. Based on those 

41

March 7, 2024 Page 232 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 (Continued) 

NOTE 13−GROUP LIFE INSURANCE (GLI) PLAN (OPEB PLAN): (CONTINUED) 

Discount Rate (Continued) 

assumptions, the GLI OPEB’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of eligible employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total GLI OPEB liability. 

Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net GLI OPEB Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 

The following presents the employer’s proportionate share of the net GLI OPEB liability using the discount 
rate of 6.75%, as well as what the employer’s proportionate share of the net GLI OPEB liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (5.75%) or one percentage point 
higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)

Commission's proportionate 
share of the Group Life
Insurance Program
Net OPEB Liability $ 58,136 $ 44,224        $ 32,927  

Rate

GLI Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the GLI Plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in the separately issued VRS 
2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (Annual Report). A copy of the 2020 VRS Annual Report may be 
downloaded from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/pdf/publications/2020-annual-report.pdf, or 
by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Officer at P.O. Box 2500, Richmond, VA, 23218-2500. 

NOTE 14−RECLASSIFICATION OF STATE GRANTS: 

The CARES ACT Fund had $170,000 incorrectly reported as federal grants in the financial statements issued 
on December 4, 2021, which should have been reported as state grants. The financial statements have been 
adjusted to correct the error. 

42

March 7, 2024 Page 233 of 266



DRAFTREQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

March 7, 2024 Page 234 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 7

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balance -
Budget and Actual - Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues
  Federal Grants:
   Commission $ 310,843       $ 417,422       $ 1,002,708     $ 585,286           
   Pass-Through 854,726       2,950,877    2,138,837     (812,040)          
  State Grants 354,622       344,648       426,898        82,250 
  Other:
   Localities 636,843       661,832       599,926        (61,906)            
   Revenue from the use of money 26,800         14,529         14,837          308 

    Total revenues $ 2,183,834    $ 4,389,308    $ 4,183,206     $ (206,102)          

Expenditures
Current:

    Administrative $ 573,632       $ 432,704       $ 240,066        $ 192,638           
    Department of Transportation 465,756       492,167       415,927        76,240 
    Department of Housing and Urban Development 644,752       665,077       664,661        416 
    Department of Homeland Security 36,000         31,920         16,921          14,999 
    Environmental Protection Agency 50,997         50,997         67,259          (16,262)            

Department of Housing and Community Development - 2,170,345 2,170,284     61
Virginia Housing Development Authority 38,783         69,406         137,003        (67,597)            

    Virginia Department of Agriculture 74,338         118,446       119,249        (803)
    Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation 197,405       152,981       135,165        17,816 
    Legislative Liaison 102,171       102,171       90,759          11,412 

      Total expenditures $ 2,183,834    $ 4,286,214    $ 4,057,294     $ 228,920           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
 (under) expenditures $ - $ 103,094       $ 125,912        $ 22,818 

Net change in fund balance $ - $ 103,094       $ 125,912        $ 22,818 

Fund balance, beginning of year 743,495       743,495       743,495 - 

Fund balance, end of year $ 743,495       $ 846,589       $ 869,407        $ 22,818 

The budgetary data presented above is on the modified accrual basis of accounting which is in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

43

March 7, 2024 Page 235 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 8
Page 1 of 2

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios
For the Measurement Dates of June 30, 2014 through June 30, 2020

2020 2019 2018 2017
Total pension liability
Service cost $ 49,884 $ 45,609 $ 47,097 $ 43,503
Interest 115,583 109,185 102,465 102,011
Differences between expected and actual experience (58,224) 8,945 4,016 (21,557)
Changes in assumptions 0 51,616 - (58,077)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (69,767) (55,827) (59,339) (59,462)
Net change in total pension liability $ 37,476 $ 159,528 $ 94,239 $ 6,418
Total pension liability - beginning 1,747,223 1,587,695 1,493,456 1,487,038
Total pension liability - ending (a) $ 1,784,699 $ 1,747,223 $ 1,587,695 $ 1,493,456

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 2,390 $ 2,951 $ 9,937 $ 9,145
Contributions - employee 24,828 29,018 29,495 25,481
Net investment income 39,709 131,859 137,364 204,382
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (69,767) (55,827) (59,339) (59,462)
Administrative expense (1,362) (1,299) (1,180) (1,183)
Other (47) (83) (122) (181)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position $ (4,249) $ 106,619 $ 116,155 $ 178,182
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 2,079,694 1,973,075 1,856,920 1,678,738
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $ 2,075,445 $ 2,079,694 $ 1,973,075 $ 1,856,920

Commission's net pension liability (asset) - ending (a) - (b) $ (290,746) $ (332,471) $ (385,380) $ (363,464)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 116.29% 119.03% 124.27% 124.34%

Covered payroll $ 544,700 $ 632,061 $ 634,356 $ 539,257

Commission's net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of 
covered payroll -53.38% -52.60% -60.75% -67.40%

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2014 valuation is not available. However,
additional years will be included as they become available.

44

March 7, 2024 Page 236 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 8
Page 2 of 2

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios
For the Measurement Dates of June 30, 2014 through June 30, 2020

2016 2015 2014
Total pension liability
Service cost $ 56,311 $ 50,141 $ 69,411
Interest 96,363 94,691 87,524
Differences between expected and actual experience (14,126) (61,088) - 
Changes in assumptions - - - 
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (56,246) (63,463) (45,653)
Net change in total pension liability $ 82,302 $ 20,281 $ 111,282
Total pension liability - beginning 1,404,736 1,384,455 1,273,173
Total pension liability - ending (a) $ 1,487,038 $ 1,404,736 $ 1,384,455

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 18,635 $ 20,868 $ 37,157
Contributions - employee 24,742 27,522 32,439
Net investment income 29,062 73,203 218,230
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (56,246) (63,463) (45,653)
Administrative expense (1,033) (1,005) (1,145)
Other (12) (16) 11
Net change in plan fiduciary net position $ 15,148 $ 57,109 $ 241,039
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 1,663,590 1,606,481 1,365,442
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $ 1,678,738 $ 1,663,590 $ 1,606,481

Commission's net pension liability (asset) - ending (a) - (b) $ (191,700) $ (258,854) $ (222,026)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability 112.89% 118.43% 116.04%

Covered payroll $ 517,609 $ 563,802 $ 615,185

Commission's net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of 
covered payroll -37.04% -45.91% -36.09%

45

March 7, 2024 Page 237 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 9

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Pension Plan
For the Years Ended June 30, 2012 through June 30, 2021

Contributions in
Relation to Contributions

Contractually Contractually Contribution Employer's as a % of
Required Required Deficiency Covered Covered

Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll
Date (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)

2021 $ 3,474              $ 3,474              $ -                 $ 704,693          0.49%
2020 4,812              4,812              -                 544,700          0.88%
2019 8,299              8,299              -                 632,061          1.31%
2018 10,718            10,718            -                 634,356          1.69%
2017 11,001            11,001            -                 539,257          2.04%
2016 19,773            19,773            -                 517,609          3.82%
2015 21,536            21,536            -                 563,802          3.82%
2014 37,157            37,157            -                 615,185          6.04%
2013 42,416            42,416            -                 702,256          6.04%
2012 30,492            30,492            -                 680,616          4.48%

Current year contributions are from Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission's records and prior year
contributions are from the VRS actuarial valuation performed each year.

March 7, 2024 Page 238 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 10

Notes to Required Supplementary Information - Pension Plan
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

All Others (Non 10 Largest) – Non-Hazardous Duty:

Lowered rates  
No change
Increased rate from 14% to 15%

Discount Rate Decreased rate from 7% to 6.75%

Changes of benefit terms – There have been no actuarially material changes to the System benefit provisions
since the prior actuarial valuation. 

Changes of assumptions – The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016, except the change
in the discount rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective as of July 1, 2019. Changes to the actuarial

           assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board action are as follows:
           

Disability Rates
Salary Scale
Line of Duty Disability

Mortality Rates (pre-retirement, post-retirement 
healthy, and disabled)

Updated to a more current mortality table - RP-2014 
projected to 2020

Retirement Rates Lowered rates at older ages and changed final retirement 
from 70 to 75

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year age and 
service through 9 years of service

March 7, 2024 Page 239 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 11

Schedule of the Commission's Share of Net OPEB Liability
Group Life Insurance Plan
For the Measurement Dates of June 30, 2017 trhough June 30, 2020

Employer's
Proportionate Share

Employer's  of the Net GLI OPEB
Employer's Proportionate  Liability (Asset) Plan Fiduciary 

Proportion of the Share of the Employer's as a Percentage of Net Position as a
Net GLI OPEB Net GLI OPEB Covered Covered Payroll Percentage of Total

Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll (3)/(4) GLI OPEB Liability
(2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

0.00270% $ 44,224 $ 544,700 8.12% 52.64%
0.00323% 52,561 632,061 8.32% 52.00%
0.00333% 51,000 634,356 8.04% 51.22%
0.00292% 44,000 539,257 8.16% 48.86%

Date
(1)

2017

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2017 valuation is not available. However,
additional years will be included as they become available.

2018
2019
2020

48

March 7, 2024 Page 240 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 12

Schedule of Employer Contributions
Group Life Insurance Plan
For the Years Ended June 30, 2017 through June 30, 2021

Contributions in
Relation to Contributions

Contractually Contractually Contribution Employer's as a % of
Required Required Deficiency Covered Covered

Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll
Date (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)
2021 $ 3,805 $ 3,805 $ - $ 704,693          0.54%
2020 2,832 2,832 - 544,700 0.52%
2019 3,287 3,287 - 632,061 0.52%
2018 3,324 3,324 - 634,356 0.52%
2017 2,822 2,822 - 539,257 0.52%

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Information prior to the 2017 is not available.  
However, additional years will be included as they become available.

49

March 7, 2024 Page 241 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Exhibit 13

Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Group Life Insurance Plan
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Non-Largest Ten Locality Employers - General Employees

Lowered disability rates
No change
Increased rate from 14% to 15%
Decreased rate from 7% to 6.75%Discount Rate

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted termination rates to better fit experience at each age 
and service year

Disability Rates
Salary Scale
Line of Duty Disability

Changes of benefit terms – There have been no actuarially material changes to the System benefit provisions
since the prior actuarial valuation. 

Changes of assumptions – The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2016, except the
change in the discount rate, which was based on VRS Board action effective as of July 1, 2019. Changes to the

           actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board action are as follows:

Mortality Rates (pre-retirement, post-
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Updated to a more current mortality table - RP-2014 projected 
to 2020

Retirement Rates Lowered retirement rates at older ages and extended final 
retirement age from 70 to 75

50

March 7, 2024 Page 242 of 266



DRAFTOTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

March 7, 2024 Page 243 of 266



DRAFTSupporting Schedules

March 7, 2024 Page 244 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Schedule 1

Schedule of Expenditures - General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Administrative
Current Operating:

Salaries and fringe  $ 348,950
Contractual 88,755 
Insurance 5,774 
Subscriptions and publications 613 
Dues 7,257 
Advertising 552 
Supplies 5,459
Copier 2,976 
Meetings 1,069 
Rent 94,612 
Janitorial service 2,310 
Postage 1,775 
Travel 5,302 
Professional development 4,034 
Telephone 6,547 
Audit and legal 12,936 
Indirect costs allocation (381,034) 
Capital outlay 6,407 
Equipment use and maintenance 25,772 

  Total expenditures  $ 240,066 

51

March 7, 2024 Page 245 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Schedule 2

Schedule of Indirect Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Administrative
Current operating:

Personnel  $ 204,550
Postage 1,494 
Subscriptions and publications 345 
Supplies 5,455 
Travel 5,081 
Audit/legal services 12,936
Advertising 344 
Professional meetings and development 3,684 
Contractual services 46,133
Dues 7,157
Insurance/bonding 5,274 
Printing and copier 2,971 
Rent 81,162
Janitorial 2,310 
Equipment repair/maintenance/use 31,175
Meeting expenses 428 
Telephone 6,547 

  Total indirect costs  $ 417,046

52

March 7, 2024 Page 246 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Schedule 3

Schedule of Individual Programs' Personnel Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Total Salaries and Fringes:
Salaries  $ 793,008
Fringe benefits 170,318

Total Salaries and Fringes  $ 963,326

Less Administrative Personnel Costs:
Administration $ 198,060
Network support 6,490 

Total Administrative Personnel Costs $ 204,550

Less Contractual Personnel Costs:
Stanardsville TAP $ 4,095 

Total  Contractual Personnel Costs $ 4,095 

Total Individual Programs' Personnel Costs $ 754,681

Calculation of indirect cost rate:
Indirect Costs / 417,046
Individual Programs' Personnel Costs 754,681

Indirect cost rate 55%

53

March 7, 2024 Page 247 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION Schedule 4

Schedule of Grant Contracts
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Grant or Contract

Grant-
Contract 

Start Date

Grant-
Contract 
End Date

Grant-
Contract 

Total
Year to Date 

FY21

Grant-
Contract To 

Date

Budgeted 
Amount 
For Fy22

Grant-
Contract 

Remaining

MPO-FTA 07/01/20 06/30/21 $ 102,624      $ 102,624      $ 102,624      $ - $ - 
MPO-PL 07/01/20 06/30/21 187,626      154,597      154,597      - 33,029 
HOME TJPDC 07/01/20 06/30/21 64,475        61,405        61,405        3,070      - 
HOME PASS-THROUGH 07/01/20 06/30/21 589,042      582,892      582,892      - 6,150
HOUSING HPG 07/01/20 06/30/21 28,656        13,963        13,963        14,693     - 
HPG PASS-THROUGH 07/01/20 06/30/21 191,043      105,287      105,287      85,756     - 
STATE SUPPORT TO PDC 07/01/20 06/30/21 75,971        75,971        75,971        - - 
TJPDC CORPORATION 07/01/20 06/30/21 25 25 25 - - 
RIDESHARE 07/01/20 06/30/21 * 155,815      135,163      135,163      - 20,652 
RURAL TRANSPORTATION 07/01/20 06/30/21 58,000        58,000        58,000        - -
RTP-TDM 07/01/20 06/30/21 50,000        42,013        42,013        7,987      - 
REGIONAL TRANSIT GRANT 01/01/21 06/30/22 34,138        5,045         5,045         29,093     - 
REGIONAL TRANSIT GRANT PASS -THROUGH 01/01/21 06/30/22 315,863      - - 315,863   - 
ALBEMARLE TRANSIT GRANT 01/01/21 12/31/21 14,950        5,626         5,626         9,324      - 
ALBEMARLE TRANSIT GRANT PASS -THROUGH 01/01/21 12/31/21 91,265        2,021         2,021         89,244     - 
NELSON CNN PASS-THROUGH 07/01/20 06/30/21 41,775        41,775        41,775        - - 
HAZARD MITIGATION 07/01/20 06/30/21 67,200        10,701        10,701        56,499     - 
NELSON CARES 08/12/20 12/31/20 15,000        15,000        15,000        - - 
NELSON CARES PASS-THROUGH 08/12/20 12/31/20 335,000      335,000      335,000      - - 
LOVINGSTON 11/01/18 06/30/21 20,739        5,614         20,739        - - 
LOVINGSTON PASS-THROUGH 11/01/18 06/30/21 13,735        13,385        13,735        - - 
LEGISLATIVE LIAISON 07/01/20 06/30/21 102,171      90,759        90,759        11,412     - 
VAPDC-ED 07/01/20 06/30/21 50,369        50,369        50,369        - - 
SOLID WASTE 07/01/20 06/30/21 17,500        14,235        14,235        3,265      - 
RIVANNA RIVER CORRIDOR 07/01/20 06/30/21 87,464        50,087        83,252        4,212      - 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 07/01/20 06/30/21 62,300        62,300        62,300        - - 
RRBC 07/01/20 06/30/21 10,500        3,813         3,813         6,687      - 
WIP PHASE IV 06/01/19 1231/21 58,000        33,464        33,464        24,536     - 
WIP PHASE III 06/01/18 12/30/20 52,000        14,253        52,000        - - 
TJCLT 10/19/17 01/31/21 66,928        66,928        66,928        - - 
REGL HSG PLAN 10/31/18 06/30/21 95,915        26,204        95,915        - - 
  RHP PASS-THROUGH 10/31/18 06/30/21 54,125        - 54,125 - - 
MEMBER PER CAPITA 07/01/20 06/30/21 158,365      157,822      157,822 543         - 
OFFICE LEASES - RENT 07/01/20 06/30/21 13,450        13,450        13,450 - - 
STANARDSVILLE TAP 04/06/15 10/01/20 25,500        4,102         21,958 3,542      - 
CHERRY AVENUE 07/01/20 06/30/21 16,482        16,482        16,482 - - 
RMRP 04/01/20 03/31/21 90,838        87,176        90,838 - - 
RMRP PASS-THROUGH 04/01/20 12/31/20 1,735,229   1,723,047   1,735,229   - - 
5TH STREET TAP 11/16/16 10/01/20 37,697        - 20,731 16,966     - 
5TH STREET TAP PASS THROUGH 11/16/16 10/01/20 162,303      - 88,758 - 73,545 
BANK INTEREST 07/01/20 06/30/21 1,382         1,382         1,382 - -

TOTAL $ 5,351,460   $ 4,181,980   $ 4,535,392   $ 682,692   $ 133,376      

* Funds are available for completion of the project.

54

March 7, 2024 Page 248 of 266



DRAFT

March 7, 2024 Page 249 of 266



DRAFT

Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

To the Commissioners 
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
Charlottesville, Virginia 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the Specifications for Audits of Authorities, Boards, 
and Commissions, issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Thomas Jefferson Planning 
District Commission’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated December 4, 
2021.   

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Thomas Jefferson Planning 
District Commission’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Thomas 
Jefferson Planning District Commission’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and 
correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control such that there is 
 a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 

ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES, PLLC
Certified Public Accountants

55

March 7, 2024 Page 250 of 266



DRAFT

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could 
have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Charlottesville, Virginia 
December 4, 2021 

56

March 7, 2024 Page 251 of 266

tammy
Foley RFC



DRAFT

Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on 
Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 

To the Commissioners 
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
Charlottesville, Virginia 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s (a nonprofit organization) compliance 
with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a 
direct and material effect on each of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2021.  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s major federal 
programs are identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs.     

Management’s Responsibility  

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions 
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.   

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Thomas Jefferson Planning District 
Commission’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred 
to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Those standards and the Uniform 
Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 
material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s compliance with those requirements and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.     

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Thomas Jefferson Planning District 
Commission’s compliance.  

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program  

In our opinion, Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission complied, in all material respects, with the 
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of 
its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2021.  

ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES, PLLC
Certified Public Accountants

57

March 7, 2024 Page 252 of 266



DRAFT

Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

Management of Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred 
to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Thomas Jefferson Planning 
District Commission’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a 
direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Thomas Jefferson Planning 
District Commission’s internal control over compliance.   

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not 
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type 
of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal 
control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.   

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.    

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Charlottesville, Virginia 
December 4, 2021 

58

March 7, 2024 Page 253 of 266

tammy
Foley RFC



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards - Reissued
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Federal Pass-Through Entity
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ CFDA Identifying Federal Expenditures

Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures to Subrecipients

Primary Government:
Department of Housing and Urban Development:
 Direct Payments:
      HOME Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 N/A $ 644,295 $ 582,891
 Pass-Through Payments:
 Community Development Block Grant Entitlement Grants Cluster:
  County of Nelson, Virginia:
       Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 14.218 Not Available - 

   Total Department of Housing and Urban Development $ 662,722 $ 582,891

Department of Transportation:
 Pass-Through Payments:
  Virginia Department of Transportation:
       Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:
      Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 EN07-039-118,P101, C501 $ 196,620 $ - 
       Metropolitan Transportation Planning and State and 
         Non-Metropolitan Planning and Research 20.505 FTA VA-80-0019-00 91,281 - 

   Total Department of Transportation $ 287,901 $ - 

Environmental Protecton Agency:
 Direct Payments:
     Chesapeake Bay Program 66.466 N/A $ 47,717 $ - 

Department of Agriculture:
 Pass Through Payments:
  Virginia Department of Agriculture:
     Rural Housing Preservation Grants 10.433 Not Available $ 119,247 $ - 

Department of Treasury:
 Pass-Through Payments:
  Nelson County:
     COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 Not Available $ 351,452 $ - 
  Albemarle County:
     COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 Not Available 10,632 - 
  City of Charlottesville:
     COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 Not Available 4,827 - 
  Louisa County:
     COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 Not Available 3,525 - 
  Fluvanna County:
     COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 Not Available 2,612 - 
  Greene County:
     COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 Not Available 1,952 - 

     Total COVID-19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund $ 375,000 $ - 

  Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development:
     COVID-19 - Emergency Rental Assistance Program 21.023 Not Available 1,640,226 1,555,946

   Total Department of Treasury $ 2,015,226 $ 1,555,946

Department of Homeland Security:
 Pass-Through Payments:
  Virginia Department of Emergency Management
     Hazard Mitigation Grant 97.039 Not Available $ 8,732 $ - 

    Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $ 3,141,545 $ 2,138,837

59

18,427 $

March 7, 2024 Page 254 of 266

cjacobs
Cross-Out



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards - Reissued
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Note 1 - Basis of Accounting

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(2) Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.

(3) The Commission did not elect to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under Uniform Guidance.

Note 3 - Subrecipients

Of the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule, the Commission provided federal awards to subrecipients as follows:

Amount 
provided to

CFDA Number Program Name subrecipients

14.239 HOME Investment Partnerships Program $ 582,891           
21.023 COVID-19 - Emergency Rental Assistance Program 1,555,946        

Total $ 2,138,837        

Note 4 - Relationship to Financial Statements

Intergovernmental federal revenues per the basic financial statements:
Primary government:

Department of Transportation $ 287,901           
HOME Department of Housing and Urban Development 644,295           
CARES ACT 1,990,226        
Other Governmental Funds 219,123           

   Total primary government $ 3,141,545        

Total federal expenditures per the Schedule of Expenditures
of Federal Awards $ 3,141,545        

Note 5 - Subsequent Reclassification of Federal Expenditurs

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award activity of the Thomas
Jefferson Planning District Commission under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2021. The
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements of Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because
the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission, it is not
intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the Thomas Jefferson Planning
District Commission.

(1) Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized
following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are
limited as to reimbursement.

The previous issued schedule of expenditures of federal awards was reissued to reclassify $170,000 of state funding out
of program CFDA 21.023 COVID-19-Emergency Rental Assistance Program.

Federal expenditures, revenues and capital contributions are reported in the Commission's basic financial statements as follows:

60

March 7, 2024 Page 255 of 266



DRAFT

THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021

Section I - Summary of Auditors' Results

Financial Statements

Type of auditors' report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None reported

Type of auditors' report issued on compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with 2 CFR Section 200.516(a)? No

Identification of major programs:

CFDA # Name of Federal Program or Cluster

21.023 COVID-19 - Emergency Rental Assistance Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No

Section II - Financial Statement Findings

There are no financial statement findings to report.

Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

There are no federal award findings and questioned costs to report.

Section IV - Prior Year Audit Findings

There are no prior year audit findings.

61

March 7, 2024 Page 256 of 266



 

 

TJPDC Corporation 
Board Roster – FY24 Amended 

 
Board Composition from Bylaws 
• At least seven (7) and no more than thirteen (13) 
• Six directors selected from TJPD Commission to represent each member locality, with at least 4 being current 

Commissioners 
• Up to seven (7) at-large directors elected by the TJPDC Corporation Board 
• Elected at the annual meeting. No limit to the number of one-year terms.  

 
FY24 

TJPDC Appointees  
Name Locality Officer Commissioner Status 

Ms. Gennie Keller City of Charlottesville Vice Chair  
VACANT Albemarle County   

Mr. Keith Smith Fluvanna County   Current 
VACANT Greene County   
VACANT Louisa County   

Mr. Ernie Reed Nelson County Chair Current 
Corporation-Elected Directors  

Christine Jacobs   Treasurer  
Sally Thomas    

    
Staff 

Ruth Emerick  Secretary,  
Executive Director 

 

 

March 7, 2024 Page 257 of 266



 
 

To: Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
From: Christine Jacobs, Executive Director 
Date: March 7, 2024 
 
Re: Draft Amended FY24 Operating Budget  
 
Purpose: To present the final Amended FY24 Operating Budget, to be used as the basis for financial 
reports throughout the remainder of the fiscal year.  

Proposed Amended FY24 Operating Budget: The recommended Draft Amended FY24 Operating 
Budget incorporates changes to revenue and expense assumptions from the original FY24 budget 
adopted at the May 4, 2023, meeting and is adjusted to include changes that have occurred during 
the first half of FY24 and changes that are projected to occur during the second half of FY24.  The 
amended budget includes total projected revenue of $28,635,693 and expenditures of $28,332,281 
for an anticipated net gain of $303,412. 

Changes to revenue in the Amended FY24 budget since the draft was presented in the February 
commission meeting include: 

• Federal Revenues:  
o Federal revenue for the Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) program is 

being reclassified as local revenue in the amount of $4,930,000. Local contributions 
to the project from Cumberland, Louisa, and Powhatan counties are confirmed to be 
from a local source. 

• Local Revenues: 
o Added local revenue for the Virginia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) in the 

amount of $4,930,000 accounts for the reclassification of funds for local 
contributions to the project from Cumberland, Louisa, and Powhatan counties. 

 
Changes to expenses in the Amended FY24 budget since the draft was presented in the February 
commission meeting include: 

• Direct Costs: 
o $3,000 was added to the administrative advertising budget to increase the reach in 

advertising for staff vacancies. 
 

Recommended Motion by Commission: Staff recommends a motion to adopt the Amended FY24 
Operating Budget as presented. 

March 7, 2024 Page 258 of 266



TJPDC - FY24 Draft Operating Budget 3/7/2024
$0.62 per capita $0.62 per capita $0.64 per capita $0.64 per capita

Revenue FY22 Actual FY23 Actual FY24 Operating FY24 Amended
Federal $1,319,439 $12,765,316 $50,563,517 $18,813,844
State $862,261 $955,735 $1,132,839 $1,154,129
Local $1,907,957 $5,313,450 $3,009,549 $8,447,665
Local per capita $158,876 $160,848 $171,055 $171,055
Interest Income $2,769 $35,208 $25,000 $25,000
Rent Income $25,200 $22,198 $15,000 $24,000
Grant & Reserves Transfer -$25,073 $9,075 $0
Total Revenue $4,276,502 $19,227,682 $54,926,035 $28,635,693

Operating Expenditures
Personnel Costs

Salaries $775,648 $967,741 $1,112,132 $1,036,276
Fringe and Release $147,991 $203,213 $236,833 $234,580
Total Personnel $923,639 $1,170,954 $1,348,965 $1,270,856

Direct Costs
Overhead $0 $0 $0 $0
Non-Reimbursable Overhead $0 $0 $0 $0
Postage $1,947 $1,948 $2,344 $574
Subscriptions/Bank Dues $249 $708 $1,850 $555
Supplies $5,819 $9,160 $8,678 $11,156
Audit-Legal $22,900 $27,817 $52,000 $45,675
Advertising $22,580 $16,030 $30,388 $23,829
Meeting Expenses $1,824 $14,884 $10,039 $5,009
TJPDC Contractual $80,652 $109,322 $143,837 $118,258
Dues $8,623 $9,312 $13,246 $10,126
Insurance $5,942 $7,731 $7,000 $7,500
Printing/Copy $4,538 $5,139 $6,600 $4,806
Rent $97,850 $100,975 $104,296 $104,296
Equip/Data Use/COGS $40,050 $54,376 $28,720 $28,867
Capital & Leases $0 $0 $0 $0
Telephone $6,388 $6,258 $8,992 $14,492
Travel-Vehicle $9,675 $17,741 $42,521 $40,856
Janitorial $2,050 $2,917 $6,001 $3,500
Professional Development $16,555 $52,815 $32,163 $26,411
Total Direct Costs $327,642 $437,132 $498,674 $445,909
Total Operating Expneses $1,251,280 $1,608,086 $1,847,639 $1,716,766

Net Ordinary Income $3,025,222 $17,619,596 $53,078,396 $26,918,927

HOME Pass Through $736,642 $376,127 $997,404 $1,132,174
HPG Pass Through $115,899 $141,171 $187,102 $208,465
Cigarette Tax Pass Through $1,389,338 $2,659,620 $2,400,000 $2,800,000
VATI Broadband Pass Through $0 $13,376,956 $48,000,000 $21,000,000
Other Grants/Contracts Pass Through $721,102 $949,884 $1,493,889 $1,474,877
Total Other Expenses $2,962,981 $17,503,758 $53,078,396 $26,615,515

Net Other Income -$2,962,981 -$17,503,758 -$53,078,396 -$26,615,515

Net Income $62,241 $115,839 $0 $303,412

Pass Through

March 7, 2024 Page 259 of 266



FY24 Budget Revenues 

Internal 
Program Code

Revenue Federal State Local Local per 
capita

Interest 
Income

Rent

LOCALITY PER CAPITA AND STATE REVENUE
110 State Contribution - DHCD $89,971
110 WSC & Offices $24,000
110 Interest Income $25,000
301 Charlottesville $32,691
302 Albemarle $73,231
304 Fluvanna $17,636
305 Greene $13,459
306 Louisa $24,553
307 Nelson $9,485

Unknown Source/Reserve Transfer $0

TRANSPORTATION
Rural Transportation

170         Rural Admin $12,800
171         Rural Transportation Planning $45,200
172 Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) $30,400 $7,600
180 Mobility Management $30,552 $6,110 $43,125

Transit Planning
181         Regional Transit Partnership (RTP) $0 $70,000
184         Transit Governance Study $15,485 $7,638

Charlottesville-Albemarle MPO
190/195/198         PL Funding $202,171 $25,271
191/196/199         FTA Funding $103,232 $12,904

Rideshare
193        Rideshare/TDM -  DPRT $139,358 $42,840
194        CAP/Rideshare Strategic Plan $0 $0

Other Transportation
334        Nelson TAP $3,116

HOUSING AND NONPROFIT
726 HOME-ARP $50,000

727-20 HOME Consortium Admin-20 $0
727-21 HOME Consortium Admin-21 $135
727-22 HOME Consortium Admin-22 $0
727-23 HOME Consortium Admin-23 $50,000
728-22 Housing Preservation Admin - HPG-22 $20,880
728-23 Housing Preservation Admin - HPG-23 $10,600

729 Regional Housing Partnership $14,906 $55,000
732 VERP - DHCD $13,742
733 VA Housing - PDC $56,180

ENVIRONMENT
303 Solid Waste $9,500
907 WIP DEQ $56,777
908 RRBC $10,500

OTHER PROGRAMS
120 SCRC $17,250
277 Legislative Liaison $133,235
278 VAPDC $55,502
325 Mineral (Comp Plan) $16,548
333 CEDS $9,821 $2,455
760 Regional Cigarette Tax $165,000
761 VATI 2022 - DHCD $201,556 $0

PASS THRU REVENUE
170/171 Rural Transportation Planning $0 $0

172 Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) $312,640 $78,160
180 Mobility Management $41,070 $8,214
181 Regional Transit Partnership (RTP) $0
184 Transit Governance Study $13,955 $6,845

190/195/198 MPO - PL $108,080 $13,510
191/196/199 MPO - FTA $0 $0

193 Rideshare/TDM - DRPT
194 CAP/Rideshare Strategic Plan $32,200 $35,000
303 Solid Waste $1,000
333 CEDS $38,400 $9,600
726 HOME-ARP Pass Through $66,000

727-20 Consortium HOME Pass Through-20 $118,324
727-21 Consortium HOME Pass Through-21 $207,822
727-22 Consortium HOME Pass Through-22 $560,028
727-23 Consortium HOME Pass Through-23 $180,000
728-22 HPG Pass Through-22 $133,465
728-23 HPG Pass Through-23 $75,000

729 Regional Housing Partnership
732 VERP - DHCD Pass Through $267,154
733 VA Housing - PDC Pass Through $471,809
760 Regional Cigarette Tax Pass Through $2,800,000
761 VATI 2022- DHCD $16,070,000 $4,930,000

Total Revenues by Category $18,813,844 $1,154,129 $8,447,665 $171,055 $25,000 $24,000
Sum Total of Revenues $28,635,693

March 7, 2024 Page 260 of 266



FY24 Per Capita Per Capita Per Commission Policy:

7/1/2022 0.64 Local Local Local 0.4 Local Local 0.64 75% 25%

Program Code 110/300 193 303 908 277 181 729 110/300 170/171
190/195/198
191/196/199 330 907

Program Pop. % Pop.
Per

Capita Rideshare
Solid

Waste RRBC
Legislative

Liaison

 Regional 
Transit 

Partnership

Regional 
Housing 

Partnership
Total 

Contribution
Per

Capita Rural CA-MPO
Hazard Mit 
(FY26/FY27)

Watershed 
Improvement 
Program (WIP) Balance Regional Local

Difference from FY23 
Total Contribution

Charlottesville 51,079 19.11% 32,691$             7,331$          2,540$          1,337$          20,432$          25,000$          9,550$               98,880$              32,691$          -$              (11,759)$           (2,771)$                  18,161$               13,621$         4,540$                       2,686$                            
Albemarle 114,424 42.81% 73,231$             15,876$       5,560$          6,210$          45,770$          25,000$          21,310$             192,957$            73,231$          (2,620)$        (20,492)$           (6,208)$                  43,911$               32,933$         10,978$                     6,245$                            

Fluvanna 27,556 10.31% 17,636$             3,999$          1,370$          1,897$          11,022$          -$                5,250$               41,174$              17,636$          (3,261)$        -$                   (1,495)$                  12,880$               9,660$           3,220$                       912$                               
Greene 21,030 7.87% 13,459$             2,997$          1,030$          1,056$          8,412$            -$                3,905$               30,859$              13,459$          (2,472)$        -$                   (1,141)$                  9,846$                 7,385$           2,462$                       1,142$                            
Louisa 38,364 14.35% 24,553$             5,274$          -$              -$              15,346$          -$                7,110$               52,283$              24,553$          (4,278)$        -$                   (2,081)$                  18,194$               13,646$         4,549$                       2,147$                            

Nelson 14,820 5.54% 9,485$               2,335$          -$              -$              5,928$            -$                2,875$               20,623$              9,485$            (1,869)$        -$                   (804)$                      6,812$                 5,109$           1,703$                       211$                               
TOTALS 267,273 100.00% 171,055$           37,812$       10,500$        10,500$        106,909$        50,000$          50,000$             436,776$            171,055$       (14,500)$      (34,766)$           (14,500)$                109,804$             82,353$         27,451$                     13,343$                         

Required Local Match

March 7, 2024 Page 261 of 266



  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
POB 1505, 401 E. Water Street, Charlottesville, VA 22902 www.tjpdc.org 

(434) 979-7310 phone ● info@tjpdc.org email 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2024 
THOMAS JEFFERSON PLANNING DISTRICT COMMISSION 

AMENDED ANNUAL OPERATING BUDGET  
 

WHEREAS, the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (“the Commission”) is the Planning District 
Commission serving the City of Charlottesville, Albemarle, Fluvanna, Greene, Louisa and Nelson Counties, known 
together as Planning District 10; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission and its associate organization, the Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan Planning 
Organization, carry out a program of work on behalf of its members and in cooperation with its federal, state and 
local partners; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission prepares an annual operating budget containing a revenue summary and expenditure 
plan to fund and carry out its work program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission may amend the previously approved operating budget to account for unexpected 
changes in revenues and expenses; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commission originally approved the Fiscal Year 2024 Annual Operating Budget of $54,926,035 in 
Revenues and $54,926,035 in Expenses on May 4, 2023; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director now recommends to the Commission for the Fiscal Year 2024 an Amended 
Operating Budget of $28,635,693 in Revenues and $28,332,281 in Expenses, resulting in an expected Net Income of 
$303,412, with the caveat that recent staff transitions causing vacancies will affect this projected net gain; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission that it hereby 
approves the Fiscal Year 2024 Amended Operating Budget, which is attached hereto and which shall be included in 
the minutes of the Commission meeting of March 7, 2024; and, 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Executive Director is hereby authorized upon review by the 
Executive/Finance Committee to administer to the financial affairs of the TJPDC including custody and investment 
of short- and longer-term deposits of all public funds belonging to or handled by the TJPDC as provided in Sect. 2.2-
4501 of the Code of Virginia, 1950 as amended. Funds of the TJPDC shall be invested in accordance with the Code 
of Virginia, Investment of Public Funds Act, Chapter 45 Title 2.2 Sections 2.2-4500-4518 and the Virginia Security 
for Public Deposits Act, Chapter 44 Title 2.2, Sections 2.2-4400-4411.; and, 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Executive Director may authorize grant agreements, contracts, and 
purchases as included within the approved budget line items except as defined by ARTICLE IX Section 7 in the 
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Planning Commission Bylaws as amended March 2, 2017 requiring specific 
Commission approval for any items in excess of $100,000. 
 
ADOPTED by the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission at its monthly Commission meeting of March 7, 
2024 in the City of Charlottesville, Virginia, a quorum being present. 

 
 
 

________________________________________ ________________________________________ 
Christine Jacobs, Executive Director   Ned Gallaway, Commission Chair 
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission  Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
 
_____________________    _____________________ 
Date        Date 

March 7, 2024 Page 262 of 266



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
To: TJPD Commissioners 
From: Christine Jacobs, Executive Director 
Date: March 7, 2024 
Re: Executive Director’s Report 
 
Purpose:  To review the current agenda packet and inform Commissioners of Agency Activities since 

February 8, 2024. Items with an asterisk (*) require action from the Commission. 

Administration 
o March 7, 2024, Meeting Agenda 

 
1. Call to Order  

a. Call to Order, Roll Call – Chair Ga\llaway, Ruth Emerick 
b. Vote to Allow Electronic Participation, if needed – Ruth Emerick 

 
2. Matters from the Public 

a. Comments by the public are limited to no more than 2 minutes per person. 
b. Comments provided via email, online, website, etc. (Read by Ruth Emerick) 

 
3. Presentations 

a. 2022 Virgnia Telecommunication Initiative (VATI) Update – Lori Allshouse 
Staff will provide a bi-annual update on the 13-jurisdiction, $79 million VATI grant from 
the Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development. The update will 
include highlights of activities undertaken during the past six months.  Highlights will 
include project progress, financial management, TJPDC staff site visits, and the VATI 
2024 grant application to expand the project. A copy of the staff’s presentation is 
included in the meeting materials. 
 

b. Draft FY25 Rural Transportation Work Program and Budget – Sandy Shackelford 
Staff will present a draft Rural Transportation Work Program and Budget.  We 
anticipate receiving $58,000 from the Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT).  
The TJPDC dedicates the required 20% match through local per capita, equivalent to 
$14,500.  The work program and budget will come back before the Commission in the 
April meeting for consideration and approval.  A copy of the staff’s presentation and 
the draft Work Plan and Budget is included in the meeting materials. 

 
c. Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) Plan Update - Ruth Emerick 

Staff will provide an update on the CEDS planning process. A draft of the plan will be 
provided to the Commission via email when it is ready in mid-April.  The final plan will 

March 7, 2024 Page 263 of 266



 

come before the Commission in their May meeting for a public comment and 
consideration for approval. A copy of the staff’s presentation will be made available 
following the commission meeting. 

 
d. *Regional Transit Governance Study Presentation and Final Report - Lucinda Shannon 

In September of 2022, the TJPDC received a MERIT Technical assistance grant from the 
Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation to complete a Regional Transit 
Governance Study as a part of the work to explore the creation of a Regional Transit 
Authority. The study commenced in December 2023 and was presented to the Regional 
Transit Partnership in their February meeting, at which they voted to endorse the 
recommendations from the study.  Staff will present an overview of the study and share 
the final recommendations. A copy of the staff’s presentation as well as a copy of the 
final report are included in the meeting materials. 

 
*Recommended Action:  Staff recommends a motion to accept the Regional Transit 
Governance Study final report and endorses the final recommendations in the study. 

 
 

4. *Consent Agenda – Copies of the following materials are included in the meeting materials. 
a. *Minutes of the February 8, 2024, Commission Meeting 
b. *January Financial Reports 

i. January Financial Dashboard Report 
ii. January Consolidated Profit & Loss Statement 

iii. January Comparative Balance Sheet 
iv. January Accrued Revenue Report 

 
*Recommended Action:  Staff recommends a motion to approve the consent agenda. 
 

5. New Business 
a. *FY21 Re-Issued Audit Memo and Draft FY21 Re-Issued Audit – Christine Jacobs 

IN FY21, The TJPDC administered the region’s Emergency Rent and Mortgage Relief 
program (RMRP) totaling $1,810.226.  Through a compliance review, staff learned that 
the Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development changed the funding 
source for the last tranche of funding from Federal Cares Act funding to Virginia State 
Housing Trust Fund money.  This requires re-classifying $170,000 in federal funds to 
state funds in both our FY21 Audit and FY21 Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Funds 
(SEFA).  A memo detailing the re-issue as well as a draft copy of the FY21 Audit and 
SEFA are included in the meeting materials. 
 
*Recommended Action:  Staff recommends a motion to accept the FY21 Re-Issued 

Audit as presented. 
 
b. *TJPDC Corporation Appointments (Greene, Albemarle, Louisa) – Ruth Emerick 

The TJPDC Corporation is an independent 501(c)3 nonprofit organization, staffed by the 
PDC, that supports the mission of the TJPDC. The board’s bylaws require that there are 

March 7, 2024 Page 264 of 266



 

at least seven (7) members, six (6) of which are appointed by the TJPD Commission to 
represent each member locality, with a minimum of four (4) being current 
commissioners. Supervisor Jim Andrews, Supervisor Rachel Jones, and Commissioner 
Andrea Wilkinson were the former members from Albemarle, Louisa, and Greene, 
respectively. A new member from each jurisdiction needs to be appointed at the 
meeting. A copy of the Corporation’s current board roster is included. 

 
*Recommended Action: Staff recommends a motion to appoint Supervisor Michael 
Pruitt, Supervisor Manning Woodward, and Supervisor Tim Goolsby to the TJPDC 
Corporation board as the Albemarle, Louisa, and Greene County representatives. 
 

c. Executive Director Evaluation Process Begins – Chair Gallaway 
 

 
6. Old Business 

a. *FY24 Amended TJPDC Operating Budget – Christine Jacobs 
In the February meeting, staff presented the FY24 Draft Amended Operating budget for 
review, questions, and comments.  Since the February meeting, two changes have been 
made to the budget. These changes are detailed in a memo in the meeting materials. A 
copy of the amended totals, revenues, and local contributions are included in the 
meeting materials. Additionally, a copy of a draft resolution is included in the meeting 
materials. 

 
*Recommended Action: Resolution: Staff recommends a motion to approve the FY24 
Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission’s Amended Operating budget as 
presented. 
 

7. Executive Director’s Monthly Report  
a. Administration –  

i. Staffing Update/Transition Planning 
 

ii. The TJPDC continues to support the United Way’s Tax Preparation program by 
providing use of the Water Street Center. 

 
b. Transportation 

i. Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A)/Move Safely Blue Ridge: A leadership 
commitment to reducing fatalities and serious crashes was before each of the 
governing boards of the TJPDC member jurisdictions in their February and 
March meetings.  
 

ii. CA-MPO and RTAC: The Charlottesville-Albemarle Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (CA-MPO) continues to review eligible projects and will 
determine which ones to submit for this round in their March meeting. The 
Long-Range Transportation Plan is in the final stage of community 

March 7, 2024 Page 265 of 266



 

engagement and will be before the MPO committees in their April and May 
meetings. Both the CA-MPO and Rural Tech Advisory committees will 
continue to review the proposed FY25 work programs. Finally, staff will begin 
to work on Smart Scale applications for both the MPO and for rural 
jurisdictions. 

 
iii. RAISE Discretionary Grant: The TJPDC submitted a $3,334,000 Rebuilding 

American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) grant 
application to complete the Preliminary Engineering (PE) phase of the Rivanna 
River Bicycle and Pedestrian Bridge. The Rivanna River project was submitted 
for SmartScale, but due to high contingencies and inflationary costs, the 
project is not yet competitive for funding due to a number of unknowns.  The 
TJPDC submitted the project in a previous round of RAISE and the application 
received merit status.  While the grant was not awarded, staff were 
encouraged by representatives from USDOT to resubmit the project in a 
future round. 

 
c. Housing 

i. Virginia Eviction Reduction Pilot (VERP) – Additional funding was made available 
to existing VERP grantees.  The TJPDC applied for supplemental funding to 
support the program. 

 
8. Other Business 

a. Round table discussions from Commission members about topics of interest from each 
jurisdiction. 

b. The next Commission meeting will be held on Thursday, April 4, 2024. Items for the 
March meeting may include but are not limited to: 

i. Appointment of Nominating Committee for Officers 
ii. FY25 Operating Draft/Budget Memo 

iii. FY25 Rural Transportation Work Program and Budget 
iv. FY25 CA-MPO Unified Planning Work Program Update 
v. Blue Ridge Cigarette Tax Board Update 

vi. Rideshare Commuter Assistance Program Strategic Plan Update 
vii. Executive Director Evaluation (Closed Session) 

9. *Adjourn 

*Designates Items to be Voted On* 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

March 7, 2024 Page 266 of 266


	0 Agenda 3.7.2024
	Matters from the Public 
	Presentations
	* Consent Agenda 
	Executive Director’s Report

	3a VATI Broadband Handout for Commissioners March 7. 2024
	3b i Rural Work Program Handout
	3b ii FY25 Rural Work Program
	Introduction
	Purpose and Objective
	Rural Transportation Program

	Highlights of FY24
	Fiscal Year 2025 Budget
	Fiscal Year 2025 Activities by Task
	FY 2025 – 1.0 Program Administration - $16,000
	Task 1.1- Reporting and Compliance with Regulations - $5,500
	Task 1.2 - Staff committee meetings - $5,500
	Task 1.3 - Share information with agencies and public - $5,000

	FY 2025 - 2.0 Planning & Local Technical Assistance - $56,500
	Task 2.1 – Comprehensive Safety Action Plan - $30,000
	Task 2.2 – Prepare transportation infrastructure grant applications - $6,500
	Task 2.3 – Provide assistance to local and state partners as requested - $10,000
	Task 2.4 – Regional Transit Partnership, Travel Demand Management, and Bicycle and Pedestrian Activities - $10,000


	FY26 Anticipated Work Tasks
	Appendices
	Appendix A: FY-2025 Budget Summary


	3d i Transit Gov Study Presentation Handout
	3d ii Final_Report_Transit Gov Study_20240213
	4a TJPDC Draft Minutes 2.8.24
	8. Other Business:
	9. Adjournment:

	4b i Financial Dashboard Jan FY24
	4b ii FY24 Jan Consolidated P&L
	4b iii FY24 Jan Balance Sheet
	4b iv Accrued Revenue Jan FY24
	Accrued Rev FY24

	5a i FY21 Re-Issued Audit Memo
	5a ii Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission-Reissue
	5b FY24 TJPDC Corporation Appointments - Amended
	6a i FY24 Amended Budget Packet
	6a i FY24 Amended Budget Memo
	6a ii FY24 Draft Amended Operating Budget- Totals
	Totals

	6a iii FY24 Draft Amended Operating Budget- Revenues
	 Summary Revenues FY  

	6a iv FY24 Draft Amended Operating Budget - Per Capita Local Contributions
	Per Cap


	6a iii FY24 Amended Budget Resolution
	POB 1505, 401 E. Water Street, Charlottesville, VA 22902 www.tjpdc.org
	(434) 979-7310 phone ● info@tjpdc.org email

	7a ED Report March 2024


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




